s\\% NEW FACTS ON LINDBERGH KIDAPPING'

‘”‘Bluebook **

ADVENTURE IN FACT AND FICTION

25c¢

AUGUST

see page 5




The man who wrote “Here We Go
Again!™ (pages 10-41). a brave lad
named Al Stump, tells us he likes to
check his stories personally belore send-
ing them to an editor. For example,
when he did a piece on the American
l.eague’s top pitcher. Mr. Stump took a
bat and attempted to hit the pitcher’s

best offerings (he missed). When he
did a yarn on Sam Snead. he played a
round with Slamming Sam and got him-
sell beautifully trounced. For our piece
on the resurgence of water polo. how-
ever, Mr. Stump took a firm stand; after
all. he =aid. “I have a wife and lour lit-
tle Stumps, and at water polo I draw the
line. lce hockey? Toothall? Roxing?
I’ll try them all; they're a cinch com-
pared to water polo. But these latter
guys are likely to deep-six you in a
scrimmage and forget to retrieve the
body.”

Read Mr. Stump’s story and you'll see
why we forgave him.

* ¥

Robert Bloch (“Once a Sucker.”
starting on page 96) reports that this
Bluebook novel is “an effort on my part
to comment on the cult rackets which
have flourished in the past on the West
Coast—with particular emphasis on the
three ‘I)'s: Devil-worship, Dogma-wor-
ship and Dollar-worship.””  Mr. Bloch
states that his desire in his novel is to
offend no one; at the same time he
sounds a warning against the charlatans
who will take your $88 with the promise

Purelly Pousonal

of curing your ills. We think he’s more
than hit the bull's-eye.

Mr. Bloch further reports that he has
several new novels up his sleeve (which
we hope to see). and has written count-
less <hort stories. novels. novelettes. radio
shows, and anything else editors seemed
to want and for which they would pay
him money. You can’t find a better oh-
jective than that.

* % %

John T. Dunlavy (“It Isn’t True
....7 page 15) has been in Bluebook
so often we [elt it was time vou knew
something about  him.  Accordingly,
here’s something about him:

“Notre Dame grad. Marine flver in
W.W. IL. former magazine editor, now
advertising manager. I've been writing
in my spare moments for the past six
vears. | wrote soap opera [or radio anil
adventure yarns [or magazines hefore a
natural bent for research and a ven lor
curious information blossomed into the
‘fascinating lacts™ articles for Bluebook.
My particular slant stems from the fact
that most people remember longest those
facts that strike them as unusual. new,
curious. startling or surprising. There-

fore my aim is to use [acts that fascinate
as many people as possible and to leave

the long-winded essays to others.”
* * *

Speaking of people who've heen
around a long time, you may be inter-
ested to know that “A Rosy Future for

Roderick™ (pages 46-52) is Nelson
Bond’s 59th appearance in Bluebook
since his first sale back in May, 1940,
OF this he writes:

“Publication ol a story in Bluebook
is but a preliminary to that story’s great-
er success, My records show that of my
first fifty in your magazine, more than
hall subsequently have been reprinted
in anthologies. aired on radio or telecast
on video. It is clear that a story making
its original appearance in Bluehook is
not quickly forgotten. Bluehook stories,
like Bluebaok, go on and on.”

* o o® %

Here is John D. MacDonald’s (“De-
livery-Boy War.” pages 59-61) version
ol what he feels is his hiography:

“Tall. bi-focaled. slothful MacDonald
began the tin-cup life of a ree-lancer in
1946 under the mistaken assumption
that it would he easier than working.
Now. 300 stories and seven novels later,
he has been tricked into a conditioned
reflex that keeps him working, despite
an endemic case of lethargy. Some ob-
scure masochistic tendency has forced
him to provide himsell with two work-
shop windows, one looking out over
Piseco Lake, [ull of Adirondack bass. the
other looking out over Siesta Bay. lull of
Florida trout, snook, redfish. snapper,
ete. Celebrated this Bluebook sale by
going fishing. Caught a grouper. Ate
same. Next morning found him (Mac-
Donald) back. lashed to his posture
chair. waiting for the mail to give him
another excuse to go fishing.”



COMING
up

About the last place you'd
expect to find cloak-and-dag-
ger derring-do of the tradi-
tional spy story is in the jungles of Ma-
laya. But, in September, Bluebook will
bring you the true and fabulously exciting
account of the adventures of Cel. and
Mrs. L. A. Weston, who penetrated the
savage jungles of Eastern Borneo to rescue
two Dutch flyers who were held captive
by head-hunters. How this American cou-
ple disguised themselves as natives and,
in the dead of night, literally snatched the
two airmen from a horrible death, makes
for one of the most amazing true adven-
tures of modern times. If you like your
thrillers to be real and to keep you in
suspense up to the final word, don’t miss
this one in the big September Bluebook.

* %k *

Even more incredible than the adven-
tures of the Westons are those of General
Victor Gordon, who has spent his adult
life as a soldier of fortune, and who tells
about it in “Revolutions Are My Busi-
ness,” also in the September Bluebook. As
a participant in most of the revolutions
which have shaken Central America in the
past fifty years, General Gordon knows
his subject as no fiction writer ever could,
and when you read his dramatic story
you'll actually feel and sense the taste of
gunpowder, of heat, of blood, of death.
Even more important, you’'ll understand
our neighbors to the south a great deal
more after reading the General’s yarn;
and it could be, as he points out, that
such understanding could be the most
vital thing in your life today.

* ¥ %

If you were an ordinary dogface or
swabbie in the last war, if you're one
now, or ever expect to be one, you also
won'’t want to miss “The Pentagon’s War
on Pistols,” another September item on
your must list. An argument for issuing
pistols to every fighting man regardless of
rank, this is a story which should be read
by everyone who ever has served in the
Armed Forces-—or, for that matter, by
everyone with a close friend or relative
who is a fighting man.

*® kX

Naturally, there’ll also be Bluebook’s
regular book-length novel, a novelette, a
flock of swell short stories, short ar-
ticles, cartoons, fillers, and who knows
what all else, in the biggest quarter’s
worth of real male reading matter ever
packed into one magazine.
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Just as sure as we’re sitting here wishing we were out at the ball game, some
reader’s going to scan through this issue of Bluebook, grab a pencil from a ﬁass-
ing schoolboy, and write us a nasty letter demanding to know who gives a hoot
about trotters, and why do we feature same on our cover and run a story on these
hobble horses in our valuable pages? Accordingly we shall publish the answer

to this query before it’s even made.

Answer: Millions of people give a hoot about trotters.

According

to the men who know statistics best, something like 27,000,000

hopeful citizens spent a tidy fortune last year paying admission to horse parks

featuring flat races (the kind everyone
talks about when he mentions playing the
ponies). At the same time, better than
15,000,000—or more than half the other fig-
ure—bought admissions to trotting races.

Now, frankly, this astonished us. We
knew a lot of people went to trotting
meets, but we had no idea they were so
numerous. Mainly, we guess, because
you hear so much about horse racing on
the flat, and who won the fourth at Sara-
toga, and isn’t Louisville crowded on
Derby weekend. With the trotters, how-
ever, it always seemed to be something
rather quaint, an annual event at the
County Fair, an adventure one experi-
enced just because it was the thing to do.

But now we learn that this last typified
the situation as it existed some ten or fif-
teen years ago. That’s when trotting was
for David Harum types mostly, and
ladies who felt dressed up when they put
on a clean apron. There have been some
changes made, changes that probably will
leave you with your mouth hanging open.
If this latter situation appeals to you,
by all means turn to page 5.

L .

While on the subject of complaints,
we’d like to report a letter to writer
Joseph Lawrence from a Mr. Doug
Clothier, of Boonville, Mo.

Mr. Clothier takes Mr. Lawrence to
task for the latter’s article on pigeons
("Down with Pigeons”) which appeared
in the April issue, chiding Mr. Lawrence
for taking a swipe at a bird which, says
Mr. Clothier, “has saved countless lives
in time of war.” And, opines Mr. Cloth-
ier, we all might not be here today if cer-
tain heroic pigeons—many of them with
large clusters of service ribbons—had not
done their job so well. Certainly, says
Mr. Clothier, Mr. Lawrence might not be
here, and wouldn’t that be a good thing.

To which Mr. Lawrence—never one to
give up—answers: “Look, I still don’t
like pigeons! Sure, some of them were
~ heroes, and they got medals for their

2

heroism. But I have a cousin who was a
hero in the last war, and he’s got a cou-
ple of medals for it, too. But that doesn’t
give him the privilege of squatting on the
cornice over City Hall and defecating on
the good citizens below. Now, does it?”

Seems like a hard question to answer.

% k%

A Mr. Charlie Splaine, of Los Angeles,
also writes to say that the colleges will
be opening in another month, and he’s
wondering if we’re going to have a repeat
this fall of that silly underwear stealing
that sprang up on all the campuses last
spring. “I sure hope not,” says Mr.
Splaine, “because, if we do, I'm going to
find me a rocket ship leaving for Mars.”

Mr. Splaine says it isn’t that he’s
against stealing panties and bras from co-
eds; far from it. “It’s just that, in my
day,” he continues, “when you wanted a
girl’s unmentionables, you went around
getting them in a much more forthright
and more interesting way than the lads
seem to be showing nowadays.”

L

Red Smith, sports columnist, writing
in the New York Herald Tribune, states
it as his belief that someone “must have
slipped across a Federal law barring from
the mails any magazine that does not in-
clude an essay entitled, ‘Kid Matthews—
Uncrowned Champion of the World.””

Well, we don’t know if such a law
exists or not, but if it does exist we have
broken it. We have had no such article
in Bluebook and do not contemplate one
at the moment. Not, understand, that we
didn’t consider such a piece not too long
ago; we did, and we watched Mr. Mat-
thews’ rise to fistic eminence with a
probing eye. Our reason for abandoning
the idea of an article on the subject is
simple—we just didn’t want to be re-
sponsible for getting Mr. Matthews, who
seems like a nice chap, knocked kicking

the minute we set his name in type.

We figured this was bound to happen,
based purely on our record.

Take Mr. Ralph Kiner, for example:
Ecstatically, we accepted Mr. Kiner’s
monograph on how he could break Babe
Ruth’s home-run record—bought it—in
fact, before the baseball season even had
worked its way north. And what hap-
pened? Nothing, except that, as of Thurs-
day, May 22nd, six days before our Kiner
story was due to go on sale at your news-
stand, Ralphie had hit exactly one (1)
homer and had less than four months to
go to hit the other sixty needed to break
the Babe’s mark this year. It all seemed
pretty hopeless, and we are wondering if
Brother Kiner personally put a whammy
on himself by invading the literary field.

Then there’s Bob Mathias, our candi-
date to win the one “Olympic title we
can’t lose,” which appeared last month.
As that one began to roll off the presses,
young Mr. Mathias was limping around
with what was reported as a variety of
aches and pains, and there was doubt in
some minds that he even would make the
Olympic team, much less cop a title.

So if you have any predictions to make
about yourself concerning things you’d
just as soon have happen, or not happen,
just shoot them in to us. Want to be
happy? Just write a piece for us entitled
“I'm the Unhappiest Man in the World.”
Like to get rich? Tell us about it in a
story called “Why I’'ll Never Make a
Thin Dime.”

There is no end to the- services we
provide around here.

L .

Pursuing the subject of Bluebook’s in-
valuable aid to clear thinking a touch
further, consider the story on page 59
(“Delivery-Boy War,” by John D. Mac-
Donald). We bought this story many
months ago because we felt, and still do,
that it was a beautifully written and in-
teresting sidelight on the personal lives
of men who risk their necks in the pur-
suit of adventure as part of their chosen
occupation, that of flying for Uncle Sam.

Then, while we were shooting the yarn
off to the printer, the papers became full
of stories about Air Force pilots who re-
fused to fly any more and who wanted
out. There was much speculation as to
what brought these men—heroes all—to
the point of publicly confessing their
fear, and we never did read any cogent
explanation of the phenomenon—never
read it, that is, until we went back and
re-read this story of Mr. MacDonald’s.

In the latter, we feel, will be found
perhaps an inkling of what goes on in the
home of a man who leaves for work in
the morning on some job where there’s a
fifty-fifty chance of his not coming home
alive that night. And while Mr. Mac-
Donald’s fiction happens to be about the
fly-boys, it doesn’t take much imagination
to see that it also could apply to deep-sea

BLUEBOOK



divers, lumberjacks, high-tension-wire
men, automobile racers or sandhogs.

In short, Mr. MacDonald wrote his
story before the Air Force business even
became known. But the publicity given
the latter proves that Mr. MacDonald
wasn’t just making up words in his head.

L

Which brings us, however circuitously,
to the meeting we had on the sidewalk
last week with a gentleman who happens
to be the executive editor of one of those
slick-paper magazines which are always
taking ads in the papers to tell an as-
tonished public that another million
readers have been added to their swelling
cireulation.

“Tell me,” he said, with an air that
made me wonder why he didn’t add “old
boy” to his salutation, “how do you chaps
get such wonderful writers on Bluebook?
Here we are with almost two million cir-
culation, I know we’re offering more
money for stories than you are, and it’s
quite obvious that we’re a better market
all around. Yet you get the stories we'd
give a year’s rent to obtain. I don’t get
it.” He’s got it now. Struggling to re-
frain from picking lint from our lapel,
we told him a little about Bluebook and
the people who’d seemingly sooner write
for us—for you—than for any other mag-
azine on the market.

When you’ve been publishing a mag-
azine of adventure for men for a few
months shy of fifty years, when—without
having to shout it from the housetops—
you’ve made it apparent that your read-
ers are the class of the male reading pub-
lic, it follows that writers are going to
prefer your pages to the flossy offers they
may get from across the street.

As one writer once told us, “What
good does it do me to spend weeks put-
ting a fine polish on a story if that story’s
going to appear in some magazine with a
couple of million readers who get bug-
eyed if they see a word of more than two
syllables?” It was this fellow’s conten-
tion that he got more satisfaction out of
seeing his story in Bluebook, and know-
ing that the mail he received on it from
readers was going to be intelligently
written and with all the words spelled
right, than he ever got out of receiving a
bigger check from another publication
where the readers all sat around with
their suspenders down.

And, by this same token, we’ve more
or less taken the stand here on Bluebook
that it isn’t a writer’s name that makes us
buy his stuff, or how much he commands
from other magazines, or how many
_stories he’s sold to Hollywood. The ques-
tion we ask ourselves is, as we blood-
shoot our eyes reading a hundred manu-
scripts to find the one we want: is it
right for our readers?

You, in other words, are what makes
Bluebook a writer’s goal.

MaxwELL HAMILTON
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WRONG STREET ... In Knoxville, Tenn., W. K. Schooler, a resident of
Temperance Street, was bound over to a Federal grand jury on a charge
of transporting moonshine whisky.

COFFIN-KILLED . . . In Ponte Buggianese, Italy, a coffin killed a
cemetery worker as he was helping to insert it into a crypt during inter-
ment services.

FIDO . . . In Newark, after his service station was robbed three times,
Louis Lehrhoff bought a 120-pound watchdog; next time lost a radio, an
acetylene torch, some tools and the watchdog.

NO BLARNEY . .. In London, the late Sir George Oliver Colthurst, sev-
enth Baronet of Ardum, Cork, willed the Blarney Stone to his niece with
instructions that it never be sold or removed from Blarney Castle.

HEAVENLY FOOD . .. In Spokane, Milton M. Tuck, down to his last
$10 bill and bungry, bought a huge steak dinner for himself and a friend,
choked to death on the sumptuous meal.

INNOCENT BYSTANDER .. . In Dallas, Horace Coleman, refereeing a
pistol duel, wound up in the middle with a slug in each leg.

TRUE LOVE ... In Fairfield, Calif., Rath Fong had this explanation for
his attempt to hire two men to kill his wife so he could collect her $10,000
life insurance: “I loved her so much I couldnt kill her myself.”

RESOURCEFUL.. . Outside Webster, S. Dak., truck-driver Henry Becht,
after his radiator hose broke and let out all the water, repaired the cou-
pling, poured in 21 bottles of his load of beer, rolled on, foaming merrily.

SAFER THAN HOME . .. In Chilliwack, B. C., Mrs. Edna Fenton asked
how to get herself jailed to escape her angry husband, was advised to hit a
cop, did, was.

EAGER BEAVER . .. After being fired from his civil-service job for “cir-
culating slanderous and defamatory statements agatnst his superiors,”
Orton T. Campbell carried his dismissal to the courts, won the first round,
lost the second, still has the opportunity to appeal to the Supreme Court
and add substantially to the $500,000 that tﬁe Government has already
spent trying to separate him from his $4,000 job.

CASUAL . . . In Pittsburgh, the marriage-license bureau got a request
from Harry P. Doyle to send him the name of the woman he married in
1922.

FOR BETTER OR . .. In Chicago, a woman charged her husband with
habitual drunkenness, won her divorce, dropped her married name—Rum,
regained her maiden name—Cork.

CONSCIENCE. . . In Los Angeles, an anonymous letter to the city trea-
sury from a civil servant contained $50 and read, “This is money that
I feel I have stolen by loafing.”

THOROUGHNESS . . . In Asheville, N. C., a police car hurried to in-
vestigate a report of a hole in the street, shamefacedly telephoned-in-
their report: the car was in the hole.

.



Address all letters to: THE EDITOR, Bluebook Magazine, 230 Park Avenue, New York
17, N. Y. All letters must be signed. None can be acknowledged or returned.

Editing is Fun

To the Editor:

Who okayed that miserable con-
glomeration of drivel called “West of
Quarantine” (March BLuesook)? I
read it through to the bitter end to see
if it could continue to be so foul from
one page to the next. It did.

Paul J. Lagus.
Naval Air Station,
Memphis, Tenn.

To the Editor:

I liked “West of Quarantine,” a very
good example of the really Old West-
ern tale. Give us more book-length
Westerns of this type.

Bernal R. Camp.
Lincoln, Neb.

From the Wild Blue Yonder

To the Editor:

I live in a room with eight other
men (we call them “boys” in the Air
Force), and not one of us lets your
stories go unread. BLUEBOOK . . . is a
good magazine for a guy who likes
adventure, as you say in your pages.

Keep it as it is now. You have a
swell magazine.

Sgt. Deloss Erdman.
Eglin Air Force Base, Fla.

New Arrival

To the Editor:

I've just finished my first copy of
BLueBook. In my estimation, it is one
of the top magazines on the market,
a real man’s magazine full of action
and adventure.

Robert H. Frederick.
Marion, Md.

Another Precinct

To the Editor:

It has been with the deepest of dis-
appointment that I have noted the
cﬁange in BLUEBOOK in the past four
months. I honestly think every change
was a definite step downwarX. N

I hope I wake up some morning and
find it’s all just a dream.

Gerald E. Smalley.
Maquoketa, Iowa.

1

Hughes Guys

To the Editor:

Your readers can be glad they have
a magazine which always is on the
lookout for the good things. I refer,
of course, to “The Davidian Report”
(April), by Dorothy B. Hughes. As
an avid mystery reader, I'd place this
story even above those of another lady
who is rated tops in the business of
chills and thrills, Miss Agatha Christie.

Leon Hutchinson.

Peoria, Ill.

To the Editor:
The Dorothy Hughes story was won-
derful!
Evelyn Gardner.
Albany, N. Y.

To the Editor:
. The best you've ever had!

Bill Tatum.
Oklahoma City, Okla.

Emm Gee

To the Editor:

I've enjoyed BLUEBOOK since way
back when, but I'm wondering if fu-
ture issues are to be cluttered with
such tripe as “Are You Getting the
Most from Your M.G.?” (April). . . .
It’s unfair to the 99 percent who nei-
ther own nor plan ever to buy an
M.G

Frank L. Walburn.
Clay Center, Kans.

To the Editor:

Interesting . . . but how about one
now on the Nash Rambler? It makes
the M.G. look sick—and I've owned
both.

S. G. Naparstek.
Detroit, Mich.

To the Editor:

Lessner says that if you underesti-
mate the sharpness of a turn, the
power of your (M.G.) engine can pull
you through. But I drive a Plymouth
over heavily-traveled roads, where you
have to stay in your own lane, and it’s
been my experience that when the car
heads for the outside lane on a turn,
you have to reduce speed slightly to

get it back. Would Mr. Lessner sug-
gest increasing the cut of the whee%s
and increasing the speed?

D. W. Meyer.
Chicago, Ill.

Mr. Meyer is right on all counts.
For ordinary driving (not racing), re-
duce your speed; it saves your tires.
Also, thanks for applying the M.G.
story to your own driving; that's why
we ran it in the first place. Eb.

Indignant Author

To the Editor:

Judging from H. J. Crubaugh’s let-
ter (April BLueBook), in which he
implies that I'm stupid for writin,
“The Beast That Fights Back” (Feb.
and that you are for buying it, I
suspect Mr. Crubaugh knows from
nothing about firearms.

He asks how one gets a license to
“use high-powered ammunition on a
city dump.” Why, friend, you just
mosey down to City Hall and buy
one. Second, he frets about the danger
of using .22’s on a city dump; these
are lethal up to a mile, he admonishes,
and he’s right. But a hunter who's a
hunter and not an idiot, does not
shoot unless he knows (1) what he’s
shooting at and (2) where he’s shoot-
ing. The only danger is from ricochet,
and this danger is not great if hollow-
point ammo is used, as I mentioned
in my story.

True, there is danger—as there is, no
matter how you pass your time (lady
up the street split her skull while
knitting; ceiling collapsed). But if
Reader Crubaugh wants to escape
even this margin of danger, he’ll just
have to wait till he’s dead.

Al Capen.
New York, N. Y.

Blasphemy

To the Editor:

Re Walter F. Stevens’ condemna-
tion of the so-called blasphemous use
of God’s name in your stories:

Is it blasphemous to say “God bless
you” when a person sneezes? If not,
why can’t one say “God damn it!”"—
since the expression is not damning
God—which would be blasphemous—
blut is asking God to damn something
else.

Again, another viewpoint, could it
not be reasoned that the one using
such an expression is not taking God’s
name in vain, that God actually may
be giving the request prompt and con-
sidered attention, the request having
been made to God? Again, there are
different gods according to one’s con-
victions; is it not possible the request
is not made to the Almighty?

Robert E. Harrison.
Philadelphia, Pa.

BLUEBOOK



REVOLUTION eswer 5 TROTTI
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Horse sense?

If you don't think there is

such a thing, take a

look at the trotters, who are big
business today only because

of a horse’s belief in himself.

* By JOHNNY BLUE
Ilustration by JOHN CULLEN MURPHY

AUGUST, 1952

NOTHING IN THE SPORTS FIELD has been as astounding as the revolu-
tion that has come to the trotting races. In the space of a single
decade a sport dying under the load of its own crooks has so cleaned
itself up that it practically shines with the inner glow of its own
purity. It was no easy house-cleaning. Dirty work in harness rac-
ing has flourished since the first Roman driver loosened the wheels
of his rival’s chariot and hitched his own wagon to a couple of
ringers.

But how it has paid off! Now that the public is assured that it
will get a heart-stopping run for its money, it is pouring out the
cash in terms only dreamed of a few years ago. Last year the na-
tional handle was 304 million dollars, up a hundred million over
1949. Optimists are looking for this year to break the half-billion
mark. Where in 1943 the national total in purses was §1,313,028,
a single track—Roosevelt Raceway in Westbury, N. Y.—is estimatin,
its purses for 1952 to pass the two-million mark, with the nationa
total soaring over fifteen million.

If money talks, that kind of cash says loud and clear that the sport
is clean. But there is more than honest racing behind the tremen-
dous popularity surge of harness racing. That something lies in the
wonderful horses themselves. There’s never been anything like
them before. Talk about improving the breed—what you’ll see
today has gone beyond improvement; it's revolution!

5



The other morning I was out at the
halt-mile practice track at Roosevelt
Raceway, watching some fifty beauties
going through their paces. A few
trainers were at the rail withme, clock-
ing their young hopefuls, and I was
checking the times they were giving
me against a record book. Back in
the days of great horses, I read, a mare
named Flora Temple had set six world
records for the mile, her last one in
1859 finally cracking the dream mile
of 2:20 by a quarter of a second. She
was then seventeen years old, and full
of track wisdom.

On this morning I watched a black
three-year-old mare come whirling
through her final mile workout of the
day. Already she had jogged three
miles. In track parlance, “jogging”
means to run around the track the
wrong way at an easy gait. When I
asked, “Why the wrong way?” I was
told with some surprise, ‘“Man, these
are race horses! urn ‘em loose in
the right direction and they take ofl
after anything in sight. The only way
you can keep ‘em slowed down is to
turn around so they'll have nothing
to race.”

Al-‘TER three miles of jogging the
mare had been permitted to stretch
her legs with a 2:30 mile. This was
followed by a ““blow-out” lasting about
twenty-five minutes, during which she
could puff and blow while cooling off
and getting her wind back. Then
back to the track for a 2:20 mile, and
another blow-out period. Since she
had warmed up nicely, she was let out
a little more, and this mile she clicked
oft in 2:10.

Now she was back for her final mile.
Already she had burned up enough
energy to last a plowhorse all day in
tough sod. She came flashing past us,
stepping high, eyes proud. Her train-
er clicked his watch, and gave his driv-
er the nod; and that mare left.

Just two minutes and three seconds
later her “warm-up” was over, and she
trotted contentedly off the track, blow-
ing with satisfaction. What had been
world-record-shattering time as late
as 1900 is, for this 1952 breed of won-
der horses, just a little something to
be knocked off at the end of a seven-
mile warm-up session.

Yet the standard-bred horse, an all-
American development, is only a hun-
dred years old. Almost all of the 4,879
horses registered with the United
States Trotting Association in 1951 are
descended from a horse that made his
last public appearance in 1854, at-
tached to a fish-peddler’s wagon. The
horse’s name was Abdullah, and he
didn’t like fish.

Now Abdullah was no ordinary
horse. His grandsire had been the
tabulous Messenger, imported as a
thoroughbred from England in 1783.
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His sire bore the distinguished name
of Mambrino, but his dam was, in the
face of such aristocratic horseflesh, a
tramp. Her name was Amazonia, so
called because she was an enormous
brute who had done right well as a
drayhorse on the cobblestones of
Philadelphia. Abdullah took on the
lines of his sire and the strength of his
dam, and for some 35 years did right
well for himself and his assorted
owners.

It must be pointed out here that in
1840, when Abdullah was in his prime,
a horse was something. Men of in-
genuity, intelligence, and sporting
blood were permitted to concentrate
all their talents on horses. Where to-
day their descendants are dissipating
their powers on such things as auto-
mobiles, speedboats, jet aircraft,
guided missiles, hydro-electric plants,
television and pinball machines, they
could spend hours at the local barber-
shop poring over the bloodlines of the
various nags that would be racing,
come Sunday, out in Hy Smith’s back
pasture. A horse was not a form of
diversion; he was the diversion.

So Abdullah, with Messenger blood-
lines in him, was a horse stamped by
destiny. In his time he covered a lot
of mares, and among them was a small,
gentle cripple named Kent Mare. She
was supposed to be a Norfolk Trotter,
and it was the hope of her owner that
if she could produce a handsome colt,
maybe he could get back her purchase
price of $135. The owner, |onas
Seely of Orange County, N. Y., didn’t
quite make it. He sold mare and colt
to Bill Rysdyk, his hired man, for
$125.

Abdullah moved on, hitting the
skids at the age of thirty. For a few
years he stood up under the shame of
pulling a cart for a Long Island
butcher. But when the butcher sold
him to a fish-peddler at the age of 35,
and for only $35, Abdullah’s Proud
soul revolted. On his first trip he
kicked the slats out of the wagon,
scattered fish along the south shore of
Long Island, and kept on going.
Twenty years beyond the age at which
most horses are comfortably dead,
Abdullah answered the call of the
wild, and started a new life on his
own. In November, 1854, he moved
into a deserted shack and there died
of pneumonia, still the captain of his
great soul.

IF he needs a monument, it stands
only a few miles away in the form of
Roosevelt Raceway, where some
30,000 people will gather every night
for 108 nights this summer to watch
his descendants run.

Actually Abdullah has not been
given the credit he deserves. That
went to his son out of the little cripple,
Kent Mare. Bill Rysdyk looked over

his $125 bargain and decided to give
the bay colt the name of Hamletonian.
However, when he went to write it
down, the spelling came out Hamble-
tonian, and Hambletonian, the most
famous name in harness racing, it has
been ever since.

As a three-year-old, on his first
warm-up, Hambletonian ran the mile
in 2:4814, a speed phenomenal enough
to make his name famous in every
barbershop and saloon in the country.
But C{)henomenal though he was as a
speedster, he was even more so at stud.
In 24 years he sired 1,331 foals, and it
is from his get that most of the great
racers of today spring.

HARNESS racing was a pretty furi-
ous thing for the next fifty years. A
man could get himself killed with no
effort by merely stating that the pacer
didn’t live that could beat a trotter.
Or another man with no more sense
could exit from this world by claim-
ing that the trotter didn’t live that
could beat a pacer. Racing wasn’t
limited to tracks, by any means.
There wasn’t a boy in America who
didn’t dream of the day he would
blow the fringe oft his buggy racing
down the main drag against all the
other hotrods in town. And for a
while there was hardly a magazine
story or novel in which the hero didn’t
meet the heroine by dragging her out
of the way of a couple of amateur
charioteers.

Yet even then, with everybody an
expert on horses, there was some con-
fusion over what made trotters out
of some horses, and pacers out of
others. It might be well to explain
here to the uninitiated of this motor
age that neither trotting nor pacing is
a natural gait for a horse. The nat-
ural gait is best demonstrated by the
thoroughbreds in saddle or “flat” rac-
ing. In trotting, the horse steps out
high with its front feet, its right front
foot moving forward in time with its
left hind loot, and vice versa. In pac-
ing, the horse does not lift its front
feet as high as in trotting, and it moves
both right front foot and right hind
foot forward at the same time. This
alternate movement of right side and
left side is often called side-wheeling,
and pacers are frequently called side-
wheelers.

One reason for the public confusion
over what produces trotters and pacers
was that the horse-trainers themselves
did not know. (There is some reason
to believe that probably the horses
don’t know either.) Anyway, when
promising trotters showed signs of
switching over to pacing, their train-
ers would keep them in stride by
weighting down their front feet with
heavy shoes. ‘This made them step
high in order to clear their own feet,
but it raised Cain with their speed.

BLUEBOOK



Then it was tound that hobbles fas-
tened to the front legs, from the har-
ness, would keep a horse at a trot no
matter how much it might desire to
pace. For years it was the fashion for
all trotters to wear hobbles.

Then, just to disconcert everybody,
some trainer discovered that by rig-
ging his hobbles fore-and-aft, almost
like a leather-webbed skirt around all
four legs, he could not only keep pac-
ers in their stride, but in some cases
actually increase their speed. So the
hobbles were taken off all the trotters,
and placed on the pacers. To con-
fuse matters still further, the pacers’
hobbles came out spelled “hopples.”

Then the automobile came along,
and the whole problem of hopples
became largely academic. Harness
racing, even with the light, bicycle-
wheeled sulky replacing the old high-
wheeler, fell upon evil days.

There came a day at last when even
the horse-breeders themselves won-
dered whether to breed their horses
for racing or for dog-food.

The horses themselves settled the
}f)roblem. “They became such beauti-
ul and intelligent people,” one
breeder explained to me ambiguously,
“that they restored your faith in hu-
manity."”

The faith needed a lot of restoring.
By 1938 there were a lot—and by that
we mean too many—of drivers and
trainers who would resort to every
trick in the book and then invent new
ones to obtain a few bucks to get
ahead of the feed bill. At county-fair
meets drivers would agree on the win-
ners in advance so that everybody
would get enough money to pull on to
the next meet. Desperate drivers
would register a slow horse for a slow
race, and then ring in a speedster un-
der a false name to be sure of win-
ning. Dirty driving crippled a lot of
honest drivers. The public lost all
confidence in the rigged races, and
the purses dropped. The harder the
crooked ones schemed, the less there
was to scheme for. Harness racing
was doomed.

EXCEPT for those beautiful horses!
The honest breeders, owners, train-
ers and drivers looked them over and
couldn’t let them down. They or-
ganized the United States Trotting
Association and started cleaning their
own Augean stables. Rules were
standardized for all tracks. Horses
had to be registered; drivers had to
be licensed. Judges and officials had
to pass rigid tests to qualify for their
jobs. Betting was placed under legal
scrutiny.

And the rules were enforced.

A driver was caught spitting bird-
shot at the feet of an overtaking horse,
causing it to break. (To break means
that a pacer or trotter breaks into a
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gallop, thereby disqualitying itsell.)
The driver was ruled off the track. He
went to California, but with the rules
enforced all over the country and in
Canada, he found himself as unwel-
come there as at the track he had just
left. He was out, for good, and the
word was not slow in getting around.

A trainer registereg a three-year-
old for a race in which the average
speed of the competition was around
2:10. Then under the three-year-old’s
name he brought in a five-year-old
that could do the mile in 2:05. The
judges let him sink himself, and then
tossed in the harpoon. The ringer
racket died then and there.

I~ four years the clean-up job was
pretty well completed, but by that
time the war was on. It put a fright-
ful crimp in racing, but there was no
holding back the age-old natural proc-
ess of breeding. In 1946, when once
more the lights could go on at the
night tracks, the horses were better
and faster than ever.

Some idea of what the big clean-up
in harness racing has meant 1s reflected
in the prices being paid for good
horses. Back around the turn of the
century, when competition between
breeders was at its height, bidding at
auctions would run the price of a
horse up to $40,000 and $50,000 regu-
larly. The highest price paid was for
Arion in 1891. He went for $125,000,
exceeding by $20,000 the price paid
for Axtel in 1889. But the $60,000
paid for the fabulous Dan Patch in
1903 was the last of the big money.
Some excitement was created in 1924
when Belwin sold for $50,000, but
with that exception no high-priced
horse appears on the scene until 1946.
Breeders stayed in business mainly
for the love of it.

Then came the clean-up. A horse
named Chestertown started the prices
soaring again when he went for $40,-
000 in 1946. By 1949 the $100,000
mark was reached by Nibble Hanover,
and last year Tar Heel boosted the
record up to the 8125,000 mark set by
Arion sixty years ago. All through
the auctions of recent months have
been running such healthy bids as
$40,000 and $50,000. The good old
days are back.

Along with the improvement of
the breed has come a tremendous
improvement in tracks and equip-
ment. Modern engineering has pro-
vided the roadbed and the dirt sur-
face best suited for horses, and
tracks all over the country have bene-
fited from the experiments conducted
by such big raceways as Roosevelt and
Yonkers. Another big improvement
has been in the development of an au-
tomobile-powered starting gate. This
consists of two gates, one on each side
of the car, that extend clear across the

~track. The horses are brought into

position behind the gates, the car
moves forward until, just at the start-
ing pole, it reaches a speed best suited
to get the horses off to a flying start.
Then the gates fold out of the way,
the car shoots ahead, and the race 1s
on.
Through the use of these mobile
gates, false starts, once the bane of
harnessracing, are largely eliminated.
What is more, the horses seem to like
it. With a little training they soon
learn to nose right up to the gate, and
take off like deer when it is whipped
out of the way.

This has led one veteran racing
driver, Nat Ray, who has been riding
a sulky for more than sixty years, to
look at today’s high speeds with some-
thing like suspicion. “The horses
aren’t any faster today than when I
started in racing,” he insists. ‘“What
with these newfangled starting gates,
improved tracks, rubber-tired sulkies,
and everything else, they can just get
more speed out of what they've got.”

Pienty of old-timers agree with
Ray’s theory, but the new school of
drivers points out firmly that it won’t
hold water. “Look,” exclaimed one
impatiently, ‘“‘take this mare here.”
He pointed to a black beauty who was
being walked in a circle by her groom
as she cooled off. “She is a long way
from being my best horse. Last win-
ter I had her down in Florida, and
just for the fun of it I hooked her up
to an old high-wheeled sulky I found
in the paddock. The track down
there was an unimproved one, just
like the old tracks. Well, I warmed
her up good, and then put the clock
on her for the last mile. She went
through it in 2:10. Why, if any of
the old-timers had had a horse as fast
as that back in 1900, she’d have made
him rich for life.”

And a breeder who has been in the
business fifty years—one thing about
harness racing is that it seems to be
the only major sport in the world in
which no one grows old—failed to take
Ray’s side. “When we say we are im-
proving the breed, we don’t mean
just in terms of speed. These horses
today are better all the way around.
Better looking, better mannered, more
intelligent, and, with what we have
learned about feeding them, healthier.
A lot of those horses of fifty years ago
were mean, and some were downright
vicious. Yve known more than one
who was so mean it was more than
your life was worth to go into his
stable. Now that I think of it, I can
remember when you could look
around a paddock anywhere and see
some groom or trainer limping
around from his latest kicking, and
you could always hear horses squeal-
ing or trying to kick their stalls apart.
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There’s nothing like that arouud any
more.”

I looked around the quiet, sunlit
scene, and there wasn’t.

Along with all the rest of the im-
provements is a new spirit around the
paddocks. During harness racing’s
dark days, there was little to attract
young men into the game. As one
driver put it, “If any kid of mine said
he wanted to follow in my footsteps,
I'd have broken his neck. Thank
God, it's different today. I've got a
youngster down on the farm who
looks like he’s got a way with horses.
If he has, he’s got my blessing.”

The touch with horses seems to be
the important thing shared by all the
men who work with them. No one
can define it exactly. It seems to be
some mystic bond between men and
horses. If you've got it, you devote
vour life to them. TIt’s the thing that

ept owners breeding horses through
all the years when there was no future
in it. It kept the drivers racing even
when they knew a race was being
framed against them. And it kept
the trainers working like devoted
slaves over horses who, because of
small purses, wouldn’t win enough
money to pay for their hay.

It is also something of a handica
in getting young blood into the busi-
ness. Up until the tractor came along,
the farm was a great source ot young
horsemen. After sitting on a two-
row sulky cultivator for a couple of
years,. the young farmer would begir.
to dream of greater glory, and the
trotting business would have a new
hand. Now, with the tractor on the
scene, there are fewer ways to discover
whether you've got the touch or not.

Still, it manages to manifest itself.
Among the drivers listed by the U. S.
Trotting Association are bankers,
lawyers, accountants and doctors who
have felt the call of the horses, and
left their businesses to respond to it.
And the young men, now that the
tracks are respectable and there is a
bright future for the business, are
coming in.

As an example of what a young man
can do if he sets his mind to itis John
F. Simpson whose driving last year
brought in $333,136 to make him the
leading money driver of the year.
John, who is 32, married and with
three children, felt the touch early in
life, and began working around the
paddocks down in his native Virginia
as part of his high-school education.
But as he was told, and could plainly
see, there was no future in horses
from the driving point of view. Still,
he could not get horses out of his
blood, so when he went to college he
concentrated on animal husbandry.
He figured there was still a good liv-
ing to be made as a technical man
trained in care and breeding of horses.
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But in 1940 the stable for which
he worked as part of his summer train-
ing was short a driver for a meet.
John sat in as a replacement, and sud-
denly the horses he drove, who had
been only fair to middling before, be-
gan to get up and take off. And he
discovered he liked the feel of that
wind in his face.

The clean-up was in progress, but
the public was still suspicious and
staved away in droves. As a result the
purses, though upped considerably,
were still small. Then came other
troubles. Just when it looked as if
night racing might prove to be the
trick to lure the public to the tracks,
the war came along, and with it the
dim-out. The lights had to be turned
out, and out went the public, too.

To John the troubles of wartime
racing were of only academic inter-
est. He was in the Army. During his
three years ol service he all but gave
up any idea of returning to driving,
deciding instead to resume his plan
for a technical career.

His winning touch with horses was
not to be denied, however By 1949

Every man who takes office in
\Vashington either grows or
swells.

—WOODROW WILSON

he wuas fourth among the leading
money winners of the country. In
1950 he was second with winnings of
$234,519, and last year he came in
first.

This year he may not place so high.
He has taken over the management of
the Hanover Shoe Farm, the largest
breeders of standard-bred horses in the
world. Among his charges are such
expensive creatures as the $125,000
Tar Heel, the $100,000 Solicitor, the
€100,000 Nibble Hanover, and others
whose combined prices get astronomic.
Thus his plans for a career in animal
husbandry have paid off beautifully,
while the chances are that they won’t

ut too much of a crimp in his driv-
g purses.

But let’s take a look at a typical
night at Roosevelt Raceway. While
some 30,000 people make their way
to the track by car, special trains, and
chartered buses, the horses for the
night’s racing are brought over from
the stables to the track paddock:
There an identification man checks
each one through a unique identifica-
tion system devised to make the sub-
stitution of horses impossible. TFor
this purpose the chestnuts of the
horse are used, the chestnuts being

those little knobs ol hoot-like material
lound on the inside of each knee and
hock. Actually they are the remains
of an extra toe once possessed by the
prehistoric horse, and, as is the case
with fingerprints in man, no two
horses possess identical chestnuts.
Photographs of the chestnuts of all
the horses registered at the track are
on file, and these photographs are
checked against the horses as they
are brought into the paddock.

Then they trot out onto the track
to warm up for one or two miles,
and thirty thousand pairs of eyes be-
gin looking them over for favorites.
That is one great diflerence between
harness and flat races. Whereas the
saddle horses appear before the pub-
lic for only a few minutes before they
are off, the trotters are on constant
parade. As soon as the first race is
over, the horses for the next are
brought eut to warm up, and every-
one has ample opportunity to look
them over.

A devoted horse-follower explains
it this way: “I could never get ac-
quainted with the ponies at the flat
races. When I put down my two
bucks, it was like betting on a
stranger, no matter what my scratch
sheet said. Now the trotters, I know.
Before the night is over, each one is
an old friend, and when I back one
up with my two bucks, it’s because I
like him. If I lose, I feel as sorry for
my horse as I do for me.”

But you don’t have to rely on your
own eyes to pick your horses. Printed
right on your program is its perform-
ance record, and it you bet on a 2:12
horse that is racing in 2:10 company,
you're either playing for long-shot
money, or it’s your fault. This de-
tail, too, is part of the clean-up policy
giving the public a fair shake.

When the horses line up for the
race, they take their places according
to the numbers drawn before ofh-
cials three days previously. The
drawing by lot for position is neces-
sary because the pole position (against
the inside rail) has got a decided
advantage over the horses farther out
on the track. At Roosevelt Raceway,
for instance, which is a half-mile
track, the horse running in the sec-
ond lane must travel 17 feet farther
than the horse against the rail on
each turn. If he remains ‘‘parked
out” for all tour turns of the mile
race, he loses 68 teet, and that can
cost him the race.

This has led some of the followers
of the flat races to scoff at placing
bets on the trotters. They claim the
pole horse has too big an advantage
over the others to make for a fair
bet. The drivers, while not discount-
ing the pole position’s advantage,
deny that it lasts much farther than
the first turn. They claim that by
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“tucking in” behind the pole horse,
they can let it break the wind for
them, giving their horses enough re-
serve strength to “go overland” when
they really want to start to travel.

And as my trotting addict friend
has explained to me: “At the flat
races, 1t's all hell-for-leather from
start to finish. The horse gives ev-
erything it's got, and keeps right on
giving to the end. No brain-work
necessary at all. Now with my trot-
ters, they've got sense. They run for
miles every day, and they know ex-
actly what they are doing. In addi-
tion to that, they've got men driving
them who also know what they're
doing. A race is more than a matter
of speed. It's a matter of good judg-
ment and strategy. That I like.”

To which the drivers themselves
add, “Let’s look at it this way. Say
we're in a race with a $50,000 purse,
with $22,500 going to the winner.
When we line up, don't think every
single one of us has got anything
else in mind but winning that race.
We don't care what position we're
in. We drive to win. And we have
that same idea whether the purse is
a big one or a little one.” |

The public, confidence restored,
feels that way, too. Already the in-
dications are that it will bet well
over the $304,010,301 handle of last
year, and that is the kind of money
that talks.

But it is not only at the big tracks
that you. get to see championship
horses in action. Thanks to modern
transportation methods, the horses
get all over the country, by horse
van, railroad and airplane. And
thanks to the supervision of the U.S.
Trotting Association, the races are
just as exciting at the smallest county
fair track as they are at the big one.
Gone are the days when a few su-
perior horses would be matched
against hopelessly out-classed rivals.

Today, through careful planning,
the small tracks are assured of getting
the best horses available, and more
than that, they are assured that they
will be getting horses evenly matched
in speed. Maybe they won't get
horses that will run the mile in 1:55
but they will get horses so fast that
the few seconds of difference between
their time and the world’s record will
- never be noticed.

‘So there is the new picture. We
have the breeders every year coming
out with even greater champions. We
have trained officials ruthlessly clamp-
ing down upon any infringement in
the rules. We have honest drivers
inspired by large purses worth driv-
ing for.

And, out under the stars, with a
brightly-lighted track before them, we
have the public watching one of the
most exciting sports on earth. °
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WORDLY WISE

IDIor

No civilization, ancient or modern, has had a more
exalted idea of civic responsibility than did early Greece.
There, the highest honor that could come to a citizen
was a place of public trust—even though no pay might
be involved.

A man who held no office was called idios (private).
Eventually the word came to be applied to persons
mentally incapable of taking part in community affairs.
Then, slightly modified in spelling, its meaning was
again broadened—to stand for any individual with less
than normal intelligence.

This serves as a vivid reminder that, even yet, only
an idiot will ignore the opportunities and responsibili-
ties of citizenship.

—Webb B. Garrison
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Sometimes You Lose'!

Good cops don’t take bribes. |

Cobb wias la good cop but he took one anyway.
And suddenly it was too late. |

He couldn't quit,

at the two men across the table.
“Where—and what time? And
what’ll you be using?”

. By WILLIAM HOLDER “Just before eight on the Trans-
World pier,” Seeley replied. “There’s
a bundle or two or three we’ll be
pickin’ up.” He was a short thin man
with small intense eyes. “We'll have
two trucks and two helpers and be
out by midnight ”

You could put an awful lot of stuff
into two big trailers.

“What is it?”” Cobb asked.

Seeley showed his crooked, discol-
ored teeth in a smile. “And that we
don’t know, me boyo. It’s layin’ about
indiscriminate, and we’ll take pot
luck.”

Cobb knew he was lying. He knew
too that the pier watchmen were
bought—just as he himself had been
bought. The trucks would go in at
eight, the big steel shutters of the pier
would close, and then at twelve the

yet he COUIdn"' go on. COBB TASTED THE WHISKY and looked
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trucks would leave, loaded. He said,
“You'll have to take care of the foot
cop on the beat. I can’t do anything
about him.”

“As soon as he turns a corner he’s
no trouble to us. It's you we always
like to talk to. You and the other cop
who rides with you.”

“Don’t worry about him.”

“We won't,” the third man at the
table putin. “You worry about him.”

Cobb looked at Rudkin, the expres-
sionless giant with the sandy hair and
the white, even teeth. He'd often
thought that he would not care to go
up against this man—although they
were almost of a size.

He said now, “All right. You go on
the pier tomorrow night about eight
and you're off a little before twelve.
And I get the usual.”

Seeley grinned and held up one
finger. “All fifties, and in the mail in
the morning, me bucko.”

Cobb stood up, said, “So long,” and
walked out of the shabby bar. He
was careful about these meetings, as
he was careful about everything. He
was far uptown, now, in a neighbor-
hood where he was sure he’d meet no
one he knew. He looked at his watch
and then walked to the subway. He’d
be just about in time for the kid to
pick him up in the car.

He wondered why he felt a little
jumpy about this deal. He didn’t
like Seeley or Rudkin, but he'd
worked with them before and they op-
erated smoothly enough. It was prob-
ably just that Gammo, the kid he
worked with, was asking too many
questions. This job itself was noth-
ing. You just kept away from the
Trans-World when they’'d be coming
in and going out, and if there were
lights on the pier when you passed,
why, you knew about that and had a
story ready.

HE got out at his station, went
to the small apartment and made him-
self a couple of sandwiches and poured
a glass of milk. The three rooms were
nicely furnished but without ostenta-
tion, because you had to be careful
here, too. Caution was part of the
price you paid and the interest in
tear was heavy.

He listened to a race result on the
radio and grunied in approval, then
went down to the street again and
smoked a cigarette in front of the
apartment. He wondered if he’d have
any trouble with the kid tomorrow
night. Gammo was anxious, suspi-
cious, impatient—all cop; he was likely
to get you jammed up if you didn’t
keep your eyes open

The dark sedan pulled up at the
curb, then, and he went over to it
and got in. Joe Gammo said, “I'm
sorry I'm late, Mel. I had to stop and
check on a few things.” He was a big
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dark kid with a handsome, eager face.
His smile was as much a part of him
as his nose. "It's a nice day.”

Cobb said, “Yeah.” It would be a
nice day until tomorrow night. You
kept thinking about it, trying to fig-
ure just what would happen.

Gammo talked. He was a smart
kid, a couple of years out of law
school, and quick to learn. He wasn’t
under the impression that he knew it
all; when you told him something he
listened, and he‘soaked it up like a
blotter. They’d been riding together
for five months and Cobb had a real
affection for him. This kid was one
hell of a cop. He'd be in plain clothes
soon, the way Cobb already was.

Gammo said, grinning, “What's the
big bet today, Mel?”

“Dixie Kid in the third.” That
was another way in which he’d exer-
cised care. As soon as he’d started to
take, Cobb had deliberately developed
an intense interest in the horses, and

he hadn’t kept it any secret. He went -

out to the track every chance he got,
and in this way he could account for
practically every dollar he had in the
bank. He paid taxes on everything.
They’d never catch him that way.

“A nice price?” the kid asked.

“He won a couple of minutes ago
and paid $18.20,” Cobb said “I had
him for a hundred.” It was partly
the truth. He’d had twenty on the
horse, but you could always use that
extraroom in the bank.

They made their routine tour, down
the West Side docks, through the ware-
house-lined side streets. ~Gammo
talked and Cobb listened, wondering
what it would be like to be this kid,
twenty-six years old, a good education,
honest as a silver dollar, in love with
his job. Gammo said, “Mulry was
telling me about the time you shot
the two guys on Thirty-eighth.”

Cobb said, “A long time ago.” Six
years. A jewelry-store stick-up and
he’d walked right into it.- They'd
shot him down before he’d known
what was going on, but he’d managed
to get the gun out, and sitting there
on the sidewalk he’d killed them both.

“Mulry said you were hurt badly.”

Cobb said, “Yeah.” Two months
in the hospital, and now he lacked a
lump ol lung, a piece of kidney. But
it seldom bothered him. . . .

They got the routine calls. They
engineered a truce in a fight between
a husband and wile; Gammo spotted
a stolen car in a side street; they got
to a bar on Thirteenth two minutes
after it had been stuck up, but they
could do no-good there.

At half-past eleven, on their last
trip along the docks, Gammo asked,
“You know how much stuff is stolen
off these piers, Mel?”
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“Plenty,” Cobb said. The kid had
been hipped on this subject for weeks
now.

“Fifty, sixty million dollars a year.”

Cobb said, “Yeah. I read the figures
somewhere”—and a little bell rang in
the back of his head. '

“I was talking to a guy from one of
the big insurance companies. They
take an awful beating.”

Cobb said nothing, but he knew he
wouldn’t be able to give Seeley and
Rudkin the Go sign much longer.
He'd either have to try to get the kid
transferred or—

“Tomorrow,” Gammo was saying,
“we might get a break. I have to see
a guy in the afternoon. It might mean
something.”

“Who?” Cobb said evenly. “Who
you going to see?” What the hell was
going on here?

The kid shook his head. “It could
mean nothing and I'd just be shooting
off my mouth. T'll wait until I know
what I'm ralking about.”

AND Cobb knew he couldn’t press
him. He knew too that whatever
Gammo was talking about couldn’t
possibly have any connection with
Seeley and Rudkin.

They turned the car over to Hayes
and Brown and went into the precinct-
house to check with Mulry the lieuten-
ant, and then they were through for
the night. Cobb knew he needed a
drink. The kid had shaken him up.
He said good-night and grabbed a
cab up to Charlie’s.

He found himselt thinking of the
first time he’d gone on the take. Mom
had been sick for a long while, and
he was into every finance company
that would handle him. Then he'd
hit the Shylocks, the six-for-five guys,
and that was a fast way to bleed to
death. When the first proposition had
come along it had been a nice size,
three hundred bucks, and he'd
grabbed it and refused to think.

From there it was a nonstop trip,
except you were cagey and passed up
the peamuts. You examined every
angle to make sure you'd be able to
slide out if anything happened, and
you always worked alone. You put
your conscience to sleep with the
rustle of bills, and you forgot every
yesterday with the promise of each
tOmMorrow. . . .

At Charlie’s, Rose was waiting for
him at-the usual table. He felt the
same warm pleasure he always expe-
rienced at the sight of that lovely face,
the dark hair, the fine body. Her
smile made him [orget a lot of things.

“You have a nice day, Mel?”

“It was all right.” He caught a
waiter’s eye, ordered a drink for her,
a double for himself. He lit a ciga-
rette and tried to get that fool kid
Gammo out of his mind.
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Rose said, ‘“What's the matter,
Mel?”
He said, “Nothing’s the matter.

Why?” He must be slipping.

She smiled and made a little ges-
ture with her hands. *“You think I
don’t know when something’s bother-
ing you? You came in here as if you
didn’t know where you were. And
then ordering the double.”

He grinned at her. “Just thinking
of a horse for tomorrow.” Tomorrow
was getting to be a very big day. This
was a smart woman, and she knew him
as well as anyone had ever known
him. He said, “Let’s get something to
eat. I'm starving to death.”

The steaks were fine but the trouble
stayed with him, and he’d never had
the willies like this since the first
time he'd held his hand out. If he
was getting this jumpy, it was almost
time to quit.

“I saw an ad in the paper today,”
Rosesaid. *“A place out on the Island
near a beach, and only fifty minutes
from the city.”

She didn’t bring it up very often,
only once in-a while. After three
years, those ads would begin to look
pretty attractive, he guessed. He'd
always figured that a cop’s wife had
enoughto worry about ordinarily, and
if the guy was a thief he'd be letting
her play with dice that were loaded
against her.

He didn't reply and she reached
across the table and touched his hand.
Her voice was very soft. *“Mel, why
don’t you give it up?”

He looked at her. “The job? You

crazy?”’

“Not the job. Whatever else you're
doing.”

He rested his forearms on the table
lightly.  “What are you talking
about?”

Her eyes were full of distress. “I
don’t know. But it's—it’s something.
I've felt it for a long time. I-I
don’t—"

“You're talking through your pretty
hat.” But it got him; he’d never told
her a thing.

They ate in a vaguely troubled si-
lence, and suddenly it came to him
that he was through, that any more of
what he'd been doing would be stupid
and meaningless. What he needed he
had in the bank, and it was not too
much, not an awkward bundle he
couldn’t handle. It was enough so
that they wouldn’t have to squeeze
or cut too many corners, but it
wouldn’t get them into any trouble.

He looked at the woman across the
table and he was filled with a greater
tenderness than he’d ever known.
She’d put up with makeshift for a
long while, and now it would be okay
about that ad in the paper. A reason-
able down-payment on some place
they liked, a nice quiet wedding with
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maybe the kid Gammo as best man,
and all the trouble gone from her eyes.
What the hell more was he looking
forr He'd take this one tomorrow
because it would be easier to take than
to call off, and that would be the end.

He said, “Let’s get out of here. I've
gotsome etchings I want to show you.”

She looked at him and smiled.
“New ones, Mel?”

He grinned. “Well, I guess you
might have seen some of them.”

e paid the check, and when they
were out on the street he asked,
“Where was that place you were talk-
ing about? That ad you saw?”

She looked at him for a long mo-
ment, and he saw something very nice
happen to her.

“Well, it was a town called—"

THE tour started just like any other
It was raining lightly and there was a
low overcast of scudding cloud that
Cobb liked. It would be a dark, mis-
erable night. Gammo seemed nervous
and strained, and Cobb was very care-
ful. He knew the kid had nothing,
nothing at all, and he wondered at
his own impatience. All he had to do
was wait out the hours until midnight
and it would be all over—for good.

It was almost six when the kid said,
“Mel, I've got something hot for to-
night.”

Cobb looked at him. *“A broad?”
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“A job,” Gammo said. Cobb kept
all expression out of his face. “A big
fat job on the docks. There's a bunch
figuring on knocking over the Trans-
World pier.”

Cobb almost fell out of the car, but
his voice sounded good to him as he
said, “Where did you get this?”’

The kid had his pet pigeon, like
everyone else—a weed-boy in the neigh-
borhood on whom he had a stolen car
rap for pressure. Gammo had been on
him tough, lately, and today the guy
had put out; he had heard this and
that—the pier, the night. ‘““Somebody
named Seeley has it rigged,” said
Gammo. “You ever hear of him?”

Cobb shook his head, then he said
what he knew he was expected to say:
“I hope you told Mulry about this.
He’ll have a couple of cars down,
and—"

The kid said, “No. This is the first
chatter this slob has given me in a
month. He might be talking just to
keep me off his tail. I've been riding

him hard.”

“Even so,” Cobb said. He had to
play it out. “If—"

Gammo said, “No, Mel. I don't
want to pull a rock.” It was his one
weakness, Cobb thought. The kid

figured it was a crime to make a mis-
take. “We can watch the place,” said
Gammo. “If we see anything we can
put in the call. It'll be better than
having Mulry eat me out.”

Cobb let it sink; then he said, “All
right. It's your party.”

The kid acted as if he’d just found
a hundred-dollar bill in the gutter.
“You'll go along with me?”

Cobb said, “Sure.”

It was half an hour before he
thought it safe to get to a phone. He
went into a place for a sandwich and
a cup of coffee while the kid stayed

with the car and the radio. Seeley
answered right away.
“It's no good,” Cobb said. “Either

you or that big slob has been shoot-

ing his mouth off. My partner has the

whole deal cold, from a pigeon.”
There was a moment's silence.

“Buy him,” Seeley said then. “An-
other grand.”
“No dice. He doesn’t buy. Call

it off. It's dead.”
Seeley cursed coldly. ‘“‘So the word
is out—there’ll be a spread.”

“No. Only the kid and I know.
But—" And he could have cut his
tongue out.

“Only you and the lad,” Seeley said
swiftly, and his voice was soft but
somehow as sharp as a knife. “Well,
we'll delay nothing. The things we
want will be moved in the morning,
and I've spent more than five minutes
or five days thinkin’ how to do this.
You'll take care of your friend as best
you can, and if anything goes wrong,
God help you” And he hung up.
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Cobb stared at the phone, knowing
it would be useless to call back. He
wasn’t stupid often, but he sure was
the champ when he fluffed one. He
went out of the booth and killed a cup
ot coffee, trying to figure it. But he
came up with nothing and knew he'd
have to play it as he went along. It
was no way to work.

He got some breaks. There was a
big accident on the slippery highway
just betore seven, and when they got
through messing around there they got
a call to a flat on Fifteenth where two
big drunks were carving at each other
with broken bottles over a girl who
was crouched screaming in a corner.
It was good for a long stall, and Cobb
milked it. Gammo was getting as
nervous as a cat in a kennel.

WHEN they got into the car again
it was almost nine o’clock and Cobb
knew the trucks would be on the pier.
One more decent break and there was
a chance he’d get away with it, because
Seeley would be in one hell of a hurry
after that phone call.

Gammo said, “Mel, let’s hit that
pier. If that was straight dope they
could walk off with the pilings by
now.”

Cobb had taken the wheel.
said, “Sure, kid.
look.”

By now he knew pretty well what
he’d have to do. He didn't like it at
all, but he could find no other an-
swer. He drove over to West, and as
they approached Trans-World there
were no lights visible. The kid was
looking intently through the wind-

He
We'll take a quick

shield and Cobb said, “It seems to me
you got a bum steer. That place is
dead.”

They were within a block of Trans-
World when they got a call-a fire
over on Tenth Avenue—and Cobb
wheeled the car and gave it the gun.
The kid turned a strained tace to him.
“Christ, Mel! This is no fire-engine!
Whatare you—"'

“It’s ours,” Cobb said. “There’s
nothing but rats on that lousy pier.
It can wait.” And he hoped bitterly
that it was a hell of a fire—a ware-
house, trom the address—and that
they'd bestuck there good for a couple
ot hours.

They were there for only ten min-
utes. A stray bum had wormed his
way in out of the rain and had
dropped a cigarette on a pile of old
paper. A hook-and-ladder company
had the thing licked betore it really
started.

Gammo hadn’t even got out of the
car, and when Cobb came back he
was at the wheel. He said, “Come
on,” and Cobb got in. They went
over toward Trans-World in a hurry.
The rain had cooled the air, but he
could feel the sweat sliding down his
sides.

He had always suspected that the
day would come along, but he’d never
thought it would be like this. He’'d
been atraid of the wrong thing. He'd
held in his mind vague pictures of a
Departmental inquiry but he'd never
guessed that his trial would be held
at night in the rain.

They stopped at the pier next to
Trans-World and got out of the car
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and walked over. Cobb thought it
would be one hell of a time for the
big shutters to go up and the trucks
roll out. He said, “This joint is as
dead as Kelcey, kid.”

Gammo paid no attention to him.
He went up to the steel shutter and
put his ear against it. In a moment
he jerked his head and Cobb walked
over and_put his head against the
metal.

They weren’t even being quiet. He
could hear men’s voices and the move-
nment of heavy objects. Haste was
destroying their caution. He turned
to the kid and Gammo’s face was one
big grin as he said, “'You get busy on
the radio. I'll go in by the small door
and see that they don’t get out. Let’s
move.”

He had his gun out already and
Cobb slipped his own from the hol-
ster. He was aware of no regret. This
was the sum of the years—a total you
could not ignore but might erase.
Gammo was a step ahead of him,
headed for the door at the side of the
pier. Cobb said, “Look out!” then
lifted his gun and brought it down,
giving it a lot of authority, knowing
that the kid’s cap would break the im-
pact. The kid dropped, his gun clat-
tering on the cobbles.

Conn dragged him out of the way
to the side ot the pier and retrieved
the gun. He went back to the door:
it was locked, as he had known it
would be. He didn’t stop to think
about it but smashed two panes ol
glass in the upper halt with the barrel
of his gun and it was the loudest sound
he’d ever heard—the announcement
of his betrayal. He reached in and
turned the key, then pushed the door
open, and in the split second of cross-
ing the threshold he was in the two
worlds he had fashioned for himsell.
The two watchmen were there, tied
and gagged, and that was their out.
He had none.

He walked into the pier proper
and yelled, “What the hell is going on
heres”—because you really didn’t
know what team was yours and you
gave them all an even break. But he
needn’t have bothered, because big
Rudkin was only fifteen feet away, a
gun going, and Cobb felt the smashing
blow in his right side. He fired
twice and Rudkin’s face dissolved
redly, turning.

The pier floor did not fteel hard as
Cobb hit it.  He tried to draw a breath
but it came only a quarter of the way.
He saw Seeley edge around the corne:
ol a truck, and he fired—and missed—
as the man shot at him. He ftelt the
terrific blow in his neck and fired
again. . . . Somewhere in the back
ol his mind he wondered what that
house in the ad waslike. ... He stared
at the gun as it fell trom his hand. o
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Rather apprehensively, Pete walked toward her. She
grabbed his beard and yanked. “I'll make you miser-
able, brute man! You will be most glad to give me up!”

PETE BROWN LOOKED AHEAD with excitement as he rode be- When a mountain man
tween the Comanche tepees. The Indian hunting party passing
his cabin yesterday had told him of the Comanche fair. Fine
stolen Pawnee horses for sale. Soft antelope skins and buffalo
robes. Maybe a sturdy young squaw prisoner to cook for you.

buys a wife he’s got the right

For a moment Pete grimaced above his young beard as though to take what he wants.
he’d bitten a green persimmon. Good horses and buffalo robes
were fine. But a woman again, in his bachelor cabin? 0
Leading his two pack-horses loaded with beaver fur, he Pete had the "ght’

threaded between the lodges emblazoned with the design of the e
many-rayed sun. He came out into a plaza-like opening ringed but did he have the COuTﬂge?
with copper-colored squaws and the hawk-nosed, haughty, short-
statured fighters who were already a terror to the Southwest. He
grunted contemptuously as he saw poncho-draped white men: © By CHARLES A. ROBERTS
Comancheros from Taos, cunning traders in everything Indian—
inslave captives and stolen goods.
Pete halted beside one, an obese, swarthy man whose helpers
carried trade goods. Simultaneously he felt excitement ripple
around him. A brave was stalking toward a blanket on the grass.
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Behind him came two squaws leading
a girl.  And what a girll She was
white—dirty, ragged and haggard, but
beautiful, and white!

“The French squaw,” a buck
grunted. “From the French village
on the waters called the Red.” Al-
ready the fat trader was stumping to-
ward her, followed by his porters.

French! But with English blood?
Pete wondered. Her dark red hair
hung down like a talling flame. Her
blue eyes were flames, too, in spite of
their weariness and fear.

A strange tightness, almost of pity,
came into his chest. Impulsively he
followed the trader, though he cursed
himself. Did he want to dicker over a
squaw?

THE brave was speaking in deep
chesty tones. His name was Black
Star, he said—and a black-hued star
of leather hung on his chest, the Co-
manche symbol of uncommon bravery.
He had captured the young squaw
himself in a raid near the Louisiana
border. She’d bring much profit to
his white brothers from Taos.

The fat Comanchero dropped beads
on the blanket as an opening present.
“My name is Cordero,” he said in
broken Comanche.

Pete’s ears pricked up. He could
talk the language easily, as he could
a dozen Indian tongues.

Cordero’s little eyes were suddenly

sharp. “Are the people of the white
squaw alive? Can they pay the ran-
soms”’

“They can pay a rich ransom,”
Black Star declared loudly.

A lie, Pete Brown thought prompt-
ly. No doubt all her kinfolk and the
whole village had been massacred. It
showed in his manner. Besides, it the
family were alive he wouldn’t offer
the girl for sale. He'd ask the Coman-
chero to dicker with her folks for the
ransom money, as a go-between.

The fat man shrugged. Plainly, he
didn’t believe Black Star either. He
dropped a couple of bolts of gaudy
calico on the blanket. “They will
pay a small ransom—maybe.”

A tall, bony Comanchero pushed
up and threw down three bolts.
“Flaco’s heart is good toward Black
Star,” he asserted. “But he cannot
believe that the white squaw is worth
much. He will buy her and sell her
to a wealthy ranchero in New Mexico
—as a kitchen slave.”

The girl wrenched herself from the
squaw’s grip and ran toward Cordero.
“Seiior Cordero,” she implored in
broken Comanche, “I do not want to
be a slave. Buy me—send me back to
my people! They will pay a big re-
ward!”

Pete saw the shine of greed in Cor-
dero’s eyes, and he felt suddenly
nauseated. “These men, they fool
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you, ma'mselle,” he burst out in the
French he’d learned on the Missouri.
“Sell you to the wild son of some
landowner, that is what they would
do. He would pay high for a white
mistress.”

The girl's eyes rounded in terror
and she fell back. Cordero’s tone
grew snappish.

“I'he American hunter lies. The
royal governor will purchase all cap-
tives destined for concubinage, and
free them. It is a royal decree.”

“Maybe it is,” Pete retorted. “But
it’s not enforced, and you know it.”
Likely Cordero was trying to keep the
girl quiet so he could handle her
easier.

With an angry impulse Pete slipped
a pack knot on his horses and flung
down four pelts. *“The white hunter
will buy the girl himself!”

Black Star laughed raucously. “The
cold winter nights come soon, eh?
The young hunter thinks the white
squaw can warm his blankets better
than an Indian girl?”

The ma’'mselle’s ftace crimsoned
with anger. “Claire Lefave will not
be any man’s mistress!” she stormed.
She faced Pete and spoke in broken
English. “And certainly not of the
snake like you! I have heard of you
outlaws on the Arkansas and Red
Rivers—robbers, murderers!”

“Sure,” Pete said quietly in Eng-
lish, “there’s a passel of outlaws who
trap on the Arkansas and the Red.
But Pete Brown ain’t one. I'm not
buying you to be my squaw, either—"

He stopped, confused. What in
tarnation was he buying the girl for?
She had no kin he could take her to.
And it, come spring, he spent time to
take her to Louisiana, or even just to
dhe Arkansas settlements, he’d lose
the spring lift of beaver. And he
wasn’'t going to do that!

“Then maybe you think to collect
a reward,” she said hotly. “But I
will not go to your wretched skin
shanty. I don’t want to live with a
filthy beast like you—even for the
short time.”

His face burned with mortification
as she pointed. Sure enough, his
buckskin suit was old and slimy with
grease, his yellow hair and beard long,
ragged and unwashed.

“I want Cordero to take me to
Taos,” she went on, pointing. “I be-
lieve he will sell me tor ransom. And
in Taos 1 would have good ftood.
clothes and rest.”

He looked at the strained whiteness
of her face, and his exasperation
cooled. It was a wonder she wasn't
dead already, what with days of hard
riding and hard treatment.

Cordero smiled with mock gallan-
try. “The lady prefers a Spanish gen-
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teman—with good taste.” He set
more trade goods on the blanket.
“Can anything be too costly to spend
for the purchase of such a one?”

Pete hesitated. The girl hated him;
if he bought her, he’d have only an
ungrateful she-cat. Then he looked
at her worn, lovely face, and turned
to strip the plews from his packs.

“Here are a hundred pelts, Black
Star. Six hundred dollars’ worth.
Let the Taos traders match that.”

The Comancheros shrugged sullen-
ly. Black Star grinned. “The she-
whelp belongs to you, pale brother.
Enjoy her for many moons.”

Claire stamped her foot. Tears of
vexation glittered in her eyes, making
them bluer. “Non, non! 1 do not
go with him!”

Rather apprehensively Pete walked
toward her. She grabbed his beard
and yanked weakly, pounding his face.
“l make you miserable, brute man!
You will be most glad to give me upl”

Sick at heart, he forced her hands
down. Suddenly her face crinkled
with mute grief. He patted her shoul- -
der awkwardly.

“Hush, hush, Ma'mselle Claire. 1
won't treat you bad.”

Then he busied himself, buying
two handsome dresses of doeskin
trimmed in porcupine quills from a
Comanche, and from the traders flour,
coftee and a heavf’,‘ﬂ()-caliber Hawken
rifle. It was like Old Peg, the one he
already had.

HF. sought out Black Star. *“Will
the Comanche tell the truth? Were
not all the French squaw’s people
killed?”

The brave grunted. “Gone under
—all of them.” His face cracked in a
grin. “Black Star spoke to the traders
with a crooked tongue, so they would
not ftear to buy her.”

The girl's tace was stony when Pete
returned and lifted her onto one of
the pack-horses. But he was alarmed
to note the chill of her skin and her
waxy pallor.

His trail the next day led into a
timbered region, where already the
yellow leaves were whirling down.
Several times he stopped to let her
rest. At night he reached his cabin.

It was a sturdy, medium-sized log
hut of one room, built by some settler
who’d had to abandon it. Now there
were no other white men for a hun-
dred miles.

He lifted the girl from the horse—
and stiffened, as she fell against him
in a dead faint. Her body, no longer
chill, was hot with fever.

Hurriedly he carried her into the
cabin. He made a thick bed of
blankets and robes in a bunk and
laid her on it. He heated water in an
iron pot and undressed the girl, pre-
paring to bathe her.
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Then he stopped, staring at the
lovely curves of her legs and body.
God, she was beautiful—like the
breathless lines of a spirited young
mare or a swift birch canoe! Some-
thing a man could feast his eyes on
forever and ever, even if he never used
it. Something like a mountain peak
a far piece away, both white and rosy
in the dawn, where the foot of even
the mountain man had never trod. . ..

Now he knew what he would do
with her. She'd have to be his squaw.
He'd have to coax her to come to him,
willingly. He had to have that love-
liness to lay his hungry eyes on every
day. That would be more joy, almost,
than having her as a man had a
woman.

C AREFULLY, respectfully, he bathed
her, then clad her in one of the fine,
bright dresses of doeskin. From buf-
falo marrow he made a delicate soup
and fed it to her spoonful by spoonful.
Unconscious though she was, she swal-
lowed it.

Then, rather embarrassedly, Pete
bathed himself, washed and trimmed
his hair and beard, and washed the
buckskin suit.

The girl lay unconscious for four
days. On the fifth she opened her
eyes and surveyed the cabin, visibly
recoiling.

“So this is where you brought me:”
she whispered intensely. “But I will
not stay, comprenez vous? Take me
to my family at once!”

Rising, she tried to slide out of the

bunk. But her strength failed her,
and she fell back. Her glance was
burning.

“I'll take you to your kinfolks,”
Pete said at last, painfully. He had to
tell her something. “But only when
you're fit to ride a far piece. I sure
do wish you'd come to like me. I
wouldn’t force you no ways to be my
squaw, but I hope that after a spell
you'll want to be, willing-like.”

“Moi? Live in the wild?”

“The wives of the Hudson Bay
trappers go with them on their trap-
ping journeys. Young ’uns, too.”

“Pah! Halt-breed women!”

He gave her his slow, gentle smile.
“You called me ‘dirty.” Can you call
me that now?”

She sized him up, and for a moment
her lips curved in an acrid smile.
And even that lighted her face. “Oui,
you clean yourself up. But you are
still the wild man. You know noth-
ing of the white woman, of course?”

He sighed. *“You're right. My ma
died when I was ten, and Pap took
to the mountain-man’s life. Took me
with him. I ain’t knowed anything
else. I bought me an Injun squaw
when I was twenty. Paid two fine
horses for her. After that she was
mine to do with like I wanted.”
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“That is not tfor Claire Letave,” the
girl said flatly. “Now please to hang
a curtain across my corner, and leave
me.”

Patiently he strung up a curtain of
butfalo robes, and from then on she
attended to her wants herself. He
handed what she needed through the
hangings.

But her recovery was slow; and
elatedly he saw that the bitter cold of
early winter was nearing. If she
wasn’t up before winter struck, he
wouldn’t have to tell her why he
couldn’t take her to her kin until
spring. And maybe during the win-
ter he could still win her. ...

One day in the late fall Pete was
scraping the flesh from some pelts on
the graining-block outside his door,
with Old Peg standing close by. Sud-
denly three Comanches rode out of
the woods and down to the river to
water their horses. Pete watched
them intently, and moved closer to
Old Peg.

Turning, the Indians saw him; they
talked among themselves, then rode
up in front of the cabin. They
showed no war paint or war shields,
but his vigilance did not relax.

“Hough!” grunted the lead Indian.
“The Comanche comes in peace. He
asks only that the white brother give
him and his other brothers ten beaver-
skins for presents.”

“Why?" Pete demanded.

“The Long Knife is trapping on
the land of the Comanches. Is that
not enoughz”

Pete Brown didn't betray any ex-
pression. He tished in his pocket,
found three twists of tobacco and
handed them to the Indian. *“These
are the only presents which the white
brother will give,” he said flatly.

The Comanches frowned, palavered
among themselves again and sullenly
rode away. When Pete entered the
cabin, Claire was on her feet, trying
to walk to the door. She was visibly
alarmed.

“Do they threaten us, wild manz”
she asked anxiously.

He shrugged. *“Only blustering for
presents. They've gone away. Noth-
ing to worry about from them.”

But in his heart he wasn't sure.

Her face relaxed. Suddenly she
emitted a cry of delight. “See, I can
walk, wild man. Walk! In a week I
will be fit for the travel. I can make
the start for home then, n’est-ce pas?”

“Sure you can,” he said heartily.
But his heart sank.

The week passed. He kept a sharp
eye out for Indians. Finally one
morning Claire got out of her bunk
briskly. “Ah, today I feel of the best.
Today we start for home.”

“Good. TI'll bring the horses in."”
But as he started toward the picketed
beasts, his feet seemed to have weights

tied to them. Suddenly his pulse
speeded up: Sooty clouds were dark-
ening the northern rim of the sky,
and he literally ran back into the
cabin.

“Claire—Claire!
ing up.”

The girl looked at the sky and
stamped her foot furiously. “Now we
cannot travel. T must delay seeing
my family till spring.” She looked at
Pete. “And you—you think if I stay
I will come to be your squaw. You
are crazyl”

Quietly he began moving the pelts
inside.

“Get busy at some work. Then you
won’t mind the winter,” he said.

Claire frowned moodily, but at last
commenced helping. In a couple of
hours the storm was howling. From
then on, grudgingly, day by day she
took over many ol the household
tasks. Soon she was caroling gayly as
her natural vivacity asserted itself. She
put blemished but thick robes and
furs on the hard earthen floor. With
a hide scraped thin and oiled, she
made a windowpane.

One bright, white winter’s day Pete
brought out the spare ritle he'd
bought. *“You ought to know how to
shoot this, Claire. 1 been fixin' to
learn you. If mean Injuns come
again, maybe the rifle'd come in
mighty handy to you. Want it?”

“Out, oui!” She clutched at the
gun eagerly, then looked at Pete with
mockery. “l will call her Spitfire.
You are not the bad man—sometimes.”

A blizzard’s blow-

OF'I'EN thereafter they hunted to-
gether, seeking the deer, antelope and
buffalo that took shelter in the near-
by woods, and always they brought
home fresh, choice parts of the meat.

Pete also taught her card games,
and the last of the girl’s reserve
melted. She laughed—a gay delighted
laugh that was like the chiming of
hawk bells. Her eves sparkled like
the high blue mountain lakes. And
his arms ached more and more hun-
grily to encircle her.

One night she played a queen she
should have held back. *“Don’t play
that yet,” Pete said. He put & hand
on her shapely arm.

She pulled away. *“Do not touch
me. Don't I told you:”

He began to boil. After all, hadn’t
he saved her from a heap of sorrow?
He looked at her lovely face and figure
and his hunger would not be denied.

“You're mine,” he burst out. “I
bought and paid for you. When a
mountain man buys an Injun wife,
he’s got the right ro take what he
wants.”

Her eyes rounded and seemed to
emit blue sparks. “You won’t take
me,” she defied him. “T’'ll kill you if
you try it!”
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Suddenly he plunged around the
table and pinned her arms to her
sides. He started to scoop her up
and carry her to the bunk. In his
veins was hot pounding madness.

Then it was as if he had an armful
of thunderbolts. Claire drove her
moccasins back against the floor and
catapulted forward, wrenching from
his grip. She whirled to grab for a
flesh-knife, and he stumbled backward
even as she lunged at him. But she
followed, stabbing at him repeatedly,
and he had to jerk to get away from
each jab.

Then quickly he reached over and
slashed his fist at her hand. With a
cry she dropped the knife. Swiftly he
hurdled the table and grabbed her
arms. She kicked and bit savagely,
but he forced her hands down. Then,
lifting her struggling legs, he carried
her to the bunk. She was still kicking
when he pinned her to the robes.

“I'll never forgive you,” she warned,
her eyes burning. “I will make you
the dead man the first time you are
off-guard—"

“You won't. The squaw came to
like me. So will you.”

“I tell you I am not the squaw. 1
warn you!”

His patience snapped like a worn
chain.  “Why're you so tarnal stub-
born? You got no other place to go
—even when spring comes. You'll
have to stay with me.”

She grew very still. Her eyes were
enormous as she stared at him.

“What—what do you mean:” she
whispered.
He felt like a varmint. But he

went on recklessly: “You've got no
Red River town to go back to. Your
family’s plumb wiped out. So was
the whole village.”

“But the Indian!” she cried fran-
tically. “He—he said—"

“That your folks was alive to ran-

som you. That was just to lead the
traders on. He told me the truth
afterward.”

She was as white as a desert bed of
salt. She turned slowly away from
him, and her shoulders shook rack-
ingly. It tortured Pete. The crazy
delight was gone from him. He
walked to the center of the room.

“I'm sorry,” he burst out.
figured never to tell you. Listen,
Claire! I'll take you to New Orleans
when spring comes, next month. Hear
me, Claire? That’s a promise.”

But it was a long time before her
sobs stilled. And for the rest of the
winter she went about her tasks with
less life than a clock. Once he drew
her to him again, but as she yielded
dully, like a dead body, he let her go
hastily.

At last the warm sun came, the
snows melting and green buds break-
ing out. He packed his furs. “In a
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couple of days we’ll leave,” he told
her. “I'll sell my plews in New Or-
leans.”

That afternoon, though, he saw a
shadowy movement in the woods, and
he took his rifle and went toward it
warily. His manner was cool and de-
cisive when he returned.

“Claire, we're not waiting; we're
leaving tonight.” He looked at her
squarely. “The Injuns are watching
us. I found freshtracks in the woods.”

Fire slowly brightened her eyes.
She smiled wryly. *“And the French
girl, they think to take her—as well as
your furs?”’ She reached out and
patted her rifle. “Bien, we will give
them the fight for their money—we
and the good Spitfire, hein?”

“That'’s the ticket, Claire!” he said, -

relieved to see her spirit rise. “Now
we've got to finish gettin’ ready.”

The prayer that was appointed
to be read in churches through-
out England during Britain’s
most grim moments in 1941 was
one that Sir Francis Drake com-
Eosed on the day that he made

is dash into Cadiz harbor in
1587. It went: “O Lord God,
when Thou givest to Thy serv-
ants to endeavor any great mat-
ter, grant us also to know that
it is not the beginning, but the
continuing of the same until it
be thoroughly finished, which
yieldeth the true glory; through
Him that for the finishing of Thy
work laid down His life. Amen.”

Night was thick about the cabin
when they came out. Hurriedly they
tied the packs on the horses, then
mounted their own beasts and set
out, leading the pack-animals. They
made a cold camp in a brushy hollow
in the morning, rested during the day,
and traveled at night again.

On the third morning they came to
a prairie and they rode across it most
of the day. Still no Indians appeared.
In the late afternoon Claire flashed
Pete a gay smile. “Bien, wild man, I
think we outsmart them, hein? We
are safe?”

He grinned at her. It was good to
see her full of life again. He rose in
his stirrups to scan the horizon—and
sobered. “Reckon we laughed too
soon, ma'mselle. Look yonder.”

Claire gasped. Four Indians were
riding down from the north, wearing
war paint and shields. Pete sized up
the near-by terrain quickly: Some
two miles away an outcropping of
boulders reared like buildings.

“Hump for them rocks!”

They spurred their horses, forcing
the pack-animals into a lumbering

run. But as they neared the boulders,
so did the Comanches. And far in
the lead was a brave with a star on
his chest—the chief, Black Star! Sud-
denly Claire broke into a cry of joy.

“Voila, wild man! Look, the Taos
traders—the Comancheros! They will
help us. It is the good luck that they
come just now.”

From a clump of oaks to the south
rode an Indian and two white men.
Flat hats and ponchos identified them
as Cordero and Flaco. Claire swung
and galloped toward them.

“Hold on!” Pete shouted in alarm.
“They ain’t friends! They sicked the
Injuns onto us—"

Cordero lifted a rifle and fired, and
the bullet whistled past them. The
girl reined in abruptly, and veered
toward the boulders. “You—you rene-
gades!” She shook her fist at the
traders furiously.

The trapper and the girl raced
toward the boulders again, toward a
V-shaped cleft that showed between
two of the rocks. *“Head into that
opening, Claire!” They had barely
reached it before guns cracked again,
and, with a scream, one of the pack-
horses pitched to its knees; then the
other fell.

Pete ignored them. His horse and
Claire’s shot through the cleft, fol-
lowed it around a great rock and came
to a small grassy spot. It was like a
deep pit, entirely surrounded and
protected by boulders save for the en-
trance cleft.

Even as they slipped from their
horses, hoofbeats echoed in the cleft.
Pete whipped out his ritle. Black
Star came charging toward them, his
bow stretched to its fullest.

Claire’s gun exploded, and a hole
ripped through Black Star’s shield.
As it did, an arrow sliced like a white-
hot knife across Pete’s shoulder mus-
cle, and it took all his strength to keep
from falling. He literally forced his
rifle up, as a scream shrilled from
Claire’s horse and it sank with a long
feathered shaft in its side.

Pete fired. Black Star stiffened con-
vulsively and toppled from the saddle.

“One down!” Pete shouted with
bitter satisfaction. ‘“Climb the rocks,
Claire. Maybe we can hold ‘em oft
from the top.”

Already he was scrambling up a
boulder, grasping at narrow holds
and gritting his teeth against pain and
weakness. Claire started climbing the
other side of the pit. Pete reached
the top just as the rest of the Co-
manches and the traders neared. To-
ﬁether he and the girl poured a heavy

re into them.

He saw Cordero grab at a crimson
rip on his thigh. An Indian fell for-
ward on his horse’s mane. Then the
riders swerved and raced away beyond
sure gunshot. There they spun out
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into a circle, trotting around and
around the pile of rocks, emitting
savage war-whoops.

Slowly the sun set, and its red glow
thickened into dusk. A trader’s long-
chance shot killed Pete’s horse, the
last remaining, and the trapper’s anx-
iety sharpened. When darkness lay
on the boulders the attackers could
scale them unseen, and that would be
the end. Pete scanned the slabs for
an idea. Suddenly he stared.

Across the pit the slope was almost
sheer, but with narrow holds, set at
intervals. Some distance from the top
was a horizontal crevice, wide and
high enough to hold two people lying
flat. A shot could enter only from
the boulder top where Pete was kneel-
ing now—and From no other place.

As quickly as he eould, he climbed
across the slabs to Claire. Blood was
trickling down his side and he felt
strangely weak. Her eyes widened as
she saw him.

“Petel You have the wound!”

“Only a nick. Listen—they can grab
us easy in the dark. You got to slip
away, when it gets dark enough.”

“Travel on foot? Non. It is the
hundred mile to the Arkansas settle-
ment. Too far for the stroll.”

“You've got to. You can make it.”

“I do not leave you,” she declared.
“Not to fight alone. Maybe I have
hate you in the fall, but I am not
this bad.”

He laughed lightly. “Don’t worry.
After you leave, this child’'ll crawl
along behind bushes and get away too.
I'm one of them past-masters at that.”

She shrugged doubtfully. He went
on: “I'm going down now. When I
draw their attention you slip away.”

He slid. down to the entrance, and
started firing at moving shadows.
Crimson explosions stabbed the night
in return, and lead and arrows
smashed against the stones. He kept
on shooting.

In a lull an owl hooted some dis-
tance away. Good! The girl had got
awayl He stumbled back to the pit,
and with the bridle rein cut from his
dead horse, tied the rifle to him, then
began feeling his way up the steep
slope toward the crevice. His shoul-
der was throbbing and aching like a
dozen sore teeth. His arm would
hardly move. Yet he worked his way
up inch by inch.

Thank God, he’d reached the crev-
icel He wriggled his legs and then
his body into it until his head was
just inside the opening. By now the
attackers were swarming over the
rocks, yelling. Pete’s weakness made
him torturingly sleepy.

But he kept himself awake. He
could see only the top of the boulders
opposite, but from time to time he
yelled out insults at the attackers. If
he kept them busy they wouldn’t find
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out till morning that the girl had |
escaped. \When they did, it wouldn't |
matter what they did to him. t

The attackers yelled back in rage, |
plainly unable to find him. The |
night dragged by, and the hot morn- |
ing came. Suddenly voices jabbered |
and without warning Cordero’s face |
showed above the boulder oPpositej
and a gun covered Pete. His own d
rifle seemed to drag with a ton’s |
weight. But he fired. |

Simultaneously the trader’s gun |
flamed, and a mule seemed to kick}
Pete’s temple. His rifle slipped into |
the pit, and he sank toward blackness. |
But even as he did, he saw Cordero
topple backward, screanving.

A din of guns and yells brought |
him to. Men in coonskin caps were
battling Flaco and the Comanches.
Shortly it was over. The Indians and
the trader were dead.

A rope, dropped from the boulder
top above the crevice, lowered Pete to
the ground, where a girl knelt beside
him. His eyes widened incredulously.

“Claire!”

“Pete!” Claire gasped. “You are |
alive? Oh, thank le hon Dieu!”

“But I-I don’t savvy,” Pete said |
weakly. “How did you get to a settle- |
ment and back so quick?”

“The settlement? It was the sur-
prise! A new post for the trading on
the Red River—closer than we think.”
She looked at his bloody head and |
shirt with visible shock.
wounds—" From a bag she drew soft |
cloth and salve. “Foila, I come pre-
pared. Now I bandage that gouge in
the scalp.”

Sudden hope thrilled him. But he
bit down on it sternly. “You |
shouldn’t've come back—taking that |
risk—"’

The girl glanced at him reproving-
ly. *“When you stay behind to help |
me get away—though you know you |
will be killed?” She flushed rosily.
“M’sieu’ Pete, I make the confession,”
she stammered, almost painfully.
“You save me from much misery when |
you buy me. When Cordero attacks, |
Isee at last how bad he is—

“1 am sorry I act so hateful,” she
went on haltingly. She paused, then
more slowly: “Pete, the—post needs
the Indian interpreter. It is a good
job, for a man who would settle
down.”

His jaw dropped. “You don’t mean
—you'd be my squaw after all?”

his shoulders, paying the coonskin |
fighters no heed. “I do not think I
can find a better man.
preacher is at the post.”
Suddenly a lark was singing in his
breast. “Cherie,” he grinned, ‘“the

And Pete, a

“But your |

|
‘
|
|
!
b
|
|
|
1
She bent and put her arms around l

JIMMY DooLnTLE probably will go
down in history books as a peer-
less leader who led the first air raid
on Japan, and inspired our aviation
forces to victory in World War II.
But the old-timers in aviation prob-
ably will go on remembering Jimmy
as an intrepid daredevil free-lIance fly-
er of the early days of aéronautics.
Perhaps as typical a Jimmy Doo-
little escapade as any was the time he
went to South America to convince a
country down there that they ought to
buy the planes of a U.S. firm he was
representing. It was rather an im-
ortant mission, since the South Amer-
ican government was going to decide
between Doolittle’s firm and a Eu-
ropean-make plane. Europe had been
crowing about the superiority of its
own aviation manufacturing know-
how, and belittling ours.
So, what happens? Well, a few days
before our Jimmy Doolittle is sched-

| uled to exhibit his plane in the air for

the South American government, what

| does he do but fall out of a balcony.

So when the day for Jimmy's ex-
hibition dawns, he is in a hospital

| bed, both broken feet encased in plas-
| ter casts. And his European competi-
| tor is flying his own plane at exactly

the time that young Doolittle was sup-
posed to have shown off his.

So what does the American flyer do?
With the assistance of a few conspira-

| tors, he sneaks out of the hospital, gets
| to the field where his plane 1s. Then
| he is placed in the cockpit and his en-
| cased feet are strapped to the controls.

And what happens next? Well,
next, he’s up in the air with his plane.

| And is he content to just stay up

there and fly serenely around? No—
not quite. He takes out after the “in-
truder” who “tried to usurp” his place

| in the sky. Rolling, zooming, sideslip-
| ping, Jimmy Doolittle keeps after the
| other plane in the sky until the Eu-

ropean aviator finally takes the hint

| and gets himself down, and in a hurry.
| Even after the European competitor

steps out of his plane, Jimmy keeps

| buzzing him, and the poor fellow runs

for the security of the hangar.
Jimmy confessed later that it hurt

| like the dickens to keep moving his

busted feet in the manner required

| for the plane’s intricate mancuvers—

but he won the contract for his firm.

Later his European rival bitterly
com[}:llained that Jimmy’s plane had
brushed against his in the sky and had
damaged his craft’s tail.

From his hospital bed, where he was
| promptly taken after coming down
on the field again, Jimmy Doolittle

white brother’s ways ain’t bad after | staunchly denied this. “Why, I never

all.
that preacher’s hitching-post?” °

How soon could a body get to | came within less than three or four
! inches of him!” he declared. °
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« By HORACE BAILEY BROWN

For Scotland Yard, it was a
baffling mystery. She was rich, beautiful and
famous, and lived with her husband
wn one of the most fashionable sections
of London. Yet, when she disappeared,
she wore ot a stitch of clothing,
and carried no money or luggage. Why? How?

INSPECTOR HeNry Smarr, of Scotland Yard,
listened attentively but with unmistakable skepticism
to the strange story being unfolded by André Collins-
Malloy, artist and rich social lion in the Bohemian
section of Kensington, London.

“I tell you she disappeared from the house com-
pletely nude and without money, clothing or luggage,
sometime between 9:30 last evening and early this
morning,” the artist repeated, impatiently pacing the
floor. “Why don’t you do something about it besides
sitting there and asking me stupid questions?”

Restraining a sharp retort in reply to the man’s
arrogance, the inspector nodded.- “Quite so, sir, but
first things come first. 'We must know what preceded
this—er—unusual occurrence, before ordering a full
investigation. Now, you say your wife disappeared
between 9:30 last night and early today. Just what
were the circumstances, Mr. Malloy—that is, as far as
you know them?”

The artist seated himself at a table, tapping nervous-
ly with his fingers. Presently he explained that the
evening before he had dressed and left the house at
about seven o'clock to attend a stag dinner. Mrs.
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Malloy remained at home, canceling
an engagement because she was in-
disposed. At eight she summoned
the butler, John Briggs, requesting a
light supper be served in her room.
An hour and a halt later her maid,
Marie, opened the bed and after put-
ting out pajamas, slippers and robe,
inquired if there was anything more
her mistress wished. Mns. Malloy dis-
missed the girl for the night, saying
she would read for a time betore re-
tiring.

Returning home shortly betore
three a.m., Collins-Malloy said he de-
cided not to disturb his wite, and re-
tired on a couch in his studio—where
he was awakened at ten by Briggs.

"
Wer was Mrs, Malloy first

missed:” the inspector inquired.

“When Briggs came in with break-
fast. I noticed there was service for
two on the tray and asked him why.
He told me the maid had gone to her
mistress’ room earlier with fruit juice
and-.coffee and had seen that she was
not there and that the bed had not
been slept in. He thought Gerda—
my wite—had read until I came in,
then had come to the studio to spend
the night with me.”

“You have searched the house and

grounds?”
“Every toot of both,” the artist re-
plied. “We also have determined she

took no clothing or luggage with her.
Why, even the lounging-robe and un-
dergarments she was wearing when
Marie went to her room last evening
still are over the back ot a chair. Her
night-robes were not used; none of
her clothing is missing. Even ten
pounds she had in her purse is still
there.”

He arose, spreading his hands in a
gesture of dismay. “Where has she
gone, Inspector? You must find her
betore something terrible happens.”

Inspector Small was not one who
thought every report ot a missing per-
son was for the homicide department,
particularly when it concerned men
and women of the arty crowd where
life was loose and lived at high veloc-
ity in the private studios and catés ot
London. He knew that such persons
usually returned home after a trip
to the Continent or the Riviera, ex-
plaining their unannounced absence
as merely the need for* a rest.

André Collins-Malloy and his beau-
tiful wife Gerda fitted into this cate-
gory pertectly. The artist, who had
inherited a tortune, was successtul in
his protession, darkly handsome and
exceedingly popular in his circle of
friends, particularly with the women.

Gerda Collins-Malloy, several years
his junior, was one of England’s fair-
est and most brilliant stage celebrities
when she met André and tollowing a
whirlwind courtship, wed him.
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They went to live at Collins-Mal-
loy’s ancestral estate in the outskirts
ot Kensington. For two years all went
well. They entertained lavishly and
were entertained by others of the
ritzy, upper-crust circles in which they
moved. There never had been a
breath of scandal connected with
them. With money, social position
and a staff of loyal tamily retainers,
there seemed little.else to desire.

This, then, was the situation with
which Inspector Small was contronted
wheu he called at the Collins-Malloy
mansion the moring ot October
30, 1930, in response to an urgent
telephone message from André.

“Perhaps,” Small ventured in an
effort to alleviate the husband’s tears,
“she became tired of waiting tor you,
and, unknown to the servants, went
to stay with friends. Have you in-
quired among your associates:”

Collins-Malloy shook his head. Ot
course not. Can you imagine any
reason, Inspector, that would prompt
her to leave this house nude:”

Small couldn’t, particularly as he
recalled the chill of the night betore.

“I think it would be wise for you to
wait twenty-four hours and see it she
returns,” he said in parting. “Mean-
time, [ will examine the reports of in-
jured persons and contact the hos-
pitals.”” He bowed stiffly. “Good day,
sir. It you fail to hear from her by
tontorrow at this time, let me know.”

The next morning, when Scotland
Yard was informed Gerda had not
reappeared, Inspector Small assigned
three ot his best investigators to visit
the Collins-Malloy mansion and re-
port back to him later in the day.

Flanked by the now thoroughly
alarmed husband and Briggs, they ex-
amined the missing woman’s apart-
ment with great care. A fngerprint
expert dusted furniture, doors and
windows, searching tor impressions
that could be compared with those of
the family and servants. Another
checked clothing with Marie, the
maid. Nothing was missing: Expen-
sive furs hung in their accustomed
places; no luggage was gone, and sev-
eral thousand dollars’ worth of jewelry
lay atop the dresser and in a drawer.

UPON questioninyg the servants,
Briggs and Marie repeated the same
stories they had told their master the
previous dav. Both had been em-
ployed in the tamily tor years and
there was no reason to question their
honesty or loyalty.

T'he gardener said he had made the
rounds of the premises about 10:30
the night Gerda disappeared, as was
his custom, and had unchained two
watch-dogs that roamed the gardens
during darkness. He insisted he had
neither seen nor heard anything to
make him suspicious and the dogs had

not barked, acting as usual when
chained up in the morning.

Collins-Malloy’s account ot having
attended the stag dinner was easily
verified, friends saying he had not de-
parted for home until after two
o’clock. He said he had let himself
in with a passkey rather than disturb
Briggs at such a late hour and had
gone directly to his studio on the first
floor, where there was a couch on
which he sometimes slept.

“My apartment connects with that
of my wite,” he explained, “but Gerda
is a light sleeper and many times
when I have worked late or been out,
I retire in the studio rather than
arouse her.”

A sEARCH of the grounds revealed
nothing suspicious. The old estate
embraced several acres of land, fully
landscaped in gardens and paths, the
whole being surrounded by a high
stone wall built many years previous-
ly. At the rear this wall had crum-
bled in two or three places sufficiently
tor a person to have climbed over it,
but there was no evidence the detec-
tives could see of any path on either
side or of broken or torn vines among
the abundant growth.

Upon hearing the ieports ot his
men late in the day, Inspector Small
immediately set in motion the facili-
ties of Scotland Yard to check every
avenue by which the missing woman
might have disappeared from her
home. Gerda Collins-Malloy was too
striking a beauty and too well known
to have dropped out of sight without
someone in London seeing her, he
thought. But ticket clerks at railroad
and bus stations, and scores of taxi-
cab drivers questioned, could supply
no clue to her mysterious disappear-
ance. Many of these public servants
knew her, but none had seen her on
the night of her disappearance, nor
since.

Likewise close questioning of her
triends and social acquaintances failed
to reveal the slightest intimation that
there ever had been trouble between
Gerda and her husband or that either
had a romantic interest in anyone else.
They were known everywhere as an
unusually happily married couple.

Frankly puzzled, Inspector Small
decided to make a personal inspec-
tion of the Collins-Malloy estate, and
especially of Gerda’s apartment.

In the two rooms everything was
exactly as it had been the night Gerda
disappeared. Going over the rooms
with painstaking care, the inspector
examined numerous articles, inquired
about the usual position of the lux-
urious furniture, noted the bed had
been opened but not slept in, as the
maid had said, and that unwrinkled
lingerie lay neatly tolded over the
back ot a chair. In a hamper in the
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bathroom there were several articles
of intimate underwear.

“Was she wearing these the last
time you saw her?” he asked Marie.

The maid nodded. ‘“Yes, sir, she
was. I remember, because she showed
me an ink spot on this slip and told
me I could have it.”

After examining the flimsy article
of clothing, Small was about to drop
it back in the hamper; then he raised
it to his nostrils and sniffed.

Turning to Collins-Malloy, he
asked: “What kind of perfume did
your wife use?”’

The artist picked up a vial of rare,
expensive perfume from the dressing-
table. “This is it,” he said. “I pur-
chased it in Paris, on our last trip.”

Small passed the uncorked bottle
under his nose once or twice and
handed it back. Scowling, he said,
as though to himself, “That’s not it.”

There were three large windows in
the apartment and the inspector now
turned his attention to these. None
were screened, and all were unlocked.
Raising the center one, he looked out,
first to the north, then to the south.
The direct view was toward the west
and the rear of the building overlook-
ing the gardens of adjoining estates.

About to close the window, he no-
ticed what ap&;eared to be a small
spot of white dust on the sill. With
a magnifying glass he examined it
closely, then taking a tiny brush from
his pocket, brushed up what he could
and placed it in an envelope.

COLLINS-MALLOY watched silently.
Finally he asked: ‘“Have you found
a clue, Inspector?”

Small smiled wryly. “It is hard to
say,” he replied, rubbing together the
tips of his fingers with which he had
picked up the dust on the window
sill, as though testing the smoothness
of some very fine substance. “By the
way, do you use any white powder in
your work as an artist? An abrasive,
for instance?”

André shook his head emPhatically.
“No. Nothing of the sort.’

“Did your wife ever go in for paint-
ing or sculpturing?”

“Music was her only hobby,” Col-
lins-Malloy replied. “She knew noth-
ing of either of the arts you mention.”

Apparently satisfied with his inspec-
tion of the missing woman’s boudoir,
Small asked to be shown around the
grounds. \When under the window,
he smoothed back the closely cropped
grass with his hands, peering intently
at the roots. At last he straightened
and turned to James, the outside man.

“Would the dogs permit a stranger
to come in the yard at night without
making a commotionr”

The gardener shook his head. “No,
sir, they would not. Even the other
servants are afraid of them. Only the
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master, mistress and myself can han-
dle them.”

The inspector seemed to consider
his next question thoughtfully. “If
the lady had gone into the garden
alone, or with someone known or un-
known to the dogs, would they have
barked?"”

James replied: “At Mr. Malloy or
his wife, possibly not. At anyone else,
most certainly yes.”

Returning to his office, the inspec-
tor summoned several assistants. To
one he handed the envelope contain-
ing the white powder he had found
on the window sill, ordering that it be
analyzed by a chemist. Then select-
ing three of his investigators, he in-
structed them to call on and question
closely neighbors living on estates ad-
joining that of Collins-Malloy and to
examine every foot of ground in the
garden and lawns, probing in freshly
turned earth or new sod that might
conceal a grave.

Finally alone, he remembered the
strange odor on Gerda’s slip. It was
a fragrant, yet sickeningly sweet smell
that he thought might be some rare,
exotic perfume or perhaps an ex-
tremely pungent drug that would re-
main for many hours. With this still
on his mind, he went home to rest.

The following morning, Inspector
Small received a number of reports
for which he had been waiting. Fin-
gerprints in the room from which
Mrs. Collins-Malloy had disappeared
proved to be only those of the family
and servants. The white dust he had
found on the window sill had been
analyzed as Carrara marble.

Detectives learned that neighbors of
the artist knew very little about him
or his wife. On an adjoining estate
Lord Appleby, who had lived there
for many years with his family, knew
the Collins-Malloys only casually; the
estate on the south had been unoccu-
pied for more than a year except by
a caretaker and his wife. At the rear,
an Edward Hardingstone had leased
the place about a year previously, but
was not acquainted with any of his
neighbors nor did he mingle in the
same social set. However, because
Hardingstone was a sculptor, Inspec-
tor Small-remembering the Carrara
marble dust—ordered that he be ques-
tioned more closely.

Hardingstone led the investigators
through his establishment, telling
them he was thinking of buying it,
but had held off until he learned more
about his neighbors. He admitted
he had seen both André and Gerda
in their gardens on several occasions,
but only at a distance and knew noth-
ing personal about either. A check
of his banking and professional con-
nections indicated he apparently was
a man of good standing and char-
acter, having lived in another section

of London before moving to Kens-
ington.

Meantime ten days passed and the
mystery over the disappearance of
Gerda Collins-Malloy deepened. Lon-
don newspapers got wind of the case
and made a front-page story of it.

One morning Inspector Small was
studying reports of the baffling case
when he answered his telephone and
heard a familiar voice say: “I say,
sir, this is Briggs.”

“Well, what is it?” the Scotland
Yard man asked curtly.

“The master went out yesterday
evening and has not returned. I
thought you might want to know.”

“Quite right—and thanks for phon-
ing. I'll be out immediately.”

BRIGGS, obviously nervous when
Inspector Small reached the mansion,
explained that he was badly worried
over the strange action of his master.

“’E ’ad an engagement lawst eve-
nin’, an exceedingly himportant ene
too, if I may say so. 'E went for a
walk about dusk—in the garden, I
thought—and when ’e failed to return,
I looked around but could find noth-
ing of ’im on the place. 'Twas not
like 'im to miss a date. Well, sir, I
watched for 'im until pawst midnight:
then I retired, thinkin’ 'e would ring
when ‘e returned if ‘e wanted me.
This morning when I went to ’is
apartment it was empty and no one

~ had slept in 'is bed. Nor was ‘e ‘ere

in the studio.”

All the time Small had been listen-
ing to the butler, he had been con-
scious of something faintly familiar
in the studio. Suddenly he knew
what it was: that faint, strange odor
he had smelled on Gerda’s slip when
he visited her apartment.

“Has anyone been in this studio
besides you and me since your master
last was here?”” he demanded.

“No, sir,” Briggs said. “No one.
I asked all the servants.”

“Are you sure he didn’t come in
after you retired last night?”

“That I am not, sir, although no
one in the house saw or heard 'im, if
e did.”

At the inspector’s orders, André’s
quarters were searched to determine
what clothing he had worn. Soon
Briggs exclaimed that his master had
not worn the same clothing in which
he had seen him dressed the previous
afternoon when he went for the walk.
Further search disclosed that Collins-
Malloy’s lounging trousers and jacket
were missing from the wardrobe.

“Then he did return without be-
ing seen, and went out again,” Small
declared. “Or perhaps he didn’t go
out again,” he added significantly.

After telephoning his headquarters
for assistants and obtaining uni-
formed bobbies to be stationed around
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the estate as guards, Inspector Small,
while awaiting their arrival, consid-
ered the problem confronting him.

Had André Collins-Malloy been
spirited away in the same manner as
his wife, perhaps murdered and his
body disposed of? Or had the man
had something to do with the disap-
pearance of his wife a fortnight earlier
and decided to join her, if he knew
her whereabouts, or make his own
getaway if he had a guilty conscience?

Now an even more thorough search
of the old house was made, detectives
testing walls for secret doors to hidden
rooms or passages, and crews of men
digging up the cellar in search of a
possible shallow grave. The inspector
fervently wished that the creaky tim-
bers—mortised together more than a
century and a half earlier and per-
haps hiding some ancient death-vault
or torture-chamber—could talk.

Banks where the artist and his wife
had transacted business were visited
and under court order required to
open the missing couple’s accounts for
inspection. Nothing bearing on the
baffling case was discovered. No sums
of cash had been withdrawn for more
than a month and only a few com-
paratively small checks in payment of
current bills had been cleared since
before Gerda’s disappearance.

After two more weeks of fruitless
work, during which every angle of the
strange case was deeply probed, In-
spector Small was forced to admit that
this might be the first mystery in many
years the Yard had failed to solve; yet
he determined not to give up even
temporarily until every means at his
disposal had been brought to bear in
the ever-widening search for the miss-
ing couple.

One day near the end of October,
Small decided to have another look
around the Collins-Malloy house. He
had personally been over the ground
many times, as well as the shrewdest
investigators in the Yard, without un-
covering any new evidence; yet he
knew from long experience that fre-
quently some small thing escapes at-
tention in the early stages of an in-
vestigation, and small clues often
break the most stubborn cases.

As he walked through the stately
gardens, now barren of flowers but
still green and well kept, it seemed to
him he knew every foot of them as
intimately as the masters of the place
had for so many generations. Noth-
ing appeared to be different from the
last time he had been there, the week
before. At the back of the sunken
gardens where the estate joined that
of the one occupied by Hardingstone,
the inspector stopped in front of the
old stone wall at a place where it was
crumbling. For the hundredth time,
he thought: “The answer must be
here.” He examined the hanging
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vines, but had no more success than
before in discovering broken stems or
crushed leaves. In one spot he saw
what might be a stone moved out of
place recently; the place from which
1t had come seemed to be freshly ex-
posed to the air. Yet there was no
evidence of a path on either side of
the ancient barrier.

Suddenly a strange voice, coming
from the opposite side of the wall,
drawled in a friendly tone: ‘‘Strange
thing about the owners of this place,
isn't it? I heard the property is for
sale. Are you thinking of buying?”

Inspector Small looked up quickly
into the smiling face of a tall man
who had spread the ivy leaves apart
and was studying him carefully.

“Well, not exactly,” Small replied
pleasantly, deciding to play the role
in which he had been mistakenly cast.
“But I did hear it would be disposed
of if the owners were not found, so as
I was driving past I decided to look
around in the gardens.”

As he talked he too studied his
companion closely, noting the power-
ful frame, strong, well-kept hands,

She’s going to make some man a
good wife some day, provided
he comes down off the movie
screen and asks her.

—THORNTON WILDER
SEEESEEEENESEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE

closely cropped mustache and deep-
set, flashing eyes.

“Did you know the—er—the people
who lived here? The name slips my
mind for the moment.”

“Not intimately, of course,” the
man replied. "I saw them a few times
and once I chatted a moment with
the woman across the wall, but she
seemed aloof, rather detached from
the world—a strange person who gave
the impression of desiring to be let
alone. I made no further attempt to
be friendly.”

Recognizing the man as Edward
Hardingstone, about whom he had a
report from a Yard operative, Small
decided to play out his unsolicited
part as a prospective buyer of the
estate and see what happened.

He said: “Have you lived here
long?”

“Less than a year,” Hardingstone
replied. “I originally intended to
buy the place, but my neighbors
seemed so snobbish and unfriendly I
abandoned the idea two months ago
and decided to move as soon as my
lease expires. But if someone like
you were to be a neighbor, well, it
would make a difference.”

The inspector bowed, smiling at the
obvious flattery. “A nice compliment,
sir, and may I return it by saying a
gentleman such as you for my next-
door neighbor might influence my de-
cision to purchase—that is, if my fam-
ily likes it.”

“You have a family, then?” Hard-
ingstone said. “Children? Boys or
girls, by chance?”

“One of each,” Small replied, “'but
hardly by chance.”

They laughed at the quip as Hard-
ingstone extended his hand. “I am
Edward Hardingstone, artist and
sculptor. And you?”

The inspector was prepared for the
question. “Alexander Hubbell. In
the investment business these many
years.”

A moment later Hardingstone had
invited his new friend to view the
grounds and stop in for a spot of tea.
Through the break in the wall, Small
stepped through into a faded sunken
garden and looked across a wide ex-
panse of lawn at the rambling build-
ing he figured must be as old as that
of the Collins-Malloys’. Hardingstone
led him around, pointing out im-
provements he intended making if he
eventually decided to buy. Finally
they arrived at a rear door in one of
the wings.

“This is my studio,” he said.

Small found himself in a spacious
room the walls of which were hung
with paintings, some priceless, he
thought. Around on the floor stood
statues—some completed, others only
partially chiseled out of stone. On a
huge mantel in a locked, glass-en-
closed case there were trophies that
appeared to have been collected in
many parts of the world.

“Your work?” Inspector Small
waved his hand toward the paintings
on the walls.

“Not all of them,” Hardingstone
replied. “I only dabble in oils. My
first and only love is marble. Some
of these are finished and waiting for
their purchasers to call for them.
Others are not ready, as you see.”

The inspector thought he did. In
fact, he stepped casually to the side of
a partly completed bust of a woman,
being done in Carrara marble. Strok-
ing it gently with a hand down the
smooth arm and across a spot where
the sculptor recently had been work-
ing with hammer and chisel, he ut-
tered a word of praise, then closed his
fist and thrust it into his coat pocket.

After a quick Scotch-and-soda, Small
said he must be going but promised
to return for a longer and more
friendly chat at some later time. Re-
turning to his car the inspector di-
rected that he be driven to his office
with all possible haste.

Back at headquarters, he hastened
to the laboratory. At last opening his
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hand, he told the chemist there would
be dust on the palm which he wanted
analyzed.

“It should be Carrara marble par-
ticles,” he said. “Compare it with the
powder you analyzed that was taken
trom the window sill in Mrs. Malloy’s
bedchamber.”

Two hours later Small received a
report that the white dust taken from
his palm was of the same character
and texture as that previously ana-
lyzed.

It was only a slender thread of cir-
cumstance; insufficient evidence on
which to build up even a good case of
suspicion, yet it was a lead and Small
determined to follow it through to a
conclusion.

For the next twenty-four hours op-
eratives checked on the background
and character of Hardingstone. It
was not difficult to catalogue him.
He was well known in the London
artist colony, and he had traveled ex-
tensively, spending much of his time
for the past ten years on the Continent
and in the Americas. Nowhere in his
record could anything be found
against him. In fact, the Scotland
Yard men turned up exactly nothing
that would point to his implication
in any manner in the disappearance
of the Collins-Malloys.

Yet Inspector Small’s suspicion of
the man grew as the hours passed.
Why, he could not say with certainty.
He decided to make a return visit to
the fellow’s place.

THE sculptor met him at the door
with a smile and led the way to his
studio. Motioning toward a chair,
he said: “How nice to have you call
again. Have you decided to purchase
the place next door?”

Feeling that the time had come to
identify himself, Small extended his
identification card to Hardingstone.
“My interest, sir, in the property of
which you speak extends only to find-
ing the present owners, as you now
will understand.”

The man scowled as he handed
back the card. *“And what, Inspector,
do you think I would know about
where they have gone?”

In that moment Small had to ad-
mit to himself that the man had some-
thing there to which he could not im-
mediately supply the answer. Then
more as a means of breaking the em-
barrassing silence, he mentioned the
Carrara marble dust.

Hardingstone tilted back his head
and *laughed, more insolently than
with mirth, the inspector thought.
“Are you insiriuating I am the only
sculptor who uses Carrara marble?
Have you not heard it is an exceed-
ingly common commodity in my pro-
fession and London is full of those
who work with it¢”
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Even as Hardingstone was finishing
his brief speech, Inspector Small be-
came aware of something vaguely fa-
miliar in the studio. For an instant
he could not say what it was; then he
remembered: Once more he smelled
that faint, exotic odor he had de-
tected in the bedchamber of Gerda
and the studio of André Collins-Mal-
loy shortly after they had disappeared.
He now was certain this was the key
to the solution of the mystery.

As suddenly as the detective had
noticed the strange odor, Harding-
stone had observed him sniffing—and
the expression on the artist's face
changed to a sneer.

“I might have known you were a
sneaking sleuth,” he said coldly, “and
I must now ask you to leave my
house.”

“Not yet,” the Scotland Yard man
snapped tersely. “You have some
questions to answer—here or at head-
quarters. Where do you prefer to
do it?”

The sculptor moved swiftly—but
Small was faster, covering him with a
service pistol withdrawn from a shoul-
der holster.  Hardingstone’s half-
drawn gun clattered to the floor and
his hands were slowly raised above
his head at the lawman’s order.

Inspector Small said: “Sit down.

Still menacing the man with his
weapon, Small backed to the studio
door and blew a whistle. Immedi-
ately three operatives, who had been
waiting in a car a short distance away,
came in.

“Handcuff him, then search him,”
Small ordered.

As the detectives stepped forward
one inadvertently moved between the
inspector and the prisoner. Harding-
stone was quick to seize the oppor-
tunity to make a break. He didn't
get far. A heavy fist felled him al-
most before he started. As he dropped
to the floor, his head struck the partly
extended arm of the statue of a nude
woman, chipping off a thick layer of
plaster.

It seemed a small thing, at the mo-
ment, yet when the inspector moved
close to assist in lifting the uncon-
scious Hardingstone to a chair, he
stopped short and looked around.
From somewhere close had come that
sickening sweet fragrance which he
had smelled twice before.

An instant later Small was examin-
ing the nude statue, breaking off sev-
eral additional pieces of plaster from
the arm. Then he recoiled in horror
and amazement. Beneath the layer
of sculptor’s clay he saw the dead
flesh of a human arin.

Swiftly the detectives began break-
ing away more and more of the brittle
covering, until at last the embalmed
body of Gerda Collins-Malloy was ex-
posed in full.

Meantime, Hardingstone had re-
covered his senses and sat glaring at
his captors.

“So you did murder her?”’ Inspector
Small said. “And the man, also?
What have you done with his body?”

A FEW hours later Edward Hard-
ingstone made a &all confession. He
led the Scotland Yard men to a secret
chamber in the basement of the old
mansion; here they found the body
of Collins-Malloy in the process of
being embalmed for the same macabre
treatment as had been given his wife.
There also were numerous plaster-
covered statues of small animals, with
which the mad sculptor had experi-
mented before trying his strange art
on human beings.

Hardingstone said he had watched
for an opportunity to murder Gerda
Collins-Malloy and carry her body to
his studio. He had gained entrance
to her apartment with a short ladder
to the window. Using a rare poison
which caused instant death when in-
jected into the body, he had stabbed
the woman with a hypodermic needle
as she slept in her chair; he had
stripped off the flimsy garments she
wore, dropped the body out of the
window, then carried it across the
gardens to his studio. He said he had
no trouble with the watch-dogs be-
cause he had fed them every night
for a month. In this way he had be-
come friendly with them, and they
raised no outcry, permitting him to
chain them to a tree in a distant cor-
ner of the estate while he carried out
his grisly work. Afterward he had
unleashed them.

It was in much the same manner
that he had murdered Collins-Malloy,
although he had not intended to do
so in the beginning. But it dawned
on him eventually that if the husband
disappeared also, the police would be
likelf;' to think he either had slain his
wife and run away or, in the absence
of bodies, that for some reason they
had decided to disappear together.

Upon searching Hardingstone’s se-
cret chamber of horrors, a supply of
the poison drug was found. Its odor
was so pungent that even a drop
would leave a trace in the air for
many hours. The investigators also
found complete embalming equip-
ment, together with dissecting instru-
ments.

It seemed certain Edward Harding-
stone was insane, and he was ordered
to be examined by alienists. Then
one morning when his guards went to
his cell, they found him dead, a tiny
hypodermic springe with a few drops
of the deadly poison still in its barrel.
Where the man had concealed it on
his person never was learned, but he
had gone out by his own hand and
by the same means as his victims. ®
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It was a vacation for Hunter, on a

tropic island steeped in a history of
violence and hate. He was unprepared
to find that history still was heing made.

By RICHARD STERN

T WAS A FEW MINUTES after seven o’clock,
I but the afternoon clerk was still on duty
when I came downstairs from my room.
“Monsieur Parks has not arrived?” I said.

“Non, monsieur.”

“He has not telephoned?”

“Non, monsieur.”

In the tropics, I told myself, you should
make allowances for tardiness. Parks was
already an hour late. It was true that he
had been punctual enough before dawn
that morning when he had picked me up
and the two of us had gone flying in the
small chartered plane; but that, I was con-
vinced, had been for him more than a social
engagement, more than the mere sight-see-
ing jaunt he had represented it. *I shall
wait in the bar,” I told the clerk. “When
Monsieur Parks arrives—"

“Oui, monsieur.” His manner said plain-
ly that all things happened in their own
time, that impatience accomplished noth-
ing. A sound philosophy. I smiled at him
as I turned away.

I have often speculated on the course
events might have taken had I decided to
wait in the lobby—or, for that matter, if I
had stayed upstairs in my room. I would
not then, of course, have met the old man,
Jonas Peters, nor seen the other one, the
big one with the yellow hair, Bruno Dodge.
But in the end, I think, everything would
have been the same. 1 was already in-
volved, although at that time I had no way
of knowing, and no reason to suspect.
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The old man came first. He had
been waiting for me, I know that
now. Then, however, it seemed mere-
ly the sort of thing that happens in
foreign countries.

“Mr. Hunter,” he said, as he ap-
proached the table I had taken.
“You will forgive me, I am sure. At
this time of year visiting Americans
are not common in this ancient re-
public.”

“I suppose not,” I said. He was a
tall, erect old man, with wide shoul-
ders, white hair and a large nose. He
was smiling, and his eyes, vividly blue
in a smooth tanned face, seemed
amused. He sat down.

“The hurricane season, you know,
Mr. Hunter, and the heat—there is
really little to attract visitors.” He
nodded to the bartender who stood
by. “If I may presume to suggest,”
he said, “Haitian rum is excellent. I
fancy myself as a connoisseur and I
consider it beyond compare.” Then
he spoke to the bartender in rapid
French, ordering two rum punches—
not too sweet. He turned to me
again. “My name is Peters, Mr.
Hunter, Jonas Peters. I obtained
your name from the guest register.
You are, I believe, a lawyer—and on
vacation?”

“Yes.” I wondered into what niche
he fitted. I am still wondering.

“And a flyer, Mr. Hunter. With
wartime experience, perhaps?” He
paused there, watching my frown, and
the amusement in his eyes seemed to
deepen. “There is nothing mysterious
in my knowing, I assure you, Mr.
Hunter. Haiti is, has always been, a
gigantic sounding board, an echoing
room. There are no secrets in Haiti.
Napoleon'’s generals found that to be
true when they attempted to conquer
this island.”

I smiled at him. “You mean drums?”

“I am not being facetious, Mr.
Hunter. Drums, yes, but also what in
Creole they call ‘talk-a-mouth’.” He
shrugged. “You were flying, early
this morning, in a chartered aircraft,
Mr. Hunter, and since young Mr.
Parks from the embassy who accom-
panied you is not a flyer, the inference
1s obvious.” He watched the bar-
tender put down our drinks, then took
the chit, signed it swittly, and leaned
back in his chair. “Your health, Mr.
Hunter!”

A the end of the bar a man fin-
ished his drink and set down the glass.

I noticed this man only because
of his size; he was, I think, as big a
man as I have ever seen—tall, im-
mensely broad without fat, with bril-
liant yellow hair. He tossed a coin on
the bar and walked out in the direc-
tion of the lobby, setting his feet down
soundlessly, moving without haste,
yet quickly, like a bear in the woods.
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Peters said, ”As well as I know this
country, Mr. Hunter, I have never
really seen it from the air. The Bay
of Port-au-Prince must be a stirring
sight at dawn.”

“It is.”

“And out along the coast—"

aused, smiling.
interesting.”

“The grapevine is efficient,” I said.

“It is, Mr. Hunter.” There was a
subtle change in his eyes. The amuse-
ment was gone, abruptly replaced by
something else—speculation, perhaps.
“It is, indeed. The grapevine, as you

He
“It must have been

call it—" He looked up then. The
clerk from the lobby was coming
toward us.

“Telephone, monsieur,” the clerk
said. There was satisfaction in his
voice. One had merely to wait and
all things happened; here, in the tele-
phone call, was proof of this.

“Excuse me,” I said to Peters.

The voice on the telephone took
me off-balance. It was not Parks; it
was a woman's voice. ‘‘Mr. Hunter?
This is Louise Parks, Howard's sister.”

“Yes?”

“Have you seen Howard?
you heard from him#”

“No, I haven’t.” I looked at my
watch. It was twenty-five minutes to
eight. “I've been expecting him.”

“So have 1. The words came out
too fast; they almost ran together.
“That is, I've been expecting both of
you. Howard told me ‘six o’clock’
and it's 'way past that now, and—"
Her voice trailed off.

“I'm sorry,” I said.
best to wait here.”

There was a little silence. “Would
you mind very much taking a taxi,
Mr. Hunter? Any driver will know
where we live. It's in Petionville,
you know.”

“Yes,” I said. ‘“Howard showed me
this morning. But wouldn’t it per-
haps be better, Miss Parks, if we made
it another time? Howard seems to
have been delayed, and—"

“No! Please!” It was not mere
politeness. It was more than that, a
great deal more. ‘“Please, Mr. Hunt-
er, take a taxi and come up, and—"

“Of course,” I said.

“We’'ll have a Martini. Do you like
Martinis, Mr. Hunter?” It was fright
in her voice, that much was plain.
The words tumbled over one another.

“Why, yes,” I said. “I do.”

“You'll-you’ll hurry?”

"Right away, Miss Parks?”

Or have

“I thought it

I went back into the bar. Peters
was still at our table.
“I'm sorry,” I said. “An engage-

ment.” I smiled. “I've been sum-
moned.”
“Indeed, Mr. Hunter?” There was

no mistaking the change in his eyes
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now. They had turned cold and hard,
as cold and as hard as blue ice. Then,
abruptly, they were amused again.
“Another time, Mr. Hunter.”

“Yes,” 1 said, “of course. Thank
you for the drink. Good-by, Mr.
Peters.”

“Au revoir.”

At the doorway I paused and
turned; I cannot explain why. He
was watching me in a speculative sort
of way. There were small crinkles of
thought in the corners of his eyes. He
raised his glass and made a small bow
and I turned away and went out to
the taxis.

Prrionviiie is a suburb above
Port-au-Prince, a twenty-minute drive.
My driver made it in fifteen. Louise
Parks was already on the front steps
when we came up the driveway. She
was young—younger than Howard,
younger, even, than I had thought
from her voice. She wore black velvet
trousers and ballet slippers and a loose
white silk shirt. Her hair was light,
but not as light as that of the big man
in the bar—and I wondered that I
should remember him, that I should
think of him at that moment. She
took my hand. “Thank you, Mr.
Hunter. It wassweetof you to come.”
Her voice was under control now; the
words no longer ran together.

“Not at all,” I said.

“My cook has been having a fit.”

“Cooks do.” I followed her into
the house and out onto a broad
screened gallery, cool and restful. A
cocktail stand was set against the
wall.  “She’ll get over it,” I said.

I don’t believe she heard me. She
stood there, her hands clasped, look-
ing at my face. It was beginning
again, the nervousness that had been
in her voice on the telephone. *“I
can’t imagine where he is, or what he’s
doing. He told me this morning that
he’d pick you up about six and bring
you straight here. I haven’t heard a
word since. I've (f)honed the embassy.
I've even phoned the ambassador as
the Residency. I've tried the Club.
It’s—it’s silly, because there just aren’t
places here where he could have
stop{)ed the way a man stops off after
work in New York or in—" She was
silent, looking at my face.

“Now, Miss Parks,” I said.
be along.” -

She nodded slowly. "Of course.”

“I left word at the hotel.”

“Yes,” she said. She was silent for a
moment, getting herself under con-
trol. “I promised you a Martini,
didn’t I?  Will you mix them, please?”
She nodded toward the cocktail stand.
And then somewhere back in the
house a telephone range, and her head
came up. “Excuse me,” she said, and
almost ran across the room and into
the hallway. I heard a door close.
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While I mixed the drinks I tried to
understand it, and failed. I felt un-
comfortable, awkward, an outsider. 1
found myself listening, waiting for her
to come back, to say that Howard was
on his way, that he had been delayed
by some perfectly simple and in-
nocuous occurrence.

She came back into the room walk-
ing slowly, her hands clasped together
in front of her. She was smiling.
“I'm sorry,” she said. She sat down
on the chaise facing the low coffee-
table. She looked at her drink and
then at me. ““Santé, Mr. Hunter.”

“Your health,” I said, and I watched
her unclasp her hands and reach for
her glass. It was not too full, but
some of the liquor slopped over the
edge and onto the table and she with-
drew her hand slowly and sat there
staring at the little puddle without
movement, without sound. I put my
own glass down untouched. “It
wasn’t Howard who phoned,” I said.

“No.” She looked up then. “It
was the ambassador. He—he has
called the Foreign Office and the po-
lice.” Her voice was toneless, and her
smile was gone.

“But that’s absurd,” I said. “How-
ard—" I didn’t know how to finish.

“People don’t just disappear in this

-country.” She kept her hands tight-
ly together in her lap. She seemed to
be talking to herself, trying to be
logical, dispassionate. “Not—not for-
eigners. It’s like a small town. There
are no secrets.”

The old man Jonas Peters had said
the same. “But still,” I said, “good
heavens, Howard’s an American; he’s
in the embassy.”

“The ambassador told me to stay
here.” She paused. “He told me to
tell you to stay, too. He wants to
talk to both of us.”

“But—" 1 began,
stopped. “Of course.”

“I don’t understand it, either, Mr.
Hunter. I'm—I'm just afraid.”

I looked down at the small puddle
her shaking fingers had spilled around
her drink. I looked at her. She was
staring straight ahead, without ex-
pression. It was a time for reassur-
ances, but, somehow, I couldn’t quite
bring myself to make them, to tell
her that Howard would come walk-
ing in any moment, because I didn’t
think that he would—then, or ever.
It had got to me, too, and I could not
have said how or why. “Drink your
drink,” I said. “Use both hands if
you have to. It doesn’t matter if a
little spills.” And then I looked away.

and there I

THE ambassador was short and
round, almost bald, with a permanent
smile that seemed never to touch his
eyes. ~The minister of police, who
came with him, was more the tradi-
tional picture of a diplomat. We sat,
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the four of us, there on the gallery.
The ambassador said, “\We have no
word yet, Miss Parks. I am sorry.”
And then he looked at me. “How
long have you known Howard Parks,
Mr. Hunter?”

“He was at college when I was
there—a year ahead of me, I think.”

“You didn’t know him well?”

“Only by sight, then, but later, dur-
ing the war, in Italy, I knew him bet-
ter. He was attached to the embassy
in Rome; I was with the Air Force
and we had quite a few dealings.”

HE was like a good lawyer direct-
ing his examination of a witness.
“Were you intimate friends, would
you say, Mr. Hunter?”

“No. Acquaintances, rather.”

He nodded. The minister said,
“The airplane, monsieur the am-
bassador.”

The ambassador nodded again. He
had been heading for that all the
time. I knew what was coming. I
had followed the same reasoning my-
self. “You were not close friends,” the
ambassador said. “You had not seen
one another since the war. You met
by chance at the airport yesterday
when you landéd here from Cuba.
Yet Howard went to che length of
chartering a plane, getting up before
dawn this morning—going, actually,
to quite a bit of trouble and some ex-
pense to go flying with you. Can you
explain that, Mr. Hunter?”

“No,” I said, “I can’t. He put it
on a sight-seeing basis. The best way
for me to see the country, he said, was
from the air because road travel was
difficult and limited. It seems far-
fetched, unless he wanted to fly him-
self and knew that I was a flyer.”

“We have flyers, too, Mr. Hunter,”
the minister said. “Their rates are
reasonable.”

“Where did you go, Mr. Hunter?”
the ambassador said.

I had been over that in my mind
too. “Over the city, out along the
coast, up here to Petionville; Howard
wanted to see his house from the air.”

“And what did you see, besides the
house?”

I spread my hands. “What would
you see? The city, the buildings, the
pattern of streets, the mountains, the
bay, the island of Gonave, a few fish-
ing boats, a schooner, an inbound
freighter, the small huts among the
trees, the houses up here—"

“Nothing that stands out in your
mind?”

“No, nothing.” Louise’s eyes had
never left my face; I was conscious of
them. Vaguely, I said, “I'm sorry. I'd
like to help, but—"

A white-coated servant had ap-
peared in the doorway. We alllooked
at him. To the minister of police he
said, “The telephone, monsieur.”

Louise drew her breath in sharply.
It was a small, frightened sound.

The ambassador said, “I am sorry,
my dear. We are doing all that—"

“I don’t understand,” I said. “It’s
none of my business, I know, but just
because a man is missing for an hour
or two—"

“Let me put it this way,” the am-
bassador said. “If a man of yours
during the war was missing for two
hours between two known points—"

“That was wartime.”

“Precisely, Mr. Hunter.” His eyes,
on my face, were cool and sharp. His
voice was almost angry. “This is not
Korea; nor is it Germany, where ten-
sions have been publicized. But—"
He stopped there.

“Oh,” Isaid, and I looked at Louise.
This, of course, was the explanation
of her behavior. “I see.” She said
nothing, only gazed at her hands.
“I'm sorry,” I said.

From the doorway the minister of
police said, “Monsieur the ambassa-
dor, if I may speak to you?”

The ambassador got up abruptly.
The two of them stood together, talk-
ing in low voices. I watched them,
and Louise, I knew, was watching
them too. When the ambassador
turned back to us and came slowly
across the gallery, unsmiling now, I
think we both knew what he was
going to say.

He stopped before Louise, stood
looking down at her. “The police
have found Howard.” He paused.
“In the garden, behind the hotel.”

Louvse said nothing for a time,
just sitting there, looking at her hands.
She raised her head slowly. “He’s—
he’s dead?”

“Yes, my dear,” the ambassador
said. His voice was gentle, but his
eyes were no longer cool and sharp,
and his face was beginning to color
with anger. “He is dead.”

The ambassador drove me to the
hotel on his way to the embassy offices.
The driver jumped out to hold the
door open. “One moment, Mr. Hunt-
er,” the ambassador said. I could
see him dimly, sitting back in his
corner, his face thoughtful. “I am
cabling Washington tonight.”

“Of course,” 1 said.

He looked at me then. “Among
other things, I shall ask for whatever
information Washington can provide
concerning you.”
~ “I don’t blame you.
much coincidence—"

“Precisely.” He was silent for a few
moments. “Until I hear from the de-
partment, which should be tomorrow,
you will, of course, remain available.”

“Yes.”

“And if the department turns up
nothin%—" He paused. “In that
event, Mr. Hunter, I think it would
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be well if you left the country immedi-
ately.”” He paused again. “Your
continued presence here could prove
embarrassing.”

“I'm afraid I don’t understand that.
To whom?”

“To the United States, Mr. Hunter.
You are an American. I don’t want
to give anyone the opportunity ot
making of you a cause célébre, a tocal
point for suspicion in this matter.”

“Oh,” T said. 1 turned it over in
my mind. "I wouldn’t like that
either. I'm a lawyer—and a scandal,
even down here this far away from
home, wouldn't do me any good.”

fle nodded. “Then we understand
one another. Good-night, sir.”

T same clerk was on duty. He
paid me no more attention than be-
fore. He handed me my key, and a
folded note from my box. The note
was from Jonas Peters:

I shall be in the bar it read. I
should like to talk to you when you
retwrn.

I crumpled the note and threw it in
the wastebasket. 1 thought of what
the ambassador had said and of what
I, myself, had been thinking. I stood
there indecisively. “I have had no
dinner,” 1 told the clerk. “The din-
ing-room is closed?”

“Oui, monsieur.”

“Can I get a sandwich?”

“QOui, monsieur. In the bar.”

By such narrow margins are things
decided.

Peters was at the same table. He had
a game of solitaire laid out. I went
over and sat down, and he smiled at
me and gathered the cards.

“You arrive fortuitously, Mr. Hunt-
er,” he said. *“I was on the verge of
cheating.” His eyes showed nothing.
It was as if he had drawn a curtain
behind them. He raised his finger
and the bartender appeared immedi-
ately. He watched me while I or-
dered, and when the bartender had
gone, he leaned back in his chair and
took out a gold cigarette case and
lighter. He lighted the cigarette care-
fully. *“This is a distressing business,
Mr. Hunter.”

“It is.” I hesitated. Despite the
ambassador, and despite my own in-
clinations, I had to know. “And you—"

He raised his hand. “All in good
time, Mr. Hunter. Let me ask my
questions first.”

1 shook my head.
tell you anything?"”

He was silent for a little time, study-
ing me. “I think you will, Mr. Hunt-
er. I was careless in something I said.
I underestimated your shrewdness, a
thing I do not often allow myself to
do. You have questions you want to
ask me because of that small bit of
carelessness. I shall answer them.
After you have answered mine.”
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“Why should I

“The ambassador—" I began.

“George and I are friends of long
standing. [ see no need to trouble
him with what can, after all, be settled
between you and me.” He paused.
“I can put your conscience at rest, Mr.
Hunter, and that should be worth a
good deal to you.”

He saw too deeply; he had sized
me up too well. T had tried to ignore
it, but it had been there all the time,
nagging at me.

“You are on the horns of a dilem-
ma, Mr. Hunter. You are afraid that
you may know, or have guessed some-
thing that is concerned with the
death of young Mr. Parks. If it is
pertinent, you should tell it to the
ambassador, or to the police. But at
the same time, and prudently, I might
add, you have no desire to become in-
volved in something which concerns
neither you nor the late Mr. Parks. I
admire prudence.”

“What are your questions?” I said.

“I should like to know all about
your flight this morning.”

“Why?”

“For my own reasons, Mr. Hunter.”

I hesitated. He watched me, smil-
ing, and the smile told me nothing.
“All right,” I said. “It was Parks’
idea. It was a sight-seeing tour, he
said. . . ."” I went through it all, pre-
cisely as [ had gone through it with the
ambassador and the minister of po-
lice. Peters watched me and listened,
and when I was done he was silent
for a little time studying the ash of
his cigarette.

“But you know that it was not a
sight-seeing tour, Mr. Hunter. You
know that—" He stopped there while
the bartender brought my sandwich
and small salad and coffee and then
left us again.

.“l think,” I said, “that my ques-
tions come now.”

“Fair enough, Mr. Hunter.”

| waxten a moment or two to
organize it in my mind. I took a bite
of the sandwich and a sip of the coftee.
“The ambassador knew I had been
flying. The minister of police knew.
Just as you did. Apparently it is com-
mon knowledge. But neither of them
knew where T had flown, while you
did.”

“I am annoyed with myself for that
bit of carelessness, Mr. Hunter. There
was no need for me to mention your
flying out along the coast. It was
clever of you to pick it up.”

“You saw the plane this morning,”
I'said. ““That is how you knew.”

“Correct, Mr. Hunter.” His smile
widened. “Shrewdness and imagina-
tion.”

“All right,” I said. “Tell me—"

“No: that is the wrong approach.
I promised to answer questions.”

“That's quibbling.”

He said nothing.

“All right,” I said again. “You
want to know how much I know, or
how much I've guessed. TI'll tell you.
I have guessed that you were the rea-
son that Parks wanted to go flying,
that he knew you were up to some-
thing and wanted to see it for him-
self. That's why he didn’t want to
take a professional pilot, because he
didn’t want 1o run the risk of having
the man talk. I turned up unexpect-
edly and he jumped at the chance.”

“You reason well, Nr. Hunter.”

“I'll go on,” I said. [ wanted to
watch some of the complacency dis-
appear trom that face. “You were
out along the coast when you saw us.
There is nothing out there. But
there was a schooner not far off-shore,
headed out to sea. It could have
landed during the night, in some
small cove, put a cargo ashore, put
out again just betore dawn.”

“My admiration for you continues
to increase, Mr. Hunter.”

“Smuggling—" 1 began, and there
I stopped, for I thought 1 saw a Hicker
of something in his eyes. It was
quickly gone. “Well,” I'said. *Does
it add up?”

HE got a fresh cigarette, lighted
it carefully. “Let us say, Mr. Hunter,
that it is an intelligent hypothesis.
Let us, for the moment, assume that
it is true.”

“Purely hypothetical, ol course,” I
said.

The blue eyes were amused. “You
also indulge in sarcasm, Mr. Hunter.
You have many facets.”

He was imperturbable. He was
also, I was beginning to believe, more
than a little dangerous.

“Extending your hypothesis,” Pet-
ers said, “‘you arrive, of course, at the
conclusion that I killed Mr. Parks to
prevent him from telling what he saw,
or from using what he saw.” He
shook his head. “You err there, Mr.
Hunter. You should be able to see
the flaws in that conclusion. Thete
are at least two. First, assuming that
Mr. Parks had some damaging infor-
mation concerning me, why did he
not use it? He had the entire day to
do whatever he wished to do, to tell
whatever he wished to tell. I could
have silenced him, if that had been
my purpose,only by killing him this
morning, not this evening.”

“There are several possible an-
swers to that,” I said. “Opportunity,
or lack of sure knowledge that it was
Parks in the plane.”

“Granted,” Peters said. “But my
point nevertheless carries weight. The
second point, I think, is conclusive.
Mr. Parks did not leave the embassy
until six o’clock. At that time, I was
here in the bar. I left the bar shortly
after you did, and went into the din-
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Peters was silent a moment, studying me.
mated your shrewdness, a thing I do not often allow myself to do.

“I think you will tell me, Mr. Hunter,” he said.

“I was careless in something I said.
And yet you are on the horns of a dilemma.” I sat forward in- my chair.
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ing-room for dinner. After dinner I
came back here. I was here when Mr.
Parks’ body was found. During the
critical hours, from six until approxi-
mately eight-thirty, I was here in the
hotel in plain sight of a dozen persons.
Is your conscience settled now, Mr.
Hunter?”

“You could have had someone—"

“Mr. Hunter—I have, in my time,
found it necessary to dispense with
one or two persons. I make no secret
of it. I have never found it necessary
to have someone else do the chore for
me.” The curtain had lifted at last.
His eyes were cold now, glittering,
and his entire face had taken on an
expression of predatoriness that was
startling to see. I could believe what
he was saying. I could also believe
what he was implying.

“That’s a back-handed threat, of
course?”’

His face softened slowly. He put
down his cigarette, picked up the
cards and straightened them in his
long fingers. “I contracted to set your
conscience atrest, Mr. Hunter. Ihave
done that, I believe. I shall rely on
your prudence to cause you to forget
the entire matter.” He pushed back
his chair and stood up. “Allow me,
please, to pay for your meal. Good-
night, Mr. Hunter.”

Sleep took time in coming that
night. I lay in-the darkness beneath
the mosquito bar, hearing the sounds
outside—the rustle of wind in the
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palms, somewhere the faint throbbing
of drums, a voice speaking Creole in
the courtyard below, a brief burst of
laughter.  There were footsteps in the
hall, the rattle of a key. . . . I thought
of the girl Louise. She was alone now,
all alone. I thought of her brother,
whom I had never known well, whose
life had touched mine only casually
and only three times: at college, dur-
ing the war, here in Haiti. Did ac-
quaintance impose obligation on me?
In the morning, I thought—and the
rest of the thought eluded me. I sank
into sleep.

A breakfast the next morning I
saw the big man again. This time he
came directly to my table, walking
soundlessly, setting his feet down a
little in from straight; watching him,
I thought again -of a bear. “Mr.
Hunter,” he said. *“I am Bruno
Dodge. I want to talk to you. May I
sit down?” It was a deep voice, a
pleasant voice; it rumbled with good
nature. His English was almost ac-
centless. *“A matter of business.”

“I'm just a tourist,” I began.

His laughter was as deep as his
voice. It rumbled across the dining-
gallery. “I am not selling anything.”
He pulled back a chair and sat down.
His laughter subsided. “I am an im-
porter here in Port-au-Prince, Mr.
Hunter. I am also an exporter—sisal
goods, mahogany ware, woven cotton
materials, other things.”

“Oh?” I said politely.

“I export chiefly to New York, to a
firm called Brown & Company. Do
you know them, Mr. Hunter?”

“I shook my head. “I don’t under-
stand—"’

He laughed again and the whole
table shook. “But it is simple. You
are a lawyer. You practice in New
York.” He pulled a folded news-
paper from his pocket. “This season
of the year, visitors are listed.” He
pointed to a small box labeled A7
rivals. “I need a lawyer to represent
me in New York, perhaps to bring suit.
Brown & Company have been, shall
we say, delinquent in their payment
to me.”” He shook his head. “No,
that is the wrong word. They haven't
paid me at all.”

I braced myself for the laughter this
time. My coffee-cup rattled in its
saucer. “Isita large sumi?” I said.

He shrugged. “To you maybe, no.
To me, yes. Twenty-three thousand
dollars is a large sum in this country,
Mr Hunter.”

“It’s an appreciable sum anywhere.”
I sipped my coffee. It was wrong, I
thought; people didn’t do business
that way. He knew nothing about me
beyond my listing in the newspaper.
I said, “Wouldn’t it be better, per-
haps, if you went up to New York
yourself, talked to these people, and
then, if you need legal help—"

“I have found, Mr. Hunter, that I
can be in only one place at a time.”
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His chuckle was startling, but it
lacked the shock effect of the full
laugh. “My business here requires
me, and my business there requires
me.” He spread his hands.

“Well-" 1 said.

“I have receipts of delivery, M.
Hunter. Custom receipts, bills of
lading, all papers in order—"

“Well,” I said again, “I'll look them
over if you want.”

“Splendid.” He paused. “You are
returning to New York:”

I thought of the ambassador, of
what the ambassador said. “Yes.”

“Then it arranges itself. Ordinari-
ly—" He paused there and smiled.
“It is embarrassing, but between
lawyer and client there should be no
secrets. I need that money as quickly
as possible.” He spread his hands
again. “You can understand. A sum
of that magnitude—"

“I think I understand,” I said.

He pushed back the chair and stood
up. “I will have the papers sent up
immediately.”

“Do that. 1'll be interested in see-
ing them.” I watched him walk off
across the dining-gallery. A curieus
person, Mr. Dodge: a curious coun-
try, Haiti!

I had one more caller that morn-
ing. I was in my room looking over
Dodge’s papers which were, as he had
said, all there and all in order. They
had been delivered promptly by a boy
who had obviously been instructed to
put them directly in my hands. I was
studying them, wondering about
them, when a knock came at the door.
I said, “Come in.” Then I pushed
back my chair and stood up. *“Miss
Parks!” She was the last person I had
expected to see.

SHE closed the door behind her.
“I—I wanted to talk to you.”

“Of course.” I hesitated, watching
her. There were no signs of tears, but
her face was tight, drawn, and her
eyes seemed unnaturally bright.
“Yesterday,” I said, “last night, I
didn’t offer my condolences. It didn't
seem to be quite the time, or—"

“Thank you.” She took the chair
at the writing-desk. I perched on the
bed. “I want you to do me a favor,
Mr. Hunter.”

“I'll be glad to, if I can.”

“You can.” Her eyes were steady
on my face. “I want you to take me
flying.” There was a directness in her
voice, in her manner, a decisiveness
that had not been there last night. It
was plain that her mind was made up.
In that moment, watching me, wait-
ing for my reply, she bore a strong
resemblance to Howard. There was

the same determination, the same
strength.
“I don't understand,” I said.

“Where do you want to fly? When?
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Why—" I stopped there. “Oh-I
think I see.”

“Yes,” she said. “Tomorrow morn-
ing, just before dawn.”

“Now, Miss Parks,” I said.
that, perhaps—"

“It's not a sentimental gesture, if
that’s what you're thinking.”

That made it even worse.

“I want to fly exactly where you and
Howard flew. I want to see what you
saw, or what Howard saw, because—"
She stopped there, and took a deep
breath and blinked rapidly three or
four times, but her eyes didn't leave
my face.

“You think that something he saw
yesterday morning was responsible—"'

“Yes.” She was silent for a moment
or two. “I believe you think so too.”

“I=" I was thinking, of course, of
the old man, Peters, and of our talk
in the bar last night. I was thinking,
too, of the ambassador, and of myself.
“I don't know what to say, Miss
Parks.”

She said nothing. She watched me.

“If you have an idea,” I said,
“wouldn’t it be better to take it to
the embassy, or to the police?”

“I have taken it to the ambassador.
He—he isn’t interested. He thinks I'm
being hysterical.”

“And the police?”

“The police”—she said it quite
calmly—“think that Howard killed

“Isn’t

himself. There was a gun beside
him.”

I stared at her. “But that's ab-
surd.” Or was it? Because it was a

new, strange theory? The doubt must
have showed in my face.

She said, “It is absurd. You too
know it's absurd. Howard—"

“I didn't know him very well, Miss
Parks. [ hadn’t seen him in some
years until I happened to run into
him when I got oft the plane.” I left
the rest of it unsaid.

For as long as it might take a man
to count to ten, she said nothing. I
watched the change come into her
face; it showed first in the set of her
chin and then in her mouth and then,
at last, it reached her eyes. It was
not pleasant to see. “And you don't
care to be involved, do you? Isn’t
that what you're saying?”

I wished that she had not chosen
that word. ‘‘Miss Parks, I came down
here on a vacation. I wanted to see
this country that people are talking
about so much. [ met Howard entire-
ly by accident. Iseem to be mixed up
in something I don’t understand. I'm
not sure I want to understand it. I
am very sorry about your brother,
but—"

“Thank you.” She looked away
then. Her eyes caught the papers on
the desk. She picked one of them up
and then put it down again and
looked back at me. She said nothing.

“Those are business papers, Miss
Parks,” I said.

“So I see. Bruno Dodge.” And
her tone gave the name a special sig-
nificance. . She stood up. “Howard
used to talk about you, Mr. Hunter.
Or should I say, Major Hunter?
When he came back from Italy he
was full of you.” She paused. “He
said that the luckiest thing that ever
happened to him was lis running
into you at the airport day before
yesterday.”

“Miss Parks—"

“You—""She stopped there for only
a moment, and drew a breath that
seemed to shake her entire body.
“You don’t even mix a good Martini,
Mr. Hunter. Good-by.” She closed
the door quietly.

I sat where I was.

lT was a little past noon when a
messenger came from the embassy.
The ambassador would like to see me,
if it was convenient. The messenger
was a bright-faced, solemn young man.
“I have a car waiting, sir."”

“Of course.” 1 gathered the papers
on the” desk, folded them, replaced
them in their envelopes and put on
my coat. The young man held the
door for me.

We walked together through the
lobby. I put my key on the desk.
Behind me, Jonas Peters said, “Good
morning, Mr. Hunter. This bright
day finds you well, I trust?” He was
smiling.

“Thank you,” I said.

He glanced at the young man, then
looked at me again. ‘“‘You must give
my regards to my good friend the am-
bassador.”

“I'll do that.”

Something flickered deep behind his
eyes, a small warning flash, no more.
“Splendid! A drink, perhaps, Mr.
Hunter, when you return?”

“Perhaps,” I said.

He nodded. “Au revoir.” He
turned away and walked off across
the lobby, his wide shoulders swing-
ing easily. To a martial beat, 1
thought; there was that about him;
almost I could hear the trumpets and
the drums. . ..

The ambassador was not alone.
There was a small man with him, a
small calm serious man, perhaps forty-
five years of age. “This is Mr. Potter,”
the ambassador introduced him. “Mr.
Potter flew down from Washington
early this morning."”

I sat down and waited.

The ambassador said, “As far as the
department can determine, Mr. Hunt-
er, you have a clean bill of health.”
His manner was more friendly today.

“I'm glad to hear it,” I said.

Potter stirred a little in his chair.
“Do you have any ideas about this,
Major?”
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I thought of the girl standing in my
room looking at me. ‘I understand
that the police think it was suicide.”

The ambassador said nothing.
Potter said, “It’s simpler for them
that way, Major. Do you think it was
suicide?”

“I don’t know.
very well” 1
doubt it.”

Potter nodded. “So do we.”

I still don’t know at what point my
mind had been made up. It may
have been the theory of suicide that
did it; it may have been the girl; it
may have been lots of things.

“There is a man named Peters,” I
said, “Jonas Peters—" I stopped
there, watching Potter’s face. “You
know him?”

“I do, indeed,” said Potter. He
looked at the ambassador. “I didn’t
know—"

“Jonas,” the ambassador said, “has
a way of turning up almost any place.
He is in business here, he claims, with
a man named Dodge, Bruno Dodge,
who does importing and exporting,
and other things. What their busi-
ness together really is—” He shrugged.
“That is a matter for the local au-
thorities; and Mr. Dodge and the local
authorities—"" He stopped there and
his mouth closed angrily.

“Peters,” Potter repeated. He was
looking at me again. ““What about
him, Major?”

What the ambassador had said put
it in a different light. I said, “I met
him &t the hotel. He seemed curious
about where Howard and I had been

I didn’t know him
hesitated. “But 1

flying.”
Potter waited. “That all, Major?"
I nodded. “It isn’t very much, but

I thought you'd like to know.”

His face was blank. He watched
me for a time. “Thank you, Major.
I'll have a talk with him.”

Tue ambassador looked at his
watch. “Apropos of our little con-
versation last night, Mr. Hunter, it’s
too late, I'm afraid, for today’s plane,
but tomorrow I'll see that space is
held for you.” The implication was
plain; he expected me to be aboard
when tomorrow’s plane took off.

“Thank you,” I said. I stoogl up,
hesitated. “I wonder if you would do
me a favor. I was approached this
morning with a piece of legal busi-
ness . . .” I told them about Bruno
Dodge, about his papers, about his
New York problem.

The ambassador said, “Mr. Dodge
cannot go to the United States him-
self, Mr. Hunter. That is not widely
known. I tell you for a purpose.”

“Oh?”

“There are at least two charges of
passport-fraud standing against him
in Washington. We have tried to
have him extradited, without success.”
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“I see,” I said. “Thank you.”

Much of the friendliness had dis-
appeared. “If you care to do business
with a man like that, Mr. Hunter,
there is unfortunately nothing I can
do about it.”

“I understand.”

“I wonder if you do,” the ambas-
sador observed. “The United States
is not the only country where Mr.
Dodge does not dare to go. The
Dominican Republic, next door, for
example—" He paused. “I'm not
sure there would even be a trial for
him in the Dominican Republic. Mr.
Dodge is that sort of man.”

“Thank you,” I'said. I nodded to
both of them. “Good-byv.”

There was no answer.

Outside, in the bright sun, I stood
for a little time on the steps of the
embassy, trying to get it all straight
in my mind. There was too much,
entirelv too much. T nodded to a
taxi-driver who had come out from
the shade of a tree and opened his
taxi door hopefully. “Take me to a
restaurant,” I said. T didn’t want to
go back to the hotel. Not yet. I
didn’t want to see Peters again until
I had had time to think.

The restaurant--Kalmar's—was on
the edge of the Champ de Mars. I
sat on the cool gallery, looking out
across the green of the lawns to the
Presidential palace and the palace of
ministers. Two statues were in the
foreground: One was of Dessalines,
one of Toussaint L’'Ouverture. Taken
together, they were symbolic of the
violence and intrigue that had plagued
the entire island for a hundred and
fifty years. And the violence and in-
trigue were not over yet, that much
was sure. On the other half of the
island, the Dominican Republic. . . .
I was back to Bruno Dedge again, and
what the ambassador had said about
Dodge’s not daring to set foot across
the border. I wondered if Peters was
wanted there, too; it seemed logical
that he was. The whole affair, I
thought, was beginning to take shape.
There were still holes, to be sure, but
the broad outlines were there. . . .

I went through it slowly, step by
step.  First, the flight with Howard
Parks. I thought I knew the explana-
tion ‘for that; I was fairly sure I had
been right in my guesses to Peters. He
had assured me that there was noth-
ing to it, but T was beginning to be-
lieve otherwise. He and Dodge were
in business together, the ambassador
had said, and yet at my first meeting
with Peters, Dodge had been sitting
across the bar and the two had not
even bothered to recognize one an-
other. And after Howard’s death had
been established, Peters had gone to
some length to persuade me of his in-
nocence. Whys He wanted to set
my mind at rest, he said, and he had

implied more, that he wanted me to
forget the whole affair and go back
to the States. And then the offer of
legal work from Dodge, urgent legal
work which could not wait. It could
be legitimate; the fact that Dodge
dared not go to the States himself
lent the idea credibility.

FOR a long time I sat turning it
over in my mind: and at last I was
satisfied. I finished my lunch and
walked down toward the center of
town. I had several things to do.

I found a public telephone and a
listing for Bruno Dodge. I called
him. “I've looked over the papers,”
I said. “They seem to be in order. I
don’t believe there should be any
difficulty in forcing a collection.”

“You will do it, then?”

“I don’t see any reason why not;
I think I can handle it quite easily.”

“It's worth a great deal to me, Mr.
Hunter, to have it taken care of. And,
as I told you this morning, as quickly
as possible.”

“I understand. I plan to leave on
tomorrow’s plane for Miami and then
New York.”

“Splendid.
on you.”

“Yes,” I'said. “I think you can.”

I consulted the directory again.
There were two listings under Parks—
one for Howard, one for Louise, the
same number for each. I looked at
Howard’s name for a long time. I
still didn’t know the answer to the
question I had asked myself: Does ac-
quaintance impose obligation? There
was more to it than that. I disliked
being duped: I rehelled at being
thought a simpleton. 1 was angry
now. [ called the number and Louise
answered the phone herself. “This is
Marvin Hunter, Miss Parks. I have
changed my mind: I'll take you fly-
ing.

gl'here was a little silence. “I sup-
pose I shouldn’t look a gilt horse in
the mouth, but—"

I didn’t try to explain. “I'm going
this afternoon, right now, and I'll take
you if you want to come.”

“Not tomorrow morning?”’

“There isn’t time,” I said. “And I
think this afternoon will do just as
well.”

There was only the smallest hesita-
tion. “I'll meet you at the airport.”

I had the plane rolled out and
warmed up by the time she arrived.
It was the same plane Howard and I
had used, a small, high-wing cabin
job which handled like a toy. She
got in beside me; I fastened her door
securely, released the brakes and tax-
ied up to the head of the strip. We
turned and headed into the wind,
waiting for clearance from the tower.

“You said that you were going by
yourself whether I came or not.” She
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was watching me. “Do you know
what you’re looking for?”

“No.” This was no more than the
truth. I didn’t want to tell her that
I was not really looking for anything;
that I doubted if there was anything
to be seen. “We'll fly the same
course,” 1 said, “and maybe we’ll be
lucky.”

It satisfied her. “What changed your
mind?” :

“I don’t know. Just everything, I
guess. People—"

She was smiling at me. It was the
first time I had really seen her smile;
it lighted her face and her eyes. “You

.found that you couldn’t isolate your-
self, is that it> People wouldn’t let
you alone?”

I thought of Peters, of Dodge.
“Something like that.”

“They wouldn’t let you alone, be-
cause you're a part of it.”

“I don’t follow you.”

“When something like—like this
happens, it concerns everybody, don’t
you see that? It's everybody's busi-
ness. Didn’t you learn that during
the war?”

“Let it go,” I said. The tower gave
me the light and I pushed the throttle
forward and released the brakes. We
began to roll down the runway. “It
doesn’t matter.” Out of the corner
of my eye I could see that she was still
watching me, still smiling.

W: dropped the airport behind us
and made a slow climbing turn out
over the bay. The sun was brilliant
on the water, bringing out fantastic
colors, pale blue, turquoise, deep
green, here and there the vivid white
of sand bottom or the vicious, dirty
brown of a coralreef. Ialtered course
and picked up the shore, started out
along it. There is always a pleasure
for me in flying, a feeling of headiness,
of freedom, a lift in my mind. I feltit
now. Louise said unexpectedly, “I
feel better.”

“Do you?”

“It's as if I just came out of the
darkness into the sunlight.”

“Flying does that for you.”

“Not flying. It isn’t that. It's—it’s
doing something.”

I turned to look at her.

“It may not help at all,” she said.
“It—it won’t bring Howard back.
But at least we're trying. Don’t you
teel that too?”

“Maybe that’s it,” I said. I dropped
down a little closer to the trees.
“We'd better start looking. Maybe
you'll see something I don’t.”

We flew for about twenty minutes
in silence, she watching out of her
window, I making a pretense of watch-
ing out of mine. We saw nothing that
mattered—the shoreline, the trees, the
road that wavered as it followed the
contours, now close along the water,
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now a half-mile inland. Here and
there we saw a small clearing and a
tiny white hut with perhaps a donkey
tethered or a goat and a bony dog who
slunk into the brush and small chil-
dren who rushed out into the open to
look up at us.

We reached the cove I had fixed in
my mind, and I dropped and circled
it, remembering how close the schoon-
er had been, trying to remember if
there had been tracks on the sand, if
there had been anything at all. There
had not, of that I was sure. But that
was what Peters wouldn’t know,
couldn’t know, and so he would as-
sume—

“Why are we circling here?” Louise
said. “Do you see something?”

I shook my head. .“This is the end
of the line. This is where we turn
around.”

“Oh.” Her voice was small, disap-
pointed.

I pulled up, well over the trees, and
steadied on a return course. “I'm
sorry.”

“It isn’t your fault.”

I hadn’t realized how high I had
raised her hopes.

“We tried,” she said.
important thing.”

“You're too young to know that.”

She just looked at me.

We swung in a wide circle to make
our approach to the field, and started
down. She said, “Not yet. We aren’t
going down now?”

“That’s the

W eflew for about twenty minutes in silence.while Louise looked eagerly and I pretended. The
colors were fantastic but we saw nothing that mattered. Then I spotted the house by itself.
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“Why not?”
“You said—you told the ambassador

that you and Howard flew up to
Petionville.”
“So we did. I'd forgotten.” T was

anxious to be on the ground now, to
give Peters as much time as I could—

""l:_l,]en aren’t we going up there
now?

“We f{lew to Petionville only be-
cause Howard wanted to see your
house from the air.”

She said nothing and I turned to
look at her. She was staring straight
ahead, and the line of her chin was
firm, set.

“All right,” T said.
there, if you want to.”

“Don’t vou?

“We'll go up

SHE was like a small terrier: she
had her teeth into something and she
wasn't going to let it go. In a way it
was comical, in another way it was
something to be admired. “Sure.
We started it. We'll finish it.”

“Maybe something he saw up
there—"

“Sure,” I said again. “It's a good
idea.” But there was nothing in Pe-
tionville, and T knew it. We had al-
ready seen all there was to see. The
schooner out along the coast just after
dawn the day before had been the clue
to the whole affair. Peters had told
me that he relied on my prudence to
make me forget that 1 had seen the
schooner. And I had been prepared
to forget it and go on my way and
leave the matter to the ambassador
and to the police, if it had not been
for threats and then bait, for what 1
had learned from the ambassador,
things that added up too plainly.

Suddenly Louise said:

“Look, there: That white house,
with the big trees, and the sun on it.”

My gaze followed her poirting
finger.

It was another house, perhaps a
half mile from hers. It also sat on a
promontory, with an unobstructed
view of the bay and the island of
Gonave and the broad water beyond.
Not so broad at that, I thought. Cuba
lay a little to the north, and between
Cuba and the island mass of Haiti
and the Dominican Republic was the
Windward Passage, and the water be-
yond the stretch of the bay was the
wide part of the funnel leading into
the straits. This all passed through
my mind like a geography lesson, and
then was gone because 1t was not perti-
nent. What lay below was, or maybe
it was not, I didn’t know. But it was
curious, anyway. [ banked to have a
closer look.

“It’s—it's a sort of aerial,” Louise
said. "It looks like the ones they
have on police cars. Do you see it, in
thetoppart of the tree> There! The
sun catches it now.”
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“I see it,” I said.

“What does it mean?”

“I don’t know,” I said. *“Probably
nothing.” I was beginning to guess
what it meant: and I wished she had
not seen it. ‘“Whoever it is likes to
listen to the radio. That’s all.”

“But that doesn’t make sense.” She
said it slowly. “There’s only one sta-
tion here in Haiti, and vou don’t need
an aerial to get it. And you don't
need that sort of thing for short-wave,
either. If the reception’s good, you
get it easily, and if it isn’t, you don’t
listen.”

“Maybe he does. Maybe he likes to,
no matter what the reception is.”

“He?” She was looking at me now.
“Do you know whose house that is?”

I could have guessed, but I was
afraid to. "It doesn’t make anv dif-
ference.”

“It’s Bruno Dodge's house.”

“And there’s yours. That’s what
we came to see, isn’t it>”

She looked at me and then looked
away again. She said nothing. . . .

We landed at the airport and taxied
to the hangar. I cut the switch and
just sat there for a moment in the sud-
den silence. “I thought I was reason-
ably smart,” I said. *It’s beginning to
look now as if maybe I wasn't.”

“I'm not sure I understand you.”
Her voice was a little friendlier now.

“I'm not sure I understand myself.”
I reached across her and opened her
door. “Let’s go to—"

“My car’s here. We can drive into
town.”

“There’s a bar just across the road,”
I said. “Let’s go there. Maybe you'd
like a drink. I know I would.”

“All right,” she said.

IT was there, in the Aero Bar, that
Peters found us. I had asked for it, of
course; this had been my reason for
the flight, to force his hand, to try to
bting him out into the open. But it
was all changed now-.

He came in slowly, almost strolling.
He walked directly to our table, and
he took off his hat, a fine-grained
panama of price, and he made a little
bow. *“Miss Parks,” he said. “Mr.
Hunter.” He pulled back a chair and
sat down. “You will forgive the in-
trusion, I am sure.”” The ice in his
eyes was plain, and his nose, no longer
merely large, reminded me of the beak
of some great predatory bird, a horned
owl, perhaps, or an eagle. “In the
event that you are wondering, Mr.
Hunter, I am armed.”

From him it did not sound melo-
dramatic, merely serious. “That
makes it nice,” I said. “But here, in
broad daylight—"'

Heignoredit. “I was under the im-
pression, Mr. Hunter, that I had
made it clear I wanted you to stay out
of my business.”

“Too clear,” I said.

He nodded, but his face lost none
of its threat. *“That may have been a
mistake on my part. No matter.

-Your prudence—"

“You've talked to Potter?” I said.

“I have. And now I find that you
have been flying, presumably retrac-
ing your route of yesterday morning.”
He looked at Louise for a moment.
He looked back to me. “It was not
wise of you, Mr. Hunter.”

The whole script was changed now.
I had to improvise. “There was noth-
ing to see” I said. “Your guns
weren't there.”

Hls eyes widened a little, but that
was the only change. “Guns, Mr.
Hunter?”

“It pretty nearly has to be guns,”
I'said. “Smuggling anything else into
this country wouldn’t be worth your
while. This isn’t the States—where
there’s a lot of money, and maybe a
big profit for evading duty. It had to
be something contraband, and when
you add to it that you are mixed up
with Dodge—"

Louise made a little sound. 1 put
my hand out and touched hers. “This
time,” I said, “I think I'm right.” I
looked at Peters again. “You and
Dodge, plus the fact that Dodge is
wanted next door in the Dominican
Republic where a lot of people have
tried a lot of times to whip up a revo-
lution since Trujillo came into pow-
er.... Guns seem the logical answer.
Land them from a schooner here, and
smuggle them across the border a few
at a time—"

“Those are rather dangerous as-
sumptions, Mr. Hunter.”

“Maybe.” I had to know, and I
thought that this way I could tell.
When you want an admission from a
witness, you can get it sometimes by
crowding him on one subject, focus-
ing his concentration on that, and
then springing your real question on
him without warning. “But is the
radio part of it?”

He was too good, he had been at
this sort of thing too long, to allow
much to show. But I was watching
him carefully, and I was sure his
astonishment was real.

“Radio, Mr. Hunter? What radio?”

I shook my head. There was one
more question, and this was the time
for it. “Did you know that there are
at least two standing charges against
your friend Dodge in Washington?”
I paused there, and watched him di-
gest it. “They are for passport fraud,
Mr. Peters. The ambassador told me,
so I imagine that the information is
correct. What does passport fraud
connote to you? Or don’t you care?”

I didn’t think I was taking too long
a chance. The ambassador had
spoken of Peters by his first name, and
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he had gone out of his way to warn
me about Dodge, but both he and
Potter had somehow given me the im-
pression that Peters was a different
matter entirely. And then there was
the man himself, and I was counting
on my own estimate of him. Guns,
yes, that I could believe. But the
other, no. Still—

“Passport fraud, Mr. Hunter? It
does indeed have an unpleasant con-
notation these days. Persons who
connive in order to enter the United
States—""

“It’s your country, too, isn’t it, Mr.
Peterst Don’t you carry an American
passport?”’

His face softened a trifle. There
was a hint of amusement in his eyes.
“Are you waving the flag at me, Mr.
Hunter?”

I said nothing.

HlS tace changed again. The
amusement disappeared, and the ice
was back in his eyes. “I should like
to hear more about our friend Mr.
Dodge.” He paused. “You men-
tioned a radio?”

I told him what we had seen. I
added just one thing. “An aerial
could be for 1ecepuon It could also
be for transmission.

He listened carefully. When I had
finished, he took out the gold cigarette
case and lighter, offered them, lighted
his cigarette with great deliberation.
“You did not see this aerial yesterday
morning.”

“No, but Parks did.”

“That is mere conjecture, Mr.
Hunter.”

“I don’t think so.”
Louise Parks.
told me.”

She nodded. “‘After breakfast yes-
terday morning,” she said, "Howard
left for the embassy, I thought. 1
drove down the hill fifteen or twenty
minutes later to do some errands.
When 1 got back, I found that he had
come back too, and had changed his
clothes and gone out again. It—it
didn’t seem important then.”

Peters said, “What was wrong with
the clothes he had been wearing, Miss
Parks?”

“He had sweated through them. It
didn’t occur to me at the time, but
he must have been walking, don’t you
see—and he had his car, so why would
he walk, unless—"

“Unless he had gone to see from
the ground what he had seen from
the air, is that what you think, M.
Hunter?”

“It adds up.”

“Possibly,” Peters said. He watched
me for a little time. *“Your reasoning,
as I see it, goes like this. Mr. Parks,
by some means which do not appear,
was aware that a certain event was
going to take place out along the
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I looked at
“Tell him what you

coast early yesterday morning. He
wanted to see it for himself, and so
he had you fly him there. He saw the
schooner and realized its implication.
On the return to Port-au-Prince, and
probably on a whim, he suggested
that you fly up to Petionville so that
he might see his house from the air.
He saw, asyou and Miss Parks saw this
afternoon, an aerial in the tree in
tront of Mr. Dodge’s house, an aerial
that would be concealed from the
ground, an aerial that required expla-
nation because of Mr. Dodge’s known
character and past indulgences in pass-
port fraud. The Caribbean is, has
always been, a powder keg, similar in
its way to the Balkans prior to their
recent envelopment by the Soviet
Union. Perhaps the Balkans are still
a powder keg. \We hope so, but we
can’t really know. No matter.” He
paused and put out his cigarette.

“You're doing fine,” I said.

“Thank you, Mr. Hunter. I am
usually able to follow a plain trail.
Let me resume. . . . The Caribbean
is a danger-spot, as I have said. To
Mr. Parks, the possibility of a radio
transmitter, an unknown radio trans-
mitter, in the hands of a person of Mr.
Dodge’s background, might very well
have been of greater importance than
a piece of suspected smuggling. Mr.
Parks, then, pursued the mvestigation
of the radio, perhaps was imprudent
enough to confront Mr. Dodge with
his findings, and was, as a result—I am
sorry, Miss Parks—silenced by Mr.
Dodge.” He paused there and looked
at me. “An ingenious theory, Mr.
Hunter, but it will require substantia-
tion.”

“Three main points,” 1 said. “First,
Dodge was nowhere near the cove
where the schooner had landed. You
can substantiate that. Therefore,
Dodge had nothing to fear from Parks’
knowledge of that part of it. My
guess is that Dodge can’t even be con-
nected with the guns.”

“You are right there, Mr. Hunter:
he cannot.”

“And yet he wants me out of the
country, and he tried to bribe me to
g6.” Isaw the little signs of astonish-
ment again in Peters’ face. I told him
about the papers and Dodge’s request
that I attend to them. “That was a
bribe, pure and simple. Dodge knows
no more of me than my name and the
fact that 1 am a lawyer. There are
legal firms in New York, reputable
firms, who specialize in that sort of
thing. I do not. .And there are local
lawyers, here in Haiti and, I'm sure,
known to Dodge, who could have put
hini in contact with such a New York
firm.”

Peters watched me steadily.

“The third point is means and op-
portunity. Dodge was in the hotel last
night; Howard’s body was found in

the garden of the hotel. I doubt if
Dodge can account for his where-
abouts, as you can, during the critical
hours.”

Peters was silent for a little time.
“You make a convincing case, Mr.
Hunter. There is, however, one point
which requires explanation.”  His
eyes seemed to be looking right into
my mind. “Why do you tell me, why
risk the possibility that I too am in-
volved, rather than go directly to the
embassy or to the police?”

“We would have,” I said, “if you
hadn’t come in, armed, as you said.
We would have anyway, I think, if |
weren’t atraid that it would be tutile.
The ambassador made it plain that
Dodge has some highly placed local
friends. The police have already de-
cided that Howard committed suicide,
and that seems to bear the ambassador
out.”

He shook his head. He was smil-
ing, a tight little smile that held in it
no amusement. ‘“That may be true,
Mr. Hunter, and 1 think it is. Your
attempt would be futile. But, I re-
peat, why do you think I am inter-
ested?”

Here it was, the last lipk. *‘Because
Dodge was trying to double-cross you.
And I don’t think you're the kind of
person to take that lying down.”

It was a moment or two before he
said anything. Then, “I am listening,
Mr. Hunter.”

I was glad it was Dodge 1 was talk-
ing about in that moment, and not
myself. The old man’s face was
frightening to see. “It was Dodge who
told Parks where and when the guns
were to be landed. Who else in Haiti
knew? And he did it because for his
purpose, which is probably to cause
as much unrest in this area as he can,
the 4mplication of you, an American,
in a gun-ruming project would be
even better than an actual revolution
next door. The ambassador wants me
out of the country because I am an
American and it's known that I went
flying with Howard; and the am-
bassador, who doesn’t appear to be a
man to jump at shadows, is afraid that
it 1 stay here gossip will begin to link
me with Howard’s death, and, by im-~
plication, the word will go around
that the embassy is using its local in-
{luence to protect one of its citizens
even though he may be guilty. If I
leave, the story loses its point, because
I'll be out of sight, out of mind.” I
paused there. Peters was watching
me closely. -“If the reputation of the
United States has to be guarded that
closely, think what damage could be
done 1o it if you were actually caught
running guns. There would be re-
joicing in the Kremlin.”

He nodded slowly. “There would,
indeed. All the old charges of Yankee
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imperialism would be dredged up and
repeated. You are right, Mr. Hunter.
You, if I may say so, have been ad-
mirably right on all points. I have
been too concerned with my own in-
terests—"

“You didn’t see the radio,” I said,
“and you didn’t know about the pass-
port fraud. Without those, nothing
adds up.”

“But it does now, Mr. Hunter.”
He leaned forward and crushed out
his cigarette. He picked up his hat.
He was smiling, but his eyes were still
like ice and the predatoriness of his
facewas plain tosee. “You were quite
right in your assumption that I do
not think lightly of treason—or
treachery.”

I said, “I won’t presume to try to
tell you how to handle your own af-
fairs, Mr. Peters, but—" I stopped
there.

He was watching me. I sat looking
down at the table. This was the deci-
sion that had to be made: On the one
side there was the policy of nonin-
volvement for me, the airplane to-
morrow back to the States, the turn-
ing of my back on the whole matter.
I could leave it in Peters’ hands, that
was clear. Bruno Dodge would meet
with a fatal accident, and Howard’s
death would be evened up. I looked
at the girl. She was watching me, too.
A thing like this was-everybody's busi-
ness, she had told me, and so it was,
and there was the core of the matter.
I couldn’t leave it, not at this point.
I was in too far and my own self-
respect wouldn’t let me pull out.
“I'm a lawyer, Mr. Peters,” I said. “I
approve of law and order.”

“Bravo, Mr. Hunter.”

“And I don’t approve of gun-run-
ning.” This, I knew, was mere balm
for my conscience. Peters, I think,
understood that, too. He said noth-
ing. “On the other hand,” I said, "I
don't think I'd like to see you run the
risk of landing in trouble for per-
forming a public service.”

PE'rERs’ smile spread. “Removing a
cancerous growth named Dodge from
the body politic, you mean, Mr.
Hunter?”

“Yes. There is another way.” 1
hesitated. “Do you kiw a local pub-
lic official, highly placed, who would
accept your word, and whose advice
Bruno Dodge would heed?*

His eyes lost their cold fury. They
began to sparkle. If I had not felt
drawn to him before, I would still, in
that moment, have found him almost
irresistible. It was easy to understand
the attitude of tolerant disapproval
which the ambassador and Potter
had showed when I had mentioned
Peters’ name.

“I think I do, Mr. Hunter.”
leaned toward me.
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He
“I am listening.”

. stairs in my room.

Later I sat in the hotel bar, alone
this time. It was early night, dark,
hot and still, strangely oppressive, the
evening breeze not yet risen. I waited.
If I was right—but I had to be right;
he would have to react the way we
had anticipated, because he would
have no choice. I told myself this,
sitting there, sipping at my punch,
making it last as long as I could.
That the reaction had already set in,
I'll not deny, and I was beginning to
regret that I hadn’t made the other
decision, left the whole thing in Peters’
hands, let him take whatever steps he
chose to take in dealing with Dodge’s
alleged treachery. Alleged, there was
the hitch? 1 had convinced Peters
that my reasoning was correct, but
suppose it were not?

“Good evening, Mr. Hunter.”

I looked up. Dodge was towering
over me, looking as if his chuckle
would rumble up out of his big chest
at any moment. “You seem pensive,”
he said.

“I-I guess I was.”

“Thinking of our problem, no
doubt?”

There was no way of knowing
what he meant by that. “As a mat-
ter of fact, yes.” The answer suited
either problem.

“I tried to reach you earlier today,
Mr. Hunter. I have received a letter
from Brown & Company. Their fig-
ures are somewhat at variance with
mine, and I thought that it would
be well if we compared—"

“The papers you gave me are up-
If you want to
come up, we can look at them there.”

“Splendid, Mr. Hunter.” He
watched me rise. ‘“After you.”

Going up the stairs, hearing the
big man’s soft, light step behind me,
I was not happy. The skin between
my shoulderblades seemed overly
tight, and there was a tingle at the
base of my skull. I was being foolish
and imaginative, I told myself; noth-
ing would happen here, not now, not
when the bartender had seen us to-
gether. But my mind insisted on re-
turning to Howard—who only last
night, here on the hotel grounds—
My hand shook a little when I put
the key in the lock. It wouldn't turn
to the left. I tried the knob; the
door was already unlocked. Behind
me, Dodge’s voice said soltly, “Go
right in, Mr. Hunter.” And some-
thing hard nudged me in the small of
my back. There was no longer any
doubt. !

The room was dark. Dodge closed
the door and switched on the light.
I heard the lock turn, but my atten-
tion was not on that, nor on the gun
that still pressed against me. Louise
lay on the bed, her hands and ankles
tied behind her. There was a pil-
low covering her face, secured there

with a piece of cord. Dodge said.
“You may untie her now, Mr. Hunter.
I don’t think that she will have suf-
focated yet.” His chuckle was there,
underlying the words.

I think that it took me only one
jump to cross the room. I know
that my fingers broke the cord as if
it were thread. I held her up in a
sitting position, my arm around her
shoulders, while she drew in great
shuddering gasps of breath, and the
red, almost blue of her face began
to fade, and the tiny inarticulate
sounds died away. Dodge said, “It
seemed a reasonable precaution, Mr.
Hunter, to bring the young lady.
too.”

I should have seen it, but I hadn't.
I had been too wrapped up in the
cleverness of my reasoning. I should
have sent her away before I talked
to Peters, because now she knew too
much, and so of course she was in
as deeply as I was, and that meant—

She stirred a little. I looked down
at her face; she was smiling. “Hot.
isn't it?” she said.

THE wonder, the admiration in my
mind must have showed in my face
because her smile spread. “Yes,” I
said. “I'm afraid it’s turning hotter.”

Dodge said, “We will go now.”

“Where?” I said. “Why?”

“Down the fire-escape, Mr. Hunter,
to my automobile.” He was no longe:
smiling; there was menace now in
his face, in his eyes. ‘“Bear in mind
that I will shoot if I have to. You
will go first, then Miss Parks, then 1.”

“You can’tget away with it,” I said.
“If we meet somebody—"

“Hope that we won't, Mr. Hunter.”

We did not. The rear of the hotel
was dark, deserted. We walked

‘through the garden into an alley.

A car was there.

“You drive, Mr. Hunter. Mliss
Parks will sit in front with you. 1
shall be in the rear.”

“Now, look—"

“Suit yourself, Mr. Hunter. The
gun will not make enough noise to
attract attention, and I shall leave
it here with the two of you and re-
turn to your room and go back down
to the bar. Another suicide, a double
suicide this time.”

“You and the local police—~" 1 be-
gan.

“My contacts in this country are
excellent, Mr. Hunter.”

We got into the car.

I drove slowly, following his direc-
tions, skirting the main part of town.
picking up the main road to the
north, toward the airport. Louise
sat beside me, in silence for the most

part. Once she said, “The sea
breeze is up now. It'll be cooler be-
fore long.” An¢l her hand touched

There were
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my knee, gently, firmly.



Dodge held the gun steady.

“It seemed a reasonable precaution, Mr. Hunter, to bring the
young lady, too,” he said. Louise stirred and smiled. I looked down at her.

“Hot, isn't it?”

many things I wanted to say, but the
words eluded me. I could see her
face only dimly. “You do mix a good
Martini,” she said. “I was angry when
[ said you didn’t.”

“That was a long time ago.”

“In a way. A lot of things have
happened.”

“Yes,” I said. “I'm afraid that—"

“You have only yourself to blame,
Mr. Hunter,” Dodge said. “You
should have remained a tourist, an
innocent bystander. Your curiosity—"

“Potter knows,” I said. “The
State Department man who flew down
from Washington. I told him the
whole thing, chapter and verse, about
your radio and about the guns—"

That was a mistake. I had gone too
far. 1 heard him chuckle in the
darkpess.

“No, Mr. Hunter, you have not
told Mr. Potter about the guns.
Jonas Peters was very much at lib-
erty when he came to see me this

afternoon; and were the matter of
the guns known—"
“Peters came to see youw?” It

popped out before I could stop it.

This time the laughter came, rum-
bling through the car, almost shak-
ing us with 1ts force. “But of course!
You should have expected that, Mr.
Hunter. Jonas and I have known
one another for some little time. We
have our mutual interests. He told
me the story of your afternoon con-
terence—all of it.”
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“Oh!” I said.

“Your reasoning powers are con-
siderable, Mr. Hunter, that I will
grant. Your judgment is poor.”

“Oh,” 1 said again. I looked at
Louise. “I got you into this—"

“No.” She was still smiling, but
the quality of the smile had changed.
“1 did the pushing—"

“Pull in here, Mr. Hunter, and
park. Beside this hangar. So! Now
get out.”

The main airport buildings were
dark. Only the limit-lights of the
runway showed. Outside of the
hangar, the same small cabin plane
was warming up, and as we walked
toward it, a man appeared out of the
darkness and said something to Dodge
in a language I did not understand.
Dodge answered in what was appar-
ently the same tongue. Then in Eng-
lish:

“The plane is quite ready, Mr.
Hunter. 1 have explained to my
friend that it will be left, in good
condition, at the airport at Cap-Hai-
tien. A short flight, Mr. Hunter, and
you are a good pilot. There is a
chart in the plane.”

Louise sat beside me, as before.
Dodge sat in the rear seat. I spread
the chart beneath the small map-
light, although it was not at all
necessary. I had already memorized
the geography. 1 was thinking of
Peters, of his visit to Dodge after
our talk. I tried to reconcile that

visit with what I knew of the facts.
I could not. There was only the one
explanation, and that was the one
which Dodge had provided in the
car. I had walked into the trap with
my eyes wide open, and I had dragged
Louise in with me. Sitting there,
pretending to study the chart, my
mind began to make wild rushes in
this direction and in that—I thought
of refusing to take off, of ground-
looping the plane, of jumping out
and running off into the darkness
—all of them foolish, ridiculous
thoughts.

“You should be ready by now, Mr.
Hunter.”

I refolded the chart. “Yes,” I said.
There was no other way. If Peters
had crossed us— I didn’t dare to
finish it, even in my own mind. I
shut off the map-light and watched
the glow of the instrument panel. 1
hoped that the compass was right.
We taxied to the head of the run-
way, paused there for a moment, and
then took off. This was the only
chance. I circled the airport, gain-
ing altitude, and when we had
enough, I settled on our course, east
of north. The mountains were black
shapes beneath us.

Dodge said, “There is a ship in the
harbor at the Cap, Mr. Hunter. It is
a friendly ship: it will carry us to
Cuba. No, it will carry me to Cuba.
You and Miss Parks will disembark
before we reach Cuba.”

Louse said, “There’s no place
to disembark between the Cap and
Cuba. There’s only water.”

“Yes,” Dodge said, “that is correct,
Miss Parks”” He paused. “I shall
remain in Cuba for a little time, until
any furor that may be raised by your
disappearance will have died down,
until certain friends of mine have
seen to it that the death of your
brother has been officially called sui-
cide. Then I shall return.”

“The embassy—" began.

“Your embassy is impotent, Mr.
Hunter. It has tried several times
to have me extradited and has not
even been able to accomplish that.”

“For passport fraud,” I said.

“Yes. [ have been in your country
many times, ender many names. If

it suits me, I shall go again. There
are ways.”
“No doubt,” I said. “We don't

have a police state.”

“That, Mr. Hunter, is a stupid
phrase. A country must be governed.
The concept of self-government by
the masses is ridiculous. They must
be led. Sometimes they must be
driven.”

“Must be pleasant,” Louise said,
if you happen to be driving.”

I watched the compass carefully.
I watched our airspeed and the flight
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clock. Finally 1 saw lights ahead
and I began to drop down toward
them.

“There is the Cap,” Dodge said.
“You are a good pilot, Mr. Hunter.”
His voice almost purred with satisfac-
tion. “If you had been taught to

lan carefully, and to judge care-
ully, as I have, the ending might
have been a little different. But that,
of course, is the difference between
our two civilizations.”

“Did you invent civilization too?”
Louise said. “Along with every-
thing else you claim?”

It got to him. “You are jealous,
that is all,” he said, and the satisfac-
tion was gone from his voice, leaving
it raw and bare. “You are blind,
you Americans, you British, you so-
called Western democracies. You
wallow in your own self-satisfaction.
You—"

There was much more of it, but 1
wasn't listening. I was concentrat-
ing on the lights, trying desperately
to pick out the airfield, almost hold-
ing my breath. The palms of my
hands were wet. I saw the field and
headed toward it, but there was no
indication, none at all, that—

Dodge said, “Mr. Hunter, I see no
ship in the harbor.”

I tried to think of something to
say. It was Louise who saved it. “I
imagine that he’s busy now, super-

man. A night landing on a strange
field—" That was too close, and
she switched it smoothly. *“Maybe

your precious ship hasn’t arrived here
€
’ “It should have,” Dodge said. I
was in radio contact with it yester-
day, and—"

“Maybe sometimes even your kind
of people make mistakes, had you
thought of that?”

AND that started him off again,
thank God! I came in fast, fish-
tailing to kill our speed. 1 saw a dark
shape toward the end of the runway
and headed for it. I think I was
muttering a little prayer beneath my
breath. I slammed on the brakes as
hard as they would go and kicked
the rudder over. One wingtip al-
most caught the ground. And then
we were stopped and the dark shape
erupted men moving quickly toward
us. I threw open my door and Louise
did the same and the night was
filled with brilliant light, all of it
concentrated on us. I sat there limp,
watching the guns covering the three
of us.

Dodge said, “What is this?”

It was Louise who answered him. I
don’t believe I could have. “Your
destination, superman.”

Then an accented voice, speaking
the loveliest words I had ever heard,
said: “This is Monte Cristi, Sefior
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Dodge. This is the Dominican Re-
public. You will raise your hands
and come out slowly.” The voice
paused, and I could almost see the
shrug. “Or you will not. It is all
one. We can shoot you as easily
where you sit.”

l’l’ was two days later. The four
of us—Louise, the ambassador, Pot-
ter and I—sat in the ambassador’s
cool office. “For the record,” the am-
bassador said, “your landing in the
Dominican Republic instead of Cap-
Haitien was a mistake?”

“For the record, yes,” I said.

Potter’s face produced a tight little
smile which was, [ think, as much as
he could manage. “An understand-
able mistake, Major. Monte Cristi is
just across the border, not many miles
from Cap-Haitien, and at night, fly-
ing over unfamiliar territory—"

“Quite so,” said the ambassador.
He was wearing his perpetual smile,
and his eyes, watching me, were not
unfriendly. “From Mr. Dodge’s point
of view, it was an unfortunate mis-
take.” He paused. *“As soon as we
heard he was there, we requested,
through our embassy in Ciudad Tru-
jillo, that he be extradited to the
United States.” He paused again.
“Unfortunately, Mr. Dodge had al-
ready been shot while trying to es-
cape.”

Louise said, “Escape where?"

Potter coughed.

“Oh,” Louise said.

“The radio, in case you have been
wondering, Mr. Hunter,” the ambas-
sador said, “was of the type known
as FM, and since there are no FM
stations in this area, and hence no
FM receiving-sets, its presence was
never suss)ected. FM, I am told, op-
erates only on line of sight. This
one was amply powerful to reach out
into the waters beyond the Island of
Gonave, to ships heading for, or com-
ing from the Windward Passage.”
He stopped there and some of the
friendliness went out of his eyes.
“Had this been wartime, the radio
could, would of course, have been
used to supply information to enemy
submarines. The Windward Passage,
as you know, is a particularly vulner-
able spot, almost as vulnerable as the
Panama Canal itself.”

“Howard was the one who found
the radio,” 1 said.

The ambassador nodded.
all in Howard’s debt.”

Potter stirred in his chair. He
watched me. “In two days here, you
managed to get around quite a bit,
Major. You wouldn’t have heard
anything about guns, would you?”

“Guns?” We owed Peters our
silence, I thought. The guns were a
matter between him and the authori-
ties. “I don’t think I understand.”

“We are

“I didn’t think you would,” Potter
said. “A cache of them has turned
up near the Dominican border, but
that doesn’t interest you.”

“I'm afraid not.”

A few minutes later Louise and I
walked down the hallway. She said,
“You're going back to the States?”

“Why,” I said, “that—" I stopped
there. Jonas Peters was coming up
the stairs, walking slowly, carrying
his hat in his hand. He made a little
bow. He was smiling.

“An unexpected pleasure, Miss
Parks, Mr. Hunter. Everything went
well, 1 trust?”

I nodded. “Your contact in the
Dominican Republic, whoever he
was, provided a nice turn-out of
soldiers to meet us.”

“Splendid.”

“But when Dodge told us that you
had been to see him that afternoon—"

His face was suddenly harsh. And
then he was smiling again. *“That,
Mr. Hunter, was a temptation which
I was unable to resist. You can un-
derstand, of course?”

“Yes,” I said. “You wanted him to
think back to it and know, at the
last, that you had a hand in trapping
him.”

“Precisely, Mr. Hunter. As I be-
lieve 1 told you, I do not view
treachery lightly. I am sorry if it
caused you anguish.”

“It’s done now,” Louise said.
of it.”

I shook my head. *“Not quite all.
For your information, Mr. Peters, a
cache of guns has turned up near the
Dominican border. It appears that
somebody has been indulging in a bit
of gun-running.”

“No!” In the one word he man-
aged to express shock, incredulity
and sorrow. He shook his head. “I
find it hard to believe, Mr. Hunter,
that anyone would—" He paused
“Ah, well, there are all types of
people in this world, are there not,
Mr. Hunter?”’

We stood there and watched him
walk down the hall, tall, erect, his
wide shoulders swinging easily. He
turned into the ambassador’s office.

“All

. We heard his voice clearly; I think

that he intended that we should:
“Good morning, George. I trust that
I find you well, on this beautiful
day?” The door closed quietly.

W E turned away and started down
the stairs. I said, “About my going
back to the States right away—’

“Yes?” Louise said.

“I thought that maybe we could
talk about it.”

She nodded. Her face was grave,
but her eyes were dancing. “I am
listening, Mr. Hunter.”

We walked together out into the
bright sun. U
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1| ERE WE 60 AGAIN!

Most civilized communities banned water polo as being nothing short of moist
murder. Now staging a comeback, with a new set of rules, it’s still not for sissies.
p * By AL STUMP

AT SANTA Monica's NorTH BeacH, youthful Pete
Stange, captain and center-back of the El Segundo
(California) Swimming Club’s water-polo team,
was lolling one warm morning in a lifeguard tower.
A scream of terror snapped him to attention. As
the only guard on duty, Stange's first action was
automatic—to knock the telephone from his desk
with a sweep of his hand. That opened the circuit
to the lifesaving GHQ up the beach, flashing a
signal for reinforcements.

Within seconds, Stange was breasting the surf
with a rubber “tube”—a body-belt buoyant enough
to support a 300-pound man—in tow.

A father and his 9-year-old son floundered in the
riptide two hundred yards out. Drifting away was
their overturned boat. The boy couldn’t swim and
the father, in his panic, was almost as helpless. Ar-
riving on the scene at a fast crawl, Stange was
swarmed over by the bleating youngster. The man,
with the maniacal strength of the drowning, plas-
tered himself to Stange from behind with a neck
stranglehold and a leg-clamp. There have been
professional lifesavers who haven’t returned from
such a contretemps.

The 145-pound guard coolly kicked the boy away
with rapid foot-thrusts, moved in and fastened the
belt around him. So much for Rescue Number
One. Subduing husky Papa was something else.

“I could have broken his hold in several ways, of
course, but any of them might have seriously hurt
him,” Stange later reflected. ‘“The easy way out
was the water-polo way. People who go crazy on
you are no trouble when you've played that game.
I just took in air, submerged with this big fellow,
stayed under a while—and he let loose faster’n if I'd
jabbed him with a knife.”

Limp enough to be handled, Father co-operative-

N ly clung to the tube while Stange convoyed the pair

C/OR-:/M back through the breakers. Pete Stange, 17 years

: Mu’Q’P“Y old at the time, was grinning and still breathing

Illustration by g iy A easily when he met his reinforcements in shallow
water.
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It isn’t coincidence that about 60
percent of the beach guards patrolling
the two-hundred-mile Southern Cali-
fornia coastline are drafted from wa-
ter-polo’s ranks. The game has been
condemned by swimming coaches on
technical grounds, banned in some
sections as too rough. Yet water polo
insists that it develops the world’s
greatest all-around aquatic perform-
ers.

“A lot of physical educators don't
like us. We've taken more bad raps
for thirty years than any other sport,”
says Carl Swendsen, who coached the
United States water-polo squad in the
1936 Olympic Games. “The oldest
line is that water polo is ‘moist may-
hem,” a man-killer. Another is that
it ruins a competitive swinmmner’s
stroke.  But, practically speaking,
what about George Frieth?”

OI-‘F Venice Pier, a fishing smack
filled with fifteen Japanese and Rus-
sians capsized a half-mile out. Frieth,
an ace middle-distance swimmer and
all-time great of Western water polo,
dived in, pulling a string of lifebelts.
He got them clamped on and was
herding the fishermen to satety when
huge combers scattered the group in
all directions. Frieth labored in the
water for almost an hour. He re-
collected the fifteen, towed them in
and lost not a man. He was awarded
the Carnegie Medal, and the fisher-
men named their near-by settlement
“Village Frieth” in his honor. “Show
me the champion swimmer, any event,
who could do that,” challenges Swend-
sen. “If he hasn’t been around water
polo, he doesn’t exist.”

The game of combat in the water,
which originated in London's Crystal
Palace in 1874, has been a hungry out-
cast of sport for some years. But re-
cently it has staged a notable come-
back on the West Ceoast. In the Los
Angeles area alone, more than 5000
university, junior college and prep-
school youths are whipping pools to a
froth. Whole communities have be-
come excited, and dig into civic funds
to support the best club teams in the
country. The crowds of 1500 to 2000
—or full capacity—astonish Eastern
and Midwestern adherents. At least
two dozen California pools now being
built will welcome water-polo’s new-
found drawing power. Nationally,
the game also shows signs of perking
up, but still has drawn meagerly since
1940—around 300,000 paid admissions.

Nobody is quite sure why. \Water
polo is far from a wet-behind-the-ears
kid. This year marks its sixty-third
birthday in the United States, which
makes it three years older than basket-
ball and the senior aquatic event
carrying a national championship. It
holds Olympic Games membership
dating to 1904, has retained small but
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wild-eyed followings in Detroit, St.
Louis, Chicago and New York, and
boasts at least one immortal—an un-
sinkable oldtimer named Joe Ruddy
—who is ranked greater in his field
than Babe Ruth, Bobby Jones or Bill
Tilden. Water poloists only wish that
the American public would awaken to
them as it has abroad. Teams in
thirteen European nations, India, Ja-
pan, Australia, Canada, Cuba, Ice-
land, and from Central America to
the Argentine, do better than well at
the gate. In Hungary, Italy and Ger-
many, outdoor tourneys have played
to 20,000 fans and literally had them
hanging from trees.

The name, itself a misnomer, hasn’t
helped. Water polo actually is a
blend ot submarine wrestling, foot-
ball, marathon swimming and basket-
ball. “And,” assert its critics, “a gang
fight”  Another disadvantage has
been the contusion of the modern,
scientific, high-speed, tricky-passing
game with “American” or “softball”
water polo, which flourished in spots
before and after World War I. This
was marine near-murder. Swimming
was at a minimum in favor of goug-
ing, slugging, biting and strangling.
Some of the underwater demolition
work bordered on the sadistic. A
popular device was for two burly
guards to collar the ball-holder, take
him below and pin him on the pool
bottom until he collapsed. Goalies
suddenly would disappear—to come
up minutes later, unconscious and
bleeding from both ears. After an
epidemic of broken bones, shattered
eardrums, infected sinuses and nu-
merous calls for the police, the col-
leges and the Amateur Athletic Union
kicked softball out. . . .

Today’s “Olympic” version takes tar
more than a strong-arm squad which
can stay afloat interminably. New
rules adopted in 1948 make water
polo about three parts skill and two
parts roughhouse. It is played, out-
doors, in pools 60 by 90 feet and, in-
doors, 35 by 60, in 8 to 10 feet of
water. Seven men stripped to trunks
and numbered caps comprise a team
—two forwards, a center (or sprint)
torward, a center-back who is the key
playmaker but not necessarily the key
scorer, two guards and a goalie. The
play is split into four seven-minute pe-
riods (collegiate) or two ten-minute
sessions (A.A.U.). No touching of the
bottom or using the pool sides tor sup-
port is permitted and only a five-min-
ute half-time rest is provided. The
object is to get the ball past huskily-
built goalies stationed before 10-foot-
bv-3-foot cages at either end—amazing
tellows whose peculiar frog-kick en-
ables them to rear hip-high out of
water for up to ten seconds. Shots at
the goal may be taken from any place
outside a four-meter zone, with all

hands collaborating. Inside the zone,
only one man may handle the ball, al-
though such heroics aren’t advised.

The uproar starts when the referee
tosses a soccer-size, brightly-hued in-
flated rubber ball into mid-pool. Two
sprint men, picked for their speed, go
for it. After that, water polo is best
likened to what happens when a ber-
serk hunting-dog plunges in after a
raccoon. The ball-carrier is always
fair game. He advances the ball by
dribbling, or shoving it along with the
forehead and upper arms while swim-
ming, and by one-handed passing. He
can be stopped by “tackling,” which
is a euphemism for body-slamming or
otherwise dunking him beneath the
waves in a wild struggle for the ball.
Modern rules aim to prohibit undue
abuse of the oftensive player, but as
water poloists say, “You can't take the
malice out of the boy when the referee
often can’t see what he’s doing.” EI-
bows fly, knees grind into bellies,
bodies dissolve in a sheet of spray and
the official only hopes to call a foul on
the right miscreant.

Aside from the fact that man isn’t a
gill-breathing creature, the game is
for a select few because of the ball-
handling requirements. Only the
goalie may lay both hands on the slick
ball. Single-handed passing is a trick
beyond many of the most expert
swimmers. And it gives water polo
perhaps a greater variety of goal shots
—hooks, tips, bat-shots, scoops, side-
arms, blind flips, back-hands and siz-
zling overhand fastballs that can stun
a struck goalie—than any sport. So
lusty is the brawling around the goal, |
in fact, that few guardians retain all
their teeth after a year of stopping
forty to sixty shots per game.

PL':\'CHFESTS are more frequent than
in hockey and often send two and
three players at a time to the side-
lines on major fouls. In the 1948
Olympics at London, 215-pound Bob
Bray of the American team tackled an
equally husky Belgian so ruggedly
that the Belgian threw a right cross to
Bray's nose. By profession, Bray is a
Los Angeles police department ser-
geant. ‘“Naturally,” joshes Austin
Clapp, coach of the '48 squad, “Bray
wouldn’t do anything in front of wit-
nesses. He waited until the ref’s back
was turned, then walloped the Bel-
gian’s nose.”

For the next ten minutes, the pair
forgot about the game and staged a
private pummeling party. Eight thou-
sand Wembley Stadium fans shouted
for the officials to stop it, but they
had twelve other water dervishes to
watch. The game ended in a 6-6 tie,
but Bray was credited with victory.
“When the two eof them staggered
out,” sags Clapp, “the Belgian was the
bloodiest.”
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The dunking sessions remain as red-
blooded in national meets, despite a
U. S. clamp-down on fouling. During
the A.A.U. championships at St. Louis
last year, three Portage Park (Chi-
cago) players and one from the Whit-

tier Swim Club were ejected for .

fighting.  Amateur overseers urged
the teams not to make this a second
Battle of Scapa Flow. The players
agreed. The Missouri .Athletic Club
and New York A.C. teams then en-
tered the pool and soon had six men
sidelined for unseemly conduct. Fans,
too, frequently lose their heads. At
one Midwestern game, a spectator
jabbed a lighted cigar into an official’s
back and was bodily thrown out.

Tm; rowdy aspect doesn’t mean that
water polo cannot please the dis-
criminating fan. Coupled with the
bruising contact are fast breaks,
snappy passes and intricate screen and
pivot plays. That, plus the fact that
games are staged in compact arenas at
cheap prices, seemingly should give
water polo a widespread audience.
Undeniably, its talent includes some
of the world’s finest physical sll)eci-
mens. James R. (Jimmy) Smith, a
wartiime water-survival expert for the
Navy and author of the game’s lead-
ing text, says, “In almost any gather-
ing of athletic experts, it is conceded
that here is the most punishing test
ever invented.” Smith’s point is that
trained athletes of other sports, who
also are expert swimmers, rarely last
long in tank skirmishes. Usually they
crawl out, exhausted, in a matter of
minutes. Even the human fish
Johnny Weissmuller was reportedly
only mediocre in big-time water polo.
One leading coach estimates that in a
city of 1,000,000 population perhaps
ten first-class pertormers can be found.

Yet until the recent boom time,
even California’s teams had trouble
making ends meet. In 1947, the Los
Angeles Athletic Players team came
up broke before the Olympic trials
in Detroit. Players chipped in two
dollars apiece to buy a $25 radio.
This was raffled off for a net profit of
$100, which bought two cases of
whisky, and after another raffle, $500
clear. A policy meeting was held at
which members voted to ‘“shoot the
bankroll”—gamble the whole sum on
a big Hawaiian [uwau, or feast, with
tickets priced at S10 each. To their
surprise, they finished with $1700
and enough left-over meat to carry
them to Detroit, where they won the
right to represent America abroad.

“Another time, we were stranded {or
four days in Chicago without money,”
L.A.A.C. mermen recall. “Nobody
was very worried. In water polo,
you get used to a hamburger diet.”

In St. Louis, bald, vigorous Carl O.
Bauer, former national A.A.U. water-
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polo chairman, has built the famed
life-saving  Meramec River Patrol
around star poloists.  Bauer goes
after every publicity crumb the game
can get. When Mrs. Eleanor Roose-
velt casually mentioned in print that
her late husband was an ardent water
poloist in his youth, she immediately
received a letter barrage from Bauer.
He urged her to waste no time in
working in more syndicated plugs.
Bauer could have told Mrs. Roosevelt
the game’s saddest tale, about the lady
who bustled up to a prominent coach
and said, “I've never seen it played,
but it sounds so exciting that I've
beught tickets for the whole family.”

The coach said he was delighted.

“Just so I'll know something about
it,” she went on, “tell me—in water
polo, is it very difficult to train the
horses to swim?”

The town where this couldn’t hap-
pen—and the pastime’s hottest spot—
1s El Segundo, California. This 1s an
industrial hamlet of just 8,500 popu-
lation, sixteen miles southwest of Los
Angeles. By pulling together, little El
Segundo in February, 1951, landed the
Pan-American Games national”water-
polo trials over the bids of major
cities. By pulling harder, it raised
what seemed an impossible amount
of money to send its winning team to
Buenos Aires.

One competing team, Portage Park,
Chicago, wasn't sure it was seeing
right at El Segundo. The young
Portagers raised funds for transporta-
tion west by renting a lot and selling
hundreds of Christmas trees, collecting
and selling 10,000 wire coat-hangers
and several tons of scrap paper.
“Back home, a crowd is a few dozen
relatives standing around,” remarked
a Portage player. “I never thought
I'd play before two thousand raving
maniacs.”

El Segundo Swim Club’s 1951 team
averaged under 19 years of age, but it
sliced through the trials like a school
ot sharks. After the final game, over-
joved townspeople flocked to the
home of Coach Urho (\Whitey) Saari
for an ice-cream social. Saari is a
chunky, 36-year-old towhead of Fin-
nish descent, whose community stand-
ing rivals that of popular Mayor Wil-
liam R. Selby. A good breast-stroker
and poloist at Buffalo, N. Y., State
Teachers College, Saari came to El
Segundo as city schools swim instruc-
tor in 1941. Under his coaching, El
Segundo High School has won four
straight  California  Interscholastic
Federation water-polo titles. The
feat is doubly appreciated, because the
school has never cut a swath in foot-
ball or basketball.

Saari says that his guests plowed
through five gallons of ice cream.
“Then word got around that there
was only $400 in the national water-

polo treasury. It meant that we
might not go to South America. We
needed S1000 per man for seven El
Segundo players, with nothing said
about substitutes. And we had to
have it in fifteen days.”

Citizens took over.
headed by ]. R. (Jack) Hapke, a
lanky Standard Qil executive, hit
every business office in town. ‘EIl
Segundo had just concluded its an-
nual Red Cross and Community
Chest drives, but merchants dug deep-
ly. One auto dealer gave 325; when
the tund lagged, he added another
$75.  The high-school girls’ Teen-Age
Club rang doorbells in residential sec-
tions and raised $467 in one night.
At the pool, the town’s prettiest girls
dived in to retrieve coins tossed by
fans—S$138 worth. A rally with “Life
in South America” as the theme
brought in another $80. The Kiwanis
Club gave $150, and a baseball auto-
graphed by the Brooklyn Dodgers was
good for S100 from the near-by Re-
dondo Beach Elks Club. A 12-year-
old came into campaign headquarters
with a piggy-bank full of pennies.
Meanwhile, Saari wrote pleas for
help—and papered the area with
2,500 mimeographed copies of them.
Los Angeles horseplayers were startled
to have their daily Santa Anita televi-
sion results interrupted by a show
advertising the El Segundo squad.

The City Council pried loose $1,000.
Spirits rose further when comedian
Andy Devine, whose son is a promis-
ing water poloist, joined the act. So
did Janet Mahla, a fetching local miss
who posed for so many publicity
photos that she was given an RKO
screen test.

A committee

Y ouins like those who could arouse
support for an obscure sport are typi-
cal of the new-type plaver developed
in California. Water polo long was
considered fit only tor toughened, ma-
ture men. The Western (Big Ten)
Conference and Eastern Intercollegi-
ate Conference, which once played
polo, no longer permit it. Saari and
other Western tutors take the stand
that it is the most beneficial of school-
boy games. They point out that the
Pan-American lineup was the young-
est ever to represent the United States
in any international competition. El
Segundo’s junior members were Bill
Zerkie and Bill Dornblaser, both 17
and the oldest were Jim Norris, a
UCLA zoology major, and Bob
Hughes, ex-national junior college
100-yard champion, both 20. Another
regular was 18 and wwo others were’
19. Bruce O’Brien, a spare from Port-
age Park, was 16 when he went to
Buenos Aires. The boys spotted Chile
twenty pounds per man in their open-
ing game and won when Hughes
batted in three crucial goals, 6-2.
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Next they laced the Mexican national
champs: the Mexicans were the big-
gest, roughest team at the Games.

“We were just well started when a
200-pound guard lost his head and
grabbed  l45-pound Jack Spargo
around the neck with both hands.
He was slowly choking him under
water, where the referee couldn’t see
it,” relates Saari. 1 was yelling mur-
der, while up on a diving platform,
big Jim Fuchs, the Yale shot-putter,
was peeling oft his coat. They had
to hold back Fuchs from jumping in
on top of the Mexican.”

Spargo, however, needed no help.
The 19-year-old last year won every
major rough-water Pacific Ocean
marathon swim held in Southern
California. Water boiled, the guard
loosed a yell and fell back in pain,
and Spargo shot down the tank to
take a pass. “You use a little judo
in this game, too,” he has since ex-
plained.

lxsiean of seeking revenge in the
old water-polo manner, the Americans
merely turned on speed. Pete Stange,
the hero of the Santa Monica rescue
described earlier, sprinted along the
pool side, dribbling the ball. -He
passed to what looked like open water,
but a submerged Bill Dornblaser
popped up to grab it. Dornblaser
can swim faster on his back than most
crawl-strokers, and he ran his guard
in circles until forward Bill Zerkie
broke clear for a lob pass. Zerkie
leaped out of the water to his thighs;
taked the goalie wide and slammed
the ball into the nets. Six more goals
followed for a 7-0 shutout of Mexico.

The Argentine entry, which is subsi-
dized by the Peron government, finally
eliminated El Segundo, 9-2. But the
youngsters placed third behind Argen-
tina and Brazil. It was the best for-
eign showing by a U.S. team in many
years. Not since 1904 has this coun-
try won an Olympic water-polo title.

Since returning, Urho Saari has
made a study of the physical condi-
tion of his charges. *“One boy had to
drop out after two shoulder separa-
tions. Well, ‘that could happen in
football.  We've had one broken
finger and a few dozen welts, scratches
and skin cuts in five years. There
has been no sinus or eardrum trouble.
Every player we've had has added
ten to twenty pounds in weight and
two to three inches to his chest, biceps
and thighs. Pete Stange is typical.
Four years ago, he weighed 100
_pounds. By California school age-
weight-height exponent, he was rated
Class D—too puny for other sports.
Pete hasn’t grown upward much, but
he now weighs 165. Water polo has
given him a 43-inch chest, 31-inch
waist, and arms and legs like you see
in the muscle ads.”
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El Segundo educators heartily agree.
Water polo carries a regular varsity-
letter award at the high school. Not
one, but three, teams hit the tank for
each scholastic match. \Where grid
and hoop teams give only a fraction
of the student body a playing chance,
up to ninety El Segundo boys per-
form on B, C and varsity water-polo
squads.  “It’s too bad that so few
schools in the country allow water
polo,” says the Recreation Commis-
sion’s R. R. Tillotson. “Properly
run, it’s the best of health-builders—
and also the cheapest of sports to
operate. Better yet, it makes such
watermen of kids that we never ex-
pect to hear of one of them drowning.
Fact is, they’ll save dozens of lives be-
fore they're through.”

The CIF league, which includes
\Whittier, Compton, Inglewood, Ful-
lerton, Leuzinger, Anaheim, Hunt-
ington Beach and Long Beach, in
Southern California, has sent ripples
throughout the State. About forty
prep-school teams and 3,500 juniors
are churning and firing away at nets.
A fourteen-team junior-college league,
embracing such schools as Loyola,
California Tech and Occidental, and
a crowded Los Angeles lifeguard
league, will be in full swing this fall.
Water-polo’s season on the West Coast
follows football’s, with championship
playofls coming in December.

Whittier, with 27,000 population,
is another hot-bed. Under Coach He-
ber Holloway, a swim club was mod-
esty started in 1930. At first the polo-
ists thrashed around in lonesome
privacy and passed the hat or staged
water pageants to raise travel funds.
Now {ull turnouts of 1,200 fans are
not uncommon. In 1950, to reach
the national A.A.U. indoor meet,
Whittier needed several theusand
dollars.  The money quickly was
forthcoming from gate receipts—also
triends and parents and such diverse
business interests as a dairy and a
real-estate agency. T'he Whits run
slightly older than the El Segundos—
six _players are at Stantord, USC and
College of the Pacific—yet they faced
far more’seasoned septets at St. Louis.
It was another triumph .of the Cali-
fornia “teach-’em-young” system. In
the finals, \Whittier outpaddled the
burly Missouri Athletic Club, 8-4.

Though many colleges have ex-
pressed new interest in adopting water
polo, the Patific Coast Conterence
Southern Division remains the sole
collegiate stronghold. Division coaches
scoft at the theory heard in the Big
Ten that water polo’s twists, turns and
varied arm action are fatal to a sprint-
swimmer’s stroke. Whittier’s Marvin
Burns is a nwo-time All-American
center-forward, 6 feet, 4 inches and
210 pounds of bone and sinew. He
also holds the Coast Conference fifty-

. : :
championships.

vard lree-style record of 23.3 for Stan-
ford University. Recently, Urho Saari
blasted the theory by timing his first
seven men at 410 yards. Five were
clocked in less than 5.18, good average
time for college competition, and one
in 4:48, fast enough to win many
For that matter,
Duke Kahanamoku was a stellar polo-
ist, and few greater meet swimmers
ever lived.

Yet water polo on the Atlantic sea-
board, by comparison, remains large-
ly a tolerated sport. West Point and
Annapolis are exceptions. Both service
schools have strong teams, but the op-
position from Fordham, Columbia,
Manhattan and St. Peter’s College is
thin.

““I'he trouble is, they remember the
old American game, which was never
more than a bastard deviate,” says
Austin Clapp, Los Angeles attorney
and Olympic coach. Clapp had one
taste of the expunged game in 1929 on
a visit to the New York Athletic Club.
Then a ranking hardball performer,
Clapp didn’t know what had hit him.
“The first five minutes, I was seldom
above water. I was slugged, dragged
under and held there by a guard, who
sat on my head. Now and then I saw
the ball—just glimpses before being
bashed.”

THE game’s serious thinkers believe
that the de-brutalizing influence of
California water polo will spread the
game elsewhere into school programs
and eventually make it a strong favor-
ite with teen-agers. In Calcutta dur-
ing the war, Urho Saari saw evidence
of even greater possibilities. He was
strolling along when he came upon
several dozen naked Indian urchins
of eight to ten, furiously churning
about in a stagnant, algae-covered
citv reservoir in which were stored
the monsoon-rains. A yellow ball flew
through the air and Saari realized
that some noble water-polo pioneer
had passed here before. The incidem
gave him an idea. As swimming
coach for the Army’s Special Services,
he had been hoping to open the Cal-
cutta Swimming Club’s fine pool to
Gls. Why not crack this swank Brit-
ish social establishment by introduc-
ing water polo?

When he arrived, a British ofhcers’
team was busily fighting off a goal-
cage rush by a native water-polo team.
Saari happily hurried out and organ-
ized a pickup team ol soldiers who'd
played a bit at home.

“We were raw at first, but in a few
weeks we could have spotted points
toseven seals,” says Saari. “We waded
through the club tournament and
won the Calcutta Club Cup in the
finals. The British seemed surprised.
They didn’t know that Americans are
pretty good.aquatic animals, too.” e
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. . . that your facts are al-
ways straight. For example,

2t wsn’t true . .

By JOHN T DUNLAVY
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... that Phineas Taylor Barnum made the
observation “There is a sucker born every
minute.” No evidence has ever been
brought forward that the famous show-
man actually made this statement, though
it quite accurately reflects his views on
public gullibility.

. that George Washington, as a boy,
cut down a cherry tree with his hatchet
and refused to lie to his father. No ac-
curate records of Washington’s childhood
have ever come to light. The tale has
been attributed to the enthusiasm of
Weems, one of his biographers.

. that June 21 is always the longest
day in the year. In each year preceding
a leap year the longest day is June 22,
while in all other years it is June 21.
Similarly, the shortest day in the year
may be either December 21 or Decem-
ber 22.

. . . that a “Frankenstein” is a monster.
In reality, a “Frankenstein” is a person
who is destroyed by his own creation. In
the original story, Victor Frankenstein
was a student who constructed the mon-
ster. The monster, however, had no name
at all.

.. . that you are not permitted to wash
a United States flag. Neither law nor eti-
quette prohibits the washing or dry clean-
ing of the United States flag. As a matter
of fact, the preferred treatment suggests
frequent cleaning and repairing.

. . that a silver spoon will keep hot
water from breaking a glass. According
to the commonly accepted belief, the
spoon absorbs enough heat to prevent
sudden expansion of the glass which re-
sults in a crack. Laboratory experiments
have shown the amount absorbed is neg-
ligible and ineffective when compared
with the overall quantity of heat in the
glass of water.

. .. that it is colder in winter because the
earth is farther from the sun. Actually
the earth is three million miles closer in
January than in July. Winter is caused
by angle at which the sun’s rays strike—
the greater the angle, the less warmth
penetrates the atmosphere.

. that there are double-jointed peo-
ple. What are popularly referred to as
“double-joints” are merely conditions of
loose ligaments surrounding joints.

. that we only have five senses. The
five senses are supposedly sight, hearing,
taste, touch and smell. There are, how-
ever, countless other avenues of informa-
tion which are in reality "senses.” One
authority claims we have five thousand.
To name but a few: memory, tempera-
ture, time, proportion, pain, equilibrium,
quantity, color, resistance, etc.

. .. that there is any such thing as an air
pocket that contains no air. This term
came into popular use because early
flyers didn’t understand the operation of
air currents. When a pline enters a body

of air which is descending, the plane
will suddenly lose altitude. This is an
“air pocket.” Similarly, when it enters
a body of air which is ascending rapidly,
the plane will gain altitude sharply.
This 1s called a “bump.”

. that Mrs. O’Leary’s cow started the
Chicago Fire. Members of the O’Leary
family denied this story for years—but
not until a newspaper reporter named
Michael Ahern confessed, shortly before
his death in 1927, that he had invented
the story to make his account of the fire
more interesting, did the origin of the
tale come to light.

. that a low forehead is indicative of
criminal tendencies. Careful studies re-
veal no pattern of behavior is predictable
from any physical type. Thus high fore-
heads do not mean intelligence, nor long
fingers artistic ability, nor a square chin
stubbornness.

. that William Tell shot an apple off
his son’s head with a bow and arrow.
The legend is common to several cul-
tures, and the Historical Society of Swit-
zerland has proved that no such person
ever existed.

. that monkeys search through their
hair for fleas. Most monkeys are com-
Eletely free from body parasites of any

ind. They are continually in search of
salt which exudes from the skin and dries
in the hair.

. that toads cause warts. The super-
stition arises from the warty-appearing
skin of toads but has no basis in fact.
Goats do not eat tin cans; they lick the
salt off labels. Houseflies do not bite;
their jaw construction makes it impos-
sible. Ireland is not the only place where
there are no native snakes; this is true
of many islands including Hawaii. Nei-
ther bats nor moles are blind.

. that crocodiles cry—therefore there
are no such things as crocodile tears.
Snakes cannot be charmed by music;
they are completely unmoved one way
or another by it. All whales do not have
small throats; sperm whales can easily
swallow large fish and could have swal-
lowed a Jonah.

. that catgut is from cats; it is made
from the intestines of sheep. India ink
doesn’t come from India; most of it
comes from China. Camel’s-hair brushes
do not come from the-hair of camels;
they are made from the tails of Siberian
squirrels. Whalebone is not really bone;
it is properly baleen, which is more
closely allied to the structure of teeth.
German silver is not silver at all; it is
an alloy of copper, nickel and zinc.

. . . that the Fourth of July is really a
legal holiday. Although it 1s celebrated
in all forty-eight States as a legal holi-
day, no law was ever passed establishing
the date. As a matter of fact, Thanks-
giving is the only real national holiday
established by law.

)
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With a brain like his,
Roddy was destined to
rule the world. And

maybe he will...some day.

. By NELSON BOND

THE FIRST TIME I met the kid I didn’t
recognize the golden glitter of genius.
In fact, my initial impression was that
he was just plain brassy. Of course,
the circumstances of our meeting were
not exactly conducive to my forming
what you might call a cool and un-
biased opinion of Roderick. . . .

You see, we had just moved into the
suburbs—Molly and I—and after hav-
ing tidied up most of the odd jobs
around the inside of our new house, 1
went outdoors to make my initial at-
tack on a patch of lawn that had been
permitted to mass summer reserves of
crabgrass behind sturdy spring shock-
troops of weeds.

Since I had just invested in a glam-
orous new power mower, the prospect
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of playing lawn-barber didn’t appall
me. Until I actually tackled it, that is.
Then I discovered to my chagrin that
not even a gasoline-gulping grass-
grazer can trim old Mother Nature’s
tresses unless you can get it going.
And I couldn’t get the darned thiflg
going.

The starter mechanism was what
had me stymied. The instruction book
claimed that when I wrapped “cord A”
about “flywheel B” and tugged, my ef-
forts would be rewarded with a heart-
warming, resonant roar. But I wound
and yanked until I was blue in the
face, spirits, and vocabulary, and all 1
could coax from my reluctant tool
was a thin, asthmatic wheeze.

Coxsyqur..\nw, I was in a far from
triendly frame of mind when a calm
young voice addressed me from near
b

“Hello, mister. Trying to start your
mnower:”

The author of this idiotic inquiry
was a chunky, towheaded youngster
perched on the stoop of the house
next door. I glowered at him bale-
fully.

“Who, me? Of course not, sonny.
Just trying to work up a healthy ap-
petite. A problem,” I commented
caustically, “which obviously you
would not understand.”

Irony was wasted on the kid. He
continued to gnaw on the rapidly di-
minishing sphere of an apple with
blissful insouciance. When nothing
remained but a thread-thin spine, he
chucked the core at a hapless robin
jaywalking our mutual lawns, then
spoke again.

*’Cause if you are, you aren’t, you
know,” he said.

I pondered that one briefly. . . .

“Come again?” I suggested.

“Beg pardon?”

“That last remark of yours. What
do I need to unscramble it? A code-
.book?”

For a moment ke looked puzzled.

Then he grinned.

“Oh, I see. It was a trifle cloudy,
wasn't it? I mean,” he elucidated
carefully, “if you're trying to get it
started, you aren’t going about it the
right way. At least, that’s what I fig-
ure.”

It’s bad enough not to be able to do
a thing right. It’s worse to have a
youngster one-fourth your age poke
your incompetence with a tormenting

finger. I bared my fangs at the brat
in a winsome smile. I said, “See here,
Buster—"

“Roderick,” he supplied. “Roderick
Fenton.”

“Tell me, Roderick—how old are
ou?”

“Eight,” he said, “going on nine.”

“Eight,” I corrected him, “going on
borrowed time. Listen, kid. There
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are laws against adults mangling mi-
nors out of season. But I know of
nothing in the criminal code that pro-
hibits a man hurling a heavy object
into the air and letting the law of
gravitation take its course.

“I may not be able to operate this
thing, but with a determined effort, I
think I can lift it. So will you shut
}'our obstreperous little trap, or must

bounce an otherwise useless hunk of
machinery off your noggin?”

“Well, good gosh!” complained the
youngster. “If you're going to be that
way about it—" He rose and fumbled
at his front doorkneb. “I was only
trying to be helpful.”

“Grrr!” I murmured politely.

“And, after all, that is a gasoline
motor. If you don’t turn that little
red petcock on the feedline—"

“Git!” I squalled, stung beyond en-
durance. He got—hastily. The door
slammed behind him. I waited till
the red mist cleared from before my
eyes, then turned again to ponder
the problem of my hundred-dollar
headache.

AGAIN I wasted energy on the
rope trick, with results as futile as
those preceding. Then, with grudg-
ing reluctance, I paused and studied
the mechanism before me. Sure
enough, there was—as Roderick had
pointed out—a small petcock at the
base of the feedline. I touched it. It
moved. I muttered, “Hmmm!” and
sneaked a quick glance at Roderick’s
house. No audience. I twisted the
petcock ninety degrees. Then once
again I wound the starter cord around
the flywheel and tugged.

There came a puft, a roar, and chug-
ing bedlam. My feet skidded out
rom under me as the awakened mow-

er took off across the lawn, with me in
tow. And the green grass flew all
around. . .. N

A couple of evenings later, as we
were shampooing the dinner dishes,
my bride and joy informed me, “Oh,
by the way, we’re playing bridge to-
night.”

“Fine. With whom?”

“The folks next door,” said Molly.
“Their name is Fenton. She's very
nice. And,” she added thoughtfully,
“he is a physicist. Maybe he can help
you with your problem.”

I winced. I had reached the stage
where even a casual mention of that
subject made. my frayed nerves jangle
like an Oriental string band.

“Please, sugar,” I begged, “let’s not
discuss that now. Evenings are for
rest and relaxation. That is”—a sud-
den dark suspicion shuddered through
me — “theoretically. Where are we
playing? Here?”

“No. At their house.”

llustratien by GEORGE WITHERS

“That's what I was afrald of.
fore or after?”

“Tom, what are vou talking about?
Before or after what?”

“Before or after that loathsome lit-
tle monster of theirs has been chained
to his bedpost for the night?”

“Are you talking about Roddy?
Why, I think he’s a sweet little boy!”

“So, no doubt,” I growled, *“was
Jack the Ripper. No, my pet. For
once in our otherwise idyllic wedded
existence, I must overrule you. The
date is off; I refuse to set foot in the
den of that horrible young ogre.”

“But, Tom, [ promised—"

“I'm sorry.”

“It would be terribly rude to—"

“Too bad.”

“And they're expecting—"

“No!” I said flatly, firmly, finally.
“*Absolutely and positively no! T will
not stir from this house tonight.
That’s my last word!”

Thus it was that an hour or so later
we were seated in the.Fentons’ liv-
ing-room, getting acquainted with our
new neighbors.  And I must admit
that in spite of my sulky anticipation
they were a pleasant couple: attrac-
tive, friendly, and intelligent. Over a
round of bourbon highballs—Fenton
even served my favorite brand—our re-
lationship quickly reached the Molly-
Tom-Sarah-Walter stage.

Very cozy. . . . Very impermanent.

For all good things—to corn a phrase
—must finally come to an end. Along
about nine o’clock the door opened
and into our happy parlor walked the
fly in the ointment: Roderick.

“Ohl” he said. “Company? Good
evening.”

Give me A for Effort—warmed by
the spirit of good fellowship and sev-
eral stiff ounces of Old Hangover, I
subdued my natural repugnance
toward the onerous little brat and
made with the light neighborly chit-
chat.

“Hello, Roddy,” I greeted.
to the movies?”

Be-

“Been

| [ glance with which he favored

me was not exactly scornful. Just
sort of pitying.
“No, sir,” he said. “Library.”

“Roddy,” interposed his mother
somewhat apologetically, “is very fond
of reading.”

“And why not:” I declaimed, in a
warm suffusion of nostalgia harking
back to my own boyhood days. “f can
think of nothing more pleasant to ctirl
up with than a good baok—for a grow-
ing boy, that is. Ah, yes! The glori-
ous literature of youth! Been drench-

the dome with deeds of derring-do,

Roddy?”

Jeg pardon, sir?” said Roderick
blanklIy.

“Glutting the gray cells with gore?
Reading stories of high adventure in
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far places? Knights of the Round Ta-
ble, pirates on the Spanish Main, In-
dians on the warpath?”

“No, sir,” said Roderick. “Lo-
bachevsky on tractrix mechanics.”

“Huh?”

“And Riemann—and Bolyai. The
non-Euglidean geometers.” He wrig-
gled uncomfortably, perhaps in appre-
hension of the way my jaw had
dropped agape. “I-I'm quite inter-
ested in mathematics,” he said.
“Aren’t you?”

I took a firm grip on my glass, and
on my shattered self-control, and man-
aged to force a chuckle that did not
quite strangle me.

“Sure thing! I always say,” I said,
“that the best way to get ahead in this
world is keep your feet on the ground
and remember that two and two makes
four.”

“Or,” murmured Roderick, “some-
times a hundred.”

“Dyadic notation, that is. Well, I'd
better be ~ff to bed. Good-night, all.”

He kissed his parents, and they him,
just as if he were human. Then he
disappeared upstairs. His father gazed
after him fondly.

“Kid’s really something, eh, Tom:”
he said.

“He’s something, all right,” I ad-
mitted cautiously. “But just what—"

“Yes, sir!  I’'m mighty proud of that
young fellow. He’s quite a little
thinker. Am I right?”

“You thaid it!” I agreed.

M. 1ab chief is a brain-truster with
more degrees than a clinical thermom-
eter. The next day I asked him, “Doc,
what is dyadic notation?”

“Dyadic— Oh, you mean binary
notation? Why, it’s an arithmetical
system requiring the use of only two
symbols—I and 0—as opposed to the
ten used in the decimal system. Very
simple; very efficient. 1 remains 1, but
2 becomes 10, 3 is 11—""

“And two plus two? It’s not four?”

“No. It's one hundred. Why?
When did you become interested in
unusual math systems?”

“I'm not. I just happened to hear
it mentioned.”

The chief grinned. “Better not let
the Government boys hear you say
that. The only place on earth I know
of where dyadic notation is commonly
used is the rural areas of Russia. And
this military project we're working
on—well, you know how touchy the
Feds are.” B

“Yeah, I know. I've even stopped
using the Petroff Defense when I play
chess.”

“By no means incidentally,” contin-
ued Doc, “how are you coming on
with that research job?”

“You want the truth,” I asked him,
“or ulcersi”
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“As bad as that?”

“Worse. I'm getting nowhere, fast.
As a matter of fact, I'm farther from
a solution now than I was when I be-
gan, because I've eliminated about
umpteen billion possibilities.”

Doc shook his head sadly.

“It’s a tough one, I know. But there
must be some answer. You call your-
self a chemist—"

“I've called myself everything but
that during the past few months.”

“Well, stick with it. And let me
know if you need anything.”

“Fine!” I grunted moodily. “How
are we fixed for aspirin, paper dolls,
and straitjackets:”

You think I wasn’t worried about
that problem, maybe: Guess again.
I can prove I was up to my eyebrows
in despair. I even took my work home
with me weekends. Because I was up
a tree,and so was the chief, and so was
the company that employs us both.
Not to mention Uncle Sam, who was
depending on our efforts to discover
an answer to his problem.

So one Saturday afternoon I was
seated in my study, fretfully plowing

Habit gets a fellow. Many a
father who worked his way
through college is now working
his boy’s way through.

~MUTUAL MOMENTS

through some research tomes, when
cighty-odd pounds of nuisance loomed
beside my elbow! Yes, it was friend
Roderick.

“Hello, Mr. Evans,” he said.

I shut my eyes, hoping that when I
opened them again he’d be gone. But
he was still standing there, calm and
disgustingly congenial.

“Hello,” I sighed.
something?”

“Nothing special. Just came to visit
you. You're reading, huh:”

I raised astonished eyebrows at the
volume in my hands. “Well, damned
if I'm not!” I breathed.

“I like to read,” said Roderick.

“You do? Remind me to hang a
Do Not Disturb sign on my door for
your [uture entertainment.”

“Mostly science books,” continued
Roderick blandly, “or geology, or psy-
chology, or history. Who's your favor-
ite character in history?”

“King Herod,” I told him.
Roddy, I'm a very busy man.
don’t mind—"

“Am I annoying you?”

“No more than a combination of
migraine, hay-fever, and the seven-
year itch. I've got a job to do~"

“Did you want

“Look,
If you

- got such things.

“Pop told me you're a chemist,” said
the brat. “Is that right?”

“Statistically, yes. Ethically—"

“There used to be a lot of chemists
at Oak Ridge,” said Roderick. “That’s
where I was born, you know.”

“You were born? You mean they
didn’t find you under a rock?”

Rooerick either didn't get it or
chose to overlook it. He continued,
“I've got a chemistry set, myself. The
big one. A hundred difterent chemi-
cals and a book that tells how to make
all sorts of things.”

“Including,” I asked hopetully, “tri-
nitrotoluene:”

“Aw, you're kidding. TNT's dan-
geroeus. But you'd be surprised at
some of the things I've mixed with my

set. Some that aren’t even in the
book. I invented one that’s real pe-
culiar. [ call it my magic cobweb.
It—"

“Roddy,” 1 said wearily, “I'm de-
lighted to know you get such enjoy-
ment from your toys, but I don’t have
time to talk about it now. As I said
before, I've gota job to do—"

“What kind of job?” asked Rod-
erick.

[ sighed and chose the path of least
resistance.

“If I tell you, will you go home?”

“Why, sure. If you want me to.”

“Very well, then. Here's the prob-
lem. You know that our country is
faced with the possibility of another
war?”

“Of course. 1 guess that everybody
knows that.”

“And that part of our preparedness
campaign is the arming of our allies
overseas?”

Roderick nodded. “Sure. We send
them planes and tanks and guns—"

“That’s right. And you know how
we send them?”

“By ship, mostly, I suppose.”

“Exactly. And that’s where the
trouble begins. We load thousands of
tons of valuable equipment on cargo
vessels and send it on a long sea voy-
age. Because of its shape and size,
much of this material has to make the
trip on deck, exposed to sun, rain, ice,
and an incessant fine salt spray. Now
do you know what salt water does to
metal?”

“Uh-huh. Corrodes it.”

“Right. So to protect our equip-
ment we must coat it with some sub-
stance that will withstand the ele-
ments. And that’s my job—to find a
suitable substance.”

Roderick said, “But they’ve already
I've seen pictures
where—"

“True. But none of the present pro-
tective coatings is satisfactory. Either
they are thick and gooey, or they form
a hard, rubbery crust that takes for-
ever to remove. \We spend days apply-
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ing them and weeks getting them off.
Soldiers who should be practicing mili-
tary maneuvers have to waste endless
man-hours on the dirty job of cleaning
the gunked-up equipment when it
reaches its destination. And if you
don’t think that job is tough, ask any
GIL who has ever uncrated and
cleaned a box of rifles.”

_ “Then what you're trying to find
is—"

“A simple, inexpensive compound
that can be swiftly applied, will safe-
guard the material in transport, then
can be quickly and easily removed at
the other end of the line. An elusive
substance,” I sighed. *“Perhaps a non-
existent one. And now, sonny, I've
kept my part of the bargain. It’s your
move.”

“Eh?" said Roderick vacantly.

“Outward,” I designated, while gen-
tly propelling him toward the door.
“Don’t think it hasn’t been nice seeing
you, because it hasn’t. Come back
again, but not too soon.”

Roderick asked plaintively, “Well,
gosh, you don’t have to push, do you?
Mr. Evans—"

“What now, little man?"

“Do you mind if I use your lawn-
mower?”

“I guess not. But take good care of
it, huh? That thing cost plenty.”

“Sure,” he promised. “I'll be care-
tul. Thanks.”

He left, and I dived back into the
sterile sanctuary of my books.

THAT was at two o'clock. About
four, I wearied of bashing my brains
against a stone wall and decided to
wander outside for a breath of fresh
air.

It was a bright clear cloudless day.
Therefore what happened came as a
complete surprise. I had taken only a
dozen steps into the front yard when
there came a sudden hissing splash,
and I found myself spluttering in the
middle of a torrential summer shower.

Or that’s what I thought it was, at
first. Then it dawned on me that
from the faucet around the corner of
the house, my pal Roderick had just
turned on the water, and that I was
standing squarely over the sprinkler’s
gushing nozzle!

With an outraged howl I leaped out
of range, slapping angrily at my soaked
clothing. Roderick returned to the
scene of the crime and stared at me
in astonishment.

“Gee, Mr. Evans! You got wet!”

“You're telling me? You little nit-
wit, why didn’t you warn me you were
getting ready to turn on the hose!
Look at me! Soaked to the skin! For
two cents I'd—"

Then my fury doubled, trebled, in-
creased a hundredfold. For my roving
eyes detected something they had not
noticed before. Smack-dab in the cen-
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ter of the lawn, devastatingly exposed
to the sprinkler’s drenching deluge,
stood—

“My mower!" I wailed. “Confound
you, Roderick! I told you to be care-
ful of that thing!”’

I'made adash for the outlet that fed
the hose, but Roderick beat me to it
by three strides. As our hands met at
the faucet he said reassuringly, “It’s
all right, Mr. Evans. There’s nothing
to get excited about. I'm just testing
it, that’s all.”

“Testing what? My patience?”

“My magic cobweb,” said Roderick.
“The stuft I was telling you about.
And it works. Come and see!”

He grabbed my hand and tugged.
I allowed myself to be pulled across
the sodden lawn to my maltreated
mower. Water stood on its erstwhile
pristine surface in pearls . . . in pools

. in bright and glistening puddles.
I groaned, envisioning each droplet as
a future blob of rust. But Roderick
calmly drew a handkerchief from his
pocket, and—

“See, Mr. Evans?’
wipes right off.”

He swept the linen square across the
water-dappled surface of the mower.
And believe it or not, the water did
wipe off! As smoothly, as easily, as
ever aqua pura slid from the dorsal
of the proverbial duck!

I stared at this inexplicable phe-
nomenon, then at its ditto parent, in
stunned amazement.

“How did you do that>" I croaked.

“With my handkerchief.” asserted
Roderick.

“I know. But I mean, how come
the water wiped off like that?"

“Oh, it wasn’t ever on. It’s a mat-
ter of molecular cohesion. You see, a
few minutes ago I sprayed the mower
with my magic cobweb,”

“You did what?” All of a sudden
the danger of rust seemed relatively
unimportant. The thought of the
youngster coating my cherished mower
with some compound of ingredients
from his chemical set was terrifying.
“You did what?” 1 cried in agony.

“It’s all right, Mr. Evans,” Rod-
erick insisted. *“My spray protected
it from the water. And I can remove
the spray in a matter of seconds.
Here, I'll show you.”

He galloped to his house, returned
immediately with a squirt-gun. He
leveled this at the mower, then paused.

“Oh, by the way,” he suggested,
“maybe you'd like to feel the mower?

Just to make sure it is coated?

he said. “It

As one moving in a nightmare I
touched the metallic surface. It was
as slippery-smooth as a layer of fine
silk. The kid’s term for the mixture
was not bad. It did feel sort of like
an oiled cobweb—if you can imagine
such a thing.

“That's the protective spray,” said
Roderick. “It took me about ten sec-
onds to apply it
fast it comes off.”

He went swoosh-swoosh-swoosh with
the squirt-gun. I stifled animpulse to
yell-for before my startled eyes the
oily coating on the metal clouded,
turned to a fine mist, and evaporated
in the warm rays of the sun. Seconds
later, when I touched the surface of
the mower, the metal was bone dry!

And that’s when I became Charter
Member Number One of the Roderick
Fenton Fan Club of America.

Now, here’s how

WEU., I don’t have to blueprint
the rest, do I? To make a long story
short, I watched Roderick mix a fresh
batch of his magic-cobweb spray. It
was everything I had been seeking
for long, heartbreaking months: a
simple compound made of common,
inexpensive ingredients.

I took the boy with me to the plant.
He came home with a big grin and a
royalty contract calculated to keep
him in lollipops for the rest of his
natural days. In return, my company
got exclusive rights to his discovery,
and with those rights assurance of al-
most enough Government money to
pay its excess profits tax.

But there was one thing more. And
for an answer to it I went to Rod-
erick’s father. He is a scientist, and
so am I. So I wasted no words, but
came abruptly to the point.

“I think I know,” I said bluntly,
“but tell me, anyhow. About the kid,
Imean. Ishe?”

“Grateful to you?” parried Walter
Fenton. “Why, of course, Tom. And
so am I. It was mighty nice of you
to—""

“Pish!” I interrupted. ‘“‘Also tush!
I'm knee-deep in debt to him, and you
know it. Now, stop stalling. I know
when he was born, and where. And
I know what was going on there at
that time: atomic experimentation.
That’s two plus two. How about add-
ing it up for me?"

Fenton sighed.

“I see you're close to the answer al-
ready, Tom. I guess I'll have to tell
you the rest” He shook his head
slowly, soberly. “You see, Roderick
isn’t actually our son. Sarah and I
adopted him. His real father was
one of our top physicists. His mother
died in childbirth; his dad went a
year later—radiation got him.”

I nodded. “That’s about what I
figured. He was working on the Man-
hattan Project, I take it. Quite close
to the pile?”

“Too close. Our shields weren’t
very effective in those early days. It
cooked some of the boys for keeps.
Others, like Roddy’s father—well, we
simply don’t know. But something
must have happened: Hard gamma
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rays .
Roddy—" .

“I know. At eight he reads Loba-
chevsky and Bolyai for amusement.
When did he start reading?”

“At two,” acknowledged Fenton.
“English, that is. He has picked up
French and German since, and a
smattering of Greek and Latin. He
latched onto physics and math at
four. Now he’s so far beyond me that
I can’tevenread his notes any longer.
He uses symbols I don’t understand—
and I have an LQ. of 140.”

“His intelligence quotient? You've
measured it?”

“Yes. But you wouldn’t believe
me.”

“I think I might. Try me.”

“Over 400,” said Fenton. ‘“There’s
no way of gauging it accurately. The
tests just aren’t devised for minds like
his.” )

He went on: “You're the first per-
son I've ever discussed this with—ex-
cept Roddy, of course. He and I had
a long, man-to-man talk about it on
his sixth birthday. He knows he’s
different—and why. But I've advised
him to conceal it from the world as
much as possible. Some people
might not like it. They might be re-
sentful. You know what I mean?”

mutation of the genes.

| noboEp. “Yes. Or even fearful.
Though there’s no patricular reason
why they should be. It was inevitable.
Ever since Darwin, we've known that
one day man would take the next step
upward in his eternal striving toward
perfection of the species. A sudden
mutation, alteration of the genes—
that’s the way it happens. Mueller’s
experiments with gamma rays on
fruit-flies proved that. And the radia-
tions of an atomic pile, like the one
Roddy’s dad worked on at Oak Ridge
nine years ago, are hard rays. Gamma
rays.”

. “Then you believe, as 1 do, that
Roderick is—"

“Yes,” I told him. “Mentally. But
in all other respects perfectly normal,
thank God! Roddy is the sign of
things to come. But not in blue
tights, wearing a crimson cloak and
hurtling through the air. A true man
—but a finer, wiser type of man.”

With deliberate delicacy neither of
us ever used the other word—the popu-
lar expression for the type of which
Walt Fenton’s adopted son was the
forerunner:

Superman. . . .

It’s strange, perhaps—but at the
time of my conversation with Walt
Fenton I wasn’t the least bit concerned
about Roddy’s komo superior status.
As a matter of fact, I was rather
pleased that I had been smart enough
to figure it out on the basis of the ob-
served facts. It was not until a few
days had passed that the other aspect
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struck me, and I began fretting my-
self with a growing, gnawing doubt.

A nine-year-old child of a race of
superhumans is one thing. But how
about a grown man of that race?
What might we expect of Roderick
Fenton ten or twenty years from now?
What rdéle in life might conceivably
be played by a creature with an in-
telligence quotient three times great-
er than that of mankind's most learned
savants?

Several weeks slipped by before I
unloaded this gathering uncertainty
on the shoulders of Walt Fenton. He
frowned and tugged his lower lip as
he answered:

“Your guess is as good as mine,
Tom. [I've lain awake nights worry-
ing about that very thing. On the
basis of what we see now, he may
turn out to be mankind’s greatest
benefactor: infinitely gentle, friendly,
and kind, with the intelligence to im-
prove our creaking civilization in a
thousand ways.

“Or,” he conceded, ‘“the converse
could be true. Ambition might seize

him: a personal lust for money, power,
control. Were he ever to use his tre-
mendous intellect for evil purposes,
men could not withstand him. If he
desired, he could rule the earth.”

“There’s a third possibility,” I
added. “Superman need be neither
benevolent nor malevolent to be
harmful. Nietzsche showed us that.
The future human might be so coldly
logical in his reasoning as to be
wholly, utterly ruthless, without in-
tent to be so.”

“Beyond good and evil,” nodded
Fenton. “Yes. I suppose that, too, is
a possibility. Confound it, Tom, if
there were only some answer to this
problem. Some certain, swift, and
gentle solution—"

H: did not designate what thought
he had in mind that might be con-
sidered an “ungentle” solution. His
meaning was all too clear.

It was as we were sitting there, star-
ing at each other moodily, that Roddy
made one of his boisterous, enthusi-
astic entrances. He grabbed one of his

“See what practice does? You aren’t
half as lousy as you were last week.”

—
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foster-father’s hands and tugged: he
motioned excitedly to me.
“Come on!” he cried.
it! It's almost finished.”
We followed him to the Fenton
garage, there to pause and stare at the
wackiest contraption my middle-aged
optics have ever beheld. It looked
something like a box, and something
like a bird-cage, and altogether like
one of Rube Goldberg’s worst night-
mares. It was composed of all sorts
of odds and ends; a zany conglomera-
tion of salvaged pipes, bolts, wheels
and timbers from the neighborhood’s
collective scrap-piles. Centrally lo-
cated in the maze was a bucket-shaped
seat upholstered with a discarded
cushion from an old porch %lider.
Mounted on a dashboard panel were
a number of dials and gadgets, the
nature of which was utterly obscure.
I looked at it, then at Fenton. Fenton
shrugged. We both looked at Roddy.
Roddy beamed.
“What do you think of itz he asked.
“It’s fine, son,” conceded Fenton

“Come see

cautiously. “Only—"

“Only what?”

“Precisely,” I chimed in. “Only
what? Or to be more specific, what
the hell?”

“Oh, golly!” gulped Roddy. “Didn’t
I tell you? Maybe not. Well, you

see, it’s a time-machine!”

Fenton smiled at me a trifle feebly.
He said, “Imaginative kid, ¢h, Tom?
Well, I suppose that’s natural. He’s
been reading a lot of H. G. Wells
lately.”

I thought to myself that there was
still a fourth possibility Walt and I
had never considered. Roderick’s
super-cranium could over-extend it-
self. In fact, it seemed a reasonable
assumption that it already had. And
surely no great harm could be ex-
pected of a superhuman moron. . . .

“Look,” chortled Roddy happily.
“I'll show you!”

H: reached inside the instrument,
turned one of the dashboard dials frac-
tionally, then smiled at us.

“Two minutes,” he proclaimed.
“I'm going to send it two minutes
into the future. Watch!”

He yanked a gearshift-like lever,
and swiftly withdrew his arm. There
was a sudden chuffing sound, between
a puft and a snort and a grunt; for
an instant my ears rang with a shrill
supersonic whine. Awnd then—

“Good Lord!” gasped Walter Fen-
ton. “It’s gonel”

It was. The space before us was as
empty as a taxpayer’s pockets on
March 16th!

Even as Fenton gawked at me, and
I returned with interest his imbecilic
glance, there came another sound.
As before, my ears rang briefly. Then
I heard a dull clumping thud—and
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Roddy’s fantastic go-cart appeared
abruptly out of nothingness to settle
on the floor before us. Roderick
looked up from his wrist-watch.

“One minute, fifty-six seconds,” he
announced. “Almost perfect. Just
a little adjusting and it will be ready
to—"

“Son,” choked Walter Fenton, “you
—you mean it? This isn't just a—a
joke? It really works?”

“Well, gosh! Of course it works.
You saw it, didn’t you?”

I said dazedly, “How?”

Roderick bit his lip. “Well, 1'm not
sure I can explain it to you, Mr.
Evans. I mean—excuse me—if you
don’t understand time-warp and con-
tinuum mechanics—"

“I don’t,” I told him flatly.

“Then I'm not sure I could make
you understand.” He wriggted apolo-
getically. “But that doesn’t matter.
Even if most humans—" He caught
his foster-father’s eye, and corrected
himself swiftly: “Even if most people
don’t know how it works, we can use
it. We can go to the future and study
their civilization—bring back the in-
ventions needed to improve our civil-
ization and make it better—speed the
progress of mankind on to a higher
culture.”

FENTON said slowly, carefully, “Is
that good, son?”

“Good? Of course it’s good.”

“I wonder. Perhaps it would be
better for man to progress more slow-
ly—to earn advancements by discov-
ering them for himself. I mean, it is
a form of slavery to make oneself de-
pendent on the wisdom of others—"

A mild frown touched Roderick’s
brows. He spoke, I thought, a shade
impatiently.

“Don’t be ridiculous, Dad! Man-
kind needs guidance and instruction.
Inferior brains must depend on those
who can lead and direct them. Even
you can see—"

He stopped abruptly, chagrined at
having been betrayed into so frank
an expression of his own convictions.
Again, swiftly, he was the child Roddy
Fenton, grinning and companionable,
eager to please.

“What 1 mean is, we can learn so
much {rom this—"'

“Perhaps,” I offered, “it would be
safer to use it only to travel into the
past. There, too, we can find much
that will benefit mankind. We can
learn the secrets lost through the ages,
rewrite our history-books, find the an-
swers to a thousand puzzling mys-
teries.”

“That would be tun,” admitted
Roderick. “But it's impossible just
now. This machine”—he pointed—
“won’t travel backward in time, only
forward. As a matter of fact, I'm not
sure a machine can be built that will

go backward. It involves too many
awkward paradoxes—like people be-
ing where they never were, you know.”

“I see,” said Walter Fenton. He
had been brooding quietly ever since
Roddy’s brief, impetuous expression
of disdain for humankind. Now his
face was thoughtful, grave, deter-
mined. “This machine, then, goes
only one way?”

“That’s right, Dad. Forward.”

“And how far forward, son?"”

“Oh, a long way. Naturally, I
haven'ttestedit. But this dial here—"

Roddy clambered into the machine,
the better to exhibit its mechanism.
Fenton and I leaned over its side.

“This dial here,” continued Rod-
erick, “designates the era to which it
is to travel. You simply set the dial
to the proper number of years, or days,
or minutes.”

“This figure, then,” asked Fenton,
“would direct it to a time two hun-
dred years from now?” He flicked
the proper needle to position. Rod-
erick nodded. .

“That's right. Careful, Dad! It
this lever were to be pressed while
I'm in here, we'd never see each other
again.”

“You mean you'd be killed*” I asked
him.

“Oh, shucks, no! I'd be perfectly
safe. But I would vanish from here
and suddenly appear in the world of
two hundred years from now. A
world, perhaps,”—he smiled shyly at
his foster-parent—“where people are
more like myself. \Who knows? At
any rate, I'd be safe; it’s just that 1
could never return again.”

“Yes,” said Fenton slowly. “That’s
what I thought. Well, then—good
luck, son!”

Roddy stared at him. “Huh?
Good luck? Oh, you mean with sell-
ing this invention? Sure thing, Dad.
We’'ll make a pot of money, all of us.”

“No, Roddy,” said Fenton. “That’s
not precisely what I mean. I mean that
world is ready for you; this is not. We
all love you dearly. e recognize
your brilliance and applaud it. But
frankly, Roddy, we’re afraid of you.
Of what your well-intentioned ruth-
lessness may bring to us and others of
our time. So, good luck, Roddy—and
—good-by!”

Roddy’s eyes widened; his jaw
dropped agape. He cried, “But, Dad!
You can’t mean to—"

But Fenton could; with calm delib-
eration, he reached forward and
plunged the starting lever.

So, if you have no silly scruples
against betting on a sure thing, here’s
one on which you can lay your bottom
buck: there’s a rosy future for Rod-
erick.

A couple of hundred years from

now, that is. .
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Buck Henderson swung around and stared at Scot. It was the first time in their sixteen years’ association that Scot had ever talked back.

Third Base Coach

FOR TWENTY-THREE YEARS, as player, coach, manager, and again

coach of the Bruins, Scotty MacNeil had put 6n his baseball cap

. . before he put on his pants. As a player, squatting behind the plate

What was it to him? for the Brsins for sevimeen long sl?m?mers?it hadgbrought himgood

luck, and he’d hit 308 as a lifetime average, which was better than

He could say “Okay” and play good for a man who worked all afternoon with his knees bent double,
and the speed gone out of his legs after the fourth year of it.

As a manager, the act had brought him bad luck. He’d ended up
sixth his first year and eighth his second. The Bruin president and
owner, big Buck Henderson, had seen to it that there was no third,

life. Except of course and Scotty MacNeil had made no strenuous objections to his demo-

? ? tion. Playing big-league baseball was a pleasure; coaching big-league

1 . baseball was also a pleasure. Managing a big-league club was head-

for lOSlng his self-respect. aches and ulcers and sleepless nights, and booing from fans who'd

given you nothing but cheers and good will for the seventeen years
you were a player.

This afternoon Scotty MacNeil still put on his cap before he put
on his pants, even though he didn’t particularly need luck, good or
bad. A coach’s lot was like that; it was anonymity with a capital 4,
and after those two hectic, inglorious years as head man on the club,

dumb, and have the job for

- By William Heuman
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Scotty welcomed anonymity the way a
marooned man welcomes a sail on the
horizon.

The dressing-room was empty as yet,
save for the two eager-beaver kids at
the far end, chatting excitedly. Itwas
their first year in the big time, and as
yet neither one of them had broken
into the line-up. Their eagerness
brought them down a half hour before
the players were due in the dressing-
room; Scotty came in a half hour early
because Tommy Sanders, the new
Bruin manager, liked to have a meet-
ing of his coaches before each game,
and before the team took the field.

Scotty put on his spikes and tight-
ened the laces automatically. When
he bent down he could feel the creak
in his back, and his legs were stiff
when he stood up. He was thankful
he wouldn’t have to squat for nine
innings this afternoon. Standing in
the third-base coaching box, waving
runners on or holding them up, was
enough for a man 49 years old.

Tommy Sanders was sitting at a
battered oak desk in the office when
Scotty came in, his spikes scraping a
little on the wood floor. Young
Sanders was in uniform—dark-haired,
brown-eyed, 26, and the youngest man-
ager in the circuit. He also was the
finest second-sacker.

Paul Bedford, Tommy's other assist-
ant, a placid, gray-faced man who'd
once played the outfield for the
Bruins, sat on the other side of the
room, smoking a cigarette. He was
ten years Scotty’s senior and the
Bruins’ first-base coach. Paul was the
typical coach; he could stand at first
base and wave a thousand guys down
to second on prospective doubles, and
nobody noticed him. When one of
the thousand was thrown out, every-
body wanted to know who that goon
was in the first-base coaching box, and
why in hell had he let a flat-footed
runner try to stretch a cheap single
into a double?

TOMM\{ SANDERs greeted Scotty with
a question. A pencil poised in his
hand as he made up the starting line-
up, Tommy asked:

“What do you think about Lefty this
afternoon, Scott?”

Scotty MacNeil took off his cap and
ran a hand through his graying hair
before answering. Tommy Sanders
wanted an opinion on Lefty Malone
as a starting hurler this afternoon
against the Trojans. With all the
right-handed sluggers in the Trojan
line-up, Scotty would have preferred
Matt l%Vyckoff a big right-hander, in
this opener against the first-place club.

“—and if you find my wife,
then you’ll need one of me.”
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He didn’t say this, though; he hesi-
tated, glanced over at Paul Bedford,
and then nodded slightly. “Lefty
should have it today,” he murmured.
He sat down then, and reached for the
box of cigars the Bruin manager
pushed toward him. He said,
“Thanks.”

He sat there, holding the cigar in
the palm of his hand a moment be-
fore putting it into his mouth. He
watched Tommy Sanders turn his
head and say to Paul Bedford, “Paul?”

“Okay with me,” Paul nodded

From the expression the
coach’s face, Scotty MacNell new the
man hadn’t even thought about it.
Everything was okay with Paul Bed-
fo]rd; he’'d. stopped thinking for him-
self.

Looking at him, Scot MacNeil saw
himself in ten years. At least ke had an
occasional thought in his head which
was contrary to that of his superiors.
Paul Bedford no longer did. Paul ac-
cepted things, following the course of
least resistance—always agreeable, al-
ways amicable, padding himself with
that irrefutable “Okay.” Paul Bed-
ford had a job, a fairly easy job with-
out responsibilities, a job which paid
him well for very light work, and
which gave him the winters off. He
wanted to keep that job, and if keep-
ing it meant that he had to stop thinE-
ing, he would stop thinking. It was
better to stop thinking than to stop
eating, or stop the monthly install-
ments on that little bungalow he’d
bought in central Florida two years
ago.

Hunched in the chair, the un-
lighted cigar in his mouth, Scot wished
he’d mentioned Matt Wyckoﬂ at
least to put himself on record thit he
had a mind of his own. With a shock
he realized that for many weeks now
he had accepted Tommy Sanders’
line-ups  without question, which
meant that he, like Paul Bedford,
was building a protective wall about
himself, a wall of affirmatives. He
felt the shame of it. As an active
player he’d never been a man to
stretch doubles into triples, or to at-
tempt Elckmg off runners with two
down; he’d been a cautious player as
opposed to those who threw caution
to the wind; but he hadn’t been afraid.

Tommy Sanders had his head bent
over the slip of paper as he wrote out
the rest of the line-up. His pencil
scratching on the paper was the only
sound in the little room. Outside,
Scot could hear the players coming in,
the low hum of their talk, the occa-
sional bang of a locker door.

Sanders looked up, dpushed the sheet
of paper away, and asserted: “We
have to start this series off with a
bang.”

Scot MacNeil took the cigar out of
his mouth before he realized that he
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was about to say “Okay.” He didn't
say it. Paul Bedford said it from the
other side of the room. Scot sat eyeing
the youthful manager thoughtfully.
He was not envious of Tommy San-
ders, even though four years before
he’d been the Bruin manager, and
young Tommy his rookie second-
sacker. He didn’t envy any manager;
nor did Paul Bedford, who'd seen
Buck Henderson fire four managers
during the dozen years he’d been
serving as Bruin coach.

“We have a good chance to get into
the first division,” Sanders was saying,
“if we can knock over the Trojans
three out of four.”

“We'll get 'em,” Paul Bedford said.

Scot didn’t say anything. He found
he was beginning to hate the word
"“Okay.”

Sanders told them the signals which
would be in use for this afternoon’s
game; then the brief meeting was over.
As they were going out through the
door, Scot MacNeil put a hand on
Tommy Sanders’ shoulder, detaining
him while Paul Bedford went on.

Smiling, Sanders asked, “What's up,
Scot?”’

They stood just outside the door to
the dressing-room, and Scot said quiet-
ly, “If Henderson tears in here today,
kid, let him rave. You know how he
is.”

Tommy Sanders didn’t say anything
tor a moment; then he nodded.
“Thanks, Scot,” he murmured. *I
know what you mean.”

“He's a big mouth,” Scot went on.
“Everybody knows that. He blows
off and then he forgets about it. Let
him talk; words don’t hurt anybody.”

“I know.” Sanders nodded again.

“He’ll fire a guy today,” Scot said,
“and then tomorrow wish he hadn’t.
You know what I mean?”

He was telling Sanders to be care-
ful. There had already been a few
brief spats between the Bruin owner
and the Bruin manager. Every once
in a while Buck Henderson felt that
he had to run the Bruin ball club per-
sonally, and not from the head office.

Toe and again, when Scot had
been manager, Buck Henderson had
stormed into the dressing-room after
a game, berating every one in sight.
He was not an astute student of the
game, and he was not close enough to
the players to know whether they were
giving their best or not, but that had
never prevented him from exploding
verbally whenever he thought the
Bruins dropped a game they should
have won.

Privately, Scot always had been ot
the opinion that if Buck Henderson
had kept out of the Bruin dressing-
room, his teams would have made a
much better showing. It was not
good for the morale of a ball club to
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have the president publicly castigate
a player for an error or failure to come
through at a critical time.

Tommy Sanders said, “I wish he’d
keep out of here, Scot. He has never
helped things.”

“You can’t rule the president of a
club out,” Scot told him, “if—" He
meant to finish it with the statement,
If you wish to keep your job. Instead,
he said, “If you want to keep peace
with the front office.”

“If keeping peace with the front
office,” Sanders growled, “means I've
got to bow and scrape every time that
bullhead comes in, then I'll welcome
a little war.”

SCOT MacNEIL didn’t say anything
to that. He could have said that yeu
didn’t have very much of a war with
Buck Henderson. When you blew
up, you were through; you were out,
and your fat pay-check stopped after
your contract ran out. You were no-
body, casting hopeful eyes about for
another job in a profession where
there were always two dozen men
around to fill one position.

The dressing-room was filled when
they finally came out, and Scot
paused, looking around as Tommy
Sanders went over to talk to Lefty
Malone. For twenty-three years he’d
spent his summer afternoons in this
place, and it had paid him off. He
had his house in the suburbs. Like
Paul Bedford, he and Martha had
planned to pick up a little bungalow
in Florida for the winter months be-
fore spring training began.

He wasn’t in the clear, though, not
by a long shot. Putting two boys
through college had taken a lot of it,
and the cost of living, and the terrific
taxes had taken the rest. Being in
the clear meant working for Buck
Henderson, holding down his job the
way Paul Bedford did, ‘“okaying”
everybody in sight, so that when an
explosion came they remembered that
you were a nice guy and that you were
easy to get along with.

Scot was heading toward his locker
when he saw the bulk of big Buck
Henderson filling the doorway. The
Bruin owner had football shoulders
and the beginnings of a paunch; he
was a red-faced, Hlat-nosed, bulldog of
a man with thin brown hair and
tough, pale blue eyes.

“Scotty!” Buck Henderson bawled.

Scot pulled up and waited. He felt
suddenly small when Buck Hender-
son bore down on him. He hadn’t
been small and timid as a backstopper
for the Bruins, as many a runner had
discovered when they tried to bounce
him while he was guarding the rub-
ber; but this big, paunchy man always
made him feel that small. Physically,
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he wasn't afraid of Buck Henderson.
It was something else about the big
man—maybe the fact that he con-
trolled the pursestrings, that he de-
cided whether they had that Florida
bungalow, or the kind of clothes
Martha MacNeil wore, or if Scot Mac-
Neil had to start looking for a new
profession at an age when a man was
considered over the hill.

Buck Henderson growled, “Who
starts today, Scotty:”

“Lefty Malone,” Scott said.

Buck Henderson glared at him. He
always asked questions as if the man
who was to answer them was trying
to evade the issue.

“Malone?” Henderson sniffed, and
Scot could see that he didn’t par-
ticularly care for the choice. He didn’t
care too much for the choice, himself,
but he was baseball man enough to
know that in major-league baseball
selecting your starting hurlers was like
shuffling a deck of cards. You took a
chance after considering all the angles;
the guy’s effectiveness against the club
previously, his mental attitude when
tacing that particular club, his present
physical condition. You put them all
together, and then you made your de-
cision, and as often as not you were
wrong. Any major-league hurler was
liable to go good against any major-
league club at any given time, and
vice versa.

Scot said slowly, “Lefty’s won his
last two, Mr. Henderson.”

He wasnt trying to refute Buck
Henderson. He was a subordinate
giving the facts and figures to his su-
perior.

“Trojans batted him out the last
time they were here, didn’t they?”
Henderson demanded.

“That's right,” Scot nodded.

He was ashamed of himself for
agreeing so hastily with Henderson
when only a few minutes before he'd
agreed with Tommy Sanders that Ma-
lone would be a good choice for the
opener.

“We want to take this first one,”
Henderson growled, as if Scot were
maintaining that it wasn’t particularly
necessary.

“That’s right,” Scot said. He stood
there, rubbing his hands on the sides
of his pants—that small-boy feeling
coming over him again, and hating
himself for it.

Henderson mumbled something and
went past him to speak to Tommy
Sanders. Scot went on to his locker,
lips tight. Paul Bedford paused by
the locker before going out on the
field. The gray-faced man said softly:

“Boss sounding off again, Scot?”

“You know him,” Scot growled.

“I know him,” Bedford nodded.

Scotty MacNeil looked at the man
closely to see if there was any shame
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in his eyes. There was none, and he
knew, then, that some day he too
would be like this. He would have
no conscience in the matter, no feel-
ing about it at all.

He wondered how Bedford had so
insulated himselt. Maybe he also had
kept thinking about his wite and his
children. He had a couple ol girls,
Scot remembered, both married now,
and he was a grandtather. Maybe
he’d kept thinking about them as he
“okayed” Buck Henderson and every-
body else in authority.

Scot said suddenly, “What do you

think about Lefty Malone today,
Paul?”

The senior coach looked at him.
“Okay,” he said.

Scot closed the door ot his locker.
“Not to me,” he said softly; “you don't
have to do it to me, Paul.”

He went out on the field and tor a
while stood in the pitcher’s box, re-
trieving batting-practice balls thrown
in trom the field, tossing them to the
batting-practice pitcher.  From the
field he saw Tommy Sanders and Buck
Henderson in the dugout. Hender-
son was waving his arms as he spoke.
Tommy Sanders’ tace was white, but
he was apparently giving as much as
he was taking.

Hardened baseball writers up in
the press cage were grinning down at
them becausc this was not an unusual
sight. Buck Henderson tought tooth
and nail with all his managers; that
is, of course, with those who tought
back.

Watching them, Scot had the teel-
ing that it was the beginning ot the
end for young Tommy Sanders. Tom-
my had a one-year contract to handle
the Bruins.

WHEN Henderson tinaily lett the
dugout and went to his private box,
Scot went in tor a drink at the water-
cooler. ‘Tommy Sanders was sitting
on the edge ot the bench, leaning
forward, hands clasped, his brown eyes
still emitting sparks.

Scot said, “He crabbing about Ma-
lone starting this game?”

The manager nodded. “I told him
he should get a glove and go out
there.”

Scot’s eyes widened a little. He
was remembering that Tommy San-
ders was a married man now with
twins, and that a job meant a lot to
him, too.

“He'll send you to Siberia,” Scot
muttered. “The last-place Buffalos.”

“Let him!” Tommy scowled. *“But
that big fourflusher will never make
me back down!”

“You might never get another
chance to run a big-league club,” Scot
told him, “if Henderson fires you.
You won’t get the money with the
Buffalos that you get here.”
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“Okay,” Tommy Sanders said grim-
ly, “but at least I'll be able to sleep
nights.”

Scot stepped over to the water-
cooler and teok a drink; then he
watched Paul Bedford warming up a
young pitcher on the sidelines. He
wondered it Paul slept nights. He
didn’t sleep too well, himselt.

He watched Tommy Sanders go
out to the batter’s cage, stand there a
few moments, and then take his hits,
slashing several balls savagely to the
outlield.

He's young, Scot thought. They
can’t kick lnm out of baseball. Hen-
derson can trade him, but he'll still
make a good living. Hes young. He
can do 1.

It went deeper than that, though,
Scot MacNeil knew. It wasn’t youth
or old age. Paul Bedtord had prob-
ably been the same kind ol a guy
when he was 10 that he was now, but
Tommy Sanders wouldn’t crawl it he
was 80 and Buck Henderson was the
only man who could provide him with
his daily bread. It went deeper than
youth; it went right down to the
mner man.

S(_(n’ MACNEIL sat on the bench
when the Bruins took the field with
Letty Malone on the mound. He
plodded out to the third-base coach-
ing box when the Bruins came in,
and he stood there, hands on hips,
tacing down toward home plate.

Buck Henderson sat in the box be-
hind him, a cigar in his mouth, a
grim smile on his wide tace. Lefty
Malone had gotten by the first inning,
which could or could not mean any-
thing. Lefty was a guy who had
trouble with his control. \When he
had it he was very, very good: when
he didn’t he was very, very bad. You
couldn’t tell yet. Little things upset
Leity. Scot had seen himn pitching
shut-out ball, and then blow sky-high
because an infielder had made an
error on him with the bases empty
and two away. Lett-handers were
sometimes like that.

I'he Bruins picked up a run in the
first inning, and another in the sec-
ond, giving them a 2 to 0 Icad. Tom-
my Sanders himselt accounted tor the
second run with a hard two-baguer to
the left-field wall.

Malone moved along easily, and
Scot started to relax at third base. If
Lefty came through with a nice win
today against the league leaders it
would put Buck Henderson in a good
mood. lle would come into the dress-
ing-room grinning, slapping everyone
on the back, and the altercation with
Tommy Sanders would be torgotten
—until another time.

Paul Bedford sat down next to Scot
when the Bruins took the field for the
start of the fifth..

“Everything very nice,” Paul mur-
mured. “Everything peaceful.”

“That the way you like it?”
asked him.

“You said it!"" Paul grinned.

They picked up another run in the
fifth, and up until that time Lefty
Malone had allowed two hits and
passed one man,

“He's got it,” Scot said to Tommy
Sanders. “You picked it right today,
kid.”

“Game’s not over,”
mured.

Scot

Tommy mur-

THE Trojans put two men on in
the sixth, but Letty Malone got out
of it with a neat double-play which
Tommy Sanders started. Lefty’s con-
trol was still good.

The trouble started in the eighth,
with one away, and it was a bad call
by Umpire Johnny O’Dowd which
did it. Malone was tacing the little
Trojan outfielder, Sam Winston. Sam
was a waiter; he had a habit ot foul-
ing off pitches he didn’t like and even-
tually drawing a pass.

He touled oft tour in a row on Ma-
lone with the count three and two,

but Lefty stuck with him. putting a
nice curve ball on the inside corner.
O’Dowd called it another ball, and

Letty stormed in, pounding his glove.

“He put it in there,” Paul Bedford
said worriedly. " Johnny missed that
one, Scot.”

‘Tommy Sanders had raced in aftter
Malone to bring him back to the
mound, but the damage had been
done. Letty grooved the first pitch
tor the next Trojan batter, and there
was a single to center. He walked
the following man on tour straight
pitches, and it was not an intentional
pass.

“This is it,” Bedtord muttered.

Time was called and Tommy San-
ders and the Bruin infield gathered
in the box. Scot got up and stood on
the top step of the dugout watching.
The bases were loaded with one away
and the score 3 to 0 tor the Bruins.
Ordinarily, there would have been no
question about the pitcher’s staying
in atter the kind ot ball Lefty had
been hurling all the way, but Malone
was not an ordinary pitcher. When
he cracked, he cm(ked wide open.

Paul Bedtord said at Scot’s elbow,
“Boss wants Lefty out of there.”

Scot glanced toward the president’s
box. Buck Henderson was standing
up, pointing with his finger toward
the bull pen. The right-hander, Mike
Sorrel, was warming up in the pen.
Mike was a fair reliet man: not a
great one, but tair.

Scot noticed that Sanders was half-
tacing Henderson's box, and there
was little doubt in his mind that
Tommy saw the president’s gesture,
but he paid no attention to it.
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“Stringing along with Lefty,” Paul
Bedford murmured; “and he’d better
come through for Tommy’s sake.”

Tommy Sanders patted Lefty Ma-
lone’s back, then turned and trotted
to his position. The other infielders
returned to their position, and Lefty
kicked up the dirt around the pitch-
er’s mound.

Scot MacNeil saw Henderson sitting
down slowly, glaring at Tommy San-
ders, his face red, jaw thrust out.
Then Scot went down the steps to his
seat. He sat there, looking across the
field at Tommy Sanders. The boy

"manager was patting his glove, kick-
ing an imaginary pebble out of the
way.

“T'll say this much,” Paul Bedford
observed. ‘“He has nerve.”

“It’s more than that,” Scot growled.
“I have nerve, too. This is different.”

Lefty Malone prepared to pitch
with the right-handed batsman, Walt
Carrigan, at the plate. Lefty’s hook
didn’t break, and Carrigan caught it
squarely on the nose, the ball bounc-
ing off the left-centerfield wall. Three
runners came in to tie the score and
Carrigan reached second.

Tommy Sanders held up his hands
and walked to the pitcher’s box. Scot
sat there, watching him.

“Hate to be in his shoes,” Paul
Bedford said, “when Buck Henderson
comes into the dressing-room after
this gamel”

Scot stared out across the field, and
he was thinking, This kid would hate
to be in your shoes, too, Mister.

Mike Sorrel came into the game
and put out the fire. In the ninth
inning the Trojans pushed over an-
other run on Mike and walked off
with the ball game by a 4 to 3 score.

Scot MacNeil got up and ducked
through the dugout door. He walked
slowly back to the dressing-room, his
spikes scraping on the concrete walk
underneath the grandstand. Above
him he could hear the noise as the
crowd moved out.

He was the first one into the dress-
ing-room, but the club trainer, Doc
Morrison, was in his little massage-
room. The Doc poked his head out.

“A tough one to lose, Scot.”

He'd heard it on the radio in the
room. Scot nodded. “They're all
tough when you lose them,” he agreed.

He sat in front of his locker, hold-
ing his cap in his hand, and he was
still sitting there when the players
came in, with not much talk this
afternoon.

Lefty Malone stood in front of his
locker, cursing Johnny O’Dowd, but
no one paid any particular attention
to him. Tommy Sanders came in,
slapping his glove into the palm of
his hand. He went straight to the
office, pushed open the door and
closed it behind him.

AUGUST, 1952

MX FINGER VILLAGK

By IB MELCH!OR

IN THE LITTLE SPANISH VILLAGE of Cervera de
Buitrago, hidden away in the mountains five hundred
miles from Madrid, a man who possesses only five
fingers on each hand is considered a freak!

Almost every one of the over three hundred
inhabitants of the village has at least six fingers on
one or both hands, and oftenseven or even nine. One
married couple has twenty-eight fingersbetween them.
Doctors from the world over who have studied the
strange phenomenon discovered that centuries ago
this settlement in the mountains was begun by a cou-
ple with six fingers each, and since then nobody with
less than this number was allowed to settle in the
village. Intermarriage has made the many-fingered
strain permanent.

Cervera de Buitrago is proud of its unique claim
to fame, and today one official prerequisite for any
man running for mayor, judge, or other public office
in the town is to possess at least six fingers on each

hand.
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Scot had been watching the dress-
ing-room door. He saw Buck Hender-
son charge in, tie askew, face redder
than usual. The players watched him
barge past the lockers and push in
through the office doorway. Across
the aisle from Scot, Paul Bedford
shook his head sadly.

Scot could hear Henderson'’s heavy
rasping voice, and then Tommy San-
ders’ higher-pitched one, tense with
anger. He sat there for a few mo-
ments; then he tossed the cap into the
locker and got up. He walked over
to the office door, Paul Bedford watch-
ing him, pop-eyed. He went in.

Both men were standing—Tommy
Sanders was still in uniform, his face
sweaty and flushed with anger. Buck
Henderson had his back to the door
and had not seen Scot ¢ome in. He
was saying bitterly:

“What the hell kind of baseball is
that?”

Scot MacNeil said behind him, “If
Lefty had gotten past that guy, what
would you have said?”’

Buck Henderson spun around. He
stared at Scot uncomprehendingly. It
was the first time in their sixteen
years’ association that Scot had ever
questioned him, and the shock of it
made Henderson speechless for a mo-
ment. Then the big jaw came out;
he took a step forward, shaking a
finger at Scot.

“You keep out of this, MacNeill”
he roared.

Scot looked at him contemptuously.

He saw the Florida bungalow van-
ishing; he saw his steady income
lopped off and suddenly; all the com-
forts of middle and old age disap-
peared. But he said quietly, steadily:

“I'm already in this, you big wind-
bag! That boy is your manager; you
picked him. Why don’t you stand
behind his decisions?”

Tommy Sanders was staring at Scot,
his mouth open too. Scot took a step
forward himself now, and pointed a
finger at Henderson’s face.

“If you'd kept out of my office when
I was manager, you bullhead,” he
snapped, “I'd have done better, too.
Now you're trying to ruin this boy.”

Buck Henderson opened his mouth,
closed it, and mumbled, “You're crazy,
MacNeil!” It was the best retort he
could think of, at the moment.

“I've been crazy all these years,”
Scot snarled, “working for a windbag
like you. Now you can get yourself
another doormat.”

He walked out of the room then,
feeling like a million dollars. Even
when he’d been'made manager of the
Bruins he hadn't felt like this. He
was a man again, his own man.

He went back to his locker and sat
down. He didn't hear any talking in
the office. He was humming a tune
when Paul Bedford came over hesi-
tantly. Bedford said slowly, “Sounded
as if you had a run-in with the boss,
Scot.”

“I told him off,” Scot said, “and
then I quit.”

SPORT

When Joe Kuhel, the Washington
Senators’ manager, once took a
punch at a baseball writer and was
fined $100 he received $50 from a
fan the next day with a note saying,
“I'd have sent along the other $50
if you hadn’t missed.”

* * *

The “eyes” had it one day last sea-
son on the turf. On the same day
“On the Eye” won at Keeneland,
“Eye for Eye” won at Tropical,
“Eagle Eye” finished first at J:
and “Cateyes” was barely nosed out
at Havre de Grace.

* * *

Bullfights are now being televised
in Spain.

* * *

In 1896 Bernie Wefers was
clocked in 9 2/5 seconds for the
100-yard dash, but A.A.U. officials
wouldn’t let the record stand be-
cause they just couldn’t believe it
was possible.

TIME

Ray Chapman, Cleveland infield
star of 1920, once refused to bat
against the fast ball of Walter John-
son, Washington pitcher, on a dark
day, fearing a beaning. A few days
later, facing a Yankee pitcher, Carl
Mays, on a bright sunny day, he was
struck by a ball and killed.

* ® *

James L. Bottomley, former St.
Louis Cards first baseman, holds the
record for runs batted in in a single
game—12.

* *

Walter Johnson, Washington’s
“Big Train,” once shut tne Yankees
out three times within four days and
his record of pitching fifty-six score-
less innings in a row is unequaled.

* * *

The highest batting average of all
time was achieved in the era of the
dead ball, by Hugh Duffy, of the
Boston Nationals, in 1894. He wound
up with a fabulous .438.
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“You quit?” Bedford asked weakly.

“You should know how it feels,
Paul,” Scot grinned. *“You ever quit
anything of your own accord?”

“You're crazy, Scot,” the first-base
coach muttered. “A good job like
this!” He went over to his locker
and sat down; then he picked up his
cap and started to turn 1t around and
around in his hands.

SCOT was putting on his shoes when
he heard Tommy Sanders’ office door
open and close. He thought Hender-
son was going out, but didn't turn
around to look. Then he heard Buck
Henderson speaking—but this didn’t
sound like Buck’s voice; the Bruin
owner was saying querulously:

“What do you have to get so sore
about, Scot? Everybody blows off!”

He looked up at Henderson then,
trying to keep the surprise out of his
eyes. Henderson was frowning, a
puzzled expression on his face as if
he did not quite understand what had
happened. He’'d been told off by a
man who had always agreed with him,
before this, and the shock of it was
still in_his eyes. Other men had op-
posed Buck Henderson; but this was
different—this opposition had come
from a source where opposition was
not supposed to be. It was like a lion
out after bolder prey being suddenly
set upon by a jackal. The jackal
couldn’t do him any harm, but it
made him think.

Scot MacNeil could read this in the
Bruin owner’s face. Henderson had
been bearded in his den, and he now
had a new respect, not only for Scot
MacNeil, but for all lesser men be-
cause one had defied him.

“Let’s forget the whole damned
business,” Henderson growled.

Scot looked at him, and for one
moment the temptation was strong to
smile and apologize and okay the big
man to death. Instead, he said, “We'll
all get along a lot better, Mr. Hen-
derson, if we keep out of each other’s
hair.”

“What I was telling Sanders,” Hen-
derson grinned. “We made a deal in
there: 1 kéep out of his dressing-
room if he keeps out of the front
office.”

Scot nodded. He managed to hide
the smile in his eyes. It made Buck
Henderson feel good to be able to say
that. It was a compromise and not a
defeat for him. Scot almost felt a
little sorry for Henderson, understand-
ing the man better now—for Tommy
Sanders rarely went near the front
office.

“Just didn’t want you to feel sore
about things,” Henderson finished.
“You know how it is, Scot.”

“Sure,” Scot MacNeil murmured.
He didn’t say “Okay.” He didn't
think he'd ever say “Okay” again. o
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FOR A WEEK, THIS TIME, she was
alone in a burned world. The landscape
was as unreal as this life she was leading.
“Home” meant the sane green hills of
central New York State. Here, on the
California desert, there was a harshness
alien to her.

The little house assigned to them was
on the station street known as Brass Row:
for majors through full colonels. The
whistling roar of the jets was merged in

Behind every man of adventure stands a woman. She can

inspire him to reach the stars, or she can chain

him with doubt and fear and indecision. And if he is a 500-mile-an-hour
pilot, she can literally worry him to his death

~By JOHN D. MacDONALD

her mind with the arid wind that scoured
baked rocks. There was no getting
away from the sound. Though the PX
stocked everything she needed, she would
drive into San Berdoo, telling herself
that the long trip was necessary for some
special item which she never seemed
quite able to find. And, even there, she
would hear that jetsound. It was a
sound you didn’t hear with the ears
alone. .. .
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A full week, this time. ... At dusk
she went out behind the house. This
was the part of the day she liked. The
air was spiced at dusk, not smelling
of hot stones. It cooled off quickly,
and she put on the yellow cashmere
sweater she had taken out with her.
Just as she lit a cigarette, she heard
the phone. It stopped her heart, be-
cause this time it was a full week.
She threw the cigarette aside and
walked in, trying not to run, for to
run was the sort of confession you had
to avoid making.

“Mrs. Helferz ETA is eleven to-
night. Full roster.”

Her fingers curled more loosely on
the phone. “Thanks a lot, Timmy,”
she said, making her tone just right:
Grateful, but not too grateful; re-
laxed, with just that faint edge of
crispness to be expected from the tall
blonde wife of Colonel Helfer. . . .

Everything had been done, and
at quarter of eleven she put the front
lights on.

She went to the door when she
heard the car. He got out, pulled the
flight bag out. The men spoke to
each other in the still night, then the
car went on up the street and Ben
came up the walk to the door. She
opened it for him. The cap’s peak
shadowed his eyes from the lights, yet
she saw weariness in the set of his
shoulders, the gauntness of his cheeks.

“Get the word?"” he said, dropping
the flight bag in the hall.

“Timmy called me about seven,
darling.”

He kissed her—then, folding her in
long arms, stood quite still, holding
her for long seconds. ‘“‘Afmm,” he
said.  Stubble scratched her cheek.
He smelled of leather and engine oil
and high cold places.

“Good trip, darling?”

“Standard issue.. Nothing to re-
port, sir.”

“Hungryz"”

“I think so, if 1 can stay awake long
enough.”

“Go take your shower.”

As she worked in the kitchen she
heard the muted roar of the shower.

YOU have been married to this man
for sixteen years. You know him.
You know where he is flawed, the
tongue that can be too sharp, the fits
of moodiness, that streak of jealousy
that annoys even as it flatters. Yet he
is good, and decent, and incredibly
precious to you. He knows you the
same way, knows of your occasional
bullheadedness, knows you can’t save
money to save your soul, knows that
in spite of your perlect faithfulness to
him, you are, withal, a bit of a flirt.
Together you are marriage, and good
marriage. After sixteen years, physi-
cal love between you can still be a
craziness. Benjy, now filteen, is like
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him, with those very level gray eyes,
and that look of measuring.

W ien he had finished all but the
coffee, his head sagged, and he gave
a start as he lifted it. He gave her a
rueful grin.

“Off with you,” she said lightly.
He came around the table and kissed
her.

“’Night, baby,” he said; his slipper
heels scuffed as he went off to bed.

She sat at the table for a long time,
then cleaned up. She tiptoed into the
bedroom, struggled out with the heavy
flight bag. She unpacked it, putting
the laundry in the hamper.

After she got into bed, she lay and
listened to his deep slow breathing
beside her. She felt as though she
could stretch out her arms and en-
close the whole small house, and him
in it, and hold it tightly against her
breast, quite safe from harm. . . .

When she got up, he was still sleep-,.
ing. It was noon before she heard
him stirring around. He came out,
wearing palesgray slacks, a black-and-
red checked cotton flannel shirt. He
gave her a toothpaste-flavored kiss.
His eyes were bright and it never
ceased to amaze her the way he could
bounce back from utter exhaustion.
That lean tall body had incredible
reserves of strength.

“Liz, I guess 1 was a zombie last
night.”

“No, dear. You scintillated. You
said ‘ugh’ and ‘huh’ and ‘wmm’—and
then you collapsed.”

She served the brunch. He drank
the tall glass of juice. “I guess I told
you it was a standard trip. The
MIG’s had a fat happy week, so they
needed the merchandise. Remember
Conlahan? Little round-headed guy—
we knew him at Drew.”

“I think so.”

“Damn fool was flying combat at
his age. Don’t know how he worked
it. Came back last week with a piece
of rocket in his leg, half the size of
a teacup. Pressure suit kept him from

bleeding to death. Landed and passed
out.”

“Ben, is there going to be any
change?” -

He gave her a quick, wary look.
“Not that I know of. 'This jumping-
bean ferry arrangement is still the

uickest way of getting them where
they're needed. But it’s going to get
easier, Liz. The next ones through
will have the bigger auxiliary tanks.”

“So that they can make longer
jumps,” she said bitterly.

“Easy, gal. I'm just a commissioned
delivery boy. I just take the lieuten-
ants across like a flock of chickens,
and bring them back in a transport.
I'm no Conlahan.”

Illustration by MILLER POPE

“You better not be.”

“What'll we do today, honey?”

“What do you feel like doing, Ben?"

“No party—just us. And if we stay
here, you know what will happen:
I'd like to drive around some, end up
at the Mission Inn, maybe, for drinks
and dinner. Then catch an outdoor
movie. Sound okay?”

“I'd love it!”

It was after the movie, when they
were driving slowly back to the small
house, that she ran out of other con-
versation and told him about the new
problem child on the station.

“A pretty girl, really, Ben. Oné of
those redheads who doesn’t have the
usual redhead’s complexion. She’s
turning into a bottle baby, but fast.
Moira took her home from the club
again yesterday and now she says it’s
somebody else’s turn.”

“What’s her name:"

“Jackie Genelli.”

“I see,” he said.

“What do you see, dear?”

“Genelli is Rogan’s replacement.
Last-minute change. He came with
me this trip. Nice kid, but jittery;
now I can see why.”

“It’'s—too bad.”

“I guess maybe she heard what
happened to Rogan.”

“And Carlson and Kowalt and
Shimm,"” Liz said in a low tone.
“Just married, maybe. I don"t

think Genelli’s twenty-one yet. It
makes it tough.”

“Because you happen to be newly-
weds? It that supposed to make it
tougher?”

He slowed the car. *“Hey!” he said
softly. “That doesn’t sound like you.”

“Oh, doesn’t it? Sorry, I guess 1
forgot that I'm Lady Icewater. I
meet everything with a careful little
smile, and I spent all week long doing
my nails.”

BL‘N pulled over onto the shoulder,
turned off the lights and motor,
shoved the dash-lighter in and took
out his cigarettes. She lit her own and
handed him the lighter.

He said, “See what you can do
about Mrs. Genelli, Liz.”

“Ben! I can’t set myself up as a—"

“You've done it before, Liz.”

“Darling, listen to me. I'm all
right. I'm not going to start fraying
at the edges. But my missionary work
is over. .I just haven’t got any—any
strength to spare. I need it all for
myselt, every bit of it. We pretend it
isn’t so, but both of us know that ferry
casualties are running higher than
combat. jackie Genelli knows that
too. She’s going to have to find her
own resources. She can’t borrow
mine; because it she does—I might
not get them back.”

“You won't try?”

“No, darling,” she said firmly.
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After a little while, without another
word, he started the car up again.
She told herself it didn’t make any
difference. She told herself that the
faint restraint in his manner was all
imagination.

Tmqu days later the next batch of
merchandise was ready. They lighted
up and slammed off into a sky of in-
credible blue.

The first day was never as bad as
the ones that followed, somehow.
There was no sense to it, actually. It
just never seemed as bad. Liz spent
an aimless day, and part of another,
and then she did as she had known in
her heart that she was going to have
to do: she called on Jackie Genelli.

It was mid-afternoon. Jackie took
so long coming to the door of her
small house that Liz had begun to
hope that she wasn’t in. Then Jackie
opened the door and stood there, very
young, very pretty. She wore no
makeup, her red hair was tangled,
her denim playsuit spotted across the

" halter.

“I'm Mrs. Helfer. Liz Helfer.”

“I know,” the girl said. She stood,
unmoving, in the doorway.

“Could I come in, Jackie?”

“If you want.” The tone of voice
gave no quarter.

Liz followed her into the small
cluttered living-room. Jackie pushed
magazines off a chair. “You can sit
there.” She crossed the room and sat
on the couch, legs pulled up under
her, her eyes watchful.

“I understand youre from New
Orleans, Jackie.”

“Don’t start so far away. It will
take longer to get to the point.”

“Why are you being rude?”

“I'm not—I'm just being surly. I'm
a surly type. Now just give me a deli-
cate little hint about the proprieties,
Mrs. Colonel Hellfer, and T'll promise
to be a good girl.”

Liz made up her mind in a frac-
tional part of a second, then tipped
her head back and laughed, hoping
she was doing a good job of it.

Jackie watched hey, unsmiling, sul-
len. “What’s funny?”

“I'm a committee of one, Jackie.
You guessed that right. But I don’t
care what you do. [Ireally don’t.”

“And, Mrs. Colonel Helfer, I don’t
think I care what you say. I hate it
here; 1 hate the whole bloody awful
business. They're making Gidge fly
too much and too often. Oh, it’s all
right for you and the rest of the bid-
dies around here. You're used to it;
you don’t turn a hair. You're not
human. I don’t think you've got any
imagination left.” Jackie slipped off
the couch, went to the windew and
stood with her back to Liz, breathing
hard. She had a very nice figure, Liz
decided.
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“Did you have a nice three days
with Gidge?” she asked.
“Oh, just dandy! .
it. 1 told him I can’t”

“Was he a flyer when you met him?”

“Yes, but I didn’t know it would be
this way. God, to think of the pic-
ture I had of myself! Waving him
off with a tear in my eye! I never
got any further than waving him off.
I didn’t think of day after day and
night after night when you don’t
hear a thing except the sirens on those
crash wagons. I-I just haven’t got
the guts for it.”

“Is Gidge going to ask to be
grounded?”

I can’t take

JACK)E s response was a derisive
snort. ‘“‘Him?”

“Turn around, dear.
to you.”

“Tell me to keep a stift upper lip?
Tell me to be braver Pat me on the
head a llttle""

“No.

“I love the guy. Maybe you’'ve for-
gotten what that’s like.”

“I'hardly think so. But Lieutenant
Gidge Genelli is going to keep on fly-
ing in my husband’s group. That’s
where I come in. That’s what is im-
portant to me, Jackie. Ben and I,
we're a pair of antiques; 1 sweated out
the last war while Ben did over a hun-
dred missions out of England.”

*“And so this is nothing compared to
that?"

“This is quite a thing, Jackie.
Quite dangerous. Very unpleasant.
But at least Ben is with me.”

“That’s worse. Every time Gidge
comes back I can’t be right with him
because of thinking of the next time.”

“Never mind that for a moment,
Jackie. In 1943 Ben was a captain,
flying a fighter plane. His wing man
was \Whitey Jensen. Whitey started
getting the wrong sort of letters from
his wife: whining letters—letters saying
she couldn’t take it. Even one that
said she might kill herself—that is, if
he didn’t get out of the air. It may
have seemed odd to Whitey that
Laura couldn’t take it, while he was
forcing himself to button up his ship
for every mission. \Whitey got very
jittery. He lost the edge of his flying.
And one morning, taking oft, Whitey
wallowed over and jabbed his wingti
into Ben’s tail-section. Ben kept his
head and managed to get altitude.
He had no rudder, but with the
ailerons, tabs and elevators he could
make a very gradual turn. By the
time he brought his ship in, they had
what was left of Whitey and his ship
oﬁ the runway.’

“Why are you telling me a ghastly
thing like that? Do you think that
just because I-"

“I'm telling you, Jackie, because
your husband flies with my husband.

1 want to talk

If Gidge worries so much about you
that he uses bad judgment in the air,
it may affect, to some slight degree,
Ben’s safety. And I want Ben to have
every possible margin of safety. I
want so badly for him to have it, that
when he comes home, 1 try to make it
just as though he’d come home from
an office. I didn’t do so well this last
time. So I have to do better next
time. He has too much on his mind
to spare any room for my—my petu-
lance.”

Jackie looked down at her linked
fingers, white-knotted. “‘] wouldn’t
want to make Gidge . . . fly badly.”

“Did he leave here at peace with
himself and with you?”

“No, but I want him to stop.”

“And if he shouldn’t come back,
Jackiez If he makes one of those five-
hundred-mile-an-hour errors of judg-
ment""

“Don’t say a thing like that!”

“You don’t have to shout at me,
Jackie. I don’t care if you spend all
your time while Gidge is gone rolling
up and down the street, or getting
your stomach pumped. But I don’t
want you putting a man in the air
who could endanger Ben. Just as I
won't send Ben away in a frame of
mind that might endanger your hus-
band.”

Liz walked out unhurriedly. She
shut the tfront door quietly behind her
and walked down the station street
by the neat small houses. It was as
though she had visited her own past,
had visited the Liz of 1942. She felt
incurably tired, as though emotional
exhaustion were a disease she could
never escape.

ON the fifth day, at ten in the
morning, the black phone said, ‘“Mrs.
Helter? ETA is thirteen-thirty hours.
Full roster.”

“Thanks a lot, Timmy,” she said.

She stood by the phone a moment,
then looked in the mimeographed sta-
tion book and found Jackie Genelli’s
number.

“Jackie? Liz Helfer. Just got the
word: Theyre all back at one-thirty
this afternoon.”

There was a little time of silence
on the line: then Jackie said, her voice
light, quick, controlled, “Thanks a
lot, Liz.”

There was no need to hear any
more. Liz hung up, stood with her
eyes shut, her fingertips on the edge of
the phone table for long moments.
Jackie would make it. Most of them
could. A pathetic few couldn’t.

Suddenly there seemed to be a mil-
lion last-minute things to do. She
whistled, out of key, as she worked.
For her man there would be a little
time of ease, of rest, of love. It was
all she could do—a small thing, but
desperately difficult.
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Illustrated by HANK BERGER
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The bootleggers are back in

top lzzy & Moe, the boys who pinched

a joint with those doleful words:

* By GEORGE SCULLIN

SOME’I‘HING STRONGER THAN BRANCH
water is trickling out of the hills
these days. Bottled lightning in car-
load lots is rolling down the back-
woods trails, and the old feud between
moonshiner and “revenooer” is boom-
ing as it hasn’t done since the repeal
of the Liquor Prohibition Amend-
ment in 1938. It’s no small-time feud,
and no joke either, these days. The
stills are bigger, the 'shiners are tough-
er, the stakes are higher, and the rev-
enooers are young, scientifically-
trained men who don’t kid around.

=

AUGUST, 1952

greater numbers than ever, and once

more “the revenooers” are smoking out illicit stills. But none can

"Dere’s
ad News Here”

The reason for it all is the liquor
tax, recently boosted to a new high.
The moonshiners and their beotleg-
ger agents figure they can put out
their own brand of bottled goods,
complete with fusel oil, take out a fat
profit, and still undersell the Federal-
ly-taxed product of the legal distil-
leries. In four months last year, the
young men of the Alcohol Tax Unit
made 3,245 raids, all ending in seiz-
ures, which will give you some idea
of the how the business has grown.
What increases the seriousness of the
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situation is that the average capacity
of the stills seized was more than 10
percent greater than in the good old
days.

Now that the tax has gone even
higher than in 1951, there are bound
to be a lot more stills in the hills.
More stills means more unskilled op-
erators, more unclean equipment, un-
scientific methods, rotten mash, and
poison in the panther juice. It will
mean more jake-leg, blindness, alco-
holic poisoning and the other pleasan-
tries of the Prohibition days. And
where it hits ‘us legal drinkers is that
there will be less taxes in the treasury,
which means we will have to pay more
to make up for the chiselers.

That we don’t like, so we are wish-
ing more power to the young, scien-
tifically-trained men of the Alcohol
Tax Unit. We are going to do better
than that; we are going to give them
a tip. We are gouwg to tell them
about a couple of guys named lzzy
and Moe.

Now Izzy and Moe weren’t long
on modern criminal investigation, and
what they knew ol science you could
put in a speak-easy’s false-bottomed
shot-glass.  Just the same, they were,
by their own modest admission, the
world’s greatest Prohibition agents.
Izzy Einstein didn’t admit that about
Moe, and certainly Moe Smith didn’t
admit it-about lzzy, but since they
were partners, the truth must lie some-
where in between.

The young agents of today who
have taken the trouble to read up on
Izzy and Moe have come away trom
their findings slightly staggered. lzzy,
on a fine morning, used to muke as
many as thirty raids before breakfast,
just to work up an appetite. Not
many agents of today can believe that,
but disbelief was one of the handi-
caps that always confronted Izzy and
Moe. In their hands the simple truth
became preposterous.

For instance, we were reading the
other day about some young Alcohol
Tax Unit men who busted open a
million-dollar-a-year still in  Mon-
mouth County, New Jersey. One man
worked inside the mob for months,
patching roofs, repairing tences, and
plugging leaks in the mash barrels.
When the arm finally was put on the
mob, it was the culmination of a
year’s work for a half-dozen good men.

It reminded us forcibly of the time
Izzy got almost the same assignment
back in the early Twenties. There
was one great big leak in the Prohi-
bition defenses around New York,
and the stuff was really pouring into
town in carload lots. Dozens of
agents went to work on the case, us-
ing every scientific weapon at their
command. By a process of elimina-
tion, over a period of months, they
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finally narrowed their search down to
the Catskill Mountains of New York,
and there they were stumped.

About this time big, fat, amiable
Izzy Einstein was riding high in New
York City. knocking oft blind pigs at
a rate that was putting his fellow
agents to shaine. One morning on
his way to work he completed thirty
raids before checking in at 9 o'clock,
just as a sort of warm-up for the day’s
work. Other agents felt good il they
completed seven raids in a week. They
decided it was about time he got his
come-uppance: They gave him the
Catskill case.

Now Izzy was but strictly a product
of Ridge Street, down on the Lower
East Side. Before the inspiration hit
him that he was a natural-born genius
in the sleuthing business, his only ex-
perience had been as a dry-goods sales-
man and as a U. S. postoffice clerk.
Such contact as he had had with the
hills and meadows and the burbling
brooks had come to him of a Sundav
afternoon in Bronx Park.

Izzy took a train to Roscoe, New
York, where the last lukewarm lead
had vanished. It was a sleepy town
of less than 500 people, and Izzy knew
he would be spotted as a city slicker
the minute he arrived.

So he didn't bother to arrive: he
just got oft the train, went into the
depot and got a ticket on the next
train back to New York. Puckeving
up his fat tace ruefully, he admitted
to the stationmaster that he was the
dumbest man in the world: “So dumb
yet [ come all a way up here to sell
cigars—and forget my sample case!”

“That kills your day, then,” said
the stationmaster. “The next train
doesn’t come through for five hours.”

lzzy went outside to sit on a sunny
bench. .\ few loungers drifted around
but he didn’t open his eves. After a
bit, the stationmaster came out and
sat with him. .\fter another bit they
began talking about dumb stunts
pulled by other people. lzzy con-
tended philosophically that city peo-
ple were dumber than country peo-
ple, and the stationmaster contended
that as far as he could see, one was
about as bad as t'other. It went on
like that for a couple of more hours.
neither getting very excited about the
subject; but then, it was a nice quiet
day, so there really wasn’t anvthing to
get excited about.

Tiex talked about the East Side,
and Broadway, the price of rot-gut,
the high cost of living, and whether
hens were more profitable than cows.
“Depends on the feed,” allowed the
stationmaster. “We got one dairy-
man here, he uses scientific feed he
orders special. Got the recipe from
the university, he says. Gets a car-
load a week, and if 1 do say so, it

smells good enough to eat. Like
prunes, almost. But it sure must do
the business. I see him going into
town two, three times a week with a
truckload of cream, and he ain’t got
more than ten cows.”

Izzy patted his paunch and agreed
that there was a lot to be said for
good feed. He was almost half asleep,
but he was polite enough to ask the
dairyman’s name, and otherwise show
an interest in his companion’s con-

versation. By the time his train came
in, he had all the information he
needed.

He was back the next day, this time
with his sample case, and was greeted
by the stationmaster as an old friend.
A couple of hard-eyed men transter-
ring cases from a box-car to a Model-T
truck witnessed the greeting and re-
laxed. They didn’t even notice Izzy
as he snilfed appreciatively at the
cases of dried prunes and raisins in
the truck, their original labels con-
cealed beneath cow-feed labels.

lT didn’t take lzzy long to complete
his business calls on the stores of
Roscoe—he actually got orders for a
couple dozen boxes of cigars which
the storekeepers are still waiting for
—and then he was off for a walk in the
country to kill time. Even to his New
York-trained eye, the ten raisin-fed
cows he encountered at the farm of
his suspect didn’t look very produc-
tive. He moved downwind from the
dairy barn and sniffed delicately. His
nostrils were temporarily stunned by
the overpowering aroma of sun-rip-
ened cow manure and rancid silage,
but he waited patiently. A lift of the
breeze, and there it was, a 100-proof
snift of the real stuft.

Less than 48 hours after he was put
on the case the leak was plugged, 100
cases of evidence were in a Govern-
ment warehouse, and ten moonshin-
ers and booze-runners were temporar-
ily out of circulation. . . .

But it was in his beloved New York
that lzzy really shone. He looked so
obviously the f{at, happy, dumb fam-
ily-man that no one, not even his own
boss, Chief Agent James Shevlin of
the Southern New York Division of
the Federal Prohibition Bureau, could
believe that beneath his soup-stained
vest beat the daring heart of a Sher-
lock Holmes. What made it even
more confusing was that in real life
he was exactly what he looked like, an
amiable family-man in love with his
wife and four children, and as proud
of his flat on Ridge Street as any mil-
lionaire was proud of his Park Avenue
mansion.

What did not show on the surface
was Izzy’s uncanny knowledge of ap-
plied psychology and his broad un-
derstanding of people no matter where
encountered. He liked people so
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much that, just to get along with his
polyglot neighbors, he mastered Pol-
ish, German, Hungarian, Yiddish, Bo-
hemian and Italian without benefit
of any serious attempts at formal edu-
cation.

During his first year as an agent
lzzy worked alone and liked it. In
fact, he almost didn’t work at all. His
superiors down at the Customshouse
had hired him with reluctance, and
only when they were short-handed,
because it was the only way to get him
out of their hair. He was so insistent
that he was a daring sleuth, and they
were so convinced that he wasn’t, that
the only way to settle the stalemate
was to turn him loose on a few cases.
They firmly hoped that a couple of
raids would convince him that such
work was best left to professionally-
trained men, and just as firmly they
hoped he wouldn’t get hurt before he
learned his lesson.

Izzy started out by teaching them
lessons. One of the rules of the game
was that a joint couldn’t be pinched
until alcohol had been purchased
there, and the alcohol preserved as
evidence. It wasn’t enough that you
had bought a slug there, and came in
with the evidence reeking on your
breath. It had to be in a bottle.

So lzzy invented a vest-pocket fun-
nel connected by a long rubber tube
to a flask on his hip. Then he prac-
tised tossing off slugs of booze, the
gesture carrying the glass to his mouth
while actually flipping the contents
into his vest pocket. In this he had

the co-operation of the corn juice it-
self. One jolt of that stuft tossed off
free-handed was like batting yourself
in the stomach with a mallet. Auto-
matically you doubled up, your arms
twisted as though in rigor mortis, and
it was drinker’s choice whether you
leaped over the bar or fell on the
floor. With this choice of convulsions
at his disposal, Izzy quickly found the
movements best suited to vest-pocket-
ing his drink, and set out to do busi-
ness.

He was phenomenal. He hit the
24-hour-a-day joints first.  Along
about 5 A.M., a miserable creature
would be seen crawling out of a door-
way after sleeping off a desperately
bad night. It would stagger off for-
lornly, so obviously in need of a bracer
that no one could refuse it—if it had
money, that is. It had money, it it
hadn’t been rolled. It would search
its pockets desperately, then remember
the wallet stashed away inside its un-
derwear. Out would come the wal-
let, tied shut with string. Painfully
the string would be unwound, the
wallet opened, and a few coins—
enough for one jolt—would be reluc-
tantly produced. ‘“Paying with a
pang,” lzzy called it; and it worked
every time: The jolt would be pro-
duced; flip into the vest pocket. The
figure would straighten up as though
by magic, and the firm voice of lzzy
Einstein would announce, “Dere’s sad
news here. The joint is pinched.”

Then, on to the next joint; a dozen
raids in a morning were nothing,

with thirty raids being his all-time
record.

Then one morning Izzy reported for
work and discovered he was to have
a partner. He was introduced to Moe
Smith, and they were so much alike
that, as one newspaperman observed,
they were less partners than counter-
partners.

Moe was if anything bigger than
Izzy, and just as outwardly dumb and
happy. Even their backgrounds were
identical, with one peculiar exception.
At one point in his career Moe had
had some success as a featherweight
pug.

Then began one of the most fan-
tastic partnerships in the history of
crime detection.

They started out with a Ford-car
act that was something out of a circus.
As their first case they took a joint
over in Brooklyn that was known to
be a speak’ but in which every agent
who had tried it had been tossed out
bodily. Izzy drove up in the old
Model T and all but blew it apart in
front of the joint. For an hour he
tinkered with it, and then, grease-
stained, harassed, and all but in tears,
went in to use the phone. A pleading
talk on the phone ensued, to no avail.
Looking more despairing than ever,
Izzy went out and sat on the curb be-
side his wreck.

Up walked Moe. A lot of talk, a

lot of thumping on the car and much
looking under the hood. A pulling
out of a checkbook and a search for a
Then into the joint to borrow

pen.

Even though he was strictly a city feller, Izzy took just 48 hours to nab a still in New York's Catskill Mountains that a flock of agents couldn't
find after months of sleuthing. He just went downwind from a herd of too-contented cows, and there was sad news for the farmer.
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Raiding an exclusive country club was a cinch for Izzy and Moe. You just went in lookin
terribly rich and eccentric—which last was no trouble for them—and the joint was pinched.

pen and ink. A sale on the spot, and
what could be more natural than a
drink to celebrate the sale?

After that production, it would
have been a heartless bartender who
could have refused them, even though
they were strangers. Having partici-
pated in Izzy’s troubles, he felt he
knew Izzy well, and the drinks were
forthcoming.

Said Izzy, in what was to become a
slogan heard thousands of times,
“Dere’s sad news here.” Total time
for the pinch on which a dozen other
agents had failed: 45 minutes.

They used the Ford-car trick until
the mere sight of a Model T pulling
up in front of an oasis was enough to
panic it into closing for a week.

Next they tackled a rough one up
in the Bronx, “tackle” being the ex-
act word in this case. Van Cortlandt
Park was a large recreation spot much
given over to baseball teams in the
summer and football teams in the fall.
A goodly sporting crowd followed the
various fates of the neighborhood
teams, and didn’t seem to mind too
much if sometimes the athletes were
more inspired by inward fires than
neighborhood loyalties. The firewa-
ter was being locally supplied, but,
for some reason, the Federal agents
just couldn’t seem to pass themselves
off as local Bronx sports. Could Izzy
and Moe?

They could. One hot October
afternoon the two ponderous agents
squeezed themselves into football uni-
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forms, and then, like two pachyderms,
rolled and bellowed on the green.
They didn't fake; by the time Moe
had heaved his 250 pounds into Izzy’s
bulk a few times, and vice versa, both
were sufficiently bloody and grass-
stained to look as though they had
emerged from the wars. At that point
a near-by game ended, and the ex-
hausted teams trotted off for a spot of
much-needed refreshment. Izzy and
Moe trotted right along. There was
saw news there, too, by the time the
agents departed.

For a change of pace, Izzy and Moe
moved in on the ultra-rich, high so-
ciety of exclusive Westchester County,
north of New York City. By this
time other agents were managing to
pass themselves off for other than what
they were, but this was a job requir-
ing more than the normal flair for
histrionics. To penetrate the sacred
portals of an exclusive golf club, a
man not only had to look as if he had
a million dollars, but he had to look
as though he had had it kicking
around for so long he had all but for-
gotten about it.

Izzy and Moe, clad in outrageous
golf knickers and socks, and each
carrying one club (they didn't want
to run up the expense account by buy-
ing a whole set of clubs) moved in
like a pair of maharajahs. They
looked so ridiculous and acted so pom-
pous that it was quite clear to even
the- most conservative members that
they were the genuine article. Only

millionaires of long standing would
ever dare behave so eccentrically. As
for their accents, still bearing traces
of the Lower East Side, weren’t they
from a long line of furriers, in minks
and sables yet?

The membership committee mem-
bers looked them over. Maybe they
would take them in; maybe they
wouldn’t. In the meantime, as long
as they had all that money, they might
as well use some guest privileges at
the bar. That was no surprise to lzzy
and Moe. They figured that even the
richest club is not above picking up
some of the long green when the occa-
sion warrants, and they were just pant-
ing to warrant some occasions. They
played the club’s avarice for all it was
worth.

All the club was worth, too, as it
turned out. After a couple of hun-
dred thousand dollars’ worth of pre-
war stock had been removed, the ma-
hogany bar destroyed, and the club-
house closed for a year, the members
had little left to live for.

Yet there was never anything vin-
dictive about the way lzzy and Moe
operated. To their way of thinking,
every moonshiner, bootlegger, and
speak-easy operator was smart enough
to know he was breaking the law. He
was smart enough also to take pre-
cautions about getting caught at it
If his precautions weren’t smart
enough to foil the efforts of Izzy and
Moe, then tag, he was “It.” If he
didn't like being “It,” Izzy and Moe
just figured he plain didn’t belong in
the game in the first place.

They worked hard at playing their
end of the game fairly. No one
worked harder. When the speak-easy
customers began to get fussy and de-
mand ice in their drinks, Izzy and
Moe obliged the bartenders by start-
ing an ice route. For weeks they
peddled ice from a horse-drawn wag-
on, sometimes carrying a fifty-pound
cake up four flights of stairs to oblige
a legiumate customer whose strident
hail they couldn’t escape. By the
time they were through they had
around forty speak-easies as paying
customers, all of whom promptly van-
ished from the trade the day Izzy and
Moe turned in their ice tongs and
their horse.

To catch a notorious bootlegger in
the Bronx, who was operating out of
an apartment opposite Woodlawn
Cemetery, they got jobs as grave-dig-
gers. They dug graves all day, and,
when no suspicious trucks showed up,
they got lanterns and dug graves all
night. All told, they dug so many
graves that old-timers around there
must have suspected the Bronx of
having been hit by a plague. But
finally they got their evidence. Their
victim was actually relieved when he
got to the Federal Building and found
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the pinch was genuine. He thought
he was being body-snatched by a
couple of ghouls too impatient to
wait until he was dead.

Their tricks were endless, but few
were careless. VWhen they became
street-car conductors, to bust up a lit-
tle social club near the car barns, they
learned all the jargon of the trade and
most of the car stops and transfer
points in Greater New York. When a
railroad complained that its round:
house crews were coming on the job
so looped they kept falling into the
grease-pits, Izzy and Moe learned all
about oiling up a locomotive before
moving in for the kill.

Some of their arts were routine,
such as becoming sewing-machine
repairmen to knock oft booze peddlers
in the garment industry; coal-carriers
to catch the small (and consequently
dangerous, because their® hooch was
almost always poisonous) operators
in cold-water flats: blackface street

eddlers to catch the smoke salesmen
in Harlem; and Bowery bums to nail
the blockfall pushers on the East Side.
Blockfall was Izzy's pet name for the
various varieties of wood alcohol
called gin. *“Take a drink,” he would
explain, “walk a block, and fall
down.”

But for every routine piece of art
work they exhibited, they had another
that was sheer genius. Up near Co-
lumbus Circle, for instance, was a fab-
ulous establishment (Reisenweber’s)
featuring big-name entertainment;
here the smallest nip began at four
bucks and,went up swiftly from there.
Its boast was that no agent in the
world could get past its battery of
lynx-eyed men who guarded the doors.

Izzy and Moe did. They started
out on the make one night, working
their way through the buxom but
slightly faded dolls who liked to fre-
quent the burlesque houses in those
days. Finally they discovered a couple
of doxies made to order for their pur-
pose: Huge gals, broad of beam and
flashy of dress, and loud of laugh. Be-
ing no Beau Brummels themselves,
they made up for it with loud prom-
ises to “blow the lid off"—and the
pick-up was made.

Behind this blatantly hard-drinking
screen, they plowed right into the lav-
ish joint, and soon were the most
boisterous foursome among all the
thousand or more customers. When
the bill reached twenty-four dollars,
Izzy and Moe decided it was time to
blow the lid off as promised.

“Ladies and gentlemen,” said Izzy,
climbing up on his chair, “I'm Izzy
Einstein, and this is my partner, Moe
Smith. Dere’s sad news here. Kindly
finish your drinks—at these prices you
should—then leave quietly. The joint
is pinched.”

It was, too.
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Another favorite joint was Jack’s,
down on Sixth Avenue, across the
street from the Hippodrome. It was
a favorite haunt of actors, musicians
and newspapermen, some of the lat-
ter of whom were great publicists of
Izzy and Moe. Still, duty was duty.
For this raid, they decided to go in as
musicians. There would be dozens
of people there who would recognize
them on sight, but by this time they
had become aware of a strange fact.
Even your friends are inclined to ac-
cept you for what you are rather than
what you look like. If you have al-
ways looked like an ordinary guy, and
suddenly appear in a tuxedo and
carrying a huge bull fiddle, about the
only recognition you'll get is a remark
like, “See that musician over there?
If 1 didn't know better, I'd swear it
was Joe Doakes.”

So lzzy got a big bull-fiddle case and
Moe got a trombone case, and after
the Hippodrome show they barged in
with the rest of the musicians from
the pit. That was an easy raid.

Too easy. The jury listening to the
case decided it couldn’t be done that
easily, and tossed out the evidence.
Back they went again, this time as
themselves. “You remember us,” said
Izzy. “We've been here before.”

“Yeah, sure, come in,” said the door-
man. “I'd remember your faces any-
where.” And in they went.

That time they knocked off more
than $100,000 in good liquor, and the
wails of such newspapermen as Stan-
ley Walker, Edwin C. Hill and Alva

Johnston would have been much loud-
er if the story hadn’t been so reward-
ing. “Izzy Is Bizzy,” read one head-
line, and that set the tone of the
others.

There was a strange aftermath to
their second raid. A few weeks later
Jack’s was busier than ever, trying to
make up for past losses and get set for
the inevitable fine. A fire broke out
in the kitchen, and up rolled the fire-

men. “Don't let 'em in!” screamed a
doorman. “It’s another trick of Izzy
and Moe!”

Not all their stunts were successful,
but even when they failed it was in
typical Izzy-and-Moe style. Most dra-
matic of these failures was a well-
planned raid on a fourth-floor gen-
tlemen's club in a well-equipped
apartment house. (A joint run by a
guy named Louis Stusits.) Reports
had it that the entrance hallway was
well decorated with newspaper pic-
tures of Izzy and Moe in a dozen dif-
ferent disguises. That could be en-
tirely possible because neither was
averse to publicity, and more than
one high politician wasknown to have
complained bitterly that they were
grabbing off more newspaper space
than he was.

Since entrance by the front door
looked difficult, they decided to go in
by the dumbwaiter, arming themselves
with a search warrant in advance to
keep within the law. They drew lots,

and it fell to Izzy to ride the dumb-
waiter, with Moe heaving on the rope
from the basement.

One of the few failures Izzy and Moe ever experienced in their raids on speak-easies came as
the result of their sudden fame—and a dog who resented their entrance via dumbwaiter.
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All went well until Izzy was up
around the second floor. By this time
Moe had his feet braced under the
dumbwaiter door, putting all his
weight and the strength of his legs
into heaving the ponderous Izzy to
his destination. That was when the
watch-dog got him—and at his most
exposed point. With a loud cry, Moe
dropped the rope.

His cry was nothing to the scream
Izzy sent echoing up the dumbwaiter
shaft; it was enough to curdle every
drink in the place. Then he hit bot-
tom and wedged there. His exposed
part was too tempting for any dog to
resist. It immediately left Moe and
turned its full attention to Izzy.

By the time the pair escaped, minus
most of their pants and a few morsels
of cushioning, their nervous quarry
had already polluted the sewers with
all the evidence in stock, and as far as
is known, never did open again.

Another raid cost a lot of dignity
when they jumped a Polish establish-
ment in Brooklyn. Two brothers
were running a home-brew bottling
works in the basement of their flat,
and their wives were selling the stuff
in the front parlor. The brothers,
caught with their bottles down, were
willing to admit it. Not so with their
wives. As Izzy and Moe led out their
captives, the wives came at them with
brooms and mops: Wham, wham,
out into the hall.  1Vham on the front
stoop. Wham on the sidewalk. By
this time a goodly crowd had col-
lected, as it can in Brooklyn, and still
the punishment went on. A final
wham nearly took off the top of the
car as they drove away.

To some 4000 victims of their previ-
ous raids, that story made the best
reading of the year.

IN all their thousands of raids
only once was a shot fired, though one
nervous bartender tried earnestly to
plug them with a gun he didn’t know
was empty. Moe, with the same skill
he had shown as a featherweight, but
with three times the bulk, put him
away with an eight-ton wull(()fx

The serious shot was fired during
a raid on a garage-warehouse in the
Bronx, just a block or so from the
Polo Grounds. It was more of a
fort than a garage, a fact which made
it an object of suspicion in the first
place. lzzy and Moe studied it for
several days, noting the trucks that
came and went, and finally deciding
the traflic pattern of the trucks bore
no resemblance to honest industry.
Since it was plainly a liquor drop and
not a place in which to make a pur-
chase, they decided to walk in. They
were like that. However, in this case
there was something sinister about the
joint—so for one of the few times in
their lives, they carried pistols.
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lzzy knocked on the garage door.
It was so solid it nearly broke his
knuckles. Itopened a few inches, and
Izzy jammed in his knee. Instantly an
electric button was pressed, a motor
whirred, and the door clamped on his
leg like a vise. Nor did the pressure
let up.

This time it wasn’t funny. Izzy
thought for sure his leg was going to
be crushed. Moe was just as frantic.
He was tugging away at the door with
his bare hands when suddenly he re-
membered his pistol. He yanked it
out and let fly toward the ceiling
through the crack in the door.

There was a loud clatter inside and
then the door wheezed open. In the
doorway stood a badly-shaken guard.
At his teet were a high-powered rifle
and a pistol, both dropped in fright
at the blast from Moe’s gun.

The raid proved to be one of their
richest. The garage held nearly
$500,000 in imported hooch.

By this time they had just about
worn out their welcome in New York.
They had arrested some 4,750 persons,
and the amount of boose they had

[f you want to be thought a liar
always tell the truth.

—LOGAN PEARSALL SMITH
SEEESEEEREERREEERERRRAREEEES

confiscated ran into the millions of
dollars. As a matter of record, they
had participated in twenty percent
of the arrests made in the entire Lower
New York State District, which in-
cluded all of New York City.

Their salaries at this point stood at
$3,600 a year. They had dozens of
offers of better-paying jobs, not a few
of the offers coming from well-mean-
ing bootleggers who would have paid
oft on the button just to get them out
of the way. Moe succumbed in 1925
to an offer to become an insurance
agent, a job he held most successfully
until his death last year. lzzy would
have succumbed, but, because of his
knowledge of so many languages, the
service was as reluctant to let him go
as they had been to hire him in the
first place. In the end, lzzy agreed to
remain if he could be transferred to
other districts well outside of New
York.

As a lone wolf Izzy set some more
records. In Detroit he became an un-
employed mechanic, seeking the source
of the poisonous fusel oil and wood
alcohol that was killing dozens of dere-
licts, and making wrecks out of scores
of other good men. Though it was a
bitter winter, he wore no more than
the thinnest of second-hand work-
clothes, figuring that the misery of

cold was something that couldn’t be
faked. He stood in breadlines with
bums, slept in doorways with bums,
and moved into hovels with bums.
Whenever he could make a purchase
he did, pulling a few last coins from
his pockets and “paying with a pang.”

F()RTY arrests later, and with the
“smoke” ring smashed, he moved on
to Mobile, Alabama.

There he became a worker on the
docks, unloading banana boats. In
the evenings he became popular in
the bars as a player of Mobile jazz on
a mouth organ. Some eighty-five ar-
rests later, and after the confiscation of
$100,000 in rot-gut, he was not so
popular, and he moved on to Los
Angeles.

Los Angeles mobsters knew how to
handle him, and being a stranger in
town, he let them do it in their own
way. He was elevated to the position
of technical adviser on saloon settings
for one of the studios, and had no hesi-
tation in letting it be known that he
was satisfied with his movie career.
As a Hollywood character, he was of
course welcome in the better bistros,
and his little funnel-to-tube-to-flask
was seldom dry. [t was a great shock
to the Hollywood mob when their
dumb little sucker from the East
closed all their joints.

But neither Hollywood, nor St.
Louis nor Chicago offered the same
thrills any more. Maybe he missed
Moe, though he’d never admit it
Besides, the financial pressure of his
family was exceeding the ability of
his salary to relieve it. Late in 1926
he turned in his badge, and he too be-
came a successful insurance agent. A
fantastic period in crime detection,
but a truly great one just the same,
had come to an end.

So what can our modern Alcohol
Tax Unit Agents learn from all this?
Well, one time lzzy raided an up-to-
date, ultra-modern, scientific speak-
easy. It had electrically locked doors,
sliding panels to conceal liquor cabi-
nets, a big sink in which to destroy
evidence, and a framed picture of
Izzy Einstein over the bar. The door-
man, the bartender and the proprietor
held weekly drills on what to do in
case of a raid, revising their drills to
keep up to date on the changes of
personnel down at the Prohibition
oilice.

lzzy listened to the bartender’s ex-
planation ol all this in adwmiring si-
lence, in the meantime saving a little
ol his admiration for his own picture
above the bar. Then at last he ob-
served: “That’'s a real scientific sys-
tem, and I'll bet you could clean up
with it at the track. But it’s for
horses, not people. In the meantime”
—and he fumbled for his badge—
“dere’s sad news here—" °
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Women have been the root of all evil. . By ELSIE LEE

Even in Arabia where women are not
highly thought of, a woman can be the
root of all evil.

Take, for example, the case of the tai-
lor of Bir Es Hasra.

There was a certain Arab who made his
living by thievery, and as thieves go, he
was high in his profession and had a cer-
tain standing. But even the mifhty fall,
and this thief—Ali, by name—fell quite
literally into the hands of the law when
the rung of the ladder on which he was
resting, preparatory to burgling the upper
story of the banker’s house, suddenly gave
way.

Ali fell onto the garden plot, such as it
was, beneath the banker’s bedroom win-
dow—causing a commotion that could

-not be overlooked. The banker’s wife
peeped from the window, and seeing Ali
sitting cursing on the ground, her screams
led to his instant apprehension by the
caliph’s guard.

ow even in Arabia, a man has his day
in court. Ali was duly brought before the
judge; there was a recital of his misdeeds
and at last the judge nodded his head
wisely and said, “Have you anything to
say before I pronounce you guilty?”

“Yes, your honor,” said Ali, bowing in-
gratiatingly. “Your pardon, but I am not
guilty.”

“Not guilty?” The judge roared with
laughter. “Why, you were caught red-
handed trying to enter banker Sulieman’s
bedchamber. How can you say you’re not
guilty?”

“It is simple,” Ali shrugged. “Is it my
fault I was caught? Oh, no. If the rung
of the ladder on which I stood had not
given way, I should not have been caught.
So I am not guilty, your honor. The man
you want is the carpenter who sold me
the faulty ladder.”

The judge looked at the advocates, and
the advocates looked at the caliph’s men,
and they all looked at Ali, who merely
bowed again, politely.
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“Well,” said the judge, “there is much
in what you say. Perhaps we should see
this carpenter. Let him be brought.”

So the caliph’s men went out to the
street of lumber merchants and shortly
thereafter they dragged in the carpenter,
named Vasti.

“It is charged that you were responsible
for the faulty ladder, whereby Ali the
thief fell to the ground and was captured
by the caliih’s men,” said the judge stern-
ly. “The blame for his crime thus rests
on you. Have you anything to say before
I pronounce you guilty?”

“N-n-no, your honor, except if it please
your worshipfulness, I am not guilty,”
Vasti stuttered. “For five years I have
worked with wood and always given sat-
isfaction, your honor, but this was ex-
traordinary. ‘On the day that I visited
the bazaar to purchase my last lot of
wood, I was walking through the street of
the Five Lotus Blossoms—you know it,
perhaps?—when I saw coming toward me
a most beautiful girl.”

He sighed reminiscently, and con-
tinued: “She wore a most delicious green
robe, your honor. It moved about her
little feet like the south wind playing
with two little kittens. Her hair had the
sheen of black marble and her eyes were
as lustrous as the gown which undulated
with the grace of her movement. She
was veiled, but I thought—that is, it
seemed that her eye rested on.me with
interest, all unworthy as I am.”

“And what has this girl in a green gown
to do with the matter?” demanded the
judge irritably.

“Everything, your honor,” Vasti said
hastily. “I am young, and the girl was
beautiful. I could not get her out of my
head, and because I thought so much of
her grace and loveliness, my judgment in
wood was impaired. I bought less wisely
than usual. But it is not my fault, as you
see, but that of the girl in the green gown
who lured me with her beauty.”

The judge nodded his head thought-
fully and looked at the advocates, who
looked at the caliph’s men. And the
caliph’s men went out and got the girl in
the green gown.

“It is charged that with your beauty
you seduced a young carpenter and caused
him to buy poor lumber,” barked the
judge. “Whereby the faulty ladder he
constructed caused Ali the thief to fall
into banker Sulieman’s garden and be ap-
prehended. This is all your fault. Have
you anything to say before I pronounce
you guilty?”

The girl Sephira sighed gently behind
her veil and cast down her eyes modestly.
“My crime is grave, your honor,” she ad-
mitted, and her voice was like the ringing
of bells, “but truly I do not think I am
guilty. For it was not I who seduced the
carpenter, but my green gown, and I
should never have bought it except that
Jonas the tailor persuaded me it was the
right color. He had only enough mate-
rial for this one robe, but I would not
have bought it if he had not persuaded
me. So it is not my fault, as you see, but
that of the tailor who made the gown to
sway with my passing.”

The judge cleared his throat sharply
and glanced at the advocates, and the
caliph’s men merely sighed and went out
and got the tailor, named Jonas.

When the matter had been explained to
Jonas, he wrung his hands together sadly
and said, “There is nothing I can say. It
is true that I made the gown for Sephira
which caused the carpenter to lose his
judgment and make a faulty ladder which
caused Ali to fall and be taken by the
caliph’s men. I admit the whole. Do
with me as you will.”

So the judge squared his shoulders and
said, “For that you are solely responsible
for the attempted burglary of banker
Sulieman’s house, I hereby condemn you
to be hanged by the neck until you are
dead. Take him out to the East Gate of
the city and dispatch him at sunrise.”

Jonas wrung his hands together once
more, but the caliph’s men took charge of
him, while the judge leaned over to in-
quire whether Sephira would permit him
to escort her home.

lt was nearly noon the following day
when the judge thought of Jonas. “I
suppose you hanged that tailor this morn-
ing?” he said casually to his aide.

“Well, as a matter of fact, your honor,
we had a small difficulty. A minute mat-
ter, with which we would not trouble
you.”

“Eh?” said the judge.
pened?”

“Why, your honor, the East Gate is a
very low gate,” said the aide, “and as it
happened, Jonas was a very tall tailor.
We tried and tried, but we couldn’t fix
the hook and the rope in such a way that
his legs would clear the ground.”

“Well?”

“So we finally let him go; and we went
out and found a shorter tailor and hanged
bim.” °
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MCRECHNIE

He was old and alone, and that's the way he wanted it.
He didn’t like women, but he almost killed himself

for one he'’d never met———

WELL, THIS LOOKED like the

beginning of the end. Time had
slowed the hand and stiffened the
back, and a man grew old early in the
shearing game. Fifty-ive now, and
he’d lasted ten years longer than most
of them. But it was still pretty hard
to realize he was finished.

Wirramunna sheep station was al-
ways first to begin the West Australian
shearing season, and McKechnie had
been coming here for as long as he
could remember. Every year he had
looked forward to it after the four
months’ layoff: the boat trip from
Perth in the south to Derby on the
northwest coast, the 150-mile truck
ride to Wirramunna, the familiar
smell of the wool grease and the noise
in the shed, the clatter of the first
shorn sheep going down the chute,
the whole environment where for
years he had been a “gun” shearer, a
champion,

“There they come,” Alec Patterson
said. “How do you feel about it,
Bluey?”

McKechnie stared down at the red
cloud of dust moving across the plain.
Even at this distance he could hear
the shouts of the aborigine stockmen
and the light nagging barks of the
dogs, and this was something else he’d
always looked forward to: the arrival
of the first mob of sheep for tomor-
row’s shearing.

“Glad to be done with it,”" he said,
and lifted his gear from the back of
the truck. “I know when I've had
enough.”

He turned and walked away as Jock
Shaw, the shearing contractor, came
out of the main house with Laurie,
the station-owner, and yelled that he
had some mail. NcKechnie knew
there would be none for him and he
kept on across the yard toward the
sleeping huts.

Judson, the new man with the team,
was lying on his bunk when Mc-
Kechnie walked into the hut. Judson
was a big man, too big really for a
shearer, with a big voice and a big
opinion of himself. All during the
boat trip from Perth he’d been talk-
ing about how good shearers were in

AUGUST, 1952

Victoria where he came from, and
McKechnie, a quiet man, had grown
tired of the sound of that voice. He
had avoided Judson on the boat and
hadn’t spoken to him during the truck
ride out from Derby.

“They tell me you used to be a
pretty good shearer”” Judson lit a
cigarette and flicked the match past
McKechnie’s nose and out the door.
“Bit of a come-down, ain’t it, to finish
up as a cook?”

“I'm training to be a chef.” None
knew better than he what a come-
down it was, but when you'd known
only one life you couldn’t just walk
out of it and make a new start. “You
gotta start somewhere.”

“Pretty quick with the tongue, ain’t
he?” Judson looked at Simmons and
Lucas, the other two men in the hut.
“How quick were you with the clip-
pers? What was your best for a day?”

“Three hundred and ten in eight
hours.” The lean spade of a chin
came up and the sunbleached eyes
were suddenly young; that was some-
thing of the years he would have with
him forever. “What’s yours?”

ALEC ParTERSON entered the hut,
thussaving Judson’sface. He dropped
his gear on the floor and lay down on
his bunk, stifly and quietly, staring
up at the ceiling, one hand clutching
a letter.

“You get any mail, Alec:” Lucas
said.

“Yeah,” Patterson
turning his head.

That would be one from his new
missus, McKechnie thought. He
hadn’t been able to believe it at first
when Alec had come to him on the
beach at Carnarvon that morning
four months ago. Later there had
been a feeling of emptiness and finally
just plain anger.

“This is going to rock you,” Alec
had said. “I'm getting married Sat-
urday. I met her a week ago in Perth
and we hit it off right away. - I want
you to be best man at the wedding.
That means you’ll have to shave and
put on a tie; but you'll do it for a
cobber, won’t you?”

said, without

By JON CLEARY

But in Bluey McKechnie’s book you
did nothing at all for a cobber who
walked out on you like that. He'd
mumbled something to Alec, then
gone out and got drunk. He’d stayed
drunk for a week, been drunkest of
all on the Saturday of the wedding,
and he hadn’t seen or heard from Alec
till yesterday. Alec had flown up
from Perth to Derby, missing the nine-
day boat trip, and in the truck coming
out to Wirramunna, he’d kept his dis-
tance from Alec. He should have
asked Jock Shaw to see that they were
billeted in different huts.

Tm: evening meal and next morn-
ing’s breakfast were not a gourmet’s
delight, but they were adequate. Mc-
Kechnie had spent most of his life
abusing shearers’ cooks, and he knew
what to expect from the shearers and
what they wanted.

Alec Patterson didn’t come to the
evening meal, and at breakfast he
hardly touched the food before him.

“What’s the matter?” McKechnie
asked. “Ain’t it as good as your
missus makes?”

Patterson looked up at him, then
abruptly rose from his seat and walked
out of the cookhouse. McKechnie
stared after him, anger staining his
face. Well, that was just the way he
wanted it! Alec had his missus, to
write him letters and spend his money
and take up his time so he couldn’t
even talk to old cobbers. Bluey Mc-
Kechnie had himself, and that was all
anyone needed.

After breakfast McKechnie strolled
across to the shearing shed. He'd
wanted to stay away in the cookhouse,
away from the memories, but he might
just as well have tried to walk out on
Judgment Day. He leaned against
the wall and looked down the long
shed. He felt the itch in his hands,
the weight of the sheep against his
knee, the smell of the wool thick in
his nose, and when he lit his cigarette
it wasn’t only the smoke that dimmed
his view.

“Wish you were in there, Bluey?”
Jock Shaw was standing beside him;
he had worked for Jock for fifteen
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years and Jock could remember him
wlien. “It won't be so bad next year.”
“I'm doing all right,” McKechnie
said. “T'm gunna take it easy now.”
Shaw looked at him and grinned.
“You bleeding old liar!”

THE twelve shearers were standing
on the board waiting tor the starting
bell. Contract men, theyv were, paid
at the rate of so much a hundred
sheep, so there was money as well as
glory in being the fastest shearer in
the shed. The first sheep was the im-
portant one; a good start was needed
if a man was to top the tally for the
day.

McKechnie looked down the shed
at the shearers, seeing the slight clark
figure of Alec Patterson and the big
blondness of Judson side by side: then
the sound of the bell hit him as a sud-
den shock. He saw the men dart into
the pens for their sheep, heard the
handpieces begin to buzz, saw Alec
Patterson get a slight lead on the
others.
quickly across to the cookhouse. A
new season had begun, but the suart-
ing bell had sounded lor him [or the
last time.

That night the other men were al-
ready in bed by the time he got across
to the hut. The first day’s shearing
was always the toughest, and the men
usually went to bed early. Alec Pat-
terson was just sealing up a letter as
McKechnie walked in.

McKechnie had brought a billy of
tea across with him. He set it down
on the small table in the center of the
hut. “You blokes want a cup?”

Judson raised himself in his bunk
and held out a mug. McKechnie
glared at him. “What’s the matter?
I seen you done only two hundred and
thirty today. Did that break your
back or something?"

“A bloke oughta break your neck!”
Judson got out of his bunk and
poured himself a mug of tea. “It
beats me how you've lived as long as
you have, you old goat.”

“Lay off!” Alec Patterson took the
billy from Judson. “We're all too
tired to listen to an argument.”

He sat on his bunk and began to
sip his tea. His blunt dark face was
wan and tired, and McKechnie could
guess at the reason. He was finished
with Alec as a cobber, but he’d been
a shearer too long not to admire an-
other man’s skill.

“You were going some today.”
There was grudging approval in his
voice. “Two hundred and forty-four;
you never done as good as that before
on the first day.”

“I once done two fifty,” Judson said.
“He just got the jump on us today,
that was all.”

McKechnie ignored him, and spoke
again to Patterson. “The missus’ll be
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Then he turned and walked -

proud of you, ehz” The sarcasm in
his voice was as subtle as a blunt axe.

“Yeah.” Patterson put his mug on
the table and climbed back into his
bunk. He looked at the letter he still
held in his hand, then rolled over to
face the wall. “I just been telling her
about it.”

McKechnie felt the rebuft like a
slap in the face. Anger boiled up
within him. Then Judson spoke.

“You alraid one ol us young blokes
night some day break your record:”

McKechnie’s anger switched direc-
tion.  “You'll never bheat anvone’s
record! You use vour wind too much
tor talking!”

Judson was out ot bed in a mo-
ment. He towered over McKechnie,
his arin raised like a club.

But Patterson and the other two
men moved quickly. “Break it up,”
Patterson said, standing between them.
“He’s twice your age and half as big.”

“Fell him to keep his wap shut,
then,” Judson said. “"T'he liitle red-
headed runt—"

“Get outa me way!” \lckechnie
tied to push past Patterson. “I'll
show him who's a runt!”

Patterson pushed down McKechnie’s
fists. “Get 1nto bed, will you? Dave
and Harry and | want to get somc
sleep. For Pete’s sake, cool down!
That damned temper ol yours—"

“Would you like to step outside lor
a moment?” He would take on the
whole world tonight! A sudden, un-
tamiliar spasm of loneliness had hit
him, and he threw up his only de-
fences. “I'll take on any—"

“What'd be the point in knocking
you cold, Bluey?” Simmons asked.
“Who'd get breakfast in the morn-
ing?”

Lucas laughed, and the tension was
broken. Judson got back into his
bunk and picked up the magasine
he’d been reading. Patterson looked
at McKechnic and grinned. “One of
these days you're going to buy into a
fight with Joe Louis.”

“He’ll get his money's woirth.” Mc-
Kechnie drained his mug of tca. Then
his lean freckled face crumpled into a
grin that had never grown old. “All
[ ask is that he’ll be sitting down.”

When the hut was dark McKechnie
lay in his bunk looking out at the
bright starlit sky. He could hear Pat-
terson moving restlessly in the bunk
next to his. Last season they would
still have been yarning, talking about
the day and what might happen the
rest of the season; but tonight Alec was
keeping to himself. McKechnie felt
the loneliness come down on him again
and now in the quiet dark there were
no defences. He stared at the stars,
feeling suddenly bleak and old. . . .

At lunchtime the next day he heard
the men talking about Patterson. At
the evening meal they were still talk-

g about hime e had allied two
hundred and ninety-four sheep for
the day, the highest at Wirramunna
since before the war. McKechnie
ladled the food onto Patterson’s plate
and nodded appreciatively at him.

“Nice going, mate,” hesaid. *“Seems
I'm a good teacher.”

“I haven’t forgotten it,” Patterson
said. “T've alwavs told Marge how
much | owe you.”

“Yeah,” McKechnie said, and froze
up. “Righto—move on and let the
next bloke in.”

‘The next bloke was Judson. “*Make
it a big’ helping.”

“Trying to build up your strength,
eh:” McKechnie heaped food on the
plate.  “You blokes from the East
can’t stand up to the competition
around here.”

“We'll see,” Judson said. “We got
a long way to go before the mob is
through.” 5

The next day the race started. Mc-
Kechnie heard about it at lunchtime
and in the afternoon went across to
theshed. Patterson was working with
a sort of quiet frenzy, seemingly ob-
livious of the other men in the shed.
Beside him Judson was matching him
for speed, but there was no grace or
smoothness about his movements and
it wasn't a speed that would last. He
was throwing the sheep around with
a roughness that made McKechnie
wince. Jock Shaw and Laurie were
out with the stockmen, bringing in
tomorrow’s mob; otherwise Judson
would have been told to slow down
and take more care.

A 1 the end of the day the tallies
showed Patterson: 283; Judson: 285.
Patterson seemed unaware that there
had been a race: he ate his meal in
silence and immediately atterward
went across to the hut. The men
broke up into groups, some to play
cards, others to have a sing-song to the
accompaniment of an old concertina.
McKechnie finished baking tomor-
row’s bread, washed down and went
across to the hut.

Patterson was just finishing another
letter. There was a snapshot on the
table in front of him, but McKechnie
deliberately kept his gaze away from
it. He’d never seen Alec’s missus—
Marge, or whatever her name was—
and he didn’t want to. He disliked
her enough without looking at her.

Patterson signed the letter, put it
in an envelope and scaled it. The
mail went out of \Virramunna only
once every two weeks and most of the
men sent only one letter with it. But
it looked as il Alec was going to write
one every night and send out a batch.
If that was what marriage did to you,
got you moody and writing letters all
the time, McKechnie was glad no
woman had caught him.
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Judson came into the hut, followed
by a half-dozen of the men. He
looked flushed and excited.

“How’d you like to make a bet,
Patto?”

Patterson looked up at Judson, then
at the men crowding in the doorway,
then back at Judson. “What sort of
bet? What's on?”

One of the men spoke. *“He’s been
telling us what he used to do in the
sheds over East. We're calling him.
We reckon you can lick the pants oft
him, any day he wants to name.”

“I'm saying you can’t.” Judson’s
voice was hoarse. “I got a hundred
quid that says I can beat you!”

“We'll cover that,” Simmons said.
“I'll cover it myself if nohody else
wants it.”

A hundred pounds was a lot ot
money, almost three weeks’ wages. In
a cooler moment the shearers might
have hesitated to chance so much, but
the argument had evidently been
strong and forceful, and cool thinking
had vanished before hot words.

“No.” Patterson put the letter in
his pocket and picked up the snap-
shot. “No, I'm not interested. Try
someone else.”

“What'’s the matter?”
“You scared?”

“Come on, Alec,” Simmons urged.
“Don’t let him get away with that.”

“No,” Patterson repeated. “I'm not
scared. But I'm not going to have
you blokes risking that much money
on me.”

McKechnie had been sitting silent-
ly on his bunk. He'd seen all this
happen before, but then the men had
been betting on him, and he knew
how Alec felt. Still, he wished that
Alec would take on Judson, just to
shut him up. They would have Jud-
son with them for eight months, and
he needed to have the wind taken out
of him early in the piece.

“Come on, Alec,” he said now
“Give it a go. We'll split the bet up
amongst us—that way we won't feel
it so much. Put the hig wind in his
place.”

Judson turned quickly, but Patter-
son interrupted him. “All right,” he
agreed quietly. He looked at the
snapshot in his hand, then put it away
with the letter in his pocket. “T'll
take you on, Judson. But I'll put up
my own money.”

There were murmurs ot dissent
from the men, but Patterson shook
his head. “It’s either my money or
no bet.”

“That’ll do me.” Judson was livid
with anger; he had suddenly realized
he had talked too much, turned the
whole team against him, and he had to
show them what he was worth. *'I
don’t care who puts up the cash! 1
got a hundred quid says I'm the best
shearer in this shed—"
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Judson jeered.

“Only in this shed?” McKechnie
was tired of Judson’s talk. “I thought
you was the best in Australia.”

It was over so quickly that no one
was quite sure what happened: Jud-
son lunged across the hut, grabbed
McKechnie by the shirt, raised his
fist and brought it down just as Pat-
terson stepped in front of him. The
swinging fist caught Patterson on the
side of the head: he stumbled back,
twisted and fell to the floor with one
arm underneath him. He lay for a mo-
ment while the whole hut seemed
paralyzed; then he sat up groggily,
clutching his right wrist.

McKechnie wrestled free of Jud-
son’s grip and dropped on one knee
beside Patterson. ‘““\What’s the matter,
mate? \What you done?”

“NMyv wrist,” Patterson said dully.
“I've cracked it or sprained it.”

McKechnie felt the wrist. “The
bone’s all right; you must've sprained
it. I'll get some packs for it.” He
stood up and looked at Judson. “Why
don’t you come over to the cookhouse
while 1 get me meat-cleaver?”

Judson looked down at Patterson.
“I'm sorry, Patto. 1 didn’t mean to
hit you. But this little runt—"

“It’s all right.” Patterson got slow-
ly to his feet. “T'll come with you,
Bluey "

In the cookhouse Patterson sat
quietly as McKechnie lightly packed
the swollen wrist. Muscles moved in
Patterson’s dark face and his black
eyes held a look of some deep inner
pain far greater than that of the
s“ollen Wrist.

“I won't be able to handle a sheep.”
He was talking as if to himself, hope-
lessly. “1 might as well go home.”

“The bet’s off,” McKechnie said.
“Don’t worry about it.”

Patterson looked at him. “I'd for-
gotten the bet; I'm thinking about
the job. TI'll be out for at least three
weeks with this”” He held up his
wrist and looked at it bitterly. “I
need the money.”

“What's three weeks?” McKechnie
said. “You'll make it up before the
end of the season, if you keep up the
rate you been going these last two
days.”

“I want the money before the end
of the season. I want it as soon as |
can get it.” He looked down again
at the wrist. *“Marge is sick. She’s
going to have a baby, and the doctor
says she’ll need a lot of treatment be-
fore it turns up.”

MCKECHNIE turned away to pour
the water slowly out of the bowl
Without looking at Patterson he said,
“You oughta stayed out of that fight
tonight. Then this wouldn’t've hap-
pened.”

“He’d have murdered you,” Patter-
son said. "“You don’t seem to be able
to get it into your head that you aren’t
young any more.”

McKechnie said nothing, still stand-
ing with his back turned, and Patter-
son went on: “I know you haven't
much time for me any more, Bluey.
I guess it’s because of Marge. Well,
I'm not apologizing. 1 was pretty
soured on you too, for not turning up
at my wedding. If it was to happen
all over again, I'd still get married.
I've seen what this life can do to a
cove; I've seen what it's done to you,
but you seem blind to it: Working
your guts out in lonely places, always

“Gentlemen, 1 think we have here some-
thing that will revolutionize the industry!”
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away from home and in the end for-
getting you ever had one—working
like blazes and spending like blazes,
never saving a cracker because there’s
no one to save it for. Then suddenly
you're an old man before your time—
an old man with no money and no-
where to go.”

“It ain’t always like that.” McKech-
nie was staring down at the empty
bowl, his back turned to Patterson.
“I know some blokes—"

“Yeah. Ones like me—the married
ones—the ones who saved their
money and got out early, bought a
farm or business, and stayed home to
enjoy life with their missus and kids.
That’s what I want, Bluey, and I
thought you, of all people, would
have understood.” He took the
swollen wrist in his other hand and
squeezed till tears glistened in the
black eyes. ‘““That’s what I want, if
my missus lives.”

McKechnie dropped the bowl with
a clatter and turned round. “T’ll
shear for you until your wrist’s better.
I'll see Jock about it. You can be the
cook—we'll get one of the shed boys

to give you a hand.” He paused, then
asked, “Is that all right with you,
mate?”’

Patterson looked at McKechnie for
a long moment; then he put out his
left hand. ‘““Thanks, mate.”

McKechnie shook the hand warmly.
“Righto, I'll fix it up with Jock.” He
walked to the door, then halted.
“Why’d you take on that bet with
l]udson? You couldn’t've afforded to
ose that much dough. not if you need
it for your missus.”

“I'd have just had to win, that's all,”
Patterson said simply. “If I'd won I
could have sent the money out in
Saturday’s mail. She’s worrying about
the expense, and she’s too sick to have
any worries at all.”

Jocx Suaw had no objection to the
substitution. His only reason for not
taking on McKechnie as a shearer this
year had been the almost certain
knowledge, based on his observations
last year, that McKechnie wouldn’t
last a full season. And good replace-
ments were hard to find in midseason.
He wanted to keep Patterson in the
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team if possible, and the substitution
of McKechnie till the sprained wrist
healed seemed the best solution.

The men welcomed McKechnie
back. There is something about the
return of a champion—and he had
been a champion known in sheds from
Northern Queensland right around
the continent to the Kimberleys in
West Australia. The men patted
him on the back and wished him luck.
They shook hands with their own fu-
ture, because all knew they couldn’t
avoid the day when they too would
be too old.

Judson stood on the board beside
him. “Luck, old-timer.”

McKechnie was getting the feel of
the handpiece again. “How'd you
like to put your hundred quid up
against me?”

Judson looked at him sharply, then
laughed. *“Don’t make jokes about
money, Bluey. You need it for your
old age.”

“I ain’t joking,” McKechnie said.
“You got a hundred quid to pay up
tonight if I beat you?”

Judson stood looking at him for a
time; then he said: *“Yeah, I got it. I
won it at a two-up game in Derby
while we was waiting for the truck.”

“If I lose, 1 can’t pay you tonight.
But J'll give you an IOU on me wages.
Will that do you?”

“Why're you so keen to bet?” Jud-
son asked. “Why d’'you wanna throw
away so much money?”

“I got me reasons.” McKechnie
shrugged. *A hundred quid to who-
ever turns in the highest tally today.”

Judson picked up his handpiece
and tested it. Then he said, “It’s a
bet, you bleeding old goat!”

McKechnie looked over into the
pen where the sheep were herded. He
graded them, picking out the easy
ones, wanting to get a good start and
his hand working expertly again be-
fore he got on to the cobblers, the
sheep with wrinkled skin and hard
wool. Then he straightened up, wait-
ing for the starting bell to go, and
tried to make his mind a blank. - It
wouldn’t do to remember the stiffness
and exhaustion he'd felt at the end
of each day all through last season.

At the bell, he dived into the pen.
He grabbed a sheep under the fore-
legs, sat it up and dragged it out
onto the board. With the sheep’s
forefeet tucked under his left armpit,
his left hand pulled his machine into
gear as his right hand whipped up
the handpiece. He worked with the
automatic smoothness of long prac-
tice, thirty-seven years of skill in the
stabbing right hand. The belly wool
was thrown clear, then the wool on
the left flank, then the neck. From
the neck to the left forearm; then the
sheep was on its side and he was be-
ginning the long sweep from flank
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to the top of the head. Then he
propped the sheep against his leg and
attacked the other side. Stab, punch,
a long sweep, every movement part of
a beautifully co-ordinated whole;
then the sheep was finished and
stumbling down the chute into the
counting pen. He had gained almost
five seconds on Judson.
McKechnie counted the first twelve
sheep, listening for the clatter of hoofs
oing down Judson's chute, knowing
e had gained almost half a sheep, in
the first twelve. Then time and the
sheep began to merge into a fog in
his mind and he worked like an au-
tomaton. Sweat sprang out on hinu:
and it soaked and blinded him. His
ears were full of the buzzing of the
machine and his lungs seemed full of
wool. At the end of the first halt
hour he was no longer straightening
up when he dived into the pen for a
sheep. He was just a stooped hunch-
backed caricature of a man, bent halt-
way to the floor, a simian-like creature
that had been trained to do only one
job and that with all the speed it
could muster. He heard his wool pick-
er-up yell, “Slow down, Bluey! You'll
kill y’self” but the words didn’t reg-
ister and he kept on at the same mad
rate of speed.

WHEN the bell rang at the end of
two hours for the rest period, he
leaned against the fence of the pen.
He reached up and grasped the rail
and slowly, agony stretching his thin
face even thinner, pulled himself up-
right. Pain sliced across the middle
of his back and he bit savagely on his
sweat-rag to shut the cry in his mouth.

Judson was leaning against the
fence, his {ace shining under its thick
film of sweat. “You had enough?
You wanna call it off?”

“I'm in front, ain’t I?” It hurt him
even to talk. “We got the rest of the
day to finish yet.”

At lunchtime he was six sheep
ahead of Judson and everyone in the
shed knew about the bet. He went
straight from the shed across to the
hut and lay down on his bunk. There
was no part of his body that wasn't
paining him, and his stomach kept
fluttering as if he were about to vomit.
Patterson brought him some food.

“Get this inside vou,” Patterson
said. “And then slow down this
afternoon. 1 wouldn’t have let you

stand in for me, if I'd known you
were going to take up that bet against
Judson.”

He was forcing himself to eat some
of the food. *“You want that hun-
dred quid, don’t you?”

“You're doing it for me?” Patter-
son stared at him, then banged his good
hand hard on the table. ‘“Stone the
crows, Bluey, I don’t want you to kill
yourselfl That’s what you'll finish
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up doing. You could have beaten
him ten years ago—but this isn't ten
years ago. All you'll beat now is
yourself!”

McKechnie heard the bell go for
the men to go back to work. He
climbed off his bunk like a man get-
ting off the rack. He swallowed the
last of his mug of tea and wiped his
mouth on his sweat-rag.

“It ain’t only the money I'm after,”
he said. *“There’s something for me-
self 1 want out of it.”

‘The afternoon was the longest time
he had ever lived. The hours
stretched out into years, and each
second was a stab of pain in his pun-
ished body. He worked in a red mist,
doing the right thing only by instinct.
His mind had ceased to tunction al-
together. When the rest period ar-
rived he staggered to the fence and
slumped against it, not even attempt-
ing to pull himself upright. His pick-
er-up rolled him a smoke.

“Whyn't you give it up, Bluey?
There ain’t any sense in this—"

“How’s the score?” His voice was a
croak.

“You're still leading him by three.
But he’s nowhere near as done in as
you are. He’'ll catch you in the next
two hours.”

All he could lift was his chin. “I'll
hold him. TI'll show him who's a
burned-out old goat!”

The bell went and he spun away
even as he was talking. He dived
into the pen, grabbed a sheep and
was back on the board just that much
quicker than judson. Stab, punch,
out and away, stab, punch, out and
away: the rhythm went on and on un-
til it seemed that all his life he had
been crouched here on this board,
doing nothing else but shearing this
sheep he couldn't see, feeling nothing
else but this one great pain that was
himself. . . .

Then the final bell went. His
picker-up took the sheep and the
handpiece from him, and he ftell back
against the fence. He lay huddled
there, a tight ball of a man that
looked as if it could never unroll it-
self again. Beside him Judson was
hanging over the rail—almost as far
gone, but with the knowledge that he
had his youth to help him recuperate.

PAl’n-;Rsox and Simmons picked up
McKechnie as if he were a child and
carried him toward the hut. Halfway
across the vard Jock Shaw stopped
them.

“How is he?” he asked.

“lI don’t know,” Patterson said.
“The only thing he has left is his
heart—and I don’t know how strong
that is.”

“How'd he go?” Shaw said.

“Two hundred and ninety-eight to
two ninety-six,” Patterson said. “Can

you beat it? Two ninety-eight—at his
age!”

Jock Shaw looked down at the al-
most unconscious McKechnie. *“His
heart’s all right. But tell him to take
it easy from now on or I'll send him
back to Perth. Someone’s got to pro-
tect him from himself.”

ALF.(: PATTERSON took the letter
and snapshot out of his pocket and
put them on the table in front of him
beside the small pile of pound notes.
He looked across at McKechnie,
propped up in his bunk.

“The money will be there Monday

morning,” he said. “That'll take a
load off Marge’s mind!”
“And off yours too, I'll bet.”

Fatigue was still etched deeply into
the lean face, but the eyes were bright.
“You gunna put in a P.S. telling her
how you got it?”

“No, I'm saving that until the sea-
son's over and we go home. I couldn’t
tell it well enough in a letter.”
Patterson grinned across at him.
“You can tell her yourself;, you're
coming home with me. We'll need a
godfather for the baby.”

McKechnie gestured in embarrass-
ment. “Dunno nothing about kids—
except sheep’s ones.” Then he held
out a hand. “Let’s have a look at
your missus.”

Patterson passed him the snapshot.
McKechnie saw a small fair-haired
girl who seemed to have nothing but a
triendly smile, and he was a little dis-
appointed that Alec hadn’t done bet-
ter. Then he looked up and saw the
expression on Alec’s face—and sud-
denly McKechnie knew he had been
looking at the most beautiful girl in
the world.

“How d’'you reckon she’ll go?” he
said. “She’s a tiny thing.”

“All I can do is hope,” Patterson
said. “But we've got each other to
live for, and that has pulled a lot of
people through.” He picked up the
letter. “I can’t hold a pen. Would
you address this for me?”

McKechnie hadn’t held a pen in
years, other than to sign for his wages
at the end ol each season. With his
tongue poking out from between his
teeth, his forehead furrowed, his eyes
squinting and his fingers wrapped
round the pen like the claws of a crab,
he laboriously scrawled the address.
With a sigh of relief he handed back
the pen and the letter.

“And memorize that address,” Pat-
terson said. “Because that's your
home from now on, you old goat.”

McKechnie lay back on his bunk
and winked at Alec. He was old, all
right, but today he'd reached back
through the years for some of the glory
of the past. He was old and finished,
but it didn’t matter any more. He
had somewhere to go. U
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Let's Finish the
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Did the execution of Bruno Hauptmann close the
Lindbergh case? A reporter who covered it from the
beginning says it did not. There were two others
involved who still have not been caught, and the
author backs up his charge with some startling evi-
dence, much of it suppressed and withheld from

the public at the time.

By CECIL CARNES

Copyright 1952 by McCall Corporation. All rights reserved.

Two INDIVIDUALS—A MAN AND A WOMAN—are free to come and
go as they please today, even though they are guilty accomplices in
one of the most vicious, sordid crimes the world has ever known, the
kidnap-slaying of Charles Augustus Lindbergh, Jr. One of these
individuals—their precise identities as yet unknown—may actually
have been the killer whose hand snuffed out the life of the Lind-
berghs’ first-born just twenty years ago, the crime for which Bruno
Richard Hauptmann died in the electric chair without revealing
his accomplices’ names.

While it seems almost inevitable that Hauptmann’s co-criminals,
if they’re still alive, will be discovered in time, it is the feeling of
Bluebook’s editors that the case should be solved now, and that the
true facts behind this notorious kidnap-murder should be revealed
to the public, which has been allowed to forget the horror of the
event in the belief that the execution of Hauptmann brought the
case to a close. It didn’t, as these facts will show:

BLUEBOOK



indbexgh Case!




L. From the very beginning, invesui-
gators have known Hauptmann had
accomplices. They even found more
than one set of footprints at the kid-
nay scene!

. Dr. John F. Condon, the scholar-
ly intermediary in the case, actually
talked to both of the accomplices on
several occasions, once when the con-
versation also included Hauptmann.

3. A description of the Lindbergh
baby’s death never has been given to
the public in precisely the way it hap-
pened.

4. Dr. Condon, even after Haupt-
mann'’s electrocution, was warned that
he and the then Governor Harold
Hoffman, of New Jersey, had better
“lay off” trying to solve the remainder
of the case, with Dr. Condon passing
along to Governor Hoffman the word
that “They say they’ll get you if you
keep on trying to solve the case.”

5. Dr. Condon always believed that,
had he been given sufhcient time with
Hauptmann in the latter’s cell, he
could have obtained the whole story.
For Dr. Condon knew that Haupt-
mann was well aware of the fact that
one of their telephone conversations
had been interrupted by two other
voices, those of a man and a woman.

6. Even after twenty years, more
than three-fifths of the $50,000 ransom
money paid by Colonel Lindbergh still
has not been found.

7. Following Hauptmann'’s trial and
sentence, even the condemned man’s
own attorney admitted he didn’t be-
lieve all of Hauptmann's story, and
actually tried to get Mrs. Hauptmann
to convince her husband he should
tell the truth and “reveal who else
was in on” the crime.

8. A man dressed as a New York
taxi-driver came to Dr. Condon’s home
and delivered last-minute instructions
for the ransom payment, and this man
—who might have been one of the ac-
complices—never has been seen or has
come forward (if he was an innocent
participant) since.

9. Hauptmann himself used the
word ‘““we,” or similar ones to indicate
that he was not alone in the plot, on
54 occasions, and was able to answer
quickly Dr. Condon’s questions aimed
at exposing him as a lone kidnaper.
Until the day he died, Dr. Condon be-
lieved that Hauptmann could not
have failed to slip up, could not have
given subconsciously the responses
Hauptmann did on the several occa-
sions they talked, had the man not
been a member of a gang.

01-‘ the foregoing, any one would
seem enough in itself to keep the
Lindbergh case wide open, and pos-
sibly the doubt in the minds of many
people that the crime actually had
been solved with the execution of
Hauptmann stems from the natural
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questions that come to the fore when-
ever and wherever the case is dis-
cussed. For, as a reporter who cov-
ered both the kidnaping and the trial
of Bruno Hauptmann, I still am asked,
wherever 1 travel throughout the
world, these same questions:

I. Was Hauptmann really guilty?

2. Did he have accomplices?

3. I so, who were they?

UP till now, I have answered that
Hauptmann was guilty, as legally
proved, and I've spent as much time
as I could spare filling in the reasons
why 1 believe so. Those reasons will
be obvious to anyone who has read
the complete story of the trial, and I
doubt it anyone who had anything to
do with the case at the time has or
had any doubt that justice was done.
Just this spring, Arthur Koehler, the
wood expert who testified at the trial
and who now is on the faculty of Yale
University, was quoted in the Yale
Alumni Weekly as saying that “If he
(Hauptmann) had been more skill{ul
in his woodworking, he might have
been acquitted.” But “the wood from
Hauptmann’s attic used to make the
kidnap ladder, and the telltale marks
on the wood from his own plane could
not be mere coincidence.”

Indeed Hauptmann was guilty; ot
that I have no doubt. Of the fact
that he had accomplices, who never
were caught, who possibly are secure
in their freedom today, and who may
be alive to commit even more atro-
cious crimes, I also have no doubt.
And a re-examination of the entire
case, from the hour of its very begin-
nings, should be enough to convince
even the most skeptical of this same
tact.

At 9 p.m., March 1st, 1932, Colonel
Charles A. Lindbergh, who had cap-
tured the imagination of the world
with his solo flight from New York to
Paris, five years earlier, was sitting
before a cheery, blazing fire in the
living-room of his huge, double-
winged, stone and stucco mansion on
the south slope of Sourland Moun-
tain, near Hopewell, New Jersey. His
wife, Anne Lindbergh, daughter of
the former Ambassador to Mexico,
Dwight W. Morrow, was seated on the
sofa beside him. She was knitting, in
expectation of the arrival of their sec-
ond child. Upstairs in the nursery,
which was the southeast corner room,
was their first-born, twenty-months-old
Charles Augustus, Jr. Charles, a
bright and handsome child of normal
size and weight for his age, was suffer-
ing from a slight cold. The nurse-
maid, a Scots lass named Betty Gow,
had rubbed the baby’s chest with an
unguent, then dressed him in a special
little home-made flannel petticoat and
a sleeping-suit, finally making certain
that his blanket was pinned into posi-

tion, for the night was cold. She and
Mrs. Lindbergh had made the rounds
of the windows alter tucking young
Charles in, fastening the outside shut-
ters except for one which had warped
so that the hook would not reach the
metal eye on the sill.

Charles had been asleep since about
8 v, and the Whatelys, the English
couple who served the Lindberghs,
having disposed of their duties in the
kitchen, had settled down to an eve-
ning’s leisure. Betty Gow was chatting
with Mrs. Whately in the \Vhatelys’
quarters upstairs. At this moment,
in the darkness outside, two persons
quietly but boldly placed a sectional
ladder against the side of the building.
One of them climbed, catlike, to the
second-story window, opened the shut-
ter and the window, climbed inside,
took little Charles trom his crib and
left a ransom note there. Then, leav-
ing a plain trail of muddy shoe out-
lines across the floor and onto the
radiator grille, he left, closing the win-
dow but leaving the shutters open.
As he got to the middle of the descent,
it is probable that the ladder broke,
throwing the man against the side of
the building, waking and presumably
wounding the child. While one of
the conspirators hastily gathered up
the sections of the ladder and dumped
them into a clump of bushes about 70
feet trom the house, the other carried
the baby, who almost certainly was
bleeding from the fall. Inside the
house, Colonel Lindbergh had heard
a noise, something like the crushing
of a lightweight wooden box. He had
asked his wife, “What’s that?” She
failed to answer and apparently both
felt it was an ordinary kitchen noise
like the closing of a panury bin or a
utensil-lined door.

As troopers reconstructed the scene
later, the baby’s death came, in hor-
rible fashion, a {ew seconds later. He
was held by the heels and his head
swung against a rock. The first of-
ficials to arrive discovered two sets of
tootprints, and later, in the daylight
hours, blood and gray mucus on an
outcropping in the area. But, long
before this, the culprits had driven
their car out of lonely Lindbergh
Lane and to a spot in a copse a few
miles away, where they buried the
“most famous baby in the world.”

Police and press descended on the
Lindbergh home in droves. And the
greatest manhunt in the history of the
world was on—with thousands of po-
lice alerted and hundreds of thou-
sands of amateurs joining in. It is
safe to hazard that far more persons
looked for the man who turned out to
be Hauptmann than ever searched for
his compatriot, Hitler. Valuable clues
were handled by New Jersey State Po-
lice, counury constables, Hopewell
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cops, and, eventually, by the FBI,
Treasury men, detectives from cities
in New Jersey and New York, and
even wood experts from the United
States Forest Products Laboratory.

The ransom note, left on the radi-
ator grille, demanded $50,000 ransom
for the baby, specified the denomina-
tions of the bills, warned against inter-
ference in the case, and carried a
unique, distinguishing mark: the
Italo-Germanic trigamba, or three-
legged insignia. This was stamped in
the middle by the stopper from a bot-
tle of red ink. It was also pierced as
if it had been jammed onto a multi-
pronged paper spike of the kind used
in offices for temporarily filing bills or
receipts. This unique signature was
to carry through on all the negotia-
tions thereafter.

Naturally, Colonel and Mrs. Lind-
bergh had the sympathy of the entire
world with them in their agony, and
public indignation mounted as the
search for the baby and his abductors
spread; and the false leads and the
phony sensation-seekers who purport-
ed to have information on the kid-
naping were carefully sifted. Then,
on March 4th, Colonel and Mrs. Lind-
bergh issued a dramatic statement
urging the kidnapers to “select any
representative that they desire to meet
a representative of ours who will be
suitable to them at any time and at
any place they may designate.”

It was at that moment that Dr. John
F. Condon, an elderly Bronx school-
teacher—who embodied all the quali-
ties of a Richard Harding Davis char-
acter, mixed with the intellectual
processes of a local Winston Churchill
—entered the picture. Dr. Condon
frequently was called upon, because
of his having become established as
the sage of New York's Bronx neigh-
borhood, to quote at length for the
readers of the area’s neighborhood
newspaper, The Bronx Home News,
on any and all subjects which the edi-
tor felt demanded a local opinion.
Having read every scrap of news on
the Lindbergh case, Dr. Condon was
touched by the public appeal issued
by Colonel and Mrs. Lindbergh, and
he promptly wrote a letter, which the
Home News published, oftering to
serve as intermediary in the case and
to put up S1,000 of his own hard-
earned savings as a gesture of faith.

But, at that point, there arose an
important factor in the case which
generally has been overlooked: Bruno
Richard Hauptmann, who never read
The Bronx Home News, answered Dr.
Condon’s letter! And this was the
first indication, although not appar-
ent at the time, that Hauptmann in-
deed had an accomplice or accom-
plices.

The clear evidence that Hauptmann
didn’t read The Bronx Home News
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came out when, on the occasions he
was trying to contact Hauptmann
again, Dr. Condon again used this
same Bronx newspaper, feeling nat-
urally that, since he'd *“reached”
Hauptmann through the Home News
in the first place, any ads Condon
placed in that paper would be seen
by Hauptmann. But none of them
ever was!

The only time Dr. Condon was able
to reach Hauptmann through the
newspapers, after that first success
with the Home News, came when Con-
don used The New York American
and The New York Evening Journal,
the two papers Hauptmann did read,
as he told Dr. Condon later.

At another time later on—and this
is an important connection as regards
the proof that there were accomplices
—when Hauptmann was talking to
Dr. Condon on the telephone, another
voice broke in and told Hauptmann
to inquive if Dr. Condon was the man
who wrote “sometimes pieces for the
papers”  But the only “pieces” the
doctor ever had written for newspa-
pers had been done for The Bronx
Home News, the newspaper Haupt-
mann admnitted he didn’t read! So it

Experience is simply the name
we give to our mistakes.

—~OSCAR WILDE

was not Hauptmann but one of his
accomplices who had seen Dr. Con-
don's original letter offering to serve
as an intermediary!

At any rate, Dr. Condon wrote his
original ofter to help, the letter was
published, and the result was the first
real contact with the kidnapers. Re-
turning from a lecture on the night of
March 9th, 1932, Dr. Condon found a
letter in his mailbox, addressed to him
in crude printing, and his heart
leaped. Tearing open the envelope,
he discovered inside a crude note and
a second sealed envelope. The printed
note read:

Dear Sir: If you are willing to act
as go between in Lindbergh cace fol-
low strictly instructions. Handel in-
cloced letter personally to Mr. Lind-
bergh. .. Affter you gets the money
from Mr. Lindbergh put them words
in New York American. Money is
ready. After notise well (we’ll) give
you further instructions don’t be
affrait we are not out for your 1,000
Keep it only act stricly. Be at haus
every night between 6-12 by this time
you will hear from us.

Dr. Condon was bewildered. He
probably expected no such signal suc-
cess from his published letter, and

now that it had been achieved, he
didn’t know which way to turn. Ac-
cordingly, he urged his huge frame
down to Rosenhaim’s, a restaurant
which was the favorite nocturnal gath-
ering-place for the Bronx set and at
which the doctor hoped to find his
old friend, Al Reich, a former prize-
fighter and loyal crony of Dr. Con-
don’s. But Reich wasn't at Rosen-
haim’s, and, in desperation, Condon
showed the letter to Rosenhaim, ask-
ing the proprietor’s advice. The lat-
ter suggested the simple expedient of
telephoning Colonel Lindbergh.

The upshot of that was that he got
Lindbergh on the phone, read him
the first note, explained that there
was a second addressed to Lindbergh,
and described the “signature” of the
first note: the trigamba with the red-
blotted stamp and the holes spiked
through the paper. At that, Colonel
Lindbergh immediately became inter-
ested, and asked to see Condon at
once, and the doctor was driven to the
Colonel’s home and spent the night
there. The note he delivered to Colo- -
nel Lindbergh read:

Dear Sir:  Mr. Condon may act as
go-between you may give him the 70,-
0008 make one packet the size will be
about (and a drawing showed him
the money would form a stack about
6 by 7 by 14 inches, and it looked like
the drawing of a mechanic or a car-
penter used to making rough illustra-
tions in connection with his work).
We have notifiet you already in what
kinds of bills We warn you not to set
a trapp in many way If you or some-
one els will notify the Police there will
be a further delay. after we have the
mony in hand we will tell you where
to find your boy. -

You may have areplane redy it is
about 150 mil. awy. But before tell
you the add. a delay of 8 houers will
be between.

Condon slept in the nursery that
night, on a cot. In the morning he
examined the room for clues. Many
months later he told me that since the
child had been extricated without un-
pinning the blanket, he might then
have deduced, but didn’t, that the fa-
mous baby had been strangled right
in his crib. Of course at that time he
did not know what the officers had
found outside on a rock outcropping,
and neither, I'm sure, did Lindbergh
himself. 1 remember discounting
what Condon said because it would
have been so easy simply to unpin the
blanket, lift the baby out, then pin
the blanket again.

But now began the most interesting
—and significant—phases of the case.
In addition to the original ransom
note left at the scene of the kidnaping,
there had been several additional
notes which had been mailed to the
New York offices of Colonel Henry C.
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Bruno Richard Hauptmann, who was executed for the Lindbergh kidnaping. But the evidence
indicates that it literally was impossible for him to have committed such a crime without help.

Breckinridge, Lindbergh’s friend and
lawyer. While the original note had
demanded a ransom of $50,000, the
ones to Breckinridge had stepped up
the figure to $70,000. So the figure
mentioned in the note Condon de-
livered to Lindbergh tallied with that
in the notes to Breckinridge, and was
an indication of the authenticity of
the Condon letter. Even more com-
pletely convincing to both Lindbergh
and Breckinridge, however, was the
fact that the Condon letter bore the
same handwriting as the others and
had the identical signature, the Italo-
Germanic trigamba. Col. Lindbergh
agreed that Dr. Condon now was in
contact with and accepted as the ne-
gotiator for the true kidnapers of his
child. (It should be mentioned that,
for a time at least, both Lindbergh
and Breckinridge suspected that Dr.
Condon himself might be a member
of the kidnap gang, although they
later agreed that this suggestion was
“inconceivable’l)
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It was decided that Breckinridge
was to return to the Bronx with Dr.
Condon; this he did, and he remained
in Dr. Condon’s home throughout the
following 22 days, representing Colo-
nel Lindbergh throughout a series of
bizarre events. These began almost
atonce with a telephone call. (When
Hauptmann was arrested later, Dr.
Condon’s telephone number was dis-
covered written on the wall near
Hauptmann’s phone, and it is known
that Hauptmann did call Dr. Condon
on several occasions. On one or two
of these occasions, Hauptmann
reached Mrs. Condon when the doctor
was out. Yet Mrs. Hauptmann said
later that she could not recall over-
hearing any calls to Condon from the
Hauptmann home.)

This first telephone call, taken by
Dr. Condon while Al Reich stood
near by, consisted of the opening
question, “Did you get our note?”
Dr. Condon, who had adopted the
identifying name of ‘“Jafsie” (from

his initials, ]J.F.C., at the suggestion of
Colonel Breckinridge) answered that
he had. The caller then identified
himself as “John,” and asked if the
money was ready. Dr. Condon an-
swered that such things took time, but
that it soon would be ready. Then
the man said “We will contack you,”
and seemed about to hang up. But,
in the background, Dr. Condon could
hear the hum of a busy restaurant or
similar business, and he could dis-
tinctly hear a woman conferring with
aman. Then he heard the man iden-
tified as “John” talking to another
man, while he, Condon, waited. Con-
don recalled all this for me many
months later in the Hotel Hilde-
brecht, in Trenton, in this fashion:

“Then I heard John say, ‘Dok-tor
Condon? and I answered ‘Yes." Then
he conferred again with someone else,
and afterward said the thing that was
on his mind: ‘Do you write some-
times pieces for the papers?” I an-
swered that I did. The man on the
other end used the word ‘us,” and
then a man’s voice broke in with
‘statti citto,” which in Italian idiom
means, roughly, ‘Shut up.” It came
from the other man, ‘Shut up. You've
talked too much already’ This ob-
viously referred to the fact that the
parties on the other end of the line
knew full well that a call could be
traced in a certain limited number of
minutes. Then a woman chimed in,
‘Let him finish.” And we closed the
conversation with his assurance that I
would soon hear from ‘them.” From
that moment on I resolved to use all
my mental powers, when I saw ‘John’
face to face, to make his subconscious
speak on that matter of what I shall
call multiple knowledge. And I did.
But remember, now, my first duty was
to get the child back as quickly as hu-
manly possible.”

FROM the latter, would you con-
clude the kidnaping had been a one-
man job? If Dr. Condon was an ac-
credited witness—and he never was
discredited, his testimony, in fact,
playing a key réle in Hauptmann’s
prosecution—was the report of this
first conversation to be brushed aside
merely as the ramblings of an old man
who thirsted after publicity? Certain-
ly not! It is one more concrete bit of
evidence that Hauptmann was not
in the case alone, had not been from
the beginning." Yet, to date, Haupt-
mann 1s the only one to pay the penal-
ty, with the others perhaps at this
very moment secure in the firm con-
viction that they played a role in one
of the most sensational crimes in his-
tory—and got away with it.

The next evening, a taxicab driver,
who properly identified *himself and
later testified at Hauptmann’s trial,
delivered a note to Dr. Condon. It
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contained a demand that Dr. Condon
80 to a certain spot in the Bronx and
there find the instructions. which
eventually led him to a rendezvous
with the mysterious “John” in Wood-
lawn Cemetery, late at night several
days later.

It was an eerie setting as Jafsie—as
he was to be called almost exclusively
from then on—left Al Reich seated in
the car outside Woodlawn on the ap-
pointed night and walked toward the
cemetery gate. And it was there he
met a man of but slightly over me-
dium build, weighing perhaps 160
pounds, wearing a soft, snap-brim
hat well down over his eyes, and a
coat, the collar of which he kept up
around his face. Jafsie soon got him
to sit down in a spot where a near-by
street light gave the doctor a pretty
good view, and he proceeded so to in-
volve the fellow that he kept him
there for an hour and fifteen minutes.
He got the fellow to lower his coat
collar, and he saw the Germanic face,
the fishlike eyes, the heavy brow, the
point to the chin that went on up to
“the broad part of the triangle,”—the
face of a lean, hungry, shifty man.
Nothing there of culture; it was the
face of alaboring-man, a man who was
from his speech plainly a German,
and at a guess, a former German
soldier. Dr. Condon made him shake
hands and felt the well-developed
muscle below the right thumb, which
could have come from pushing car-
penter’s tools.

“John” spoke assuringly, saying:
“The baby izs alricht. We give more
for him to eat as we heard in the
paper from Mrs. Lindbergh.” (He
referred to the baby’s diet, which had
been extensively publicized).

He used “soud” for south, “green-
haus,” for greenhouse, *“boad” for
boat, “grib” for crib, “maddress” for
mattress, ‘‘rizk” for risk, “vould” for
would, “farder” for further, “simble”
for simple. He sounded, at times,
like a grown-up Katzenjammer Kid.
He spoke of some members of his
gang as being “innozent.” The gang,
as he explained it, consisted of “Num-
ber One,” who, he said, was a ““highup
in the Government.” And of “Num-
ber Two,” who he said was the one
who knew Dr. Condon, knew of his
unique position in the Bronx and
knowing he was reliable, recom-
mended acceptance of his offer to be
intermediary. Then there was him-
self, “John,” who was only ‘“‘go-be-
tween, too,” like Dr. Condon for the
parents. And there were “two
vomans,” who were “innozent.”

Dr. Condon got the distinct impres-
sion then, in lengthy questioning, that
“John” was lying and improvising
about all the members of the gang
except perhaps the man who knew
him, “Number Two,” and a woman,
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or wonien. He was later, in their next
meeting, to have startling verification
that “John” himself was indeed
“Number One,” no matter how.many
others were involved.

But now “John” said he couldn't
commit the gang because ‘“Number
One vould schmack me oudt.” But
he agreed as to the necessity of bring-
ing things to a hasty conclusion and
restoring Charles Lindbergh, Jr. to
his “mudder’s arms.” He ended with
“Ve drust you,” and promised soon to
send Dr. Condon the “slipping-suit”
as proof that Condon was dealing
with the right persons. Once he threw
a scare into Dr. Condon by inquiring
whether, if the baby died, “I vould
burn?” . But then he assured the
“Dok-tor” that the baby was “better
as it vas,” which meant it had recov-
ered from its cold.

For an earnest on his part, Dr. Con-
don showed “John” two large safety
pins and the man unhesitatingly iden-
tified them as the ones on the blanket
in the nursery. At the approach of a
cemetery guard they split up, “John”

showing areat agility in scaling the
high tence. Jalsie explained to the
guard that he and a friend thought
nothing of getting together almost
anywhere, and the fellow apparently
was satisfied. Dr. Condon returned to
Al Reich and they drove home, and
eventually the doctor reported all this
in detail to Colonel Breckenridge and
the proper authorities.

BUT several days passed before
the sleeping-suit finally was mailed.
(Later, when all the gruesome details
became known, the official guess was
that Hauptmann or one of his ac-
complices returned to the shallow
grave of the baby, took off the sleep-
ing-suit, washed it fairly clean, and
then had it dry-cleaned, all of which
took a bit of time.) On March 16th,
four days after the talk in Woodlawn
Cemetery, the tiny slumber suit ar-
rived, and Colonel Lindbergh him-
self identified it, and he determined
to get the ransom money ready quick-
ly.  With the tiny piece of clothing,
mailed in a piece of brown wrapping-

Dr. John F. (“Jafsie”) Condon, the retired Bronx schoolteacher whose testimony helped convict
Hauptmann. He was convinced till he died that Hauptmann couldn’t have played a lone hand.




paper, come another note laying down
an ultimatum: There would be no
further dangerous conferences, and
the money must be paid before the
baby could be seen—and as a matter
of fact there would be an eight-hour
delay between the two. If these terms
were not acceded to, the ransom de-
mand would increase, and there would
be nothing in it for Colonel Lind-
bergh except further anxiety. It was
at this point that Jalsie, who sensed
something amiss, insisted that some-
one, anyone, first must see the child
alive and well before the money was
paid. But there, in Condon’s Bronx
living-room, with its comfortable
chairs and its turn-of-the-century bric-
a-brac, Colonel Lindbergh said, “No.
We will pay the money. Mrs. Lind-
bergh wants us to pay the money and
I do too.”

There followed a further exchange
of notes, and another telephone call,
and then came the incident of the
strange-acting woman. Dr. Condon
had agreed, some time previously, to
run a bazaar for charity, at a vacant
store at 194 East 200th Street. He
went to this store on Saturday, March
19th, and waited upon the customers
himself.

Now, at this time, the public was
reading about the greatest manhunt
on earth, the search for the kidnapers:
the newspapers were full of it, almost
to’ the exclusion of other items. But
there had been only a passing, almost
kidding reference to the fact that a
Bronx character, a kindly old eccen-
tric former schoolteacher, who was a
faddist on health and physical culture,
and who used to sleep out of doors
even in the winter, that this fellow
“in his anecdotage,” had olffered his
services as intermediary. But news-
men hadn’t even come around to ask
the “Doc” whether he had heard from
the kidnapers. Why should they?
This story had no place for humorous
pieces, printed on the side. This was
a great and tragic story.

So the public had no inkling what-
soever, at this time, that Dr. Condon
was involved in the case!

Yet, on this Saturday, a rather non-
descript woman approached Dr. Con-
don, asked him desultory questions
concerning some violins which were
on sale and only when the other cus-
tomers had left the premises did she
startle Dr. Condon with these vibrant,
whispered words:

“Nothing can be done until the ex-
citement is over. There is too much
publicity. Meet me at the depot at

uckahoe, Wednesday, at five in the
afternoon. I ‘will have a message for
you!” And she left, walking quickly
across the street and up the steps to
the Third Avenue elevated train,
which would have taken her to the
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Williamsbridge section ol the Bronx.
Dr. Condon, who had been pledged
to secrecy regarding any contacts with
the kidnapers, did not attempt to
follow.

But he told Al Reich about the inci-
dent, as well as Colonel Breckinridge.
He also told his wite, his daughter,
Myra, and the late Elmer F. lIrey,
then chiet of the U.S. Treasury De-
partment’s Intelligence Unit, which
had entered the case. And, later, he
also told me.

“Of course, the woman could have
been a crackpot,” Jafsie said. “But I
don’t believe that because 1 wasn’t
‘in’ the case so far as anyone outside
knew. And no one having any in-
side information on the case knew
that I was going to be at that particu-
lar place at that particular time.

“Oh, I know—it could possibly have
been a woman reporter, sent out by
an enterprising editor to learn by in-
direction whether I was really work-
ing on the case. But, if this was true,
why was there never any story to that
eflect in any of the papers? The story
breaking the news thut I actually was
working on the case—when it finally
did come—made big news in all the
papers; and, in fact, the man who
broke it got his first job in the news-
paper business because the paper to
which he took the story, the very con-
servative New York Times, deemed it
so important as to warrant the hiring
of a complete novice on the strength
of it.”

It was one more indication to Jafsie,
in short, that the kidnaper was not a
lone wolf and was, in fact, a member
of a gang. The fact that the Tucka-
hoe lead came to naught was ex-
plained by the increasing anxiety on
the part of the kidnapers as to the
danger of further “conferences” and
that they were even then making con-
crete plans for a final meeting at
which the ransom would be paid.
The truth of this supposition was
borne out in the second visit from a
taxi-driver.

As Jalsie told the story to me, it
was his feeling that, having once suc-
cessfully sent a cabdriver with a note
(after paying the man a dollar for his
trouble), the gang may have deter-
mined “to have a look inside my
house,” to see if Condon might have
contacted the police. The first cab-
driver having delivered his note with-
out incident could have prompted
the gang to use this method again to
serve their purposes.

At any rate, on the evening of April
2nd, with Colonel Lindbergh present
and the ransom money ready (all but
$15,000 of it being in gold notes, as
supplied to Lindbergh by the Morgan
bank), a furtive-looking individual
claiming to be a taxi-driver, and wear-

ing a cabdriver’s cap, arrived at the
Condon home and delivered a note,
in an envelope, to Jafsie. The cabbie
took a look around and departed
quickly.

Now, obviously, everyone was on
edge for further word from the kid-
napers, and, at the moment, the note
was far more important than the cab-
driver who had delivered it. (There
had been no trouble tracing the previ-
ous one; all assumed there’d be no
difticulty finding this one.) In any
case, Dr. Condon, absorbed in read-
ing the note, left to the others present
the obvious task of getting the driver’s
name and number, which could have
been false but which would have
proved beyond a doubt that the kid-
napers indeed were a gang. That
there certainly was at least one more
individual involved in the crime than
Hauptmann, however, seems obvious.
Despite urgent appeals later—when the
case against Hauptmann was being
prepared—for this mysterious cabbie
to come forth, he never did; and to
this day he remains as much a mystery
as he did that night twenty years ago.

w-\S he, in truth, a cabdriver who
never identified himself because he
feared the consequences such a revela-
tion might have involved? That
seems hardly plausible, since there had
been no consequences of note for the
previous driver; and such a revelation
could, in fact, be a moment of fame
for a man who thus made his identity
known. The only other supposition
has to be that this cabbie was, in truth,
an accomplice in the crime, and that
when he is seen again it will be when
he, like Hauptmann, faces a charge
of murder.

The note which was left by this
mysterious caller did, however, have
the final instructions for the paying
of the ransom, and they were followed
by Jafsie and Colonel Lindbergh to
the letter. With the ransom money
—§70,000 of it—on the seat between
them, thev drove first to an intermedi-
ate point, where they received further
instructions—taking them this time
to St. Raymond's Cemetery, also in
the Bronx. En route, Jafsie noticed
that Colonel Lindbergh was armed
with a loaded revolver, and he im-
mediately determined that he would
not risk having the flyer meet the kid-
napers’ emissary. When they arrived
in the darkness at the rendezvous near
the cemetery, Jalsie got out of the car,
leaving Lindbergh still sitting in the
front seat.

Colonel Lindbergh testified later
that he plainly heard “John” call out,
“Dok-tor! Over here!” And .Jafsie
went forward to meet again the man
to whom he had first talked 21 days
before, in Woodlawn. This time
there was no light to aid Condon, but
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he said atterward that it plainly was
the same man he'd met before.

“Have you got it, the money?”
Jafsie was asked. Condon said he
could get it, that it was in the car
with Colonel Lindbergh and that the
latter was unarmed.

JOHN, according to Jafsie, gave a
definite start at this news. Condon
then said that Colonel Lindbergh
couldn’t afford to pay more than
$50,000, and that he was prepared to
pay it; but he must have an immedi-
ate description of the place where the
baby could be found. This time
there was no protestation that “John”
would get “schmacked out” by “Num-
ber One.”” Instead, he agreed. And
Jalsie Condon realized that here was
Number One, himself. But he never
gave up trying to put his questions
s0 as to elicit hurried responses that
would reveal, if it were true, that
“Number One” was also “One and
Only” in the case. And Hauptmann
never faltered, never gave a response
which would betray that his talk of a
gang was false. They split up. Dr.
Condon went after the money; “John”
went out to prepare a note concern-
ing the return of the child.

hirteen minutes later they met
again at the same spot, and each
handed the other his part of the bar-
gain. “John” stepped back a few
paces—and inadvertently, stepped on
a fresh grave in doing so—pulled out
a flashlight, took a quick look to
verify that what he had was money,
then said: “Everybody says your work
has been pertect.”” And so they
parted, to meet again in September,
1934, in Manhattan’s dour old Green-
wich Street police station.

The note which Jafsie carried back
to Colonel Lindbergh told him his
boy was “on the boad Nelly,” in Buz-
zards Bay, between the Massachusetts
south coast and Martha’s Vineyard.
Jatsie flew there with Colonel Lind-
bergh, but of course they found noth-
ing. Instead, on May 12th, the baby’s
body was found accidentally in a
shallow grave on the Princeton-to-
Hopewell road, somewhat over four
miles from the Lindbergh estate.

Condon, who in the meantime had
run a series of advertisements in The
Bronx Home News which were signed
“Jatsie” and which asked repeatedly,
“Have you crossed me?” ceased this
activity—Hauptmann  hadn't  read
them anyhow—and turned his full
strength to helping the police and
Federal investigators launch their all-
out drive to capture the criminals,
now that secrecy and worry over the
baby’s safety unhappily no longer
were factors. First they were able,
from Jalsie’s description, to construct
a remarkably faithtul drawing of the
man called “John,” a likeness which,
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it developed later, was remarkably
close to that of Bruno Richard Haupt-
mann.

As the months passed the pressure
on the investigating officers from an
angry and inquisitive public became
almost a thing of weight and sub-
stance. Yet they were almost literally
wearing stones down to pebbles, they
turned them so often. The bills
turned over to “John” had all been
listed, and, the majority of them, be-
ing gold notes, which were called out
of circulation as of May Ist, 1933, were
relatively easy to trace.

Hauptimann, who was certainly in
command of the situation so that he
could handle all the money, or at
least control the.conversion of it to
regular bills, was, contrary to popular
conception, noted several times as he
passed bills later identified as ransom
money. This happened, as my in-
complete notes made seventeen
years ago reveal, at two banks on the
upper West_Side of Manhattan. A
teller then recalled a hazy description
of Hauptmann, and the sharp chin
and triangular face were mentioned.
Meanwhile the kidnap ladder had
been traced to a mill in the South and
back to a lumberyard in the Bronx.

,Ps\‘(:HlATRISTS were called in and
shown the handwriting and the sym-
bols on the ransom notes, and were
told about this Germanic carpenter.

- To their credit they wrote some very

skilltul interpretations about this man
they'd never seen. From all that had
happened, it was almost inevitable
that Hauptmann at least, some day
would be caught. Jafsieeven saw him
again one day while on a bus ride on
the Grand Concourse, in the Bronx,
but, by the time he could have the
bus stopped and pursue him, “John”
had vanished.

But he turned up again at a filling
station on September 15th, 1934, driv-
ing his old Dodge car up to the pumps
located at Lexington .\venue and
127th Street. He wanted “fife,” and
he paid with a $10 gold note. \Valt
Lyle, the station manager, took the
bill, noted its type and said, “Don’t
see many of these any more.” Haupt-
mann said no, and added cheerfully
that he himself only had about a hun-
dred of them left. Since this was
more than 16 months after passing
such bills had become illegal, Lyle
told Johnnie Lyons, his assistant,
about it, and Johnnie wrote the li-
cense number of the car down hur-
riedly, just before the car wheeled out
of sight. Itwas4 U 13 4], and it soon
was traced to Bruno Richard Haupt-
mann. Hauptmann was arrested, and
on his person was another of the ran-
som bills. A short time later Tom
Sisk, an FBI man who was a friend of
mine, kept noticing that Hauptmann

while answering questions, would re-
spond to a subconscious urEe to peek
at the Hauptmann garage. Exhaustive
search there turned up 966 of the ran-
som-payment bills, a total of $14,580.

Only $5,085 more of the $50,000
payment ever turned up, which means
that $30,315 had been converted by
Hauptmann without being detected,
and how much of this he spent him-
self or paid to others can not, of
course, be determined.

In the preparation of the case, and
in its trial, every newspaper and, it
seemed, everyone having anything re-
motely to do with the matter, had an
“angle.” The prosecutor—~the bril-
liant David Wilentz, then Attorney
General of New Jersey—took the quite
justified position that his task was to
prove Hauptmann innocent or guilty,
and that he was therefore not con-
cerned with others not under appre-
hension, but must, in the interests of
greatly-desired clarity in a very con-
fusing case, beware of collateral issues
and collateral facts, however interest-
ing they might be. He developed his
presentation along the “lone wolf”
conception and made it sound plau-
sible that Hauptmann was one of the
very few individuals in the world who
could have conceived and carried out
this great crime alone. He did not
allow the intrusion of such questions
as to how Hauptmann knew unerring-
ly the location of the nursery. Some
ol his investigators, who couldn't
speak for Mr. Wilentz, told reporters
“off the record” that someone of the
servants ‘“probably” had boasted in
beer halls of her familiarity with the
Lindberghs, and may have been
“drawn out” by pretended skepticism
to prove she knew all about the fa-
mous couple, and as well the layout
of the Sourland Mountain home,
which had never been publicly de-
scribed: it was actually a “hideaway.”
The implication, of course, was that
this may have been done, perfectly
innocently, by the Morrow waitress,
Violet Sharpe, who committed suicide
following repeated questioning, after
her story didn’t hold up. However
the official attitude was then, and so
far as is known, still is, that Violet,
who had an “understanding” with
the Morrow butler, a conservative
English type, didn’t want to give a
truthful answer as to where she was
on the night of the kidnaping because
she had spent the evening with a man
whom she had met rather easily and
without premeditation.

THE New York Journal and its
mate, The New York American, paid
Mrs. Hauptmann’s expenses at the
trial. Eventually this led some of the
reporters from these newspapers to be-
lieve the case against Hauptmann was
not conclusive. The New York Post
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was busy exhibiting cynicism as to the
credibility of witnesses, in general,
and that the word “human” connoted
weaknesses which would not permit of
testimony in such an important case.
Governor Hoffman, about to be in-
augurated, was prepared to insist
upon an open mind and that Haupt-
mann, if found guilty, not be hastily
executed. He wanted to “clear up all
angles of the case,” and he still does.

The ladder, the ransom money, the
writing of all the ransom notes, the
appearances at both rendezvous with
Jatsie, the footprint on the cemetery
grave, all were traced to Hauptmann.
He relied on the story that a tubercu-
lar German friend named Isidor Fisch
had left the money package with him
when Fisch sailed home to die in his
native land. That, upon being noti-
fied of Fisch’s death, he, Hauptmann,
had opened the package to find a
windfall. Rounding out the story
with a remarkable series of experts in
woodlore, currency and handwriting,
and tossing in some persons who were
ready to testify that they had seen
Hauptmann in the vicinity of the
Lindbergh estate “on or about” the
date of the kidnaping, and relying
upon the identification of Hauptmann
as “John” by Jafsie and Colonel Lind-
bergh, the prosecution won a verdict
of “Guulty: death.”

Acree the verdict, I took the same
train back to New York that car-
ried Anna Hauptmann, the guilty
man’s mousy wife, and her attorney,
the flashy Ed Reilly. Now that the
case was over, Reilly was berating
Mrs. Hauptmann.  “That phony
Fisch story!” he growled. *“Didn’t
you suspect your husband when he
was able to buy you a $400 radio right
after the Lindbergh ransom money
had been paid over—even though he
hadn’t worked in months and when
he did he made only enough to barely
live on?”

She had not suspected.

“Come clean,” Reilly suggested.
“We can get $50,000 for the real story
of what happened. Then we can
really fight the appeal. You don’t be-
lieve that silly story you told—now, do
you? You knew all along all of the
true facts, didn’t you? Knew every-
body in the whole affair, didn’t you:”

Piteously Mrs. Hauptmann said her
husband wasn’t guilty; that he was a
kind man. She recalled how when
the neighbors had sick children they
brought their troubles to him; and
how one time, driving through the
park, he found a squirrel that had
been run over, and he nursed it back
to health and then released it again.
“Why he’s a kind man who wouldn’t
hurt any living thing,” she fought

back. “Look how he loves his own
little son!”
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“Yes,” said Reilly. “And he only
‘started’ that son after he got the
Lindbergh ransom money and could
then afford it!” MNrs. Hauptmann
dissolved in tears. I took her home,
later, in a taxi from the station.

I felt sorry for her then, and [ still
do. She was, in my opinion, guilty of
being nothing more than a typical
German “Hausfrau,” who wasn’t, or
even expected to be, hep to what was
going on in the family. She was kept
strictly in her place: bed, kitchen, and
nowhere else without a broom or a
mop in her hand. After Hauptmann’s
death, she married again, and now
once more is a widow and living
quietly with her son, Manfred, in an-
other city far from the scenes of her
personal tragedy.

Today, Dr. Condon is dead, and
Elmer F. Irey is dead. And presum-
ably Colonels Lindbergh and Breckin-
ridge would just as soon forget the
whole grim subject of the kidnaping
and murder. But, under American
concepts of justice, a case is not con-
sidered wrapped up until all those in-
volved in a crime have paid a penalty
for their misdeeds. From the fore-
going, it would seem obvious that this
has not been the case in the Lindbergh
kidnaping.

For, in view of the facts of the situa-
tion as I know them, consider what
the public was asked to believe in the
lone-wolf theory of the kidnaping, in
the turn of events which sent Haupt-
mann to the chair. To believe that
his death closed the books forever on
the crime, you must believe:

1. That Hauptmann built a sec-
tional ladder which included parts of
his own attic, and that he then drove
this ladder in his own car from the
Bronx to the Lindbergh home, brazen-
ly ignoring the stares of several per-
sons who saw him en route.

2. That he then calmly parked his
car down the road from Lindbergh’s
home, and, ignoring the possibilities
of watchdogs, armed guards, and auto-
matic alarm systems (for, remember,
Lindbergh had built this house as a
retreat from public adulation), un-
erringly carried the ladder to the pre-
cise spot where he could climb to the
only unfastened shutter on the house,
the one outside the nursery.

3. That he then crawled in through
that window, abducted the baby, left
a ransom note, climbed back out on
the ladder, and, while trying to de-
scend, fell when the ladder broke and
crushed the child against the side of
the house.

4. That, even in the face of this ob-
vious disturbance, he took time to
abandon the ladder in some near-by
bushes and calmly carry the child’s
body to his car still parked near by.

5. That he then drove to a spot on
the Princeton-Hopewell road, stripped

off the baby’s sleeping-suit, and buried
the body in a shallc . grave.

6. That he then drove back home
and, single-handed, successfully car-
ried on the ransom negotiations with
Dr. Condon, eventually collecting
$50,000 for himself.

7. That he used the undiscovered
portion of this money to play the
stock market and to live a quiet, toil-
free life.

8. That again, his electrocution on
the night of April 3, 1936, completely
closed the case.

It is obvious, even from these basic
seeds of doubt, that Hauptmann could
not have committed this crime, of all
crimes, alone. As some of the news-
papers said, in their twentieth-anni-
versary stories of the crime this spring,
the case just wasn’t, and still isn’t,
complete, and the very cloudiness of
the picture has been the factor which
has made millions of level-headed
Americans even reach the conclusion
that Hauptmann was convicted un-
justly and that an innocent man was
sent to the chair.

The furtherance of this last assump-
tion is not encouraged here, as shown
earlier. What s encouraged is the
absolute honesty and conviction of
Dr. Condon, who, in the trial, never
was presented in his true light to the
public. To the press, he was “super-
annuated” and “eccentric,” and cer-
tainly his actions at times were un-
orthodox. The press, of course, could
afford to be cavalier in its attitude to-
ward Jafsie; the prosecution, however,
had to make up its mind in a much
more serious manner.

w,\s Jafsie, first, “in the clear?”
This latter wasn’t resolved until after
the New Jersey police had put him
through some sharp questioning, a
second-class “third-degree.”  Then,
was he really firm in his identification
of Hauptmann as “John”? And,
finally, would he prove too talkative
as a witness? The prosecution felt—
for valid reasons—that no intimation
must be given at the trial that others
besides Hauptmann were involved.
(After all, only Hauptmann was be-
fore the bar of justice, and the others
involved shouldn’t even be tipped off
that their existence was known.)
The prosecution also could not risk
handing the defense the opportunity
to hammer away at the question:
“Where are the others?”

For, what sometimes is forgotten is
that the job of the court was limited
to one thing—proving the guilt or in-
nocence of Bruno Hauptmann. Find-
ing the accomplices involved with
Hauptmann was, and still is, a matter
for the investigative forces of the gov-
ernment, not of the prosecutor.

That Dr. Condon came close to dis-
covering who these accomplices were
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is shown in the exclusive story he gave
me concerning his visit to Hauptmann
while the latter was in the Flemington,

J. jail.  Trying to win Haupt-
mann’s confidence, Jafsie talked to
the man about his mother and about
what Hauptmann’s comrades who had
fought alongside him in the German
army, in World War I, must be think-
ing regarding their fellow-veteran hav-
ing been charged with so heinous a
crime. Jafsie told me that his efforts
had reduced Hauptmann to tears, and
that he was convinced the man was
on the verge of talking. But the jailer
abruptly announced that Jafsie’s time
was up—and the opportunity was gone
forever.

Hio tha interruption not oc- *
curred,” Condon told me later, “I
could have had the whole story and
every name in it, and there wouldn’t
be half a trial or a piece of a trial
here today.”

That the other “half a trial” may
some day be staged, and that a man
and a woman—who lived in the Bronx
in the early 19380’s who read The
Bronx Home News, and who lived
close enough to St. Raymond’s Ceme-
tery to permit Hauptmann to walk
to them, borrow writing-materials, sit
down and write the instructions for
finding the baby, and be back at the
rendezvous with Jafsie in thirteen
minutes—will eventually be found,
seems inevitable.

The great bulk of the ransom bills
never have been found, and it seems
inconceivable that all the gold notes
returned to the U. S. Treasury under
the order of May 1st, 1933, were not
checked before they were destroyed.
When the final break comes in the
case, we may learn that these gold
notes were kept for years in a safe-
deposit box, or had served in some
obscure section of the globe in the
way gold itself often does—as security
in escrow. Is it not likely that persons
clever enough to have done all the
rest might also be clever enough to
exchange this money with a hoarder
or someone else who, for reasons of
his own, wouldn't spend it immedi-
ately?

There are parts of Mexico, and cer-
tainly of many other countries among
our southern neighbors (to say noth-
ing of other parts of the world),
where people never even have heard
of the Lindbergh kidnaping. Cer-
tainly such persons would not be on
the lookout for ransom bills. That
missing $30.315 of the ransom pay-
ment may yet be the clue which even-
tually will be traced back to the miss-
ing accomplices, just as the smaller
portion of it led unerringly to Bruno
Richard Hauptmann.

It is my belief that the lracmg
should be done now.
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“THE RIVET'S
STILL THERE”

By M. R. KRYTHE

Whenever you buy a pair of gen-
uine Levis—those indigo-blue jeans
made for more than a century by the

¢ Levi Strauss Company of San Fran-

cisco—you’ll notice their distinctive
copper rivets. These sturdy fasteners
are “still there,” as the firm proudly
boasts; and members of the company
chuckle as they tell the story of how
they got there.

During the Gold Rush days, young
Levi Strauss, in 1850, stepped ashore
in the City by the Golden Gate, car-
rying a bundle of canvas and other
heavy materials. He’d brought these
from New York, hoping to sell the
goods to get a grubstake before setting
off for the mines.

But Fate apparently had other
plans for him. Immediately a miner
stepped up to Levi and asked, “Did
you bring any pants along? Can’t get
any here that will stand the hard wear
in the diggin’s.”

“No, I-I didn’t,” said the surprised
young man; “just didn’t think of
doing that.”

Suddenly an idea hit him. He
grabbed his new acquaintance by the
arm, and they hurried along the nar-
row dusty street until they came to a
small tailor-shop. There Levi showed
the owner his goods, and asked him
to make two pairs of pants at once,
one for himself and the other for the
miner.

They proved so satisfactory that the
news soon spread that Levi’s pants
actually held up, and he was besieged
with more orders than he could fill.
He had his brothers in New York send
out more materials. Young Strauss
became so involved in the pants busi-
ness that he never did get to the dig-
gings as a miner. Since his product
was so popular, he started a small fac-
tory where the “Levis”—as everyone
called them—were turned out as fast
as possible.

Meantime, something happencd
over in Virginia City, Nevada, that
had an important bearing on the
Strauss Levis. Whenever a miner
named Alkali Ike came to town, he’'d
go to the tailor, Jacob W. Davis.
With a stream of profanity, Ike cursed

his ““doggoned pants pockets” because
they were always tearing out. This
wasn’t strange, since Alkali Ike used
to load them with rock specimens
when on his prospecting trips.

Davis mended the pants as well as
he could, but in spite of his efforts,
the pockets kept tearing out. One
day when Ike had made a round of
several saloons, and was especially
abusive, the tailor said:

“You lay down in the shop, Ike, and
get some sleep; I'll try to fix the pock-
ets this time so that they will really
stay on.”

Alkali Ike was soon snoring peace-
fully; Davis slipped over to a harness-
shop, and pounded in some iron rivets
to hold the pocket-corners in place.
The tailor did it as a joke; but Ike
didn’t get angry, as Davis had ex-
pected.  He was delighted with his
new indestructible pockets, told others
about them, and Davis was kept busy
riveting pants pockets.

On his annual trip to San Francisco
to buy materials, the tailor told
Strauss about his new idea. At once
there was a conference with a lawyer;
Strauss got a patent on the rivets; and
Davis stayed on to take charge of his
overall factory. However, in order
to prevent rusting, Levi used copper
rivets instead of iron omes.

Since 1850 the firm (now made up
of descendants of Strauss) has made
more than 95,000,000 pairs of Levis
in their eight factories. At their Cen-
tennial cclebration in 1950 they gave
Governor Earl Warren an especially
tailored pair of l.evis.

Levis have changed very little dur-
ing all these decades: they still are
stitched with strong orange-colored
thread: they carry the same oilcloth
patch with the firm’s guarantee, and
their characteristic trademark—two
horses, each trying to go in a different
direction and tear a pair of Levis
apart—is still used.

The company hasn’t been able to
improve on one of the most important
and durable Levi features: the copper
fasteners that strengthen these sturdy
pants. Take a look at your Levis;
“The Rivet’s Still There.”
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_North Wind Crying
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No Indian wench could beat him
at his own game. He'd have her

and the gold—and he’d be free.
By TOM ROAN

CURSING THROUGH His BEARD and keeping his dis-
tance as he trudged through the snow, Archie Buckner
sent the long whip flying again. The lash cracked into a
noise that was louder and sharper than a pistol-shot in
the frosty air—a sound that was like suddenly shattering

lass.
& Pain showed for just an instant in the fur-rimmed
face of the tall Indian girl pushing and twisting at the
gee-pole of the sled. Ahead, the lead-dog whipped her
head around and snarled back at the string of seven
malemutes behind her, the brutes straining and sawing
in their harness to take the long sled up and over the
stiff pull. \When the last surge took the sled to the top
the girl spoke one sharp word:

“Ee-yak!”

“Now what the hell?” Archie Buckner stared at her.
His eyes raked the halted dogs in a swift glance. “You
know damned well I said we’d make time—fast time!”
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“Of course.” The girl nodded, her
voice gentle. “The fear drives you
on and on. Now I am your prisoner,
but I do not intend to kill my hus-
band’s dogs.”

“Damn your husband!”

“So you say so often.”

“You damned Indian, you!”

“Oh, yes,” she nodded, smiling faint-
ly, “an Indian, but I fear no man. Un-
til now no man has been afraid of me.”

Archie laughed contemptuously.
“Who is afraid of you now!”

“You.” She lifted her left hand.
From under the cuff of her mitten
hung a small steel chain made fast to
the end of the sled. “Is there turther
proof,”—she shook her wrist and
rattled the chain—"than this?”

“Shut up!” He lifted the whip,
towering above her with a rifle
strapped to his back and six-shooters
in his waistband under the heavy turs.
Twice before, today, he had lifted
that whip with the quick notion of
knocking her down. As many times
he had heard a low growl from the
dogs and saw that they were watching
him with lifted lips and a dangerous
glimmer in their eyes. Now again he
stepped back, and the hand holding
the whip dropped at his side.

JL‘[)GF.D strictly by his own conclu-
sions, the North had been cruel o
Archie Buckner. Months ago in Forty
Mile he had shot a man down in the
Music Box—a saloon, gambling-house
and honky-tonk. Moments later he
had killed a screaming woman who
had thrown herself forward and across
the dying man’s chest.

All the North hunted him now.
The man who had died mattered little.
He was only a crimp and a tinhorn
gambler who nightly tinkled the mu-
sic-box and was not above rolling a
drunken miner for his poke. But in
Alaska only a woman might kill a
woman and get away with it—some-
times. There was too great a shortage
of them up here, and rare were the
men who would dare to contribute to
the shortage by sending one away.
They were mostly toys, of course, but
men now and then needed toys in this
great and sprawling country where the
cold white silence reigned for months
on end when the sun swung south.

Too many men, perhaps, remem-
bered Lille Balleau. They remem-
bered her golden hair and her golden
voice. Ten-score and more had
known her arms were sott and warm.
If her eyes too often brimmed with
tears and love and her lips were only
liesfor fat pokes, well, hell, what mat-
tered that to a man in this far land
—a miner in from the creeks, rich and
drunk and roaring wild, in town for
a few days and nights to paint it red,
to see and thrill, to taste and feel the
sights?
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Up here a man found his gold or
left his carcass in the wilds for the
wolves and prowling things, living to-
day and apt to die tomorrow, gulping
life in the raw and rowdy where he
could find it. Alaska had all kinds of
men, the strong-gutted and brawny
with hair on their chests and whiskers
to their belly-buttons, and others weak
as jelly, too soft to fight and die, then
get up to fight and die again—men
who had no earthly business in the
North!

Archie Buckner was one of the
latter. Born in Bartlett Alley, one of
the toughest rat- and human-runways
in all of old San Francisco's howling
Barbary Coast, he had started life the
soft way. Assoon as he could toddle
he was Mamma’s little darling of the
parlor. Maudlin women and senti-
mental drunks had poured tears and
dollars on him, his mother dressing
him as a doll, one day a girl, the next
a boy, a bunny rabbit or a toddling
teddy bear.

At thirty, the darling of the parlor
had outgrown some of it, though he
still wanted what he wanted, and hang
or damn who the devil had to pay
for it. He was short on several of the
wonderful things his mother had
promised and sworn he was going

“to be.

But Archie Buckner had not been
short at other things. In the Mid-
night Sun he could sit and sway like
a wizard on the piano stool, long
hands fluttering up and down the
keys, his particular brand of music
reeling and rocking the splitlog
walls and rafters. Given a fiddle,
he could saw the toughest and most
miserly drunken miner to great
tears lalling in his beard and the
spending notion to fling his poke on
the bar and bawl:

“Bartender, God damn you, set 'em
up on me to the whole house!”

Bank Sweet from the Music Box
had let his big brown eyes roll on
deadly territory when he lamped them
in Lille Balleau's direction. Lille
Balleau belonged to Archie Buckner
—from Archie Buckner’s first week in
the North there had been no question
about that. They knew it from bar-
room rakes to miners, all the rest of
the town to keepers of the dives and
joints. As one of his kind sometimes
would, Archie Buckner had been true
to Lille Balleau. True, until she
packed trunk and bag and slid out
when his back was turned, making a
3uick change of both heart and ad-

ress to the Music Box.

Everybody knew what followed.
He had never intended to shoot beau-
tiful Lille. He had never intended
to mar nor scar an inch of her sleek
and glossy white skin; he had never
once thought of a pistol-ball bursting
her pretty Irish jaw. It just so hap-

pened that she had made a fool of
herself at the wrong moment, mauling’
his heavy heart with a twist of her
dramatics when the lightning was let-
ting loose, the noise crashing all
around and nobody able to think.

He had walked to the center of the
room, eyes on the couple at the piano
beyond the hardwood strip of dance
floor, a long black .44 in his waist-
band. A handsome rake had been
Bank Sweet, a lowbrow from the
moonshine-whisky hills of - Arkansas,
who still ate beans off his knife. With
everybody looking on, Bank’s courage
had gone to thin soup. Without any-
body telling him what was coming, he
had leaped from the stool with a yell
—the sudden roar of the .44 flapping
him down to one knee on the floor
and his left elbow rippling a crash of
noise from the keys. A\ gush of red
had come from his mouth as he hung
there for a second like a reeling drunk
sick at the belly.

And there was Lille, dropping to
her knees, screaming and crying over
that thing dying on the floor.

The big black .44 had bucked
again—just bucked, jumped, whirling
rings of smoke coming out of the
muzzle, streaks of flame roaring the
lead to Lille.

Ak(:}lll-: BuckNer might have stood
trial and come clear of it in spite of
evervthing. A dozen women in Forty
Mile would have sworn away their
lives and all hopes of the hereafter for
him. Some of them would have hid-
den him until the excitement had its
chance to die. Instead, he had
wheeled and fled. After that, one
mistake after another had trailed him,
driving him on and on until all the
North seemed to be after him. Every-
where he turned men wanted to cap-
ture him, to take him back and see
him hanged. When the North swung
down its glittering eye a man was
doomed-—little hope, little chance left
for him beyond the unspeakable busi-
ness of dying.

And Archie Buckner did not want
to die. Thinking that he was keep-
ing himself from it, he had killed two
men in the long and bitter months
since leaving Forty Mile. On the Peel
he had killed one Charley McCoy,
burying him under the Hoor of his
cabin. On the Great Bear he had
killed Rodney Knight, hiding this
second body under the hearth of the
rough-rock fireplace. He had taken
gold from both places, and from sev-
eral more besides, making up eighty
pounds of the hard pack he carried.

Now this—the sled, the wolfish dogs,
and the pretty half-Indian wife of
Dawson Queen, the man who rode
the mails through thousands of square
miles of this ¢old and lonely wilder-
ness of the Far North.
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0Odd now, but each time he looked
at this girl he thought of Lille Bal-
leau—so sweet, so smooth and beauti-
ful, Lille Balleau! Lille was now only
a figure of the imagination, a golden
shadow to haunt his dreams each time
he laid his weary body down and tried
to sleep.

Everything, indeed, was a dream
until he came to Dawson Queen’s one-
room cabin, cold and hungry, shoul-
ders and back rubbed raw from the
pack he was carrying. Kloshe Queen
had taken him in, never troubling
herself to ask who he was or from
where he had come.

Other men on the trail had stopped
at the cabin while Dawson Queen was
away on his mail run. Nothing had
ever happened to Kloshe Queen. Her
faith was so simple it was childish.
Not once did she suspect that she had
under her roof a Zar—wamed killer
who was eating his guts out for the
sight of a good-looking woman.

Damn it, it was her own fault, let-
ting a man pile into “a moosehide
bunk against the wall just across the
room from hers. Dog-tired, stomach
filled with good warm food, he had
slept for hours. Something had stirred,
rousing him at dawn, the long-hunted
animal lying on his side, cracking
open one eye, ears cocked. Across
from him two long shining legs were
noiselessly sliding from under their
covering and off the side of the bed.
The torso of a woman had come up,
bare from throat to waist for just a

moment as arms lifted a mannish
shirt to cover it.

Well, hell, and so what! A good-
looking woman, a smooth warm-

skinned beauty—a lonely cabin locked
in by the cold in the heart of a still
and far wilderness. . . . A man . ..
a woman . .. a leap, a grab, a scream,
a clip to the jaw, and the six wolfish
dogs outside growling and scratching
at the front door, whining like crying
children to get in and take a short
and bloody part in the battle being
fought inside. . . .

After that a man could hang and
die only once. That was why he had
taken Dawson Queen’s extra sled and
dogs. In the end, with the sled loaded
with food and all the things needed
on the trail, what fool would have
left the pretty half-breed behind?
With eighty pounds of stolen gold
now on the sled, he would be a differ-
ent man when he made his way to
the outside world.

L1}

W it He looked down at her.
The dogs dropped to their bellies as
they rested on the snow, every tongue
still panting. “How much longer are
we stalling?”

“I am listening.”
“Listening?” He cocked his head to
one side.
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“It is the north wind.” She litted

‘her free hand, the other resting on the

gee-pole. “For some it blows evil
For others it is a good voice. Listen
to it now.”

He stepped back, glowering. Until
now he had scarcely noticed that the
wind was blowing, but it was there, a
soft sobbing coming down the valley,
a low whispering that seemed to grow
stronger as he listened. It was like
cold needles scabbing him when he
faced it, coming from off the far
Arctic wastelands of ice and snow.
For a few seconds it was like a low
voice singing over the rise, remind-
ing him of a woman whimpering.

“All right,” he said then. **Mush
on!”

“Then you hear itz"

She was grinning at him now, a
kissable wench standing there lean-
ing against the gee-pole, a strange
sparkle in her dark eyes. For just a
little more he would bang her on the
jaw and put her down right here on
the snow. .\ glance at the dogs
changed his mind. Those brutes
would be up and at his throat. The
only thing holding them now was

Alen tire themselves in pursuit
of rest.

—LAURENCE STERNE
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Kloshe, and she was holding them to
save their lives, knowing he would
shoot them down one after the other
if they started to charge him.

“You do hear it now,” she nodded.
“It is the north wind crying. It is
bad when it cries like that, so soft and
sad—"'

“Mush on!” he snarled. “I'll have
you working none of your damned
Indian mumbo-jumbo on me!”

“But it is crying.” She lifted her
hands, a queer look of fear now in her
eves. “I hear it like—like an Indian
death-song, a song old men sing when
they know the time of dying is close at
hand. They—"

“Mush on, damn you!”
the whip, conscious of the dogs leap-
ing to their feet in their harness, their
fangs baring. “Mush!”

“Mush! Tenas nahsh!”  She
turned lifting her free hand, giving
her order to the dogs in English and
Chinook. ‘‘Konaway, mamook!”

The dogs turned, tails lifting and
wagging in the air. The lead-bitch
swung back to position like a pendu-
lum, setting her feet in the snow and
straining forward in a weave to set
the other dogs in line. Bucking right
and left at the gee-pole, Kloshe rocked
the sled. all the dogs now tightening

He lifted

the traces, stretching themselves for-
ward—the sled beginning to move
again. Now it was pitching down the
south slope of the rise, the runners
starting a low and slithering song ol
their own on the snosv.

South, always south, keeping off the
trails, as far away as possible from all
forms of civilization. That was the
way to get out of the North, the way
other wanted men had done it. Be-
hind him let the North boil and rage,
let the Northwest Mounted Police
watch the trails. By dodging every
cabin, by avoiding every meeting with
mankind, he would make it, if noth-
ing better than the Gulf of Alaska
and the upper rim of the North Pacific
QOcean, then down through the limit-
less inland waterways in some small
stolen boat, and on into the Puget
Sound—the final gateway to freedom.

b was all carefully and hope-
tully plotted in his mind. This girl,
the sled and dogs, would have to go
long before he was even within hun-
dreds of miles of safety. \Where, when
and how that parting would take
place was still in the future. Right
now the sled and the dogs were in-
dispensable, and without the girl to
drive and manage the dogs he would
be lost.

Rounding a bend an hour later the
sled-runners were singing merry tunes
as they glided over an unbroken sheet
of ice filling 2 narrow waterway that
had come twisting in from the east.
Down a steady but imperceptible
slope high walls of rock and ice were
closing in on them. A widening that
in warm weather would be a mile-
wide lake was showing ahead. Yell-
ing his command to the girl, he had
her curve to the right and around an
abrupt shoulder, the gray Arctic night-
fall rapidly closing around them.

The gods could not have picked a
better spot for the night. Just around
the shoulder was an ice-rimmed hole
six feet high and half as wide in the
rocks. Rifle down, cocked and ready,
he made a quick inspection, and
turned back with a grin in his matted
beard as he spoke, a warm and quiv-
ering anticipation already possessing
him.

*“T'hirty feet deep and twenty wide
inside. We'll leave the sled drawn up
close, right outside. A handful of
fire and it’ll be a warm nest. Others
have camped here before us; there’s

quite a pile of dry wood inside. The
dogs will stay with the sled.”

“Yes.” She looked at him with
hard defiance in her big eyes. “And

the dogs will rob the sled of all the
food we have, before morning! You're
a fool as well as a coward.”

“Damn it,” he snarled, his fist
tightening on the rifle’s barrel, “we’ll
take the grub inside!”
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“And”—she nodded—"spend half of
tomorrow repacking the sled. The
better way is to take the dogs inside.”

“Don’t toy with me, Kloshe!”

“Don’t rouse the dogs.” She waved
her free hand toward them. *“They
hate you, as it is.”

“\What in hell could they know?”

“Look at their eyes and curled lips.”
She was beginning to jeer at him.
“They know 1 am in trouble. One
word from me—"

“And I'd shoot you down!” he
rasped. “Damn you, Kloshe, you're
dancing like a fool on a lighted pow-
der-keg, when you mock me!”

“That I know.” She smiled weari-
ly. “Listen!” She lifted her hand, a
strange light again filling her eyes.
“The wind is stronger!”

“Damn the wind!”

An hour later, he was cursing and
arguing with her, but he was keeping
his hand close to the butt of a six-
shooter and his voice low. She held
the other side of the fire, the dogs
forming a waiting and watching half-
ring behind her. Each time his voice
had lifted, their bristles lifted with it.
Several times, a low whimper had
come from the lead-dog, that magnifi-
cently brawny bitch in-her coat of
dusty white and liver-brown. Each
time she had whined it had been like
a deep crying hard-held in her throat,
her half-bared fangs yellow as gold in
the firelight.

“If you keep this up, Kloshe,” he
ground out the words, trying to keep
his voice down, “you're going to make
me kill you.”

“Yes, 1 know.” She was smiling
again as she nodded, so damnably
sweet about it, and so maddeningly
beautiful now in the warmth and fire-
light with her head bared and her
heavy furs laid aside. “It will be
simple: A bullet through the heart
or the head, a quick stab of pain, and
Kloshe will be dead here on the rocks.
She will be robbed of only one thing
more.” Her eyes sparkled. “And
that will be the sound of fury from
the dogs, dying to avenge the wrongs
to me! I will miss the snapping of
the fangs, the ripping of a coward’s
flesh, the great hunks of meat tearing
out of him, his blood spilling on the

round.”

“I'll kill the damned dogs, 1 tell
you!”

This time her smile bared perfectly-
set white teeth. *“Not before some of
them get through to you!”

Arguing, pleading, promising her
many things, was getting him no-
where.

Finally he cursed himself and piled
down in the opening, sleeping with
one eye cracked and his ears cocked.

Though still dead-tired at the first
hint of dawn, he got up and moved
quietly outside, rifle hugged against
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him.  When he came to the great
shoulder of rocks, the wind struck
him, and it seemed to be coming now
from the east. In it he heard a sharp
crying that staggered him back, mak-
ing him afraid.

All right, today it would be some-
thing else: the damned dogs strung
to the sled, hung on a rise or a hard
turn where both he and Kloshe would
have to put their shoulders to the sled.
Today there and then, another swift
belt to the jaw, and—and—

Hxs thoughts stopped, as if jarred
to a quick halt. Again the crying was
coming back to him through the thick
haze of grayness filling the outside
world. It was sharper now. In a
moment’s dying of the wind it seemed
to be rising, growing even sharper. As
the wind came back it was still there,
muftled now to a low crying and whin-
ing—something coming down the
frozen waterway, running through
the grayness, making time—fast time—
on the ice!

“Damn!”

It seemed to be the only word he
could say. He fell back against the
rocks, rifle up and ready, eyes popping

in his face. Then, out of the gray-
ness, he saw it, as one object, an ap-
parition composed of eight running
dogs, a longsled and a tall man.

He was going on; in another min-
ute he would be lost in the pre-dawn
gloom. Then hell itself was suddenly
loosed, in scream on scream, sharper
than a bugle’s shrill calling, reaching
far out on the ice.

“Dawson!” It was one word, over
and over, each punctuated by a slight
pause as if to give them room to go
flying away in the dawn grayness, all
the desperation and anguish behind
the calling: “Dawson!  Dawson!
Dawson!”

“You—wench!” Buckner wheeled,
his own voice a yell of sudden terror
letting loose.

“Dawson! Dawson! Dawson!”

She was holding the dogs, in her
panic thinking she was doing the right
thing by keeping them behind her in-
stead of letting them rush out to die.

“Dawson! Daw—"

He cut her short with a shot. The
yard-long blade of fire and crash of
the rifle was like a sudden rocking of
the earth to his panic-stricken ears.
He had not intended it; the cold finger

“You—wench!” Buckner shouted, his voice a scream of terror.

Dawson!” she

“Dawson!
yelled, holding the dogs instead of sacrificing them. “Daw—" He cut her short with a shot.
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on the trigger had tumbled, trembling
hands the cause ot it, the bullet
smacking a shower of ice and bits of
rock down at least two yards from the
girl.

Wheeling, rocking back, he was
like a man gone mad against the high
shoulder of rocks, hands pawing and
raking again, trying to work the rifle’s
bolt and get another cartridge in the
firing chamber. With an oath and a
quick stiffening of every muscle in his
body, he stood straight, only his head
craned forward on its long neck, ears
straining.

Down there on the ice in the gloom,
sled-runners were screaming, coming
around in a swift turn. As the sled
wurned Kloshe’s far-reaching voice
came again like the final and %\opeless

shriek of some wild thing dying:
“Dawson!”
“Kloshe!” The voice boomed out

of the gloom, appearing to rock the
resound on the slopes like the harsh
echoing of a drum. “Kloshe! Nika
chako!” it cried again.

QUEF.N, it was! Dawson Queen!
Buckner turned suddenly, in his ter-
ror not knowing where he was going
nor what he was trying to do. He ha
to do something, quick! The right
thing was to get back and get in posi-
tion to start shooting before big
Dawson Queen spotted him.

A sloping break in the rocks seemed
put there for him. He slung the rifle
to his shoulder and fell into the break,
a scrambling thing pawing and claw-
ing his way upward, getting to the
first six-foot rise. On it he fell tlat, the
cocked rifle going off with another
hellish noise, its bullet glancing and
crying away on the icy rocks above
him. Screaming like 2 woman, he
wiggled himself up, pawing for the
next rise. §

Hell, nothing was clear now! Ter-
ror possessed him body and soul, rob-
bing him of the last smattering of his
senses. He heard snarling dogs be-
low, and realized that Kloshe had let
them loose. Given their chance at
last, they were trying to follow him.
Maddened and cursing, he climbed
higher and higher, to fall flat on his
face on top of the shoulder, another
sound coming now to freeze him with
terror from a second source.

It was another sled—eight dogs and
two more men who seemed to have
burst out of the gray nowhere.” Down
there they were in brighter light where
astronger wind was clearing the gloom.
Two wide-brimmed white hats fas-
tened on top of the sled’s load told
Archie Buckner that here were the
men he dreaded more than all other
men on earth.

“Mounties!” he gasped, bucking
himself up on hands and knees.
“Mounties with Dawson Queen!”
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Of counse they were Mounties, and
why hadn’t he remembered that one
usually found them not far from the
mail runs? There they were, and
maybe theyhad been at thecabinwhen
Queen returned. Together they had
picked up the trail, reading the mean-
ing of the stolen food, the missing
wite, the dogs and the sled.

Jerking back as if hit in the face,
Archie Buckner started clambering
madly up running, the timbered ridge.

Anywhere, anywhere now! The
eighty pounds of stolen gold and the
woman no longer were of interest;
only life mattered now. Into the
frozen walls of gloom ahead, over the
high places and down the other side,
and he might make it, might yet beat
them out. There would be other
lonely cabins in these far and still
wilds, and maybe he would kill again
—and again—anything to keep going!

Four howrs later it looked as if he
might make it. He had put every-
thing behind. Crossing the ridges, he
was still going up. Ahead of him,
still, white and cold, loomed a tower-
ing pass sheeted with ice and snow.
Here he was slowed to a creep, wind-
ing his way up, pausing to rest for a
few moments here and there.

He had lost all track of time. Time
was no longer important. Now he
was possessed only with the feeling
that he had once more put danger be-
hind him, escaping the smart ones, by
his own superior smartness.

A sound brought the old tear back.
It was the wind, a low sobbing and
crying on the slopes. He thought of
what Kloshe had said of the north
wind, of old Indians singing their
death-songs when the end was at hand.

Damn Kloshe! She was gone, back
to her man—and to hell with her! He
was cursing her as he neared the top
of the long drag. The wind was still
crying. Then out of it there suddenly
came a sharper, longer-lasting cry—a
wail, a whistle li[ting a spray of ice
and snow ahead of him.

A Dbullet, that! He turned and
looked back. Yes, a man was back
there, a weaving shape against the
wall of green below the timberline.
One of the Mounties, damn him! One
of those men who never gave up.

At the top he turned and fired three
careful shots. The fourth was about
to be released when abruptly he
changed his mind. \Wheeling, no
heavy pack to load him down now,
he huwrried on, getting the crest of the
top behind him. There he stopped,
eyes widening as he stared below,
around, then back at the rim of the
crest behind him.

God, no! That damned Indian
wench—what had she done to him?
How had she fooled him like this?
Had he walked along behind her and
the sled like a fool, letting her pick

the way, slow-circling him back to the
starting-place?

And she had! Tt was down there,
down a long white slope shaped like
a great trough and covered with snow.
Beyond a sudden drop-off sprinkled
with scrub-timber was the Dawson
cabin, squat and made of the usual
heavy logs, but no friendly smoke
from its rough chimney bannering in
the wind now. He took a few uncer-
tain steps forward—and then he halted
again.

Only a few miles away, down-coun-
try to his right, three creeping shapes
were showing. In a moment he knew
them as sleds. Dawson, Kloshe, and
the second of the infernal pair of
Mounties!

Well, hell, he still had time to play
a trump card: By being careful he
could get to the cabin ahead of them,
and from inside its thick walls he
could down them as they came up.
Yes, of course—down Dawson, the two
Mounties; and again—yes again!—have
Kloshe, the gold and the sled.

He started on, then stopped again,
cringing from a sharp cry. It was the
infernal wind, the crying north wind!
He laughed wildly, took another step,
and halted with the snarl and gasp of
a startled tiger. Looking up, he stood
fascinated, unable to believe his eyes.
Never had he heard of sled-dogs trail-
ing a man; yet up there was big
Tahmahnawis, the lead-dog of Klo-
she’s string. She was on a rise above
the pass itself, trying to help the
Mountie hidden somewhere below.

Archie Buckner wheeled up the
rifle.  The dog saw him, and dropped
back behind an icy spwr. Buckner
shifted. For a second he forgot to
watch his feet. In that second his
right foot slipped. He spun half
around with a yell, the rifle blazing
away at the lifeless sky. All at once
he was falling, bouncing, turning like
a log.

It was the beginning of a snowball:
Rolling faster and faster, it was grow-
ing larger and larger until it was like
a white house coming down the slope;
and he was a prisoner soon uncon-
scious inside a great ball racing fast-
er and faster as it struck the deeper
snow.

Thiar was the end of Archie Buck-
ner. An hour later Tahmahnawis
and the trailing Mountie found the
remains. Coming over the drop-off
and lalling on ice and rocks two hun-
dred feet below, the great snowball
was broken, split apart in the middle,
the two halves lying forty yards from
each other in the low timber.

Northwest Mounties are patient
men. They dug the upper half of
Archie out of one great mass of hard-
packed snow, the lower half out of
the other. o
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the GEEPEY and
the GOONEY

A portrait of a weird and wonderful

citizen who whistled instead of
J]_. talking, al?d who .thnu.gm you could play
- a guitar while riding a motorcycle.

« By JOSEPH LAWRENCE

AUGUST, 1952

A MAN WHO wWRITES PIECES for the papers gets calls
from some mighty strange people, and I can’t say I
ever am too surprised at some of the characters who
are at the other end of the line when I pick up my tele-
phone. When it rang the other afternoon, however,
and I discovered the caller was Henry Farrell, I must
admit I drew back in some astonishment; I had neither
seen nor heard from Henry in more than ten years—
not since 1941, to be exact, when he was my assistant
on the staff of the Home Mechanics magazine and thus
succeeded in providing me with one of the weirdest,
wackiest years of my entire life.

“Joe?" he said. ‘“What are you doing?”

That’s all. No questions about how had I been in
the more than ten years since we’d last seen each other;
no preamble such as “Hello,” or “Is this Mr. Law-
rence?” or even a clue to his identity. Just “Joe?
What are you doing?”

“Who,"” I said crisply, "is this?"”

“Oh, this is Henry, Joe. I just called to say, it you
aren’t busy, a bunch of us are riding out to New Jersey
to visit with Carlo Bergstrom, and | thought you might
like to come along. There are fifty of us going, and
we're all riding white motorcycles. We’ll be leaving in
twenty minutes and we have a motorcycle for you and
anyone else you think would like to come along. Think
you can make it?"

That did it. The only man I've ever met—or ever
hope to meet—who could telephone someone he hadn’t
seen in ten years and, without bothering to identify
himselt, begin a meaningless conversation about rid-
ing white motorcycles, to the home of a character whose
name meant—and still means—nothing to me, is Henry
Farrell. Henry did things like that as a matter of
course.

“\We're all meeting at the Holland Tunnel,” Henry
was saying, “and we ought to be at Carlo’s house in
time tor dinner. And bring your guitar.”

“On a motorcyclez” 1 yelled. The tact that 1 had
no guitar and never had had one occurred to me later.

“Oh, sure,” Henry said blithely. “Gus is coming,
and his wite, too, and they're bringing their saxophone.
We'll have a fine time.”

Sadly | told Henry that 1 was up to my ears in work
and didn’t think 1 could make it, but that I appreci-
ated his calling me and would he please give my best
to Carlo and Gus and Gus’s wite. I was tempted to add
“whoever they are,” but I didn’t, and atter a minute
Henry hung up joyously, and I sat back to reconsider
the picture I've always kept in my mind of Henry
Farrell—a picture, 1 might add, which 1 doubt if I'll
ever forget. )

He was brought into my office one morning early in
1941 by my boss, who introduced him to me, saying
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that Henry ought to be just the man
to fill that spot we had on the news
desk. I doubt if I said anything in
reply for at least ten seconds because,
frankly, I was staring in some slight
surprise at Henry Farrell.

He was a long, thin, scrawny guy,
with yellow hair that looked as if 1t
had beep combed with a rake (if any-
thing) ; he wore a baggy tweed suit, a
string tie and rubbers—although it
was a beautiful, cloudless morning—
and, in his hand, he carried a rolled-
up umbrella. In the year | knew him,
and saw him almost daily, I never saw
him venture outdoors without either
the rubbers or the umbrella. He also
wore thick-lensed, horn-rim glasses.

| eixaiey recovered enough to rise
and mutter that I was pleased to
meet him, and that’s when I got the
first of the many shocks I was to re-
ceive from my association with Henry
—he didn’t talk. Instead—and every-
one who recognizes Henry in this de-
scription will bear me out in this—he
wiggled his fingers at me like a small
child waving from a window, and
made a whistling sound through his
teeth that sounded like the noise a
trained bird is taught to make when
its owner brags that it can talk.

It was all I could do to keep from
wiggling my fingers in reply and re-
turning his greeting whistle for whis-
LI

Any doubts I might have had about
Henry’s ability, as judged by this first
impression, soon were dissipated, how-
ever. In no time he’d plunged into
the job, taken held as only a man who
knew his stuff would do, and soon was
a well-liked and respected member of
our staff. He still whistled when-
ever such commonplaces as “Hello,”
“Thanks,” “How are you:". “Good-
by,” or “Let’s have lunch,” were called
for, but he talked at other times, and
his conversation always was stimulat-
ing if for no other reason than that
it was different.

The turther fact that we rarely saw
Henry without a broad smile helped
to endear him to everyone in the of-
fice: but that the smile was not just
something put on tor effect soon be-
came apparent. Henry had a delight-
tul sense of humor, a fact which was
brought out all too clearly in his
drawings. Henry whistled rather than
indulge in conversational clichés; he
drew fantastic impressions in pencil
rather than waste time trying to de-
scribe a person or thing verbally.

For example, most ot us had photo-
graphs on our desks of our wives and
children. Henry didn’t; instead, the
glass top of his working space rested
on drawings of some of the strangest
figures ever seen outside the mind of
a mental patient. There was a round
ball, with an egg-shaped head from
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which emerged wires and electrodes
and similar gadgets. This figure had
threeeyes arranged in the general pat-
tern of a triangle; there were four sets
of teeth, and the neck was a long, thin
string attached to the round ball of
the torso. The figure was labeled
“The Gooney.”

“What’s a gooney?”’ someone asked
Henry one day.

“Oh,” he giggled, “that’s my moth-
er. Good likeness, don’t you think?”

He went on to explain that the three
eyes enabled his parent to observe
things ordinary people might miss,
and the four sets of teeth made it pos-
sible for Mama to eat like a steve-
dore. (The boss, who met Henry's
mother one day, reported that she
actually was a handsome woman of
evident culture and refinement.)

There were similar pictures ot “The
Geepey"” (Henry's wife), “The Booley"
(his father) and “The Zookey” (his
mother-in-law). The one of the Gee-
pey had four sets of eyes—front and
rear and on both sides of the head. . ..

There finally came a day when
Henry came whistling and grinning
over to my desk and suggested he
would like to have us all bring our
wives and come out to his place on
Sunday for a day on “the Wewlie.”
I told him [ thought that would be
fine, and just what was the Wewlie?

“That’s my boat!” Henry squealed.
“We ought to have a fine day, il the
weather’s nice.”

The following Sunday, eight ot us
met at a pier along the Sound, up in
Westchester, and arranged with a man
to row us out to the Wewlie. He
looked at us strangely when we told
him where we wanted to go, but
grunted an agreement to ferry us out,
four at a time. I wasamong the first
tour, with my wife and another staft
member and his wife.

We skirted a variety of luxurious
yachts as we tooled across the harbor,
and I recall we wondered what kind
of boat Henry owned and how it
would compare with the others in the
harbor. I also found myself question-
ing Henry’s ability to own a craft in
these waters, knowing as 1 did his $65-
a-week salary.

I got the answer speedily.

The Wewlie turned out to be no
less grotesque than the reproductions
of the Gooney, the Geepey, the Booley
or the Zookey. In the first place, it
was easily the most top-heavy vessel
I've ever seen, being surely as high
out of the water as it was long. The
bow seemed to curl up in front of the
wheelhouse like the toe of an East In-
dian slipper; there were approximate-
ly four decks above the waterline; the
stern looked as if it had been backed
abruptly into a cliff and squeezed into
the midships section, and the topside
was a maze of aerials, cables, pseudo-

radar screens and fishnets. "T'here was
not a sign of life aboard.

“Do you suppose we’ve come on the
wrong day?” my wife asked dubiously.

It was at that moment that the other
girl in our boat let out a shriek and
pointed at the TWewlie. I saw what
she meant; from the topmost part of
the top deck untolded the completely
naked figure of Henmry Farrell. He
was followed almost immediately by
another nude figure, that of a very
pretty, dark-eyed girl. The latter,
when the excitement died down,
turned out to be the Geepey.

Now, ordinarily, if a man or woman
were discovered and come upon sud-
denly while sunbathing, there would
be squeals and a rush for covering of
some sort. \Vith Henry and the Gee-
pey there was no such nonsense. They
merely hailed us casually, told us to
come around to the other side of the
Wewlie, and they'd meet us with a
length of line. They did, too, in the
meanwhile having pulled on sport
shirts and slacks.

We had a fine day, swimming, eat-
ing and quaffing cold beer. Not a
word ever was said about the desha-
bille of our host and hostess at the
time of our arrival. . ..

I remember later on talking with
Henry about the IWewlie and wonder-
ing how the other yachtsmen in the
area felt about this weird craft an-
chored so close to their obviously sleek
possessions. My question was so
phrased as to suggest that the appear-
ence of the Wewlie might not be the
only fault the locals might find with
the Farrells as neighbors. Henry
whistled and giggled.

“Yeah,” he smirked, “they’ve been
trying to run us out for a long time.
But it's a free country; they haven't
got us yet."”

THAT Henry wasn’t all screwball,
however, was proved by the nature of
his work tor Home Mechanics. He
consistently turned in.the best copy ot
any editor on the staff; he literally del-
uged us with story suggestions (every
one accompanied by a diagram and a
wacky drawing, which in themselves
were enough to make his ideas worth
studying) , and there was at least one
occasion when we were trying to get
the plans for a tabulous new plane
that was being built for the Army,
and when everyone else including the
president of our company failed miser-
ably to get anywhere on the idea,
Henry whistled at me, waved his fin-
gers and asked if he might try. He
went off, spent the day with the in-
ventor, and came back with a story
that turned out to be one of the sen-
sations of the magazine-publishing
year.

It was toward the latter part of the
spring, however, that Henry took
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sick. His wife telephoned me one
morning, about a week after Henry
had failed to show up at the office,
and reported that Henry was in the
hospital. I asked what the trouble
was, and the Geepey said they weren’t
quite sure (giggle) but that they were
making tests and she would let me
know.

Three weeks passed without an-
other call from the Geepey, and final-
ly one morning I telephoned her.
How, I asked, was Henry?

“Henry?” Mrs. Farrell repeated.
“Oh! Yes! Why, he’s fine.”

That was nice, I told her. Was he
thinking about returning to the office
soon? Mrs. Farrell told me to wait a
moment, mumbled to someone out of
earshot of the telephone, and even-
tually said that, yes, Henry ought to be
back real soon now.

It was two and a half months later
that the boss came into my office one
afternoon to ask the latest on Henry,
and I told him all I knew. He said
he didn’t live too far from the Far-
rells’ and would drive over that night
and see how Henry was coming along.

Next morning, the boss came into
my office, sat down next to my desk,
and shook his head in puzzlement.
He had called at Henry’s house the
night before, and after a prolonged
ringing of the doorbell, Henry’s
mother had come to the door. Why,
she had said, no, Henry wasn’t here;
he was down working on his boat;
the boss certainly would find him
somewhere in the harbor.

The boss drove to the harbor, poked
around among the boats until he
found one that gave him a momen-
tary start, decided it was the Weuwlie,
and climbed aboard. Sure enough,
there was Henry, bronzed and healthy,
and sitting pulling contentedly on a
bottle of beer. ‘“Welcome aboard,”
he whistled, “and how about a stein
of the brew?”

Henry returned to work the follow-
ing Monday. He came in just as if
he’d been no farther away than the
men'’s room, whistled slyly at all of
us, wiggled his fingers, and propped
his umbrella against the side of his
desk. In three minutes he was on the
phone and conducting his affairs much
as if he’d never been away.

It may sound incredible that we let
Henry get away with such conduct;
but actually we didn’t. When it could
be pried out of Henry by the boss, it
developed he’d actually been a pretty
sick boy during his absence, had had
most of his stomach removed, and it
had been touch and go for awhile
there as to whether they were going to
have to send for “the Boombie” (the
undertaker) . ¢

One of the members of the staft of
Home Mechanics was the late Bill
Williams, later adjudged one of the

AUGUST, 1952

truly great editors of modern times.
It was Bill’s constant claim that Henry
was nothing short of a genius, and he
kept insisting that Henry get together
a collection of his drawings for publi-
cation in a book. When Henry just
giggled and whistled at this sugges-
tion, Williams decided to take mat-
ters in his own hands and collect the
sketches himself. Whether he ever ac-
quired sufficient of these to warrant
publication, or whether he finally de-
cided it was impossible to present
Henry’s wonderful personality any
other way except in the flesh, I never
found out; and Bill died suddenly a
few years later, leaving no traces of an
uncompleted manuscript on the
Geepey, the Wewlie and the Booley.
It was Bill Williams, I know, who
reported himself as being the only
man ever to see Henry actually flus-
tered and at a loss for a word, a
whistle or a finger-wave. This occurred
after I'd left Home Mechanics at the
request of Uncle Sam, late in 1941.
It seems there was one ol those office
parties, given after hours for someone

I've a grand memory for
forgetting. —ROBERT
LOUIS STEVENSON

who also was about todonkhaki. The
party was held in the art department,
and much good cheer spread quickly
through one and all. Along about
nine o’clock, the cheer had mounted
to what might best be termed a frenzy,
and one celebrant—an artist, natural-
ly—conceived the idea that he could
fly, and was attempting to demon-
strate same by going through a 28th-
floor window. Probably nothing
would have been done to dissuade
him had he not insisted on taking a
little blonde secretary with him.
That was when strong measures were
taken; girls were scarce at those
parties.

Williams, Henry Farrell and two
others embraced the artist, led him to
the elevator, and whisked him to the
street. On the street level, the artist
realized he was being ejected from
the party, and staunchly refused to
leave the elevator. A discussion en-
sued, and the elevator operator tele-
phoned the police.

By the time half a dozen of New
York’s Finest arrived on the scene,
our artist friend was, according to
Williams, extremely violent, and it
took many smart raps with night-
sticks even to reduce the budding
Rembrandt to a prone position on
the lobby floor. That’s when Henry
decided the police needed his help.

Grabbing the artist by his right
foot, Henry began to tug and pull, as
the cops essayed to get the man
through the revolving door and into
the paddy-wagon. The artist, how-
ever, objected; he kicked and
screamed, while Henry continued to
pull joyfully on the man’s leg. Then
1t happened: As Henry gave a particu-
larly violent yank on the limb, the
latter suddenly seemed to separate
from the rest of the body at a point
midway between the ankle and the
knee, and Henry as suddenly was left
standing there, gaping, wide-eyed, and
without a whistle to his name—a com-
plete foot, ankle and shin-bone in his
hands.

As Williams wrote the story to me,
the explanation was simple enough.
But no one in the office had known
anything about the artist’s having an
artificial leg, least of all Henry, and
the momentary shock was enough to
startle even as calm a character as
Henry. According to Williams, it was
a month before Henry’s smile re-
turned, and two months before his
whistle was anything more than a
dry wheeze.

That was the last 1 heard about
Henry until the other day when he
called about the white-motorcycle trip
to Carlo’s place—except for another
“letter from Williams which reached
me on a slab of rock out in the Pacific
late in 1943.

“What are you guys doing out
there?” Bill wrote. “Here I sit quiet-
ly content in the belief you are out
there fighting to save me from being
attacked by the Japs; I read news-
papers that tell me we are winning
every battle we enter; I assure myself
the war will be over suddenly—and
now comes the blow that tells me we
aren’t winning, and are in fact on the
verge of complete collapse:

“They have drafted Henry Farrell!

“Here is a guy with no stomach. He
can’t see three feet in front of him
even with those plate-glass cheaters he
wears. He would die of pneumonia
if he took oft his rubbers anywhere
except while in bed. His feet are
flatter than an elephant’s. He has no
ear-drums. But he’s in the Army.

“I tell you right now, I'm taking it
on the lam. Starting tonight, I am
fleeing for the hills, and if things are
as bad as this, I'm never coming back.
Good-by. It was nice having met you.
(Signed) Bill.”

I was certain Bill was kidding, or
that his facts were wrong about Henry.
But I learned several years later, on
my return to New York, that, sure
enough, Henry had been drafted, had
served with distinction in some branch
of psychological warfare—had even
won a medal or two, although I can’t
imagine for what. Probably for tak-
ing off his rubbers on a cloudy day. e
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was FINISHED. I had never actually

begun, but that didn’t matter. I
was finished. In Hollywood I was a
failure, and it hurt.

I walked into my agent’s office and
sat down to wait for the privilege of
telling the great man to go to hell.
That wouldn’t get me anywhere, but
at least I'd have the satisfaction of do-
ing something constructive: Tell Lar-
ry Rickert to go to hell; then get
drunk.

1 was still waiting outside Rickert’s
office when Peter Lorre walked in. It
wasn't Lorre, of course—Rickert didn’t
have any top names—but the resem-
blance was there, and strong. He
walked deliberately over to the recep-
tion window. He wasn’'t much: Black
suit, unusual for out here, but nothin,
special. White shirt, quiet foular
tie. Flashy ring on little finger of left
hand—probably a fake stone. And a
monocle. That's right—a monocle:
Iignored him until Larry Rickert con-
descended to see me.

I walked down the hall to the bi
layout in the back and Larry smile
at me across the desk and waved me
to a chair.

“What can I do for your” he asked.

“That's exactly what I want to
know,” I told him.

“What do you mean?”

“I mean I came in here two months
ago because your ads say you're a good
agent, and that’s what I needed. You
didn’t sign me up or anything like
that, but you did manage to get over
three hundred bucks out of me for a
retainer fee and for photographs and
the transcriptions I did for audition
disks. What I want to know is, when

s

do I see a little action?

HE gave me the same grin he used
for his advertising photos.

“Take it easy, Eddie. Relax.” -

“I've been taking it easy—for ten
weeks now. I want to know why you
haven’t sold me, or my show.”

Rickert stopped smiling. He leaned
forward and waved the chewed end
of his cigar at me.

“Listen, son,” he said, “this isn’t
Iowa. That package idea of yours— .
the Radio Psychologist—may have
sounded pretty good when you
dreamed it up back there. And I was
willing to give it a whirl. I sent au-
dition disks out for you to all the net-
work reps. I've been in there pitch-
ing. But it's just no dice.” :

“So I stink, eh?” I stood up. “All
right, Mr. Rickert. But it's a pity you
didn’t tell me so before I spent three
hundred bucks with you.”

“Hold on, now—"

I was holding on, hard. I knew
there was no use getting mad. He'd
given me the answer: I was washed
up but good. Now I didn’t even feel
like telling him to go to hell.
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“No hard feelings, Eddie,” said

Rickert. “Go on home and think it
over. Maybe something will still
break. I'll let you know.”

I went out and through the hall,
back to the outer office. The little
man with the monocle, was still sitting
there. He looked up and started to
open his mouth.

“Pardon me,” he said.

I didn't stop; I opened the door and
emerged on the sunlit street.

He padded after me. “Please—"
he murmured.

“Go away.” I shook him off. “Go
away. Can't you see I'm busyr 1
have to kill somebody.”

Hurrying around the corner, into
the crowd, I wondered who it was I
meant to kill.

The sunshine swept around me, and
so did the people, hurrying along.
But I had nowhere to go. I searched
my pockets: crumpled bills and some
change—four dollars and thirty-five
cents.

Why had I ever come out here, any-
way? I was just a hick, like all the
other Iowa farmers who dream of it
for years, save up for years, finally
travel two thousand miles to get here,
and then have nothing but a souvenir
to send the folks back home—a minia-
ture wooden outhouse with the name
of the city stamped on it.

I was a fool. But I couldn’t go
back; they’d laugh at me. My brother
would laugh at me. I was laughing at
myself.

E ppiE HAINEs, the Boy Wonder—the
star of the senior play. Just a high-
school kid who never grew up. I used
to think I was pretty good. They all
thought so, then: “You ought to be
in the movies. Or on the radio.”

Why not? It sounded great—in
high school. Then I wasn’t in high
school any more, and after a while
they all got jobs and I was still bum-
ming around, waiting for my big
chance.

Then I got the idea for this Radio
Psychologist program, and I thought
I was all set. I read and studied and
worked out a format for presentation
and it was in the bag. Yeah, sure it
was!

Now all I had left was four dollars
and thirty-five cents. Not enough to
get drunk on, but I tried. When that
didn’t work, I went home.

Then I remembered Charlie—my
big brother, Charlie. Always ready to
hand out advice. But one thing he
had told me I'd never forgotten:

“There’s two things a man should
always take straight—his whisky and
his razor.”

Well, I'd taken the, whisky. And
I had myrazor. It wastime to cut the
comedy; time for the unkindest cut of
all . . . Shakespeare . . . High-school
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plays . .. To hell with that. To hell
with everything—

A headache began to blind me,
sending sharp pains against my eyes.
But it wasn’t sharp enough—not near-
ly as sharp as the straight edge of my
razor, pressing against my throat. As
I moved my hand I was thinking that
the edge of a razor is the sharpest
thing in the world.

It was the only thing in the world.

B

Chapter Two

TUERE WAS SOMETHING ELSE in the
world, after all: Noise. Knocking. Per-
sistent knocking. Rattling. Knock-
ing on my door, rattling the knob.

“Go away!” I yelled.

The doorknob rattled again. The
voice was plainly audible as I moved
into the living-room.

“Open up, please.
you.

“Go away!”

Silence.

I stood there, waiting for the sound
of receding footsteps. Another mo-
ment now, and I'd be alone again.
Another moment and I could go back
into the bathroom and—

Rustling. . .. Something was sliding
under the door; something green
slithered into view.

It was a hundred-dollar bill.

I bent down and picked it up in my
left hand. Then I turned the bolt,
opened the door.

He came in—the little Peter Lorre
guy again. Only this guy was bald.
He took his hat off and the light from
the bathroom shone on an absolutely
hairless skull.

All T could do was stand there and
look at him, stand there and try to
slip the straight razor into my pocket
without his noticing, or without cut-
ting off my leg.

He turned on the living-room light,
walked over to the sofa, sat down, and
pulled out the monocle. Then he
looked up at me and smiled.

“Youre Eddie Haines,” he said.
“Pleased to meet you. I am Professor
Hermann.”

My left hand held the money, and
my right hand stayed in my pocket
with the razor. So I only nodded at
him. All at once I felt I had to sit
down. He watched me, still smiling.

“You will pardon my intrusion. I
tried to call, but it seems your tele-
phone has been disconnected. And it
was important that I see you at once.”

“How did you—"

He waved his hand, the one with
the diamond ring on the little finger.
I wasn’t so sure any more that it was
a fake diamond.

“Mr. Rickert gave me your name
and address. You recall, I think, that
I was in his office this afternoon?”

I want to see

“But—""

Again the wave. “I happen to have
heard your voice, on a record.”

“Are you in radio, Mr.—uh—Profes-
sor Hermann?”

“No. But I am greatly interested
in voices. And I have something in
mind which may interest you.”

I was sobering up, fast. I needed a
cigarette. I moved my hand in my
pocket.

“Ouch!” I'd cut my finger on the
straight edge of the razor. I pulled the
hand out of the pocket without think-
ing. He was looking at me, and I
forced a grin as I swabbed at the blood
with my handkerchief.

“Afraid I must apologize to you,”
I said. “You see, I happened to be
shaving when you rang, and I got a
little confused. I carried my razor
out with me and forgot I'd stuck it
into my pocket.”

The Professor nodded gravely. “I
see there are a few things I must teach
you. For example, you haven't yet
learned how to tell a lie.”

“What do you mean by that crack?”

His gravity disappeared with a
chuckle.

“My dear young man! You'll find
it's no use trying to deceive me. I
happen to know you weren’t shaving;
you were getting ready to cut your
throat.”

I gaped at him, and again he
chuckled.

“That would have been very silly
of you, my friend. Very, very silly.
Because you and I are going to make
a million dollars—together.”

IT was hard for me to realize that so
much had happened in so short a
time. But the clock in the little res-
taurant told me that it was only nine.
We'd been sitting here a good hour
already, eating and talking.

That is, I'd been doing the talking.
The Professor didn’t say much. He
nodded, smiled, shook his head—all
on cue. It wasn't until I had several
jolts of coffee inside of me that I came
out of my talking jag long enough to
realize that I was a fool to let him
pump me without knowing what he
wanted.

I lit a cigarette and pushed my cup
away.

““Seems to me I'm doing the talking.”

His bald head bobbed. *“Go ahead.
I like to listen to you. You have a
wonderful voice.”

“Tell that to the radio executives.
They won't listen to me.”

“Radio executives!” I caught the
familiar wave of the hand, the glitter-
ing arc of the diamond swirling
through space. “Your voice s too fine
an instrument for radio. It must not
be wasted in an effort to sell laxatives
and gasoline. That would be sheer
prostitution.”
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I took the bull by the horns.
“Speaking of prostitution,” I said,
“you haven't yet told me what you're
interested in. Why did you get hold
of me in such a hurry?”

“But I did tell you! Because of your
voice. I've spent several weeks now,
listening to voices. Auditioning, I
believe they call it. I have heard reci-
tations in the offices of agents, record-
ings and transcriptions of available
talent. I heard your voice quite by
accident, just the other day, in an
advertising agency. Apparently Mr.
Rickert had sent them the record.

“Right then and there I was almost
certain I had found my man. Because
you do have a very fine voice, Mr.
Haines. I'm not speaking of diction
or phrasing; I'm speaking of pitch and
timbre. You have a persuasive voice:
you sound sincere, convincing. Wom-
en like your voice, don’t they, Mr.
Haines?”

What was the matter with this guy?
I stared at him—a fat, ugly, baldhead-
ed little stranger who tossed around
hundred-dollar bills and talked about
voices. \Vas he looking tor another
“Continental”?

Hesmiled. “You don't understand.
of course. But you will-I'm sure of
that. I think that with proper train-
ing, you will go far. You have the
voice, the personal attributes, and the
youth. It was no accident that
brought us together: it was Destiny.”

H: vamt smiling now. He
hunched torward over the table and
his eyes were glittering to match that
diamond.

“Cut out the violin music,” I said.
“What's your proposition:”

He glanced at the restaurant clock
and rose quickly. “We haven't time
to discuss that now,” he said. “It’s
getting late. We're. due at the meet-
ng.”

“\What meeting?”

“Comc and see. It's iimportant that
you arrive before the testimony starts.”

The Professor led me down the
strecet for about half a block and
halted before my idea of a beautiful
animal—a handsome new black Jaguar
convertible.

“Climb in,” he said.

We pulled away, headed down the
boulevard, then northwest toward
Beverly Hills. Neither of us said any-
thing for a while, and the Jaguar just
purred.

The Professor glanced at the dash-
board clock. “Right on time,” he
said. “We'll pick her up and then go
to the meeting.”

“Her?”

“ONh, I forgot to mention that we're
bringing a guest. You will probably
like her—I don’t imagine you've ever
met a movie star before.”

“Movie star?”
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“Well, featured player. Seven hun-
dred and fifty a week. Lorna Lewis—
you know ot her?”

Lorna Lewis—of the glamorous
gams. The censor’s delight. I'd heard
of her, all right. This was going to be
interesting atter all.

“The movie colony is particularly
impressionable,” remarked Professor
Hermann. “I expect great results
from them in our future work. For
example, consider their interest in
astrologv. I can name vou dozens of
actors, actresses, producers, executives,
who won't make a move unless the
stars are right.

“I always think of one top name out
here—she’s been in pictures since the
original Lassie was a pup—who lives
according to a carefully plotted horo-
scope based on her date of birth. Ri-
diculous, of course. As she gets older
she keeps moving her birth-date tor-
ward.  She’s changed her age four
times now, and each time she gets a
new astrologer and a new horoscope.
Yet she won't as much as sleep with
an assistant producer without consult-
ing the stars.”

“This Lorna Lewis,” I said. *“Is
she gone on astrology too?”

Professor Hermann shook his head.
“No. Spiritualism.”

I blinked and sat up. *“Mean to tell
me that’s what you have in mind for
us—some kind of spook racket?”

“Far from it. My dear boy, don’t
underestimate me. You and I will
not be engaged in any such vulgar
fakery. Our paths lead to a higher
destiny. But we’ll speak of all that
at another time. Right now your cue
is to observe—and be silent.”

We entered the driveway on a hill-
side. Beyond the palm-bordered path
rose a rambling California-Spanish
hacienda. I caught a glimpse of a
side terrace and a swimming-pool in
the back. Then we drew up before
broad stone steps.

Professor Hermann led me to the
door. The usual buzzer produced the
usual chimes, and we waited.

“Come in,” said a voice. I recog-
nized it immediately. I recognized
the black curls, the full thick lips, the
slim sweep of perfectly modeled legs.
It was Lorna Lewis.

“Come in. Be with you in a min-
ute.”  She waved us to a love-seat in
the hall alcove and then dashed up the
stairs, treating us to a rear view of the
finest pair of peach-colored slacks I'd
ever seen.

“Don’t stare!” hissed the Professor.
“And from now on, take your cues
from me.” He produced his monocle
and bent forward to polish it with a
handkerchief, as though it were a rare
scientific lens.

“Remember, now, not a word. Let
me do the talking.”

“But—"

She was running down the stairs
again, still wearing the peach-colored
slacks and a green blouse. I hadn’t
fully appreciated the blouse before,
but it was even better than the slacks.

“Ready? Let's go, then—our ap-
pointment’s for eight and we mustn’t
be late.” Suddenly she seemed to
notice me. “Who's he?" she asked.

“Miss Lewis— Judson Roberts.”

That was me, apparently. I rose
and started to open my mouth, but
the Professor coughed.

“Mr. Roberts cannot answer you.
He is committed to silence until mid-
night.”

This time her blink was genuine.
“Oh—a vow, or something?>”

PR()FLSSOR Herarany smiled. “Cer-
tainly not, my dear child! Mr. Rob-
erts is no fake mystic. He’s a scientist.
As such he is engaged in an experi-
ment of psychological conditioning.
He has just arrived from the Univer-
sity of Lima and plans to collaborate
with me in my work. I'd like to have
him tell you about it sometime—I'm
sure you would be interested.”

“I know I will.” She gave me a
long look and scemed to mean it.

“I've invited Mr. Roberts to accom-
pany us as an observer this evening,
it you don’t mind.”

“That’s fine with me. But I don't
know if Mrs. Hubbard will approve.
I hear she’s very particular about who
she admits.”

“More than likely.” The Professor
led us outside and slid behind the
wheel of the car. Lorna Lewis tol-
lowed and I edged into the front seat
beside her. The peach-colored slacks
pressed against my thigh. I pressed
back.

The Professor was doing most of
the talking as he nosed the Jaguar
south, then east. “Your Mrs. Hub-
bard probably doesn’t care for stran-
gers at all. I wouldn't, either, if I were
working a nice, soft racket—preying
on motion-picture people with phony
spiritualism.”

Lorna Lewis tossed her head.

“You'll see! Mrs. Hubbard is dit-
terent: she doesn’t try to fool anyone
with tricks or hocus-pocus.”

“No ectoplasm or apparitions?
What about rope escapes and raps?
Does she produce apports?”

“You're making fun of me” Her
slim hands caressed a silver cigarette-
case. “Mr. Roberts?”

“Mr. Roberts does not smoke,”
snapped the Professor. That was news
to me. I wondered if I also did not
drink. Probably I fasted a lot, too.
Certainly I had nothing to do with
women.

Eyeing Lorna Lewis, I decided that
was one rule to be changed in a hurry.

“My dear Miss Lewis,” purred the
Protessor, ““I am by nature a skeptic
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and by profession a psychologist. As
such I have devoted much time to the
investigation of so-called psychic
phenomena. 1amsorry to report that
I've never seen a genuine medium.”

“But Mrs. Hubbard doesn’t put on
a show,” the girl protested. ““Why,
I've only been there once before and
it was just like sitting down for a visit.
The lights were on and everything.
But the things she told me, the things
she knew about me—it was simply un-
canny!

“She knew my name—my real name,
that is—and my age, and where I lived,
and who my folks were,.and what my
next picture would be and who would
direct. She even told me 1'd get Lester
Vance opposite me and I didn't hear
about it from the studio until three
days later!”

The Professor chuckled. “You're
in pictures, my child. Such informa-
tion is virtually public property.”

“But my real name, and my real
age—"
“It’s all listed somewhere. Your

birth certificate is available by mail.
And certainly an unscrupulous woman
would be willing to spend a few dollars
on investigation. She probably has
a line into the studio, paying someone
to feed her advance tips on activities.
She hopes to make you a regular client
and attract others. Didn’t you say
your hairdresser told you to go there
in the first place? It's very obvious.”

I SUDDENLY realized he was talking
to me more than he was to her, try-
ing to tell me the angles. I listened
carefully.

“If you are gullible enough, I pre-
dict that sooner or later your little
five-dollar readings won't satisfy Mrs.
Hubbard. She’ll give you some good
advice about the future and some even
more intimate information about
yourself, feed it to you bit by bit just
to keep you coming back for more.
She'll enmesh you more and more.
Sooner or later she'll find out that you
too have mystic powers, that you're
clairvoyant, clairaudient, a natural
medium. She'll give you slate-writing
and then the old psychicforce rou-
tine.”

“Psychic force?”

“Moving inanimate objects without
touching them. \Waving her hand
over fruit, walnuts, coins. They'll
obey her, move and follow her hand.
Psychic force. I'll show you sometime
how it's done.”

“Tell me.”

“Simple. She wears a magnetized
ring. There's another magnet inside
the walnut or fruit or fake coin. Nat-
urally, it moves. By varying the
weight of the object she can produce
just a stir or a pronounced movement.
It sounds stupid and simple, but wait
until she gives you the buildup—in
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a dim, quiet room with her voice
pitched low, and the spirits abroad.”

Lorna Lewis shook her head. “No,
Mrs. Hubbard isn't like that at all.
You'll see.”

“Very well. But remember, I'm
here to protect you. Just introduce
us as friends; I promise not to inter-
fere in any way, but 1 want to observe
what happens.”

“That’s right, Professor,” said Lorna
Lewis, with the roguish smile that en-
deared her to millions. “Just keep
your eves open.”

Chapter Three

W iursen 510 a stREET that
looked like the butt-end of Tobacco
Road. Lawns of brown weeds and
sand, withered palmettos decorated
by dogs, houses sagging behind rusted
iron fences. We parked and then
walked across the sidewalk in single
file. I fancied I saw the shades move
slightly in a window to the left of
the porch, but I was more interested
in the movement of Lorna's peach-
colored slacks. We followed the slacks
up the porch steps.

She pressed the buzzer and a sour
whine echoed from within the house.

A sallow-faced Mexican girl opened
the door. She brushed the perspira-
tion from her mustache, wiped her
hand on her stringy hair and said,
“Yes, please?”

“We’ve come to see Mrs. Hubbard.
We have an appointment.”

“I tell her. Wait here.”

She ushered us into the hallway and
left us.

We settled down in wicker chairs
and waited. Lorna Lewis found a
cigarette. The Professor polished his
monocle. I sat and read a copy of an
ancient fan magazine.

The silence was emphatic. It grew
hotter, mustier. T'he hall became an
oversized coffin. Lorna Lewis stepped
on her cigarette. The Professor put
his monocle into the left orbit. 1 put
down the fan magazine and sat there
listening to the worms bore through
the woodwork.

Then the door opened. we jumped,
and the Mexican girl said, “In here,
now.

The center of the room was occu-
pied by a “dining-room suite”—six
chairs and a round table. Mrs. Hub-
bard sat in one of the chairs, her el-
bows on the table top.

She wasn’t exactly Mrs. Hubbard—
“Mother Hubbard” would have been
more accurate. A fat, blowsy, red-
faced woman in mid-menopause, with
pork-bristles on her arms and chin.
Coarse brown hair nestled in a bun
against the back of her high-necked
black dress. There was something
tragic about her deep-set eyes. Here,

if 1 ever saw one, was a woman who
had been suffering. From a hangover.

“Greetings.”

Her voice was as big as her body.
It bounced off the walls and exploded
against our ears.

“You are prompt, Miss Lewis. .And
I see you have brought guests.”

“I thought you wouldn't
This is—"

“I know.” Mrs. Hubbard smiled
slightly. “Please be seated, and I will
endeavor to convince the skeptical
Professor Otto Hermann, Ph.D., that
I am indeed a psychic sensitive.”

\We selected chairs and sat around
the table. The Mexican §irl opened
the door again and ushered four more
people into the room. We turned and
stared at a fat little red-faced man
with a mustache, a portly matron in
a llowered print dress, a pale, be-
spectacled blonde girl, and a gaunt,
gray-haired woman who constantly
fiddled with her coral beads.

Mrs. Hubbard, unsmiling, waved
them to places at the table. The
Mexican girl brought in some extra
chairs, and then produced a card-table
which she set up in the corner of the
room. Mrs. Hubbard retreated to a
seat behind the card-table and we sat
around the larger one, facing her in
a semicircle.

Nobody said a word. Lorna Lewis
watched Mrs. Hubbard. 1 watched
Lorna Lewis. The Professor was
watching me. Mrs. Hubbard didn't
appear to be watching anybody. The
whole affair began to take on the
charm of an inquest.

I was waiting for something to hap-
pen. | was waiting for the closing of
the blinds, the whisperings in the
darkened room, the rappings and the
wailings, the screech of chalk moving
across a slate, the phosphorescent
phantom issuing from the mouth of
the moaning woman.

mind.

Tie Mexican girl appeared agdin.
She carried a tablet ol cheap blue-
ruled paper, a package of envelopes,
and a handtul of yellow pencils. This
assortment made a nice little mess on
Mis. Hubbard's card-table.

\We watched and waited as the Mexi-
can girl rotated chunky thighs toward
the door. The red-faced man fingered
his mustache, the matron played with
her purse, the girl with the glasses
coughed, the gray-haired woman used
her coral beads for a rosary. The
Prolessor had his monocle to divert
him, and I had Lorna Lewis. That
black hair had a living luster; I won-
dered how it would feel to dig my
hands into those curls, press that head
back, and—

“Willeverybody please take a pencil,
a sheet of paper and an envelope?”

Mrs. Hubbard was ready to go into
her routine. We filed past the bare

BLUEBOOK



card-table, took up pencils and paper,
and returned to our places.

“Because our group today is a little
larger than usual, and because there
is a natural reticence in the presence
of strangers, I feel it best to have you
put your problems in writing.” Mrs.
Hubbard patted her brown pug and
smiled.

“I suggest that each ol you write
down one question, to begin with. If
we have time, I shall be glad to work
with your further inquiries personal-
ly—and privately, if you wish.

“At the moment, the important
thing, frankly, is to gain your com-
plete confidence. Without it, you will
have no faith in my power, nor in my
ability to help you. Since some of you
are visiting me for the first time today,
I'm going to make use ot a rather
spectacular device to convince vou of
my extra-sensory perception.”

The deep voice rolled smoothly.
easily, persuasively.

“I'm not very much of a showman
—1 cannot offer you a dark room,
table-tipping, ghostly presences. But
if each one of you will write on a piece
of paper a question you'd like an-
swered, fold the paper up as much as
you like, and personally seal it in_an
cnvelope, perhaps I can demonstrate
an interesting psychic phenoenon.”

There was a pause, a shared feeling
of hesitation. Mrs. Hubbard didn't
have to be a mystic to sense the inde-
cision.

“Pleasc! It’s very simple. 1 am go-
ing to read your questions back to you
as you have written them. without
opening the envelopes. There’s no
trickery. You can examine the paper,
the pencils, the envelopes. You won't
find any carbon, or wax or acid-treat-
ments. There will be no waiting and
no switches. I'll read your questions
back to you immediately, right here at
this table. T'hen I will give you your
answers. So if you'll write whatever
is closest to your mind and heart—"

The red-faced man scrawled some-
thing on his ruled sheet and folded it
carefully four times. The matron
licked the tip of her pencil and
frowned. lorna lewis pouted. |
watched her lips pucker as if seeking
kisses—or bites. The spectacle sug-
gested several questions to my mind:
but not the kind I cared to have read
back to me in public.

I shielded my paper and wrote,
“Will my new venture be successful?”
It sounded corny, but I wanted to
know.

There was much business of folding
and sealing. Lorna Lewis ran her
tongue across the flap, drawing it in
and out like a kitten lapping cream.

Mrs. Hubbard lumbered around
the table and took up the sealed en-
velopes. I watched her, for obvious
reasons; we all did. But I could de-
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tect no sleight-of-hand. She collected
seven envelopes, shuffled them care-
fully, and placed them on the table,
in the corner. She spread them out
fanwise before her and frowned. Our
chairs scraped back as we faced her.
She switched on a lamp behind her
and produced a wire filing basket.

“I'll read your questions and answer
them one at a time,” she told us. “In
order that the answers be confirmed,
I shall ask the writer of each question
to raise his or her hand and let me
know if my reading is correct. Then
I'll open the envelope. Is that agree-
able?”

We nodded. I looked at Professor
Hermann. His face was utterly im-
mobile. 1 wondered what he was
making out of this—what he would do
if Lorna Lewis seemed sold on Mrs.
Hubbard. So far he hadn’t opened
his mouth.

Mrs. Hubbard stared down at the
envelopes. Her forehead corrugated.
A fat hand reached out at random and
lifted an envelope from the center of
the fan. She placed it against the

I sometimes give myself ad-

mirable advice, but I am in-

capable of taking it. =~ —MARY
WORTLEY MONTAGU

SEEESEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEERREREE
conugations above her eves. Her
eyes closed.

Then she was speaking, and her
voice came from far away—far away
inside herself, far away inside the
envelope.

“Should I sell my property to the
syndicate or hold out for the original
figure?” she whispered.

A red-faced _]ack-in-the-boxfoppe(l
up. “That's 1t!” he shouted. "By
golly, that's my question!”

Professor Hermann never blinked.
Everyone elsc was leaning forward,
tense with excitement.

Mrs. Hubbard smiled. “‘Please,
control your enthusiasm. It makes it
more difficult to concentrate.”” She
opencd the envelope, unfolded the
sheet, glanced at 1t carelessly, and
placed 1t in the wicker basket. And
all the while she continued to talk.

“As it comes to me, Mr. Rogers, this
property that you speak of consists of
a block of eight lots situated just south
of San Juan Capistrano, on 101-A, the
coast drive. This syndicate of which
you speak, the—"

Rogers opened his mouth and she
paused. “Oh, of course, I will not
mention their names, if you prefer.
But it is true, isn't it, that they plan
to build a hotel on this site? And
that yesterday they offered vou $18,-

000 cash for an outright sale, while
you are holding out for $25,000?7 I
thought so. It appears that if you
refuse, they will offer you $20,000 on
Thursday. If you still refuse, on Mon-
day they will meet your price.”

Without pausing, the plump hand
sought another envelope, pressed it
to the red forehead. Eyes closed and
mouth opened.

“Will Mike leave me?”

Lorna Lewis leaned forward.
she murmured.
tion.”

Mrs. Hubbard nodded, slitting the
envelope. She tossed the unfolded
paper into the basket, nodding again
as she glanced at it.

“Mike will leave you soon—forever.
He is preparing for a long journey
right now. He hasn't told you yet,
because he does not know about it
himself. But I see him going away
from you, far, far away—"

The girl's mouth opened. Mrs.
Hubbard was apparently used to this
reaction, for she hurried on. “I could
tell you much more, but it would not
be discreet. Alone, perhaps, and
later, if you desire me to.”

I tried again to pierce Professor
Hubbard’s bland stare. 1 tried to fig-
ure it out. There must be an angle,
there was some kind of fakery some-
where, but—

“Will my new venture be success-
fulz”

She was reading my question!

My own mouth opened now. " 1
sucked in air as I watched Mrs. Hub-
bard carelessly unseal the envelope
and withdraw the folded paper. She
unfolded it—and then her mouth fell
open.

Something red fiuttered to the table:
something bold and brazen, with a
picture of a half-naked girl emblaz-
oned on its crimson background.

It was the cover of the fan magazine
I'd been reading in the hall!

Professor Hermann was on his feet.
“My question, I believe,” he said.

Mrs. Hubbard's open mouth gulped
for words. When they came, they
were short and sweet.

“You son of a bitch!”
Hubbard.

“Yes,”
“That’s my ques-

said Mrs.

SHF, couldn’t escape. \We were
crowded around the table and the
Professor, inarticulate no longer, was
holding forth.

“You see, it's very simple. The
whole trick is old as the hills—while
the audience is looking for mirrors,
radio-eyes and all kinds of elaborate
devices, the fake mystic is merely using
the old ‘one-ahead’ system. All she
needs for that is a stooge. In this case
it was Rogers, here.”

The red-faced, mustached man who
had popped up like a Jack-in-the-box
now looked as though he would col-
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lapse like one. But the Protessor
held his arm firmly.
“Here’s how it works. The stooge

writes his question and scals it like all
the others, but he marks his envelope
—with his fingernail, here at the tlap.
Just a nick. The medium looks for it
and can tell at a glance, naturally,
which one helongs to her confederate.
Here—"

He held up an envelope—unopened.

“This envelope she saves until the
last. What she does is call out the,
stooge’s question, which has becn
agreed upon in advance. Then he
jumps up and makes a big show about
hearing the correct question and she
opens the cnvelope she’s held to her
lorehead. Naturally, it's onc ol the
other cnvelopes with a legitimate
question, which she rcads as she puts
it in the basket. While answering the
stooge’s question, in convincing detail,
she was actually reading Miss Lewis’
question {rom the cnvelope she
opencd. T'hen, with the next enve-
lope, she answered Miss Lewis: opencd
the flap and found Mr. Roberts” ues-
tion.

“But when she called Mr. Roberts’
question, she opened my envelope—
and that was her mistake.”

“You clever Dbastard,” muttered
Mrs. Hubbard.  *“What do you want?”

T'he Professor shrugged. “Nothing
at all, really, from you—except your
promise to quit working a racket on
people who are in necd of genuine
asaistance from reputable consultants.
I don’t think you’ll be trying these
tricks around here very much longer.”

“Why, you goddam—"

“Careful, now! Watch your lan-
cuage. You aren’t very ladylike, Nis.
Hubbard. Ol course, appearances are
deceptive; you ladies and gentlemen
must always remember that. For ex-
ample, Mrs. Hubbard here does not
use ladylike language because she
really isn’t a lady. In fact—"

The Prolessor’s hand descended to
pat Mother Hubbard’s head. 1t rose
again, clutching a brown-bunned wig.
We gaped down on a fat, baldhcaded
man who gripped the edge of the table
with brawny knuckles and cursed.

Prolessor Hermann ignored his vic-
tim as he turned ro us with a little
how.

“My friends,” he said, “I think that
our little session with the supernatural
is over.”

Chapter Four

WE DROVE LorNaA LEWIs HOME.
It was hard tor me to remember that
I was " Judson Roberts,” and that I
was under a vow of silence. But the
Professor was in the driver’s seat. He
drove, 1 fidgeted, and Lorna Lewis
babbled.
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“You were so right,” she kept re-
peating to him. “And I'm so grateful
to you. If that racketeer had found
out about me—I mean, if I'd trusted
him and really told him a lot of things
1 need advice on—"

She shivered. It felt good against
me.

Professor Hermann smiled. *‘Per-
haps in the [uture you will be more
discreet.  Only a reputable consultant
should be trusted with your intimate
problems.”

“That's what Mike tells me.”” She
lit a cigarette, and it was agony for me
to sit there and smell the smoke.
“About Mike—there's something I
must know.”

“Bothering you, is he?”

“Yes. And I want vou to help me:
[ can trust you, now. When could we
talk about it?”

“Miss Baucer makes all my appoint-
ments. Call her at my office whenever
vou wish.”

Hr. left it at that, and we dropped
Lorna at the house. She said good-by
to me and hoped that we'd meet again.
I nodded calmly. Then, as her peach-
colored posterior wriggled its way up
the walk, I'was tearing open a package
ol cigarcttes, tumbling at the matches.
I got a light as we drove west.

“Can 1 talk now?” I asked.

I'he Professor nodded, grinning.

“T don’t get the pitch vet, but 1 can
sce that you’ve sold her a bill ol
goods.”

He nodded again, carelessly.

“That was a sweet idea, using the
magazine cover. But what il it had
been some other racket—were you sure
of being able to expose it anvway?”

“Certainly. There is no possibility
of failure, the way I work.  You will
learn that in duc time.”

“Where are we heading for now?”

“You shall sec.”

“When are vou going to tell me
about those plans ot yours:”

“Soon.”

I shut up and watched the lights ot
Santa Monica flash by.  We kept go-
ing. A lemon moon was in the sky as
we ncared the flickering streetlights
ot Long Beach. 'T'he Protessor parked
on a side-strect and led me down a
ramp to. the Boardwalk. \We jostled
through the late evening crowd and
cmerged on the midway.

“Come along,” he said. and led the
way to a stand near the entrance.

Sideshow banners proclaimed the
presence  of SEERO  THE  Mystic—
SECRETS OF PasT, PRESENT AND FUTURE.
Gaudy horoscopes decorated the sides
ol the ticket-booth. A horsefaced
woman with yellow hair—and teeth to
match—smiled at us from behind the
lass.

“Is he here yetr” asked the Profes-
sor, rerurning the smile.

“Just came in.
with him yet.”

We entered the pitch, going through
a short passageway and emerging into
a darkened, banner-draped room. A
man sat behind a covered table, peer-
ing into a crystal ball. He wore a
bathrobe and a turban. When he
saw us he rose, went to the door,
latched it, and rcturncd to his seat at
the table.

There's nobody

No one spoke for a moment. 1
stared at the mystic, wondering where
I'd seen that fat face before. He must
have caught my thought, because he
took his turban off and laid it on the

table. 1 saw the bald head, and then
I knew. The man was “Mrs. Hub-
bard.”

“You got here tast.”” he said.

“T always keep my promises.” The
Protessor smiled. “Is cverything all
right, Jake?”

“Yeah, surc. \ll fixed but the pay-
olf.”  Juke gave me the kind ol stare
that would have cracked his crystal
ball.  “Who’s the savage?”

“This is Judson Roberts, my new
associate.  He’ll be working with me
Irom now on.”

Jake favored me now with his nor-
mal smile. “Please to meet up with
vou.  You a dummy?”

“I can talk,” T said. “But I learn
more just {rom listening.”

“A  wisey, huh:”  Jake swung
around to the Prolessor. ““Rogers said
tor mc to collect his split, too.”

“Very well.”  Professor Hermann
rcached for his wallet and laid three
portraits ol Benjamin Franklin on the
table. Jake covered them with a big
fist.

“Thanks,” he said.

We left. T'he Prolessor walked out
to the beach and headed for the wa-
ter’s edge. tle stood lrowning off into
the darkness.

“Now I understand,” I said.  “You
rigged the whole thing up, didn’t your
Planted a phony medium just to pull
that stunt, so there really wasn’t a
chance of anvthing going wrong.”

The wind tore the chuckle out of
his mouth and carried it away across
the water. Ot course. | never per-
mit the possibility of an error.  And
this little affair tonight was more in-
portant than you know. Lorna Lewis
had 10 be convinced. She is my open-
ing wedge into the movie colony and
the big money beyond that.

“You will find that 1 plan every-
thing perfectly. Everything we do
must be planned in detail, in advance.
That way we cannot fail. I want your
complete confidence and I am pre-
pared to justily it—and pay for it.
Not with hundred-dollar handouts:
I'm talking about important money
now—thousands, or perhaps millions.
For me. For you.”
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His white face stared up at me.
“We can take over this town, you and
I. Not with a phony cult or a fly-by-
night racket. We're going to go after
the top, the cream. We'll get right
next to them, get under their skin, get
into their minds. We'll start out by
advising and analyzing them—but
we'll end up by actually running their
lives. We'll own them, body and soul.

“I'oday you saw me arrange events
so that Lorna Lewis would ask me for
help. If my plans work out, six
months from now I'll be able to tell
her—and dozens of others—to do any-
thing I wish. And they’ll do it

“That's why I need you. That's
why I found you. Because this calls
for a front man—young, good-looking.
persuasive—to work with the women
and with the men, too. Of course, you
must be trained and it will take time,
and it will not be easy. There is much
that you must know: Metaphysics.
Psychiatry. Theology. The arts of
social presence. Your personality
must be molded for aggression and
command. I am the guiding hand—
you will be the instrument, ground to
pertection for our work.

“I shall demand strict obedience,
strict adherence to the program of
study I will lay down for you. But in
return you shall receive everything
you've always wanted: Fame, wealth,
power.

“You'd like that, wouldn’t youz I
can sense it in you—the same drive,
the same urge for power that I teel.
Power over them all; the sleek, slim
women you've never been able to
have, the hard, smug, domineering
men who've always ignored you. You
can rule them if you wish; make them
do anything you desire. There will
be no laws you cannot break. Judges,
doctors, politicians, financiers—the
whole pack will come fawning at your
hceels, licking your fingers and whim-
pering for what you can give them.”

| tav to say something. *“But look,
you can't just do that to people.
Maybe they’ll fall for a line, but
sooner or later they find out. I don't
tecl right, selling a bill of goods.”

He laughed. “And yet you wanted
to become a radio announcer.”

“I'hat’s different.”

“Is itz Is it any more honest to
read off gaudy lies about the non-
existent benefits of soap and tooth-
paste than it is to advocate selt-help?
You'd be perfectly willing to tell mil-
lions of pimply, bloated hags that they
will become lovely and alluring if
they buy a cake of perfumed fat to
drop into their bathwater. Isn’t that
the same thing?”

“Well, not exactly. I mean—"

“Be honest with yourself, now.
You'd have no scruples about trying
to run people’s lives as a radio an-
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nouncer, would you: You'd sell any-
thing, use any method. Fill little
adolescent know-nothings with self-
conscious fear, droning horrible warn-
ings about acne and bad breath and
perspiration odors.  Frighten old
folks with grave hints about the dread-
ful dangers of constipation and upset
stomach. You'd promise wealth, suc-
cess and happiness by implication to
anyone who obeys your commands—
who runs down to the corner druggist
or the ncighborhood grocer, who buys
this, uses that, eats whatever it is you
want to sell. Yes, and if your studio
handed you the script, you'd use your
best voice to proclaim the merits of a
crooked politician, the virtues of a
dishonest business policy. And yet

vou talk against running people’s
lives!™”

It sounded good. I wasn't com-
pletely convinced, but I nodded.

“Maybe you're right. But I still don't
think vou can get away with it. There
may be a few screwballs who want to
be fooled—who go for all the isms and
ologies that come along. But most
people are pretty sensible and normal.
I don’t see—"
“You will,
show you.”
He led the way back across the
beach. It came alive all around me:
A cannibalistic circle huddled
around a small fire, gorging on half.
raw hot-dogs and dill pickles. Trog-
lodyte faces gaped in the firelight—
a wrinkled, wizened old man’s head
with white, bushy hair and beetling
black brows that moved convulsivelv

Come along and TI'll

as he chewed with his whole face at a
tongue sandwich. There was a fat,
blobby woman with stringy hair and
a red neck; the rest of her flesh hung
in dead-white folds, broken here and
there by bulging purplish veins that
stood out like mountain ranges on a
relief map. She slapped at a scream-
ing brat with one beefy hand. A
bullet-headed youth squatted next to
a portable radio, fiddling with the
volume control and scratching the
hairy recesses of his armpits.

“Welcome to the world,” chuckled
the Professor.

There was sand in my shoes. I was
hungry. I stepped through a tangle
of crumpled paper, greasy paper plates
and broken pop-bottles. A small dog
rushed up and nipped at my ankles.

“You see:” murmured the Professor.
“Here are your normal people.”

“All right,” I said. ‘““They stink. I
hate ’em. But that doesn't prove any-
thing. It doesn't prove they’ll fall for
a line of hooey about their lives and
futures.”

The wind sent a dirty newspaper
flying against my leg. I bent down
and pushed it away, glimpsing the red
letters of the headline: Sex Maniac
Sought in Hatchet Slaying.

“Perhaps this will help,” the Pro-
tessor told me. We turned onto the
midway.

Fluorescence and incandescence
blinded me. My lungs gulped in pop-
corn oil, lard, the reek of frying meat,
the stink of decayed fruit, and a rancid
stench composed of tobacco, sweat and
whiskv.

“We’re open till nine tonight, Mr. Burchester.”
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Banners swirled all around me—be-
fore me, behind me, on either side,
overhead. CONGREss OF FREAKS. FLEA
Circus. Arcapk. EaTs. Fun Housk.
LEARN Your Future. THREE SHOTs
FOR A DIME. PLAY THE \WINNERS.
Man-EaTeErs. REp-Hotrs. A dozen
juke-boxes blared and boumed. A
merry-go-round seethed. Against this
background rose the whirling, rat-
tling, clanking and grinding of the
Whip, the Dodger, the plane-rides and
the roller-coaster. 'I'he sharp crack of
rifles echoed from the shooting gallery.
Barkers shouted in command, and am-
plitying systems carried exhortations,
roars, and raucous bawlings of invita-
tion. From the rides overhead I heard
screams, shrieks, wails, and high, hys-
terical laughter.

“Close your eyes,” said the Protessor.
“Don’t look at them. I won't even
make you look at them. Just listen.
What do you hear?”

1 closed my eyes and stood there,
jostled and pitched by the crowd.

The harsh music in the background
suggested bands; the boom-boom beat
was in marching tempo. War. Yes,
war—with ritle-shots and shouted or-
ders.- Grinding of machinery; tanks
and planes and armored cars, artillery
going into action. And over that, the
screams: the screams of the wounded,
the dying; the screams of the killers,
boring for blood with their bayonets.

| box'T know whether the Professor
was a “‘psychic sensitive” or not, but
abruptly he said, “Dachau.”

“Huh?”

“Dachau. The prison-camps in Ger-
many, during the last war. The vic-
tims shrieked that way, I should im-
agine.”

“Funny, I was thinking of war, my-
sell.”

“Not funny. Perfectly natural. Nor-
mal. As normal as these people and
their actions. Look around you—see
what theyre doing. They’re seeking
entertainment — having fun, as they
call it.

“This is an amusement park, my
friend. People come here to find what
they want out of life—entertainment.
They put their pennies into the peep-
show slots because they want to. They
know theyre being swindled — and
they love it. They love the phoniness,
the lies, the cheats. They know the
freak shows are takes, that the barkers
lie. They know the spielers are con-
ning them about stepping up and
winning the electric clocks. They
don’t believe in our friend SEFRO THE
MysTic, but they pay their money and
go inside because they want to be
fooled.

“This is not a new concept. Your
showman, Barnum, said it long ago—
and it was known and spoken of in
ancient Egypt. But it is a truth that
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survives, lor the desire for selt-delu-
sion never dies.

“People long for escape. Some of
them pay their pennies to find it here.
Others are able and willing to pay
fortunes for something a little more
convincing—tor the sort of escape we
will give them. 'T'hose are th¢ ones
we shall rule: the seekers.”

“Suckers,” I said.

“The seeker is always a sucker.” said
Protessor Hermann.

Chapter Five

There sevix nap sees any ques-
tion about my going through with it.
Why not? | had nothing to lose. If it
got bad, or risky, I could always pull
out.

That's the way I thought when 1
left the Professor. That's the way I
thought when I went to his office the
next morning.

Somehow I'd never pictured him in
a downtown office. But there was the
sign on the door, in neat, discreet let-
tering:

OTTO HERMANN Pu.D. Ps.D.

PsycHOLOGICAL CONSULTANT

The waiting-room was cool and
dark, well-furnished without the flash
of Larry Rickert’s fake modern layout.
The receptionist’s desk stood right out
in the open. Behind it sat a plump,
middle-aged brunette wearing a loose
white smock and a tight red smile.
She smiled up at me and her words
filtered through a thick accent.

“You would be Mr. Haines?”

“I would.”

“The Professor iss expecting you.
Please to enter.”

I pleased to enter the private office.
The Protessor sat in a chair at the side
of his desk. He was wearing the same
black suit, or a reasonable facsimile.
He glanced at his watch.

“Good morning. You are late.”

“Sorry. loverslept. Ycsterday took
a lot out of me, I guess.”

“You are rested now?”

I nodded.

“Good. Then we can proceed to
business.”” He opened a drawer of
his desk and drew out a thick sheat of
legal-bond typing paper.

“What's that>” I asked.

“Your book. The one you wrote.”

I stared at the title page and read.

Y-O-U
by
Judson Roberts

“Take it and read it,” he said.
“Memorize it. After all, you wrote it.
Remember, you're Judson Roberts.”

I riflled the pages and sat back.
“What's it all about?”

“Did you ever read Dale Carnegie?
Walter Pitkin? Stuart Chase? They're

all in there. And Doctor Frank
Crane and Elbert Hubbard. Also
Madame Blavatsky, Mrs. Eddy, plus a
touch ot Thorstein Veblen. And of
course, Herr Freud, and Jung, and
Aldous Huxley and Ouspensky and
Spengler—a bit of everyone.”

“Did you actually write it

“No. Rogers wrote it—you remem-
ber, the little man with the mustache
at the séance. He has talent, when
controlled. I had him start it a year
ago, when I began to plan all this.”

“What's the point:”

“Pertectly obvious. Now that I've
tound my Judson Roberts, the book
will be published. 1 can arrange tor
printing and for distribution — but
there will be more profit in selling it
ourselves. Rogers can set up a direct-
mail campaign, and over a period of
vears the book will make money—a
small, steady income, although that’s
not important at all. But a published
book is needed to establish Judson
Roberts as an authority. That is
most desirable. By the way, I've al-
ready sent in your name for a course
and a diploma.”

“Diplomaz”

“You're going to be a Doctor of
Psychology, just as I am. There’s a
correspondence school in the East.
Fifty dollars gets you a degree, and no
questions asked. . . . What are you
grinning about?”

“It just struck me funny. All of a
sudden I'm a Doctor of Psychology
and the author of a book.”

“There's nothing funny about that.
It's window-dressing. And speaking
of window-dressing—" The Protessor
rose and surveyed me critically.
“Watch your posture. You have a
tendency to slouch, your shoulders
aren’t squared. And you slump when
you sit in a chair. \We'll correct that.
You'll need a wardrobe, of course, but
that will come later. Hold your head
a trifle higher and emphasize your
height. You gain a certain advtantage
when people have to look up to you
during a conversation. You might ex-
periment with a different hair style.
Those sideburns are all right for a
cheap salesman. but I want more dig-
nity. Ah, well we’ll come to these
matters in due time. But right now,
vou have work to do.”

“Such gsz”

“Reading vour book.”

I picked up the manuscript. “I'll
run through it tonight,” I promised.

Tm; Professor  shook his head.
“Only the beginning,” he said. “You'll
read it again—and again—and again.
The content is the key to our whole
system. It must be correlated with
your other reading. For the next
three months you're going to sit in
that apartment of yours and read.
I'll see that you eat, meanwhile.”
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“Sounds pretty soft.”

“It won't be. You're going to study
and sweat. I'll quiz you. You'll take
tests. By the time I'm done, you'll be
able to hold your own conversational-
ly with any metaphysician, real or
phony, and sound convincing.”

“Okay. You're the Professor.”

“And you're Judson Roberts.”

That’s how it started. I walked
into the office as plain Eddie Haines,
and I walked out as Judson Roberts,
with my book under my arm.

JUDSON RoBer1s took his book
home and studied it. Then he stud-
ied the basic, selected writings of
Freud, Adler, Jung, Brill, Moll, Stekel.
He subscribed to the journal of Psy-
chiatry. He read Swedenborg and
Isis Unveiled. He read Frazer in bed,
Charles Fort at the lunch-counter.
Briffault in the bathroom. He waded
through it all, the good and the bad
alike—Lully, Flammarion, Toynbee,
Nietzsche.

At first I couldn’'t make sense out
of it all; nothing seemed related.

But gradually, Judson Roberts
made sense of it. For as | read, Jud-
son Roberts took shape. He was

born out of the books, weaned on the ¢
Professor’s nightly question-sessions.

Judson Roberts answered questions,
written and oral. He learned to dis-
course on effects and autistic phenom-
ena. He could give a Rorschach test.
He could explain the symbolic deriva-
tives of a matriarchic culture-pattern
and analyze the inherent masochism
of Kafka’s works. Roberts could im-
provise a relationship between the
Sung Dynasty, Apollonius of Tyana,
and enuresis.

It takes a few minutes to read, but
it took months to do. Eight hours of
reading a day, seven days a week, plus
two or three hours of talk, questions,
answers. But wading through theo-
ries and ideas, I began to understand
people a little better: Motivation
and compulsion and compensation.
Sublimation and projection. And not
all of it came from college texts and
reference works, either. 1 got some
excellent insights from the Seventh
Book of Moses. And even some from
hex- and voodoo-supply catalogues.

The Professor kept taking me
around to astrologers, palmists, phre-
nologists, spiritualists—men like Jake
on the boardwalk and top operators
working out of mansions in the hills
north of Hollywood.

I learned that suckers are all alike,
and the methods of handling them
basically the same.

And through it all, he kept after
me with questions. One afternoon
toward the end of the third month,
for example—

“What are the twelve divisions of
normal interest?” droned Hermann.
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“Time, personal magnetism, sex
and marriage, investments, friends,
obstacles, enemies, health, money trou-
ble, changes and trips, surprises, and
warnings.”

“What is Yoga?”

“Yoga means unity, right action.
Yogi 1s the practice of Yoga by a
Guru, or teacher, and a Chela, or
pupil. There are five divisions of
Yoga:

“Raja-Yoga, the development of
consciousness. Jnana-Yoga, or knowl-
edge. Katma-Yoga, right action, and
Bhakti-Yoga, right religious action.
Then Hatha-Yoga, or power over the
bodily functions. Govern your body
and you govern the universe through
Asana, the system of bodily posture,
breath control, and control of the cir-
culation and nervous system.”

“Good enough. Now, define Turi-
ya, Dharma, Kalpa, Manvantara. And
recite the laws of Manu.”

“Hey, take it easy! You've got me
so full of that stuff it’s coming out of
my ears.”

“I know. But there is so much to
do. so little time. You must be ready
soon.”

“Yeah. Ready tor Utter McKin-
ley's embalming stafff Have a heart,
Professor, I'm only human.”

“You must be more than human
for this job. You might apply some
of the principles of Hatha-Yoga for
exercise.”

“I don't need exercise. 1 need a
rest, a chance to get out of this
damned hot apartment. I haven't
had a drink for months, haven’t seen
anybody to talk to but you.”

“That was our bargain.”

“Our bargain was for me to make a
million dollars, to have anything |
wanted. And what do I getz A little
cigarette-money and enough studying
to kill Einstein! Look—I'm not Jud-
son Roberts all the time, you know-.
1 like a little fun once in a while.”
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So!” The Professor’s fat fingers
crawled over the nakedness of his
skull. “How would you like to go to
a party tonight?”

“What kind of a party — another
séance in Pasadena?”

“No, I'm talking about the real
thing. As a matter of fact, you're in-
vited to attend. She’s been inviting
you for weeks, but I didn’t tell you.”

*“ ‘She’?”

“Lorna Lewis. She has inquired
about you frequently. Yes, maybe
that would work out—if you’re in-
terested.”

“Count me in.
bells on.”

“No bells. You'll be there in a
nice, conservative gray Palm Beach
suit. You'll behave yourself and do
the job I've laid out for you.”

“But="

I'll be there with

.

“You'll do one thing and one only:
Be nice to Lorna Lewis.”

“That,” I said, ‘“is just ginger-
peachy. I might even teach her a few
Yoga positions.”

Chapter Six

A: THE PARTY the Professor plant-
ed me on the sofa; then he wandered
away, after acknowledging a nod from
our hostess. 1 was a little disap-
pointed with the nod—I didn’t expect
Lorna Lewis to throw herself into my
arms and nibble my ears, but even so,
her cool reception didn’t sit well with
me after so much of a buildup. After
the Professor vanished, 1 fidgeted.
All I'd got from that greeting was a
distinct letdown.

Plump little Miss Bauer from the
Professor’s office accompanied us, and
it was she who identified the stocky,
treckled, curly-haired man who dug
his fingers possessively into Lorna
Lewis’ forearm.

“Mike Drayton. Iss her husband.”

“Husband? Didn’t know she was
married.”

“Yess. He iss a professional player.”

“Playboy?”

“No, player. Of hockey.”

“Oh, sure. I remember, now.” 1
remembered Lorna Lewis’ references
to “Mike.” Some problem of hers.
Well, he looked like a problem to me;
it we tangled, I'd be a dead duck.

But now it appeared that I'd never
reach the tangling stage. Lorna was
flitting around, greeting sports-jackets
and evening wraps, offering glasses to
Aloha shirts and gabardine slacks at
the bar, being kittenish with a tall,
red-haired man who was obviously a
producer and obviously aware of it.

Mike Drayton, the husband, had
disappeared. So had Miss Bauer and
the Professor. 1 caught a glimpse of
him as I went to refill my highball
glass; he was stalking Lorna Lewis on
the terrace. Maybe he’'d steer her
over to me.

The highballs were good, and after
my long layoff, the second drink took
hold. I had a third, but I was too
nervous to enjoy it.

A trioof Filipinos wandered around
making noises on mandolins and
ukeleles—very corny. But most of the
guests seemed to be far past the third
drink, and they shouted requests. A
small group gathered around a blonde
who kicked off her shoes for a hula.
Another, much smaller group, sat out
on the stairs and talked shop.
Through an archway I saw a fringe
of bald, partially bald and gray heads
huddled over a card-table.

It looked too damned typical, too
pat and according-to-formula for me.
Too much like the Hollywood party
you read about. 1 don’t know what
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I'd been expecting—certainly any-
thing but this. And on top of it, I
was all alone, ignored, off in a corner
with no Lorna Lewis to finger the
lapels of my Palm Beach suit.

I thought I'd hetter get drunk in a
hurry and forget it.

I thought I might as well get out
of here.

I thought—

She had hair the color of ripe apri-
cots. She even smelled like apricots—
well, apricot brandy, then. Because
she was carrying a load.

She sat down beside me, and smiled
up with green eyes. They were nice
eyes, but right now a bit on the glassy
side.

“Hello.”

“Hello, yourselt.”

“What's the angle?

“Angle? There’s no angle.”

“Come, now—everybody’s got an
angle. Are you trying to get Him-
berg's eye?”

“Who'’s Himberg:”

“The redheaded personality—the
producer. You're trying to break into
pictures, aren’t you?”

“Not me, sister.”

“I could never teel like a sister to-
ward you, pal. And you aren’t ex-
actly the brotherly type, yourselt. So
why the gloom act?”

“Sorry. I was just watching the
show.”

“Well, you might get me a drink.
And seeing as how vou're getting so
intimate and making advances, my
name is Ellen Post.”

“No relation to Emily?”

“I'm going now; | can see I mis-
judged you. You didn’t look like the
type to pull that one.”

“Sorry. No, please, sit down. ['ll
get you a drink. Bourbon, straight?”

“Extremely straight, if you please.”

“I please.”

“Quit your bragging and run along.”

I went up to the bar and got a
straight shot and another highball.
Ellen Post watched me as I crossed
the room toward her.

“So you're Judson Roberts.”

“Who told you?”

“A little bird. A little baldheaded
bird, with a monocle. A little spar-
row, hopping after Lorna Lewis.”

“I see you don’t think much of
psychological consultants.”

“Not much.” She gulped her shot.

“You in pictures?”” I asked.

No. Thisis my line.” She tapped
her glass. “Prescribe me another,
Doc.”

I finished my drink and made my
way back to the bar. Professor Hei-
mann was sitting on the terrace with
Lorna Lewis. They glanced up as I
passed and the Prolessor winked. I
didn’t know what that was supposed
to mean, so I ignored it. I liked apri-
cots better, anvway.

106

“Here we are.” 1 gave Ellen Post a
glass and clicked my highball tumbler
;u,alnst its rim.  “Forbidden fruit.”

‘What kind ot a toast is that:

“You be the psychologist and fig-
ure it out. Anyway, | was thinking
ol apricots.”

“Apricots?”

“Yes. You—your hair, your skin.”

She chuckled. It was a husky
sound, {rom deep within the throat,
but it sounded surprisingly feminine.

“I've been called a lot ot things in
my time, but that's a new approach.
I might add that 1 like it, Dr. Roberts.
Or is it Judson? Or Judd?”

“Whichever you prefer.”

She frowned and rose. “God damn

"\Vh.u S the matter:"
‘m going.”
“Have I said something wrong:"
She shook her head. .\ scent came
Irom her hair; it was a pleasant scent,

but it didn’t match her mood. Her
face was depressed and strained.
“No—you didn't sav anything

wrong. That's the trouble. they never
do. It's alwuyvs the right thing, and I

Absinthe makes the heart grow
fonder.

—ADDISON MIZNER
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have the right answer, and the drinks
get good and the conversation gets
better. It's no use. I'm going home.”
“Could 1-"
“You could. But I won't let you.”
She walked swiftly, a little uncertain-
ly, toward the terrace. “Good-by, Dr.

Roberts.  See vyou in .\lcoholics
Anonymous.”
“But="

“There you are!” Another scent, be-
hind me. Not pertume, but some-
thing more vital than that—heavier.
Tiger-lily. Not golden, but white. 1
didn’t have to turn to know that
f.orna Lewis was smiling up at me.

"I was coming to rescue vou,” she
said.

“From what?”

“The Post. Miss Pillow-to-Post.
Did she ask you to go to bed with her?
She always does when she gets a lew
quick ones into her. Drinks, | mean.”

“What kind of a person is she:”

“Can’t you tell: A lush. One ot
those rich-bitch society types—she al-
ways crooks her little figer, even
when she drinks out of the bottle. 1
can’t stand her; but Mike likes her.
He would—he’s a rummy himself.”

I looked around for the Protessor,
waiting for a cue, a signal. He'd tell
me just how nice I was supposed to
be. But the Professor had disap-

peared.
own.

Mavbe 1 should have remembered
that 1 now was Judson Roberts, Ps.D.
Mavbe I should have figured out how
to play it carefully, watch my step.
Instead I looked down at those white
legs, looked up into the blue, blazing
insolence of Lorna’s eyes.

“It’s hot in here,” I said.

“It might be even hotter, outside.”

“You meun, your husband?”

“Don’t call him that. He hasn't
heen my husband since the Toronto
game, when somebody hit him with a
stick. All he wants now is his bottle
—understand?”  She leaned close.

I understood, all right. I under-
stood that she was a cheap, two-tim-
ing little tramp. But she had those
legs and she was a movie star, or al-
most a star. And I was Eddie Haines,
a nobody from nowhere. I was Eddie
Haines, trving like hell to hold my
liquor, trying like hell to remember
my name was Judson Roberts.

Thele was only one answer.

"Let's go outside.” I said.

Dark curls tumbled from side to
side. “No, not now. I'm the hostess,
remember? Wait until later, when I
get rid of this gang. I'll throw them
out and check on Mike.”

“When:"”

“Tell vou what: It's after eleven,
50 you come back about twelve-thirty.
I'll be waiting for you down at the
coach-house. You know where it is—
on the side, behind the swimming-
pool.”

“Right.”

“Clear out, now. I don’t want us
to be seen together—vou understand.”

I understood. She squeezed my arm
and rose. | made one last attempt to
find the Prolessor. He wasn’t in the
big room, and he wasn’t on the ter-
race.  The night air was cool. 1
breathed slowly, deeply, evenly—but
inside my chest, my heart was going
like a dynamo.

There was nothing to do tor an
hour and a half. Just nothing to do
but wait—and drink.

I found a little place down the road
and stopped in for a quick one. It
had to be quick: the bars close at
twelve.  \When I found that out, I
had another, and another.

Then I staggered out into the night.
It was a good night. Cool, but not
100 cool, and very clear. Stars. Mil-
lions of them.

The house was dark. Too damned
much shrubbery on the lawn. And
the swimming-pool—mustn’t stumble
and tall in the swimming-pool! Show
up all wet. Stars in the swimming-
pool, too. . . . Star light, star bright,
first star I see tonight, wish I may,
wish I might—

[ found the door to the coach-house
and it opened and somebody was wait-
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ing for me. Sure enough, | could see
her; she was waiting, and now she
came forward and what was I wait-
ing for?

“Everything all rightz” I asked.

“Sure. Mike was upstairs. He's
out cold.”

“You’re not cold.”

“You're not sober.”

“Do you mind?”

“What do you think?” She laughed.
wanted to stop that, so I did. My
mouth closed down on hers, and
through the doorway I could see the
stars; and then a faint sliver ol a pale
moon that rose over the black outline
of the terrace.

“Wait a minute. What's that?”

“Forget about it, honey.”

“No. I hear something outside.
Somebody’s coming.”

Now I heard it too, the crunch of
gravel and then the fumbling, and the
squeaking of the door.

“Mike!”

He stood there in the doorway. I
tried to focus on him. He was a big
man, and it was hard to see him
clearly or separate his bulk from the
monstrous, menacing black shadow.

He stood there and cursed us—
cursed us in a low, steady, rionoto-
nous voice, ripping his words off back-
alley fences, off privy walls. He said
other things, too.

“I'm gonna kill ya.
out ya guts an’—"

He was in the light, I was in the
dark, and now was the time, if ever.

b

I'm gonna rip

| went toward him; he reached
out those hairy ape-arms of his, and I
hit him, hard. But not hard enough.
He backed away, and then he came
up with one on the side of my head.
I felt it, soft and far-away, and as I
wobbled he hit me again.

Then we were outside and Lorna
said, “No! Stop—please—" But it
was phony, cheap-movie dialogue; it
was a corny scene, a couple of drunks
fighting over a tramp.

That made me mad, so [ hit him
again. He swung—not to hit, this
time, but to gouge at my eye with his
thumb. He was good at it. I pushed
my knuckles against his mouth, hard.
He grunted and tried to tackle me.

He was heavy, he was strong, and he
pushed me back toward the edge of
the pool. I could see him gritting his
teeth in the moonlight, and the blood
running out of the corners of his
mouth looked bright and heavy as
quicksilver.

Then everything went dim and I
felt something tightening around me.
He had my neck; he was choking me.
Lorna yelled and he yelled; but I
could only gasp from far away.

I kicked up and in. The tightness
suddenly relaxed. I could get to my
feet and watch him. He stood dou-
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bled-up at the edge ol the pool, wait-
ing tor the pain to ease, waiting to
come in again and kill me.

I couldn’t wait. I moved toward
him. He was ready, now. He spread
his hands and poised. [ closed my
eyes and swung from the waist.

My hand hurt. I wobbled there,
rubbing my fingers, watching him fall
backward into the pool. It took a
million years before the splash came
when he hit the water.

Lorna stopped yelling. Everything
got very quiet.

I walked over to the pool and looked
down. There was nothing to see but
bubbles—pretty little silvery bubbles,
gleaming in the moonlight.

Chapter Seven

THE WATER STABBED ME with a mil-
lion novocained needles. I gulped,
paddled, then dived. Silver pressed
my eyeballs, but I could see through
silver. I could see something dark
and huddled, bobbing down there at
the bottom of the pool.

I reached it, tugged at it. Heavy
. . . Heavy as the weight inside my
lungs, my head. I went up for air,
got it. Then I dived again, tugged
again.

This time 1 could lift; we came to
the surface together, live and dead
weight. Dead weight! He couldn’t
be— I had to get him out.

“Help me lift him up!” I yelled.

Lorna stared over the edge of the
pool. Her lips twitched, and then
her mouth tried to run away from her
face. But she reached down and held
Mike’s collar as I pulled myself over
the side and then grabbed him under
the arms.

I tugged and lifted. He was heavy
as lead. Lead. ... Dead. No-—he
was all right. He must be all right.

Then he was sprawled out on the
grass, face down, and I was kneeling
over him, pressing his back and lift-
ing him, pressing and lifting—

“Iss wrong, perhapsz”

I jerked and Lorna jerked.
just lay there.

We stared up at the plumpness of
Miss Bauer.

“What are you doing here?”

“She’s with me.”

Professor Hermann emerged from
the shadows of the walk. “What goes
on here? We've been looking all over
tor you. \When the party broke up
we left, and I called your apartment
from a filling-station. No answer, so
I came back. Apparently it was wise
that I did.”

“We were fighting,” I said. “I hit
him and he fell into the pool. I
fished him out. But—"

The Professor pushed me aside. He
knelt and took off his hat. The bald

Mike

moon of his skull shone down over
Mike’s face as he turned Mike over
on the grass. A fat hand fumbled be-
neath the soggy wet shirt.

It rested there: the wind stopped
moving, the grass stopped rustling,
the stars stopped twinkling. The
trees bent forward, listening—listening
tor a heartbeat.

“He's dead,”
mann.

Then everything was moving again,
tast—too fast.

“Steady up!”
ing me.

“But he can’t be! We've got to
work on his lungs, get the water out!
He couldn’t have been under more
than a minute or so—"

“He was unconscious,” the Profes-

said Professor Her-

Miss Bauer was hold-

sor said. “It is too bad.”
“Too bad? We all looked at
Lorna. “T’ll say it's too bad! Wait

until the papers get hold of this, wait
until Lolly iinds out! I'm through—
Himberg will tie a can to me—and
the cops—Christ—somebody do some-